
  

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
MEETING OF THE AUTHORITY 
 
Date: Friday, 25 September 2015 Time:  10.30 am 
 
Venue: Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, Arnold Nottingham NG5 

8PD 
 
 
Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place 
and date mentioned to transact the following business 
 

 
Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Pages 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  CHAIRS' ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
Of the meeting held on 26 June 2015 (for confirmation) 
 

5 - 8 

5  ANNUAL REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

9 - 36 

6  FINAL ACCOUNTS 2014/15  
Report of the Treasurer to the Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

37 - 158 

7  EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE 2014/15  

159 - 184 



Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and the Treasurer to the Fire and 
Rescue Authority 
 

8  TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15  
Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

185 - 194 

9  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2015/16 TO 2017/18  
Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and Treasurer 
 

195 - 234 

10  ROLE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND THE TREASURER  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

235 - 256 

11  APPOINTMENT OF TREASURER  
To Follow 
 

 

12  FIRE COVER REVIEW 2015  
To Follow 
 

 

13  REVIEW OF SPECIALIST RESCUE PROVISION  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

257 - 260 

14  PAY POLICY  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

261 - 280 

15  FIRE CONTROL COLLABORATION  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

281 - 284 

16  PROPERTY UPDATE  
To Follow 
 

 

17  COMMITTEE OUTCOMES  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

285 - 306 

18  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act  1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information by virtue of 
Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
 

 

19  VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCY APPLICATIONS  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

307 - 320 

 
 
 



ANY COUNCILLOR WHO IS UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING AND WISHES TO 
SUBMIT APOLOGIES SHOULD DO SO VIA THE PERSONAL ASSISTANT TO THE 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AT FIRE SERVICES HEADQUARTERS ON 0115 8388900 
 
IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ABOVE, 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CONSTITUTIONAL SERVICES OFFICER SHOWN ON THIS 
AGENDA, IF POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING.  
 
Constitutional Services Officer:  Catherine Ziane-Pryor  
 0115 8764298 
 catherine.pryor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

 
 

Agenda, reports and minutes for all public meetings can be viewed online at:- 
http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=224&Year=0 

http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=224&Year=0




1 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, 
Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 26 June 2015 from 10.30am to 11.02am. 
 
Membership 
 

 

Present Absent 
Councillor Brian Grocock (Vice Chair) 
Councillor John Allin 
Councillor Eunice Campbell 
Councillor Neghat Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Dave Liversidge 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Mike Pringle 
Councillor Gordon Wheeler 
Councillor Malcolm Wood 
Councillor Yvonne Woodhead 
Councillor Liz Yates 
 

Councillor Darrell Pulk (Chair) 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Jon Collins 
Councillor Roger Jackson 
Councillor Ken Rigby 
Councillor Gail Turner 
 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance: 
 
John Buckley 
Wayne Bowcock 
Craig Parkin 

- Chief Fire Officer 
- Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
-  Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Neil Timms 
Peter Hurford 
Malcolm Townroe 
Tracy Crump 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor 
 
Councillor Dave Smith  
Councillor John Wilmott 
Tim Spencer 
 

- Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources 
- Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
- Clerk and Monitoring Officer  
- Head of Human Resources Services 
- Governance Officer 

 

9  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Councillor Darrell Pulk (Other Fire and Rescue Authority Business) 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Jon Collins 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 26.06.15 
 

2 

Councillor Roger Jackson 
Councillor Ken Rigby  
Councillor Gail Turner 
 
In the absence of Councillor Darrell Pulk, Councillor Brian Grocock, as Vice-Chair, Chaired 
the meeting. 
 
10  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources, declared a personal interest 
in agenda item 10, Strategic Management Team Restructure, and withdrew from the 
meeting prior to consideration of this item. 
 
11  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2015 were confirmed as a true record and 
signed by the Chair presiding at the meeting. 
 
12  CHAIRS' ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
The Chair made the following announcements: 

 
(a) a members’ seminar is to be held on 21 July 2015, starting at 9.30am until 

approximately 1.30pm;  
 
(b) the end of life Fire Engine, referred to in the Chair’s announcements of the last 

meeting, has now departed and is due to arrive in Nepal during August, with three fire 
fighters due to meet the appliance and train Nepalese firefighters; 

 
(c) the Peer Assessment taking place at Fire Service Headquarters finishes today. The 

outcomes will be received with interest; 
 
(d) Chief’s Challenge, raising funds for the Firefighter’s Charity, was launched this 

morning with a display held in front of Headquarters which alone raised £140; 
 
(e) in recognition of their contribution to the Fire and Rescue Authority, Councillors David 

Smith and John Wilmott, and former Councillor Tim Spencer, were in attendance and 
presented with a certificate of gratitude. 

 
13  PROVISIONAL OUT-TURN FOR 2014/2015 

 
Peter Hurford, Treasurer to the Fire and Rescue Authority, presented the report which 
provides the latest estimates of the financial performance of the service in the year 2014/15. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) the final statement of accounts for 2014/15 will be submitted to the September 

meeting of the Authority; 
 

(b) the report identifies variances against the original budget and provides a brief 
commentary on each variance; 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 26.06.15 
 

3 

 
(c) whilst the provisional variants for 2014/15 totals £198,000, this is less than 0.5% of 

the total budget and is part of the Fire and Rescue Authority strategy in preparation 
of known further financial restraints; 
 

(d) the capital programme is a rolling programme and not all projects for which funds 
have been allocated will be completed in the current financial year. 

 
Members of the authority thanked Peter Hurford and the Finance Team for their thorough 
and hard work. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
(1) to note the report; 
 
(2) to approve for the total capital slippage of £5.884 million to be carried forward. 
 
14  COMMITTEE OUTCOMES 

 
The report provided the minutes of the following subcommittee meetings of the Fire and 
Rescue Authority: 
 
Policy and Strategy Committee 13 March 2015  
Community Safety Committee 27 March 2015  
Finance and Resources Committee 17 April 2015  
Policy and Strategy Committee 17 April 2015  
Human Resources Committee 12 June 2015 
 
RESOLVED that the report and minutes are noted. 
 
15  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining items in accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, as defined in paragraphs 1 & 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.   
 
16  AMENDMENTS TO PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENT 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which requests that the Authority 
approve the recommendations of the Human Resources Committee to amend the 
permanent establishment.  
 
Resolved to approve the recommendations within the report. 
 
17  REORGANISATION OF THE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE AND EQUIPMENT 

SECTION 
 

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report requesting that the Authority 
approved the recommendations of the Human Resources Committee, to reorganise the 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 26.06.15 
 

4 

Hydrant Maintenance and Equipment Sections, leading to permanent changes to the 
establishment. 
 
RESOLVED to approve the recommendations within the report. 
 
18  STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT TEAM RESTRUCTURE 

 
Prior to the Authority’s consideration of this item, Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer, 
Finance and Resources, withdrew from the meeting following a personal declaration of 
interest, in that he is a member of the Strategic Management Team.  
 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report, the recommendations of which had 
previously been considered and supported by both the Policy and Strategy Committee and 
the Human Resources Committee. 
 
RESOLVED to approve the recommendations within the report. 
 
19  RESILIENCE PLANNING AND ARRANGEMENTS UPDATE 

 
John Buckley, chief fire officer, presented the report which informs members of the 
arrangements and plans in place to ensure continuity of service. 
 
RESOLVED to approve the recommendations in the report. 
 
 



 

 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF 
GOVERNANCE 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

 
 
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To inform Members of the review of the Authority’s governance arrangements that 
has been recently carried out by the Strategic Director of Finance and Resources. 
 
To seek the approval of the Authority to the signing of the Annual Governance 
Statement by the Chair of the Authority and the Chief Fire Officer. 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name : Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 
 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

mailto:neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Each year the Authority is required to include an annual governance statement in 

the final accounts. This statement reviews the governance arrangements and 
comments on any challenges for those arrangements going forward. 

 
1.2 This report seeks the approval of members to the signing off of the governance 

statement by the Chair and the Chief Fire Officer.  
 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 The Authority has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which 

is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework “Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government”. 

 
2.2 The annual governance statement sets out how NFRS has complied with the 

code and also meets the requirements of regulation 4(2) of the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2003 as amended by the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2006 in relation to the publication of an annual governance 
statement.  

 
2.3 The statement is appended in full as appendix A to this report. 
 
2.4 The key challenges for governance identified in the review are as follows: 
 

i) Noticeable reductions in central government grant will mean the 
Authority will have to continue to make significant savings over the 
next two to three years at least, whilst continuing to maintain a 
service which meets public expectations. 
 

ii) The Authority’s prudent financial management, as shown in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, will allow it to phase in the impact 
of budget reductions and consider further implementation of the Fire 
Cover Review. This will help to provide continuous stability during a 
period of immense transition. 

 
iii) During the coming year, the Service will seek to address the above 

matters through its current structures and processes to further 
enhance governance arrangements. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 



 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising directly 
from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
Equalities is a core value of the Authority and it is evident from the review of the 
governance framework that equalities issues are properly addressed within it. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
  

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The governance framework of the authority is that series of systems, processes, 

values and culture which direct and control all decision making and policy 
development within the organisation. It is important therefore to review this 
regularly to ensure that this framework remains sufficiently robust and compliant 
with the code. The risk of not doing so is that the organisation could become 
dysfunctional and fail to set proper objectives and/or fail to achieve them. 
 
 

8.2 There is also a requirement under regulation 4(2) of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2003 as amended by the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2006 in relation to the publication of an annual governance 
statement.  
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Members approve the content of the annual governance 

statement. 
 
9.2 It is recommended that a report on the local code on corporate governance be 

taken to the Policy and Strategy Committee for review and revision as appropriate.  
 



 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 



 

Appendix A 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

 
 
1.0 SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY  
 
1.1 Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority (the Authority) is responsible for 

ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper 
standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and 
used economically, efficiently and effectively.  The Authority also has a duty 
under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvements in the way in which its functions are exercised having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Authority is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, use of its resources and including 
arrangements for the management of risk and the maintenance of an effective 
internal control environment. 

 
1.3 The Authority has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which 

is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government. 
 

1.4 This statement sets out how the Authority has complied with the code and also 
meets the requirements of regulations 4(3) and 4(4) of the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2011 in relation to the publication of an annual governance 
statement. 

 
2.0 THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, cultures and 

values, for the direction and control of the Authority and its activities through 
which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the 
Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider 
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate and cost-effective 
services. 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is part of an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks 
to the achievement of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority's policies, aims 
and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 



 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 

 
2.3 A key element of the Internal Control Environment is the development and 

maintenance of Strategic, Corporate and Departmental risk registers which are 
understood and managed by senior managers. 

 
2.4 The governance framework has been in place at the Authority for a number of 

years however it is kept under regular review and modified periodically. 
 
3.0 THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
 
3.1 In addition to the Annual Governance Statement the Authority has a Code of 

Corporate Governance that the Authority will commit to in carrying out its duties 
and responsibilities. In this document, officers have identified against each of the 
Code’s principles what source documentation or existing practice demonstrates 
how the Authority complies with the principles that make up the Code.  
 

3.2 In developing a code of corporate governance the Authority has sought 
compliance with the CIPFA/SOLACE guidelines but has also sought to develop 
internal governance structures that also follow the broader OECD principles 
which provide a stronger framework for internal decision making. 
 

3.3 Some elements of governance have recently changed and were agreed by the 
Fire Authority at the annual general meeting in May 2014 which reported in the 
last Annual Governance Statement. There were essentially three changes to the 
governance framework which are reflected in the revised framework: 

 
Changes in the Committee Structure to remove the performance 
monitoring committee. 
 
Changes in the composition of the Corporate Management Board to 
include a wider group of senior managers and moving meetings to monthly 
rather than weekly. 
 
Changes to the corporate objectives of Response, Protection, Prevention, 
Resilience, Diversity and Workforce and Governance Improvement to new 
Service priorities of Service Delivery, Employees and Workforce, 
Improvement and Governance, Engagement and Partnerships, 
Environment and Inclusion and Equality.     
  

3.4 Summarised below are some of the key elements of the systems and processes 
that underlie the Authority’s governance arrangements: 

 
 
 



 

3.5 Identifying and Communicating the Authority’s vision and outcomes for 
citizens and service users:  

 
3.5.1 After consulting with the citizens of Nottinghamshire and service users, assessing 

current risks and service priorities, the Authority prepares an Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) that sets out the vision and service objectives for the 
organisation. The latest IRMP covers the period 2014–2019 and the Authority 
consults with the citizens and other stakeholders to formulate its business plans 
for each financial year within this plan. 

 
3.5.2 The Authority’s vision is “Creating Safer Communities” and it strives to deliver this 

by developing a set of cohesive business plans and working in partnership with 
others to provide an excellent, affordable service to all the diverse communities of 
Nottinghamshire. To deliver this the Authority has established six Service 
Priorities:  

  
Service Delivery 
 
We will deliver a professional, effective and value-for-money emergency 
response service to all those who live, work and travel in the county of 
Nottinghamshire. 

What this means 
We will continue to use a risk-based approach to improve our service to 
individuals, communities and local businesses with an emphasis on creating safer 
communities, and reducing death and injuries. We will do this through our key 
themes: preparedness, response, prevention and protection. 
 
Employees and Workforce 
 
We will maintain, support and develop our workforce to ensure an environment in 
which we can deliver a professional and effective service to the people of 
Nottinghamshire. 

What this means 
We will ensure that our employees have the capacity and skills to meet our 
delivery objectives and provide a work place where our employees feel 
supported, valued and competent to undertake their roles. 
 
Improvement and Governance 
 
We will look to continuously improve upon previous achievements and assure our 
stakeholders that the organisation has an appropriate infrastructure for 
governance to support future success. 

What this means 
With increasing demand for services likely across the public sector, NFRS will be 
required to base its decisions upon robust intelligence and work alongside its 
partner/agency service providers in a more collaborate manner. 
 



 

Engagements and Partnerships 
 
We will look to develop and maintain effective strategic and community 
partnerships. 

What this means  
We will continue to work closely with our partners and community organisations in 
order to identify and keep safe those members of our communities who are most 
at risk. 
 
Environment 
 
We aim to reduce the Service’s impact on the environment through a combination 
of measures including considering the environment when making decisions, 
investing in technology and delivering training and education initiatives. 

What this means 
We will continue to be committed to minimising our impact on the environment by 
integrating environmental considerations in all aspects of our work, by meeting 
legal standards, seeking competent advice and adopting best practice. 
 
Inclusion and Equality 
 
Provide services tailored to meet the needs of our communities. 

What this means 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service prides itself on its approach to 
inclusion and equality. We work on the principle that to treat people equally, we 
may need to treat them differently. 

  
3.6 Monitoring the achievement of the Authority’s objectives through a 

comprehensive performance management framework: 
   

3.6.1 The Service operates a system of cascading business plans. The IRMP is the 
highest level and from this a series of departmental and functional business plans 
are produced. Progress against these plans is reported on regularly using a piece 
of specialist software and the performance management team report on progress 
and outcomes to the relevant committees. These reports had previously been 
presented to the Performance Committee.  

 
3.6.2 Each of the Strategic Directors are required to report monthly to the Corporate 

Management Board on performance within their Directorates and give 
assurances in relation to the achievement of business plans.    

 
3.7 The Internal Control Environment: 
   
3.7.1 The Authority’s internal control environment comprises many systems, policies, 

procedures and operations. In reality these split into risk management, internal 
check/financial control and internal audit. Internal Check and financial control are 
clearly targeted towards financial matters whereas risk management has a much 



 

broader brief and is more associated with the risk of non-achievement of 
objectives and targets.  The system cannot however eliminate all risks of failure 
to achieve the Authority’s aims and objectives. Once a risk has been identified 
the Authority, where possible will eliminate that risk. If this is not possible then 
procedures are established to manage the risk effectively, efficiently and 
economically. Some of the significant control processes are outlined below:  

 
3.7.2 Policy and Decision Making Process  
  

The Authority has democratic control over its activities via an approved committee 
structure with agreed powers and duties that are periodically reviewed. The 
Authority has a written constitution that sets out how the Authority operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable. There is a formal briefing process prior to 
reports being finalised for Committee or Fire Authority meetings thus allowing key 
Members an opportunity to scrutinise proposed reports in detail The Authority 
also runs Member away-days, seminars and training sessions to help Members 
discuss issues in more detail and in a less formal environment.  

 
3.7.3 Management Structure  

  
The Authority has a clear management structure with defined roles and 
responsibilities. The Corporate Management Board has recently been extended 
to include all department heads as well as the Directors. This is because 
weaknesses were identified in the previous structure of steering groups which 
could make the decision making process opaque and blur lines of accountability. 
The current structure empowers managers to make appropriate decisions but 
also places accountability at the centre of this process.  
 
The Authority has created a new group called the Service Managers Forum which 
is comprised of all the Departmental Heads and augmented by specialists as 
required. As part of a more empowering style of management this group has far 
reaching decision making powers with only the most significant or challenging 
decisions reserved for the Corporate Management Board. This has both speeded 
up the process of decision making and improved quality.    
 
The Authority has an approved scheme of delegation to officers that is reviewed 
periodically by the Chief Fire Officer and the Clerk, with any changes being 
approved by the Fire Authority. 

  
3.7.4 Established Policies, Procedures & Regulations 
 

The Authority ensures compliance with established policies, procedures, laws 
and regulations. The information regarding policies and procedures is held on the 
intranet, and these are continually enhanced and developed through the 
introduction of new policies and procedures as and when required. The Authority 
has established policies on anti-fraud, fraud response and confidential reporting. 



 

The Authority carries out an annual review of financial regulations which clearly 
define how decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to 
manage risk. The list below outlines some of the key policies and process in 
place to enhance the internal control system, that are reviewed as and when 
required:  

 

 Treasury Management Strategy 

 Procurement Strategy 

 Financial Regulations & Standing Orders 

 Scheme of Delegation 

 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Complaints procedure 

 Code of Corporate Governance 

 Constitution 

 Code of Conduct 

 Equality and Diversity schemes 

 Robust Workforce plan and establishment model 

 Full range of robust policies and procedures to underpin the conduct of 
staff from operational procedures, discipline processes, through to 
performance development reviews  

 
3.7.5 Internal Audit Function  

 
The Authority has a strong Internal Audit function arrangement with 
Nottinghamshire County Council, and has well-established protocols for working 
with External Audit.  

  
3.7.6 Risk Management Strategy  

 
The Authority has a well-established and embedded risk management strategy. 
This is managed on two levels, firstly at the corporate/strategic level by The 
Finance and Resources Committee which receives regular reports on risk 
exposures both in terms of existing and emergent risk. Members closely 
scrutinise risk registers and require explanations for changes. The Committee is 
advised by the ACO Finance and Resources and the Authority’s Risk Manager on 
behalf of the Chief Fire Officer. In addition, the Service also maintains an 
approach to Risk via its business plan monitoring which is administered through 
its Corporate Services Department. This ensures the service’s Risk Manager can 
support departmental heads in robustly assessing the risks to the achievement of 
the services objectives. 

  
3.7.7 Best Value Duty  

 
The Authority ensures the economical, effective and efficient use of resources, 
and secures continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are 



 

exercised, by having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and 
effectiveness as required by the Best Value duty. The focus on best value has 
increased in recent years by the requirement to reduce budgets but initiatives 
such as the recent functional analysis work have helped to ensure that service 
quality is maintained.  

 
 
 

3.7.8 Financial Management  
 
Financial management in the Authority and the reporting of financial standing is 
undertaken through a financial system which integrates the general ledger, sales 
ledger and purchase ledger functions and facilitates good budgetary control.  

 
4.0 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS  
 
4.1 The Authority has responsibility for conducting a review of the effectiveness of its 

governance framework including the system of internal control, at least annually. 
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the Corporate 
Management Board and other senior managers within the Authority who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance 
environment, the Internal Audit annual report, and also by comments made by the 
external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  

  
4.2 Maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework 

throughout the financial year has been carried out by the following:  
 

 • The Authority and its Committees  
 • Management Review  
 • Internal audit  
 • External bodies  

 
4.3 The Authority and Its Committees  
  
4.3.1 The Authority  

 
The Authority has reviewed the vision and strategic service objectives as part of 
the budgeting process which was undertaken between October 2014 and 
February 2015. This process also had a measure of Member scrutiny with the 
Chair of Finance and Resources Committee taking an active role.   
At the annual general meeting in May the format and structure of its democratic 
decision process was reafirmed and pproval was given to the powers and make-
up of the following committees:  

 
•The Policy and Strategy Committee 

 
•The Finance & Resources Committee  



 

 
• The Community Safety Committee  

 
• The Human Resources Committee  

 
In addition to the above there are also panels for appointments, Equalities and 
Personnel matters  
 
Terms of reference and responsibilities for all of these Committees form part of 
the Authority’s Governance arrangements. 

 
4.4 Management Review  
  
4.4.1 Included in the day to day management of the organisation are a number of key 

officers, systems and procedures designed to provide core elements of the 
internal control mechanism, with a nominated lead officer responsible for 
reviewing the effectiveness of these systems.  

 
4.4.2 There is a comprehensive system of performance management and review 

embedded within the Authority’s management structure and processes. The 
2014/19 Integrated Risk Management Plan sets out the Authority’s key objectives 
and these are reflected in annual departmental business plans. These plans are 
then monitored by the Corporate Services department and managed by the 
individual departmental management teams. .    

 
4.4.3 Risk management at the strategic/corporate level forms part of the overall 

responsibilities of The Finance and Resources Committee and Members of this 
committee take a keen interest in Risk Management. This Committee have 
considered the desirable risk appetite of the organisation in a proactive way, and 
set risk targets for the Service to report against. Risk Management is an integral 
part of project management and business planning within the Corporate Services 
department and both this and operational risk management, which is managed 
within the Risk Response function, are considered strong.  The Service also 
maintains a comprehensive approach to health and safety which is undertaken by 
the Service’s Health and Safety advisor and monitored by the Health Safety and 
Wellbeing Committee. This group of Officers and representative Bodies reports 
quarterly to the Corporate Management Board.    

 
4.4.4 The Authority employed appropriate professional staff:  
 

• A Statutory Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring the legality of 
Authority actions and supporting the Committee decision making process. 
No actions of the Authority were deemed ultra vires in the year and all 
relevant laws and regulations have been complied with. The monitoring 
officer is a qualified solicitor provided on a contractual basis to the 
Authority by the Legal Services Department of Nottingham City Council. 



 

This arrangement also includes support for the Authority’s wider 
governance structure.   

 
• A Responsible Finance Officer has been appointed as the independent 

Treasurer to the Authority to ensure the proper and effective administration 
of the financial affairs of the Authority. The Strategic Management Team 
ensure that the Authority approve a realistic and affordable financial plan 
for both revenue and capital expenditure which links to the IRMP. The 
Authority continued to ensure it had strong arrangements for managing its 
finances including strong leadership throughout the year. The financial 
planning process is well embedded and understood across the Authority 
by staff and Members. An in house financial team managed by the ACO 
Finance and Resources maintain the correct competencies and  ensure 
that the Strategic Team receive all appropriate information to support the 
key decisions  and objectives of the service. 

 
4.4.5 In addition to the Treasurer the Authority also employs a Director of Finance and 

Resources who fulfils the role of Chief Financial Officer. This Director is a 
member of the Strategic Management Team and the Corporate Management 
Board and is responsible for advising both senior managers and elected 
members on all financial matters. In effect this is a role shared with the Treasurer 
who is seen to act independently of the Strategic Management Team advice to 
the Fire Authority. In reality these two officers work very closely together. Both of 
these officers are professionally qualified and have many years’ experience within 
Local Government finance.  

 
4.4.6 A review has been carried out of the role of Chief Financial Officer and, always 

accepting that the key statutory responsibilities under Section 114 and Section 
151 are held by the Treasurer, all of the principles set out in the CIPFA document 
The role of the Chief Financial Officer are met. 

 
4.4.7 Budget monitoring remains robust at both strategic and service level via the 

production of monthly financial monitoring reports for both Capital and Revenue 
budgets. These reports as well as being scrutinised by budget managers are also 
reported monthly to the Corporate Management Board and quarterly to the 
Finance and Resources Committee. 

 
4.4.8 Functional Heads also exercise a detailed degree of budget monitoring against 

the capital programme.  
 
4.4.9 The External Auditor approved an unqualified Statement of Accounts for 2013/14 

and it is anticipated this will be repeated in 2014/15. A presentation by the 
Director of Resources on the final accounts together with a detailed year-end 
report to the Authority helped communicate the year-end position to Members in 
a clear and understandable format. 

  



 

4.4.10 Specific training is to be organised for elected Members to fully understand the 
format and nature of the accounts such that they can apply meaningful scrutiny 
and ask relevant and searching questions of officers  

 
4.5 Internal Audit  
  
4.5.1 The Authority procured its internal audit service under a contract with 

Nottinghamshire County Council and the arrangement and service was in 
accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local 
Government 2006. The internal audit plan for 2014/15, prioritised by a 
combination of the key internal controls, assessment and review on the basis of 
risk, was approved by the Authority during the year. All internal audit reports 
included an assessment of the internal controls and prioritised action plans, if 
relevant, to address any areas needing improvement. These reports were 
submitted to Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Finance and Resources and the 
relevant managers as appropriate. All finalised reports were submitted to the 
Finance and Resources Committee acting in its role as Audit Committee. Audit 
reports are also fed into the performance management function within the 
Corporate Services Department to ensure that recommendations are 
implemented to agreed timescales. 

 
The Annual Internal Audit Report to the Finance and Resources Committee on 10 
July 2015 concluded that:  

 

 “From the work carried out during the 2014/15 financial year, we have been 
able to satisfy ourselves that the overall level of internal control is satisfactory 
and provides a good basis for effective financial and resource management”.   

 
4.6 External Review  
  
4.6.1 The External Auditors are required by the International Standard on Auditing 260 

(ISA 260) to communicate about the audit of the Authority’s financial statements 
with those charged with governance. This communication is in the form of a 
written report which was presented to Members in September 2014. 

 
4.6.2 The principal purposes of the Auditors’ report are: 
 

 To present key issues identified during the audit of the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2014 and any material misstatements in the 
accounts 

 To report on any key issues for governance 

 To report on the Auditors’ Value for Money conclusion 

 To give an “audit opinion” on the financial statements 

 To report on the implementation of any recommendations in the previous 
year’s ISA 260 report 



 

 To seek approval to the management representation letter, which confirms the 
Authority’s responsibilities and actions in relation to the financial statements 

 
4.6.3 The ISA 260 report confirmed that the accounts production and audit processes 

were good, with no specific risks identified. In addition, the organisational control 
environment was found to be effective overall, with no significant weaknesses in 
controls over key financial systems. 

 
  
5.0 SIGNIFICANT ISSUES FOR GOVERNANCE   
 
5.1 Noticeable reductions in central government grant will mean the Authority will 

have to continue to make significant savings over the next two to three years at 
least, whilst continuing to maintain a service which meets public expectations. 
 

5.2 The Authority’s prudent financial management, as shown in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, will allow it to phase in the impact of budget reductions and 
consider further implementation of the Fire Cover Review. This will help to 
provide continuous stability during a period of immense transition. 

 
5.3 During the coming year, the Service will seek to address the above matters 

through its current structures and processes to further enhance governance 
arrangements. 

 
 
Signed…………………………………… Signed……………………………………  
Cllr Darrell Pulk     John Buckley  
CHAIRMAN      CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AND 
RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

LOCAL CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
AIMS OF THE LOCAL CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority and its Officers are 
committed to ensuring that it has an excellent system of corporate governance. The Authority 
embraces the principles of good governance: openness, inclusivity, integrity and accountability.  
 
The Authority is dependent on its Members and officers in delivering excellent corporate 
governance, and requires them to conduct themselves in accordance with the high standards 
expected by the citizens of Nottinghamshire. The Service will respond positively to the 
recommendations of external audit and statutory inspectors and implement agreed actions 
effectively.  
 
AIMS  
 
The Authority is committed to delivering excellent corporate governance in all aspects of its 
work, including:  
 
1. Focusing on the community  

 
The Authority and its Officers will:  
 

 Work for and with our communities;  

 Exercise leadership in our local communities;  

 Contribute to and promote the well-being of our communities.  
 
2.  Arrangements for service delivery  
 
The Authority and its Officers will:  
 

 Aim to improve its services to local communities;  

 Ensure that its policies are implemented;  

 Act upon its decisions.  
 

3.  The structures and processes in place  
 
The Authority and its Officers will maintain effective political and managerial structures and 
processes to govern decision making and the exercise of authority within the organisation.  
 
4.  Managing risk and establishing internal control  
 
The Authority and its Officers will establish and maintain a strategy, framework and processes to 
manage risk and demonstrate effective internal control.  



 

 
5.   Maintaining standards of conduct  
 
The Authority will work to ensure that high standards of behaviour are shown by its 
Members, officers and agents. The Service has drawn together a detailed framework for 
establishing excellent corporate governance as set out in this statement. Compliance 
with the framework will be monitored each year and reported to the Policy and Strategy 
Committee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 

LOCAL CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 



 

LOCAL CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority is committed to 
ensuring that it has an excellent system of corporate governance and embraces the core 
principles of good governance:  
 
1.  Focusing on the purpose of the organisation and on outcomes for the community 

and creating and implementing a vision for the local area. 
  
2.  Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly 

defined functions and roles. 
  
3.  Promoting values for the organisation and demonstrating the values of good 

governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour. 
  
4.  Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny 

and managing risk. 
  
5.  Developing the capacity and capability of Members and officers to be effective. 
  
6.  Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 

accountability.  
 
Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right 
things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and 
accountable manner. By publishing this Local Code on Corporate Governance the 
Authority is demonstrating its commitment to achieving these aims.  
 
The Authority, in embracing the core principles, will contribute to leadership for 
Nottinghamshire by providing a vision for our Fire and Rescue Service and leading by 
example in the way it makes decisions, and implements those decisions.  
 
The Authority will produce an annual governance statement in order to report publicly on 
the extent to which it complies with the core principles including how it has monitored the 
effectiveness of its governance arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes 
in the coming period. This complies with regulation 4(2) Accounts and Audit regulations.  
 
The Service’s Chief Fire Officer will be responsible for overseeing the implementation 
and monitoring of the Local Code on Corporate Governance, reviewing its operation in 
practice and recommending any changes that may be necessary to maintain it and 
ensure its effectiveness in practice. The Chief Fire Officer and Strategic Directors will be 
responsible for ensuring that officers in their departments are aware of and embrace the 
principles of good corporate governance set out in this Code.  
 
The core principles have been translated into a framework which seeks to ensure that 
they are fully integrated in the conduct of the Service’s business and establishes a 
means of demonstrating compliance. The framework is based on the SOLACE/CIPFA 
2007 publication “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government”.  
 



 

The authority will respond positively to the recommendations of external audit and 
statutory inspectors in respect of corporate governance and implement agreed actions 
effectively.  
 



 

THE CORE PRINCIPLES - FRAMEWORK  
 
1. Focusing on the purpose of the service and on outcomes for the community and 

creating and implementing a vision for the local area, by:  
 

a. Exercising strategic leadership by developing and clearly communicating the 
Service’s purpose and vision and its intended outcomes for citizens and service 
users. To achieve this, the Authority will:  

 
i) Develop and promote the Service’s purpose and vision  
ii) Review on a regular basis the Service’s vision for the area and its implication 

for the Service’s governance arrangements  
iii) Ensure that partnerships are underpinned by a common vision of their work 

that is understood and agreed by all partners  
iv) Produce an annual report to coincide with the Statement of Accounts, by the 

30 September each year 
 

b. Ensuring that users receive a high quality of service whether directly, or in 
partnership, or by commissioning. To achieve this, the Authority will:  

 
i) Decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and make sure 

that the information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly 
is available. 

ii) Put in place effective arrangements to identify and deal with failure in service 
delivery.  

 
c.  Ensuring that the Authority makes best use of resources and that tax payers and 

service users receive excellent value for money. To achieve this, the Authority will:  
 

i) Maintain a Value For Money programme to ensure that Value for Money can 
be demonstrated.  

 
Examples of how the Authority demonstrates commitment to this core principle:  
 

 Local Code on Corporate Governance;  

 Partnership protocols;  

 Annual financial statements;  

 Annual business plan;  

 Performance management framework; 

 Customer Comments Procedure.  
 
2.  Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with 

clearly defined functions and roles, by  
 

a. Ensuring effective leadership throughout the Service and being clear about the 
boundaries that exist between Officer and Members functions and of the roles and 
responsibilities of the scrutiny function. To achieve this, the Authority will:  

 
i) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the 

Strategic Management Team (SMT) and of SMTs Members individually and 
the Service’s approach towards putting this in to practice. 

ii) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of other 
Officers and Members generally.  

 



 

b. Ensuring that a constructive working relationship exists between Elected Members 
and officers and that the responsibilities of Members and officers are carried out to 
a high standard. To achieve this, the Authority will:  

 
i) Determine a scheme of delegation and reserve powers within the Members 

Handbook including a formal schedule of those matters specifically reserved 
for collective decision of the Authority, taking account of relevant legislation, 
and ensure that it is monitored and updated when required.  

ii) Make the Chief Fire Officer responsible and accountable to the Authority for 
all aspects of operational management.  

iii) Develop protocols to ensure that the Chair of the Fire Authority and Chief 
Fire Officer negotiate their respective roles early in the relationship and that a 
shared understanding of roles and objectives is maintained.  

iv) Make the Authority’s Section 151 Officer responsible to the Authority for 
ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping 
proper financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective 
system of internal financial control.  

v) Make the Clerk to the Fire Authority responsible to the Authority for ensuring 
that agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes and 
regulations are complied with.  

 
c. Ensuring relationships between the Authority, its partners and the public are clear 

so that each knows what to expect of the other. To achieve this, the Authority will:  
 

i) Develop protocols to ensure effective communication between Members and 
officers in their respective roles  

ii) Set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of Members and officers 
and an effective structure for managing the process, including an effective 
remuneration panel if required 

iii) Ensure that effective mechanisms exist to monitor service delivery  
iv) Ensure that the organisation’s vision, strategic plans, priorities and targets 

are developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local 
community and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated 
and disseminated  

v) When working in partnership, ensure that Members are clear about their 
roles and responsibilities both individually and collectively in relation to the 
partnership and to the Authority  

vi) When working in partnership ensure that there is clarity about the legal status 
of the partnership and ensure that representatives of organisations both 
understand and make clear to all other partners the extent of their authority to 
bind their organisation to partner decisions  

 
Examples of how the Service could demonstrate its commitment to this core 
principle:  
 

 The Authority’s Standing Orders;  

 Records of decisions and supporting materials;  

 Conditions of employment;  

 Scheme of delegation;  

 Job descriptions/specification;  

 Member/officer protocol;  

 Corporate plans;  

 Budgets;  

 Protocols for partnership working including an assessment toolkit and exit   
strategies. 



 

 
3.  Promoting values for the Service and demonstrating the values of good 

governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour, by  
 

a.  Ensuring the Authority’s Members and officers exercise leadership by behaving in 
ways that exemplify high standards of conduct and effective governance. To 
achieve this, the Authority will: 

 
i) Ensure that the Authority’s leadership sets a tone for the organisation by 

creating a climate of openness, support and respect  
ii) Ensure that standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of 

Members and officers, of work between Members and officers and between 
the Authority, its partners and the community are defined and communicated 
through codes of conduct and protocols  

iii) Put in place arrangements to ensure that Members and officers of the 
Authority are not influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in 
dealing with different stakeholders and put in place appropriate processes to 
ensure that they continue to operate in practice  

 
b.  Ensuring that organisational values are put into practice and are effective. To 

achieve this the Authority will:  
 

i) Develop and maintain shared values including leadership values for both the 
Authority Members and officers reflecting public expectations, and 
communicate these with Members, officers, the community and partners  

ii) Put in place arrangements to ensure that systems and processes are 
designed in conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and monitor their 
continuing effectiveness in practice  

iii) Develop and maintain an effective Standards Committee  
iv) Use the organisations shared values to act as a guide for decision making 

and as a basis for developing positive and trusting relationships within the 
Authority 

v) In pursuing the vision of a partnership, agree a set of values against which 
decision making and actions can be judged. Such values must be 
demonstrated by partners’ behaviour both individually and collectively  

 
Examples of how the Service could demonstrate its commitment to this core 
principle:  
 

 Codes of conduct;  

 Performance appraisal; 

 Customer Comments procedures;  

 Anti-fraud and –corruption policy;  

 Standing Orders;  

 Financial Regulations;  

 Regular reporting to Full Authority; 

 Decision-making practices;  

 Gifts and hospitality policy; 

 Protocols for partnership working.  
  
4.  Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective 

scrutiny and managing risk, by  
 

a.  Being rigorous and transparent about how decisions are taken and listening and 
acting on the outcome of constructive scrutiny. To achieve this the Authority will:  



 

 
i) Develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances the Authority’s performance overall  
ii) Develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting 

evidence for decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and 
considerations on which decisions are based  

iii) Put in place arrangements to safeguard Members and employees against 
conflicts of interest and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that 
they continue to operate in practice  

iv) Develop and maintain an effective Performance Committee which is 
independent of the executive and scrutiny functions or make other 
appropriate arrangements for the discharge of the functions of such a 
committee  

v) Ensure that effective, transparent and accessible arrangements are in place 
for dealing with Customer comments  

 
b.  Having good quality information, advice and support to ensure that services are 

delivered effectively and are what the community wants/needs. To achieve this the 
Authority will:  

 
i) Ensure that those making decisions for the Authority are provided with 

information that is fit for the purpose – relevant, timely and gives clear 
explanations of technical issues and their implications  

ii) Ensure that proper professional advice on matters that have legal or financial 
implications is available and recorded well in advance of decision making 
and used appropriately  

 
c.  Ensuring that an effective risk management system is in place. To achieve this the 

Authority will:  
 

i) Ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the Authority, 
with Members and Officers at all levels recognising that risk management is 
part of their jobs  

ii) Ensure that effective arrangements for whistleblowing are in place to which 
officers, staff and all those contracting with or appointed by the Authority 
have access  

 
d. Using their legal powers to the full benefit of the citizens and communities in their 

area. To achieve this the Authority will: 
 

i) Actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on them by, for example, 
the ultra vires doctrine but also strive to utilise their powers to the full benefit 
of their communities  

ii) Recognise the limits of lawful action and observe both the specific 
requirements of legislation and the general responsibilities placed on 
authorities by public law  

iii) Observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon them, as well as 
the requirements of general law, and in particular to integrate the key 
principles of good administrative law – rationality, legality and natural justice 
– into their procedures and decision-making processes  

 
Examples of how the Service could demonstrate its commitment to this core 
principle:  
 

 Members’ code of conduct;  

 Training for committee Members;  



 

 Publication of SMT and PaCT meetings within the service; 

 Customer Comments procedure;  

 Risk management protocol; 

 Standing orders and financial regulations;  

 Whistleblowing policy;  

 Monitoring officer provisions.  
 
5.  Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective, 

by  
 

a.  Making sure that Members and officers have the skills, knowledge, experience 
and resources they need to perform well in their roles. To achieve this the 
Authority will:  

 
i) Provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities 

for Members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis  
ii) Ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support 

necessary to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are 
properly understood throughout the Council  

 
b.  Developing the capability of people with governance responsibilities and 

evaluating their performance, as individuals and as a group. To achieve this the 
Authority will:  

 
i) Assess the skills required by Members and officers and make a commitment 

to develop those skills to enable roles to be carried out effectively  
ii) Develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance, including the 

ability to scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert 
advice is needed  

iii) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place for reviewing the 
performance of the Strategic Management Team as a whole and of individual 
Members and agreeing an action plan which might, for example, aim to 
address any training or development needs  

 
c.  Encouraging new talent for membership of the Authority so that best use can be 

made of individuals’ skills and resources in balancing continuity and renewal. To 
achieve this the Authority will:  

 
i) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place designed to encourage 

individuals from all sections of the community to engage with, contribute to 
and participate in the work of the Authority 

ii) Ensure that career structures are in place for Members and officers to 
encourage participation and development  

 
Examples of how the Service could demonstrate its commitment to this core 
principle:  
 

 Training and development plans;  

 Induction programme;  

 Personal development reviews; 

 Update courses/information;  

 Succession planning;  

 Provision and maintenance of the Members’ Handbook. 
 
 



 

6.  Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability, by  

 
a.  Exercising leadership through a robust scrutiny function which effectively 

engages local people and all local institutional stakeholders, including 
partnerships, and develops constructive accountability relationships. To achieve 
this the Authority will:  

 
i) Make clear to themselves, all officers and the community to whom they are 

accountable and for what  
ii) Consider those institutional stakeholders to whom the Authority is 

accountable and assess the effectiveness of the relationships and any 
changes required   

 
b.  Taking an active and planned approach to dialogue with and accountability to the 

public to ensure effective and appropriate service delivery whether directly by the 
Authority, in partnership or by commissioning. To achieve this the Authority will:  

 
i) Ensure clear channels of communication are in place with all sections of the 

community and other stakeholders, and put in place monitoring 
arrangements and ensure that they operate effectively  

ii) Hold meetings that are open to the public unless there are good reasons for 
confidentiality  

iii) Ensure that arrangements are in place to enable the Authority to engage with 
all sections of the community effectively. These arrangements should 
recognise that different sections of the community have different priorities 
and establish explicit processes for dealing with these competing demands  

iv) Establish a clear policy on the types of issues they will meaningfully consult 
on or engage with the public and service users about including a feedback 
mechanism for those consultees to demonstrate what has changed as a 
result  

v) On an three year basis, publish a community safety plan which will be 
updated annually, giving information on the Authorities vision, strategy, plans 
and as well as information about its outcomes achievements the in the 
previous period  

vi) Ensure that the Authority as a whole is open and accessible to the 
community, service users and its officers and ensure that it has made a 
commitment to openness and transparency in all its dealings, including 
partnerships, subject only to the need to preserve confidentiality in those 
specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to do so  

 
c.  Making the best of human resources by taking an active and planned approach to 

meet responsibility to officers. To achieve this the Authority will:  
 

i) Develop and maintain a clear policy on how officers and their representatives 
are consulted and involved in decision making  

 
Examples of how the Service could demonstrate its commitment to this core 
principle:  
 

 Annual report;  

 Partnership framework;  

 Community Safety plan and annual updates; 

 Standing Orders.  
 
 





 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2014/15 
 

Report of the Treasurer to the Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To present the final accounts of the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority to the 
full Fire Authority for approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

mailto:neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice 

on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014/15, which is 
published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA). The full Fire and Rescue Authority must approve the audited 
Statement of Accounts before 30 September following the financial year end. 

 
1.2 This report is issued as a covering paper to the final accounts which are 

appended in full as Appendix A.  
 
1.3 At its meeting on 26 June the Fire Authority received a Provisional Outturn 

report setting out that the estimated out-turn underspend against the budget 
would be of the order of £198k subject to any accounting adjustments. The 
final out-turn for the year is a revenue budget underspend of £193k. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
The Core Statements in the Accounts 
 
2.1 There are four core statements in the Statement of Accounts, and these are 

on pages 18 to 22 of the Accounts. The core statements show references to 
disclosure notes within the Accounts which give further information and 
explanations about the figures within the core statements. 

 
2.2 The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on 

the Authority’s various reserves, analysed into “usable” and “unusable” 
reserves. The usable reserves total £11.1m at 31 March 2015, including the 
General Reserve and Earmarked Reserves and these are available to be 
spent by the Authority in the future. This statement also shows how the net 
deficit on the provision of services is adjusted in accordance with accounting 
regulations to give the net increase in the General Reserves of £193k for the 
year. 

 
2.3 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows all of the 

items of income and expenditure which constitute the accounting cost in the 
year of providing services. Although this Statement shows a deficit of 
£12.2m, this does not represent the cost to taxpayers, as the deficit is 
adjusted in accordance with accounting regulations to give the net 
underspend of £193k, which is the net underspend against the revenue 
budget. 

 
2.4 The Balance Sheet shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at 

31 March 2015. The Authority’s net assets are matched by the Authority’s 
reserves. Paragraph 2.13 below gives further explanation of the Pensions 
Reserve on the Balance Sheet. 

 



2.5 The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash (and cash equivalents) 
during the year and shows how the Service’s activities generate and use 
cash. 

 
2.6 On pages 92 and 93 of the Accounts are the Pension Fund Statements which 

show the transactions in the year on fire-fighter pensions and the assets and 
liabilities as at 31 March 2015 (although not the future liabilities due after the 
period end – see paragraph 2.13 below). 

 
The Treasurer’s Foreword 
 
2.7 The Treasurer’s Foreword gives a useful overview of both the Accounts 

themselves and the Authority’s activities during the year and beyond from a 
financial viewpoint. The foreword sets the context for the Accounts and is 
therefore a useful starting point for someone reading the Authority’s accounts 
for the first time. 

 
Revenue Expenditure 
 
2.8 The Authority set a revenue budget of £42.9m for 2014/15 and the end of 

year position shows an underspend of £198k against this budget (a variance 
of 0.5%). A detailed explanation of the main reasons for the variance is 
included within the Treasurer’s Foreword on pages 6 and 7 in the Statement 
of Accounts at Appendix A, but the most significant variances were an 
underspend against the pay budget of £1,062k, an overspend on industrial 
action of £431k and contributions to earmarked reserves of £780k. 

 
2.9 The table below shows the underspend and how this relates to the funding 

for the year. 
 

 Budget 
2013/14 

Actual 
2013/14 

Variance from 
Budget 2013/14 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s 
Expenditure:    
Net expenditure 42,892 42,694 (198) 
    
Financed By:    
Revenue Support Grant  12,511 12,511 0 
Non Domestic Rates 9,652 9,647 (5) 
Precept from Constituent 
Authorities 

20,729 20,729 0 

    
Net   (193) 

 
 
 
  



Capital Expenditure 
 
2.10 The Capital Programme for 2014/15 was £11.0m, spending against this was 

£4.5m leaving an underspend of £6.5m, which was reported to Finance and 
Resources Committee during the year. The Treasurer’s Foreword in the 
Statement of Accounts includes an analysis and an explanation of this 
variance. 

 
Reserves 

 
2.11 The total balance of Earmarked Reserves at the end of the financial year was 

£3.8m. During the year new Earmarked Reserves were created either to 
carry forward unspent grants or donations or to set aside funds for specific 
purposes. A number of Earmarked Reserves were at least partially utilised in 
the year and, overall, the level of Earmarked Reserves increased by just £27k 
in the year. 

 
2.12 Some significant additions were made to Earmarked Reserves in the year: 

the Pensions Ill Health reserve was increased by £130k to replace the 
amount used within the year; The Organisational Transition reserve was 
increased by £200k and the sum of £100k was set aside for backlog building 
maintenance to help ensure that the Authority’s estate is maintained in a 
good state of repair. In addition, a Communications Development reserve 
was set up during the year with a contribution of £200k. 

 
Pensions 
 
2.13 Standard accounting practice requires the Authority to show the full future 

pensions liabilities at the time that these liabilities are earned by employees. 
An independent actuary has assessed the liabilities for pension schemes in 
which the Authority participates, namely the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme. The schemes are currently in 
deficit, which shows as a total liability (Pensions Reserve) of £460m on the 
balance sheet. The largest element of this liability relates to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes which stands at £443m. 

 
2.14 The Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are unfunded and the annual cost of 

benefits is paid for mainly by employee contributions and employer 
contributions. The Department for Communities and Local Government 
meets any annual shortfall i.e. if the contributions into the fund do not meet 
the cost of pensions paid in the year. The Authority is required to continue to 
show the liability in respect of the Firefighter Pension Schemes in its Balance 
Sheet and notes to the core financial statements. 

 
General Reserves 
 
2.15  The General Reserve for the Authority, after taking account of the 

underspend for the year of £193k, stood at £6.535m at 31 March 2015. 
 
2.16  The overall position shows that the stewardship of net spending has been 

achieved within the revenue budget and has continued to support the 



implementation of the Community Safety Plan (IRMP). Variances against 
both Capital and Revenue budgets have been reported to the Finance and 
Resources Committee throughout the year. 

 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Ltd 
 
2.17 Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited is an arm’s 

length trading company, established by the Authority, whose main activity is 
to sell fire extinguisher maintenance services to external customers. The 
financial statements for this company are attached as Appendix B.  

 
2.18  This is the Trading Company’s fourth full year of trading and the declared 

profit after taxation is £60,790. Contributions in the region of £49k have also 
been made to the benefit of the Fire Authority for the Company’s use of 
support services and assets. This offsets some of the costs of these services 
falling on the Fire Authority itself. A dividend of £15k was paid to the Fire 
Authority as sole shareholder during the year, leaving cumulative Retained 
Earnings of £166,547. Members are requested to note the outturn. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out in full in the body of this report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no specific human resources and learning and development implications 
arising from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 

An equality impact assessment has not been carried out because this is a report of 
the Authority’s financial performance for the 2014/15 financial year rather than a 
new or amended policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 



8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 The production of Final Accounts is fundamental in demonstrating a sound 
financial position for any organisation. The “snapshot” provided by annual 
accounts which can be independently audited provides both stakeholders 
and elected Members with a significant level of assurance in this area. 

 
8.2 The level of working balances and reserves, as shown in the accounts, will 

enable the position set out in the medium term financial strategy to be 
sustained. 

 
8.3 Detailed aspects of financial risk management are set out within the body of 

the report. 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

9.1 That Members approve the Statement of Accounts for 2014/15, as attached 
at Appendix A. 

 
9.2 That Members note the financial results for the 2014/15 year for 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited, as attached at 
Appendix B. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
Peter Hurford 
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

..\cover.bmp



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

PAGE

Treasurer's Foreword to the Statement of Accounts 3

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 12

Statement of Approval of the Statement of Accounts 13

Auditor's Report 14

 The Core Financial Statements 17

 - Introduction to Core Statements 17

 - Movement in Reserves Statement 18

 - Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement                                                       20

 - Balance Sheet 21

 - Cash Flow Statement 22

 - Index of Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 23

 - Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 24

The Pension Statements 91

 - Pension Fund Account 91

 - Pensions Net Assets Statement 92

 - Notes to the Pension Statement 93

Annual Governance Statement 97

Glossary of Terms 106

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2014/15

2

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

3

TREASURER'S FOREWORD TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority was formed as an independent body on 

1st April 1998 following Local Government Reorganisation. 

  

The accounting policies adopted by the Fire Authority are explained fully in the notes to the 

accounts and comply with current recommended accounting practice. 

  

The accounts of the Authority can be quite daunting for the reader, especially those who are 
unfamiliar with accounts in general and local government accounts in particular, so I hope that in 
taking the time to read my foreword you will be able to better understand how these accounts are 
constructed and how best to read and interpret them. 
 
The accounts comprise a set of core statements, which contain summarised information. Like 
many summaries they do not necessarily make meaningful reading without reference to the details 
which, in the case of these accounts, can be found in the accompanying notes. The notes are 
referenced within the summary statements and it is these notes that enable the reader to 
understand the detail of what is in a summary item and see how the accounts have been 
constructed from the underlying financial information. 

 
For the purpose of the Statement of Accounts the Authority's expenditure has been categorised in 

accordance with the standard classification recommended by the Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014/15, which is published 

by CIPFA. The following are included in this Statement of Accounts: 

  

Movement in Reserves Statement 

  

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority 

analysed into usable reserves, which can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation, 

and other reserves. The Authority holds reserves for two reasons. There are always issues which 

may arise for which the Authority has no specific budget but in order that these “one off” type 

events do not unduly impact upon a single year's budget it is wise to maintain some money to deal 

with these events should they occur. These are what are known as General Fund Balances. 

Similarly, the Authority may wish to hold back sums of money because it knows that certain items 

of expenditure will occur but that these are of a “one off” nature and it is uncertain as to when they 

will occur. These are called earmarked reserves because they are for a specific purpose. As 

Treasurer I am required to assess the adequacy of these reserves to meet future events and issue 

a statement annually to that effect. The Surplus (or Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows 

the true economic cost of providing the Authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Adjustments are then made to the Surplus (or 

Deficit) on the Provision of Services to recognise the fact that the statutory amounts required to be 

charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes are different. The Net 

Increase (or Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General 

Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the 

Authority. 

 

It is important to note that some of the Authority's reserves which appear on the balance sheet 

cannot be used to fund expenditure.  An example of an unusable reserve would be the Revaluation 

Reserve, which contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its 

Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The Authority held £6.535m in General 

Reserves as well as £3.831m in Earmarked Reserves as at 31st March 2015. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

B Sheet total

Pension Liability total

Check - increase or decrease?

CF total

CF total

Pension Fund total

4

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
  
This statement brings together all of the items of income and expenditure which constitute the 
accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices. This is not the same as the net cost to be funded from council tax and other taxation. The 
reader may wish to refer to the Movement in Reserves Statement to find out the net increase or 
decrease to the General Fund Balance, which is effectively the underspend or overspend against 
the revenue budget for the year, and is a £193k underspend for 2014/15. 
 
Balance Sheet  
  
The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority at 31st 
March. The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by 
the Authority and thus the Balance Sheet is "in balance". The reader will notice that the total on the 
Balance Sheet is a negative figure of £415.929m, which means that the Authority's liabilities exceed 
its assets. This would usually be a cause for concern, however in this case the large liability in 
question relates to future pension liabilities (£459.916m) which at present are funded by Central 
Government. The underlying financial position of the Fire Authority is a strong one because when 
this pension liability is excluded, assets exceed liabilities by £43.987m. 
 
Cash Flow Statement 

  

This statement, as its name suggests, shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 

Authority during the reporting period. The starting point for this statement is the net surplus or deficit 

on the provision of services shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as 

this might suggest what the movement in cash balances has been. There are however a number of 

charges that are made to the revenue account that are not cash transactions and that merely result 

in a transfer of funds between the balance sheet and the revenue account.  

 

The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 

classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows 

arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the 

Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided 

by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made 

for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows 

arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of 

capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 

 

The resultant figure shows the real movement in cash during the year, which is an increase in cash 

of £1.273m. 

  

Pension Fund Account 

  

This statement shows the income and expenditure for the year relating to the Firefighters’ Pension 

Schemes. The net amount payable for the year i.e. the extent to which pension benefits payable 

exceeded contributions, is £7.665m. 

  

Pension Net Assets Statement 

  

This statement shows the net current assets and liabilities arising from the operation of the 

Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. This statement does not take account of liabilities to pay future   



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

..\..\CI&E draft 2014-15.xls

5

 
pensions and other benefits after the period end. Such liabilities are shown in the Authority’s 
Balance Sheet, as explained above. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
  
This statement sets out the Authority’s responsibilities with regard to corporate governance and 
gives details of key elements of corporate governance in place during the year. It also summarises 
the Authority’s review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, measured against the 
CIPFA / SOLACE framework, and in which issues for action are highlighted. 
 

Key Figures 

 

Revenue Budget Underspend: this was £193k for 2014/15, with the main reasons for this variance 

given in the section below "Significant Variances" 

 

Cost of Services: this was £46.759m for 2014/15 (£49.744m 2013/14) and is shown in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. There were two main reasons for the 

significantly lower expenditure in 2014/15: firstly expenditure on pay was around £1m less in 

2014/15 which was in line with budgetary reductions made; secondly the current service cost for 

the Firefighter pension scheme was just over £1m less in 2014/15 (this cost does not impact 

directly on the General Fund), and finally there were revaluation losses on property, plant and 

equipment of around £0.75m in 2014/15 (again these do not impact on the General Fund). 

 

Total Net Assets: this was £415.929m for 2014/15 (£348.114m 2013/14) and is shown on the 

Balance Sheet. The main reason for the movement between the 2 years was a £68m increase in 

the pension liability (see section "Other Significant, Material and Unusual items"). 

 

Total Usable Reserves: this was £11.086m for 2014/15 (£13.448m 2013/14) and is shown on the 

Balance Sheet. The main reason for the movement between the 2 years is the use of both 

accumulated capital receipts and part of an unapplied capital grant to finance capital expenditure in 

the year. 

 

Debtors: this was £4.774m for 2014/15 (£5.784m 2013/14) and is shown on the Balance Sheet. 

The main reasons for the movement between the 2 years were that the capital grant for the Tri-

Service Control project was written down by £446k during the year in respect of expenditure 

incurred, and there was a reduction in the amount owed by the Firefighter Pension Fund to the 

General Fund - a change of £636k. 

 

Creditors: this was £3.377m for 2014/15 (£4.422m 2013/14) and is shown on the Balance Sheet. 

The main reasons for the movement between the 2 years were that payments due to suppliers at 

the end of the year were £883k less and this was simply a matter of timing, with most of the larger 

outstanding invoices as at 31st March 2014 paid in April 2014. In addition a one-off amount of 

£304k was owed to Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs as at 31st March 2014. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Budget Actual

Variance 

from Budget

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15

£000 £000 £000

Net Expenditure 42,892 42,694 (198)

Financed By:

Revenue Support Grant 12,511 12,511 0

Non Domestic Rates 9,652 9,647 (5)

Precept from Constituent Authorities 20,729 20,729 0

Net (193)

6

Significant Variances 

  

Variances against the budget have arisen in the following areas (only significant variances are 

detailed): 

Explanation of variances 
  
The overall variance against the revenue budget of £193k is a relatively small one, although within 
this are a few significant over and underspends. 
 
Pay budgets underspent by £1,062k, partly because budgetary assumptions were different from 
actuals but mainly due to vacancies within the establishment (particularly for Administrative and 
Support Staff) as well as reducing incident numbers which impacted on the Retained Duty System 
budget. 
 

Summary of the Year 
  
A summary of the Fire Authority’s overall financial results is given in the following paragraphs: 
  
Revenue Income and Expenditure 
  
Revenue expenditure describes the day to day costs of running the Authority and includes items 
such as employees’ pay, running costs of buildings and vehicles and office expenses. The 
Authority set a revenue budget of £42.892m for 2014/15 and the position at the end of the year 
shows an underspend of £193k. The outturn represents a variation to the original budget of 0.5% 
and the reasons for this variance are explained below. 
 
The 2014/15 year was another challenging one financially, with the amount of grant funding from 
Central Government again being reduced, and further grant reductions expected in future years. 
A number of planned savings were implemented during the year with the aim of reducing costs 
going forward and preserving the Authority’s strong, underlying financial position.  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

..\..\Treasurers Foreword\Revenue Monitoring\Revenue Monitoring 14_15 as at 10_06_15 FINAL.xls

Worksheet: TreasFWord

Pie Chart is for 2014/15

7

A number of historic pension calculations in respect of firefighter pensions were resolved at the end 
of the year, with a charge of £258k against the General Fund to reimburse the Firefighter Pension 
Fund. A provision had not been made for this in the previous financial year as the amount could not 
be estimated at that time. 
 
A number of contributions were made during the year to either set up new earmarked reserves or to 
augment existing earmarked reserves. A contribution of £200k was used to create a new 
earmarked reseve for Communications Development. The following earmarked reserves were 
increased: Pensions / Ill Health by £130k; Organisation Transition by £200k; Backlog Building 
Maintenance by £100k. Existing earmarked reserves were re-designated to provide a reserve for a 
Fire Control Collaboration project - £220k Along with some other minor contributions to earmarked 
reserves, the total contribution to earmarked reserves is £1,011k. 

Capital Expenditure 
  
Capital expenditure describes the purchasing, upgrading and improvement of Fire Authority 
assets. These assets are known as “non current assets" and they provide a benefit to the 
Authority over a longer period of time than the current financial year. During the year, the following 
major non current assets were acquired or upgraded (including assets under construction as at 31 
March 2014): 

The Pie Chart below shows how the Authority's revenue expenditure was split between Pay, 
Capital Financing and Other Net Expenditure. 

Pay

Capital Financing

Other Net Expenditure

The industrial action called by the Fire Brigades Union over pension issues continued during the 
year, with a net total expenditure of £431k. This was an overspend as no budgetary provision was 
made for the cost of this action. 
 
The fuel budget underspent by £140k due to both a fall in fuel prices over the year and a reduction 
in incident numbers leading to reduced consumption of fuel. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2014/15

£000s

Fire Appliances 1,333

Light Vehicles 113

Retford Fire Station 1,598

London Road Fire Station (project start) 330

Telephone PABX 145

Mobilising System 499

Total 4,018

 

Capital 

Programme Actual

Variance 

from Budget

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15

£000 £000 £000

Property Programme 5,577 1,944 (3,633)

Transport Programme 2,691 1,490 (1,201)

Equipment 250 0 (250)

IT and Communications Programme 2,479 1,033 (1,446)

Total 10,997 4,467 (6,530)

8

The Fire Authority had a Capital Programme for 2014/15, which detailed the capital expenditure 
projects to be undertaken in the year. A summary of the Capital Programme and actual 
expenditure for the year is shown below. The Capital Programme amounts include slippage of 
£5.5m (budgets carried forward) from 2013/14: 
 

 
Significant Variances 
 
The Property programme underspent by £3.633m. The main reason for this was the delay in 
acquiring land required to build a new fire station to replace the current Central Fire Station. The 
delay occurred for reasons outside of the Authority's control  and the impact of this  pushed back 
the whole project, although the land was eventually acquired in April 2015. 
  
The Transport programme underspent by £1.201m and this budget will be slipped forward to fund 
the build of appliances which started in the year as well as light vehicles. The majority of this 
slippage related to vehicles which were under construction but not completed by the year end. 
  
The Information and Communications Technology programme also underspent during the year, by 
£1.446m. Most projects either completed in the year or made good progress, but budget will be 
slipped forward to fund the completion of the new Mobilising system as well as further Business 
Process Automation initiatives.  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

9

 
Financing of Capital Expenditure 
  
The Authority did not undertake any borrowing during the year, and repaid £2.068m of debt to the 
Public Work Loans Board ( PWLB). The Authority’s level of borrowing at the year end was £20.4m, 
with £1.1m of this held as investments and not yet applied to finance capital expenditure. This 
compares to long term assets on the Balance Sheet valued at £55.342m. The capital financing 
requirement as at 31 March 2015 is £22.160m, which demonstrates that the current level of net 
borrowing is prudent. 
  
During the year, capital expenditure was mainly financed by a combination of government capital 
grant and capital receipts. 
 
Earmarked Reserves 
  
Several earmarked reserves have been created for specific projects which will take place in 
2015/16 and beyond. The effect of this will be that these earmarked reserves will support the 
2015/16 budget and allow certain non-recurrent expenditure to take place. Earmarked reserves 
have been funded from two sources – they either arise from grants or donations received which 
have not been spent by the end of the year or they are created from within the revenue budget .The 
earmarked reserves held by the Authority are shown in note 9. 
 
Pension Funds 
  
Standard accounting practice requires the Authority to show the full future pensions liabilities at the 
time that these liabilities are earned by employees. An independent actuary has assessed the 
liabilities for pension schemes in which the Authority participates, namely the Firefighters’ Pension 
Schemes and the Local Government Pension Scheme. The schemes are currently in deficit, which 
shows as a total liability of £459.916m on the balance sheet. The largest element of this liability 
relates to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and stands at £442.718m. The Firefighters’ Pension 
Schemes are unfunded and the annual cost of benefits is paid for by employee contributions and 
employer contributions. The Department for Communities and Local Government meets any annual 
shortfall i.e. if the contributions into the fund do not meet the cost of pensions paid in the year. The 
Authority is required to continue to show the liability in respect of the Firefighter Pension Schemes 
in its Balance Sheet and notes to the core financial statements.  
 
Other Significant, Material and Unusual Items 
   
During the year, a brand new fire station at Retford was opened. Unfortunately the project to 
replace Central Fire Station with a new fire station at London Road suffered some setbacks with 
regards to the acquisition of land on the London Road site. This matter finally concluded in April 
2015 and work is now underway on the site. 
 
The Authority has started to share some fire stations with the East Midlands Ambulance Service - 
their ambulance crews are now able to use  some facilities in between calls. This collaboration is 
bringing a modest amount of income into the Authority but, more importantly, it demonstrates how 
emergency service personnel can share resources and bring about cost savings for the public 
purse. 
 
The project to implement a new Tri-Service Mobilising system has also been delayed somewhat 
and the system is now expected to be functional during 2015/16. 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2014/15

459916

56688

Date amended SM 11/05/15

10

 
Planned budgetary reductions continued in the year, with phase 2 of the voluntary redundancy 
programme fully implemented by 31st March. This affected a number of administrative and support 
employees, whilst the number of Wholetime employees was also scaled down by reducing the 
number of Wholetime appliances by 1 - this latter reduction will be achieved through natural 
wastage by 2015/16. In addition 1 Retained appliance was removed  during the year and this 
resulted in some redundancies. 
 
One of the most significant issues for the Authority this year was the continued industrial action by 
the Fire Brigades Union over pension issues. This year, the net cost of this action was  £431k, 
bringing the total net cost since the start of the action in 2013/14 to £571k. We have continued to 
provide fire cover to our communities during all of the strike periods.  
 
The Authority's pension liability, shown on the Balance Sheet, has increased from £390.847m last 
year to £459.916m at 31st March 2015. This change is also reflected in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statements on the line "Remeasurements on the net defined benefit pensions 
liability", which shows a cost of £56.688m for 2014/15. The main reason for this is that the financial 
assumption concerning the rate of interest used to discount post employment benefit obligations 
has been reduced, which has had the effect of significantly increasing the liability (this particular 
assumption is based on corporate bond yields) although there is no direct impact on the General 
Fund. 
 

Economic Climate 
  
The financial year 2014/15 saw the highest level of UK growth (2.8% for 2014) in recent years. 
  
There had been an expectation that the bank rate would increase during the financial year, 
however this did not occur because inflation was largely maintained above the level of pay 
increases in the UK. Inflation levels fell to close to zero and by the end of the year it was thought 
that the bank rate  may not change until well into 2016. 
 
Short term PWLB borrowing rates were largely maintained throughout the year, but the longer 
term PWLB rates fell during the year. 
 
The main focus of investing surplus cash will be to protect the Authority’s investments, and  
therefore higher interest rates will not be sought at the expense of security. Regular risk 
assessments continue to take place which result in regular amendments to the approved 
counterparty list.  
  
The Authority has a Medium Term Financial Strategy in place - its reserves are sufficient to 
withstand any short terms changes in the funding regime and budget plans are in place to respond 
to anticipated reductions.  
 
Other Published Financial Information 
  
Summarised financial information, which is extracted from this Statement of Accounts, will be 
published on the Authority’s website (www.notts-fire.gov.uk) following completion of the audit and 
before 30 September 2015. In addition, details of all transactions over £250 in value are published 
on the Authority’s website, in line with the Government’s transparency code for public bodies. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

date updated 22/04/14 SM

..\..\..\Trading Company\NFRS(T) Ltd Final Accounts 2014-15.doc

..\..\Treasurers Foreword\Budget Proposals  Council Tax CFA.doc

11

 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited 
  
The Authority established an arm’s-length trading company, which began operating on 1 
September 2010. The company is called “Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) 
Limited” and its main activities are to sell fire extinguisher maintenance services and fire safety 
training to external customers. The financial position of the company is not material in terms of the 
overall financial position of the Authority so separate accounts are prepared for both the Authority 
and the trading company. 
 
Further detail about the company's trading results and overall financial position, as well as about its 
interaction with the Authority, can be found in notes 33 and 40. For 2014/15, Nottinghamshire Fire 
and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited made a profit before tax of £76k. 
 
Plans for 2015/16 
  
Elected Members of the Fire Authority approved a council tax increase of 1.95% for 2015/16, with a 
Band D council tax of £72.44, and the revenue budget for 2015/16 has been set at £41.2m, some 
£1.7m less than that set for 2014/15. This is part of an overall requirement to reduce budgets over 
the period to 2017/18 alongside reductions in grant from central government.  
  
Despite this, the Fire Authority is committed not only to surviving during this period of financial 
austerity but also to continuing to improve and develop services against this financial backdrop. 
The three core values of the Authority are to deliver high quality services, with an engaged and 
motivated workforce, within a framework of strong governance and financial stability. 
 
With this in mind our strategy has been to use fluctuations in balances to cushion the transitional 
effect of reductions and therefore to take opportunities to increase these balances whenever 
possible to support an overall strategy of budget reduction going forward. Whilst funding for 
2016/17 is not yet known, further reductions are expected  for the foreseeable future so we will 
continue to re-engineer services in order to keep within the lower overall budget, and this will 
undoubtably bring about further changes to our workforce. 
 
The new 2015 Firefighter Pension Scheme is introduced from 1st April 2015, along with the 
introduction of a Modified Pension Scheme for some Retained firefighters, and the Authority will be 
working alongside regional Fire and Rescue partners on the Government-led project to upgrade 
mobile communications for emergency services organisations.  In addition, it is expected that good 
progress will be made on the building of a new fire station at London Road although this won't be 
completed until 2016/17.  
 
The 2015/16 revenue budget and capital programme provide the financial resources required for 
the replacement or refurbishment of assets as well as for the day to day running of the service. We 
have planned to use mainly borrowing  and internal financing to finance the capital programme in 
2015/16. 
 

  
Mr P Hurford B.Soc.Sc. CPFA 
Treasurer to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority    
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

12

The Authority's Responsibilities 
  
The Authority is required to: 

i) make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
this Authority, that officer is the Treasurer; 

ii) manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

iii)  approve the Statement of Accounts.  
  

The Treasurer's Responsibilities 
  
The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA / LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 
  
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Treasurer has: 

i) selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
ii) made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
iii)  complied with the local authority Code. 
  

The Treasurer has also: 
i) kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
ii) taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
  

The Treasurer to the Authority is Mr P Hurford, B.Soc.Sc. CPFA. 
  
This Statement of Accounts is that upon which the auditor should enter his opinion and certificate.  
It presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at 31 March 2015 and its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended. 
  
This Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue on 19 June 2015 by the Treasurer to the 
Authority.  This is the date up to which events have been considered for recognition in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
  
 
 

 
Signed       
   
Mr P Hurford, B.Soc.Sc. CPFA 
(Treasurer) 
  

 
Dated          

 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

STATEMENT OF APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS

13

I confirm that these accounts were approved by the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire 
Authority at the meeting held on the 25 September 2015. 
  
Signed on behalf of the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority. 
  
  
 
 
  
Signed      
   
(Chair of the Fire Authority) 
  

 
Dated          
  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NOTTINGHAMSHIRE

AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AUTHORITY

14

 
We have audited the financial statements of Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue 
Authority for the year ended 31 March 2015 on pages 19 to 107. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014/15. 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part II of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members 
of the Authority, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the members of the Authority, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Treasurer and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Treasurer’s Responsibilities, the Treasurer is responsible 
for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, 
and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Treasurer; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Explanatory Foreword to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in 
the course of performing the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 
 - give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2015 and of the 
Authority’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; 
 - have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014/15. 
 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

15

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
The Code of Audit Practice 2010 for Local Government Bodies requires us to report to you if: 
 
 - the annual governance statement set out on pages 97 to 105 does not reflect compliance with 
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: a Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 
2007; or 
 - the information given in the explanatory foreword for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is not consistent with the financial statements; or 
 - any recommendations have been made under section 11 of the Audit Commission Act 1998; or 
 - any other special powers of the auditor have been exercised under the Audit Commission Act 1998. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Conclusion on Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 
  
Authority’s responsibilities 
 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly 
the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities 
 
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the Authority 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion 
relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission. 
 
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the 
Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 
  
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources 
 
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, as to whether the 
Authority has proper arrangements for: 
 - securing financial resilience; and 
 - challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider under the 
Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

16

 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 
undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, 
the Authority had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. 
 
Conclusion 
 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by the Audit 
Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Nottinghamshire and City of 
Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015. 
  
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Nottinghamshire and City of 
Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 
1998 and the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for Local Government Bodies issued by the Audit Commission. 
  
  
Andrew Cardoza 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Appointed Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
One Snowhill 
Snow Hill Queensway 
Birmingham 
B4 6GH 
25 September 2015 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

INTRODUCTION TO THE CORE STATEMENTS

17

Movement in Reserves Statement - Page 18 
 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority, 
analysed into 'usable reserves' (ie those that can not be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local 
taxation) and 'other reserves'. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the 
true economic cost of providing the Authority's services, more details of which are shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts 
required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes. The Net 
Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund 
Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the 
Authority. 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - Page  20 
 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different 
from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
IAS 1 requires that where the Statement includes amounts  in "Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure" which will not be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the  Provision of 
Service as well as amounts which will be, then these  two types of transactions should be shown 
separately on the face of the Statement. The Authority does not have transactions which will be 
reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the provision of Services, so the items in  
"Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure" have not been separated in this way. 

Balance Sheet - Page 21 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority as at 
the Balance Sheet date. The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the 
reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of 
reserves are usable reserves, ie those reserves that the Authority may use to provide services, 
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their 
use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure 
or repay debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Authority is not able to use to 
provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and 
losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to 
provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement line 'Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis 

Cash Flow Statement - Page 22 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and 
cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The 
amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which 
the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the 
recipients of services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which 
cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s 
future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims 
on future cash flows by providers of capital (ie borrowing) to the Authority. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Movement in Reserves during 2013/14 General Fund           

Balance                              

£000

Earmarked 

Reserves           

£000

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve            

£000

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied            

£000

Total Usable 

Reserves          

£000

Unusable 

Reserves             

£000

Total 

Authority 

Reserves            

£000

Balance at 31 March 2013 7,764 4,563 102 1,670 14,099 (359,622) (345,523)

Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of Services
(14,525) 0 0 0 (14,525) 0 (14,525)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
0 0 0 0 0 11,934 11,934

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(14,525) 0 0 0 (14,525) 11,934 (2,591)

Adjustment between accounting basis & funding 

basis under regulations (Note 8)
12,345 0 2,033 (504) 13,874 (13,874) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves (2,180) 0 2,033 (504) (651) (1,940) (2,591)

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (Note 9) 757 (757) 0 0 0 0 0

Increase/(Decrease) in 2013/14 (1,423) (757) 2,033 (504) (651) (1,940) (2,591)

Balance at 31 March 2014 6,341 3,806 2,135 1,166 13,448 (361,562) (348,114)

1
8

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Movement in Reserves during 2014/15
General Fund           

Balance                              

£000

Earmarked 

Reserves           

£000

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve            

£000

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied            

£000

Total Usable 

Reserves          

£000

Unusable 

Reserves             

£000

Total 

Authority 

Reserves            

£000

Balance at 31 March 2014

carried forward 6,341 3,806 2,135 1,166 13,448 (361,562) (348,114)

Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of Services
(12,245) 0 (12,245) (12,245)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
0 0 (55,571) (55,571)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(12,245) 0 0 0 (12,245) (55,571) (67,816)

Adjustment between accounting basis & funding 

basis under regulations (Note 8)
12,464 (2,135) (446) 9,883 (9,883) 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves 219 0 (2,135) (446) (2,362) (65,454) (67,816)

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (Note 9)
(25) 25 0 0 0

Increase/(Decrease) in 2014/15 194 25 (2,135) (446) (2,362) (65,454) (67,816)

Balance at 31 March 2015 carried forward 6,535 3,831 0 720 11,086 (427,016) (415,930)

1
9

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Gross 

Expenditure

Gross 

Income

Net 

Expenditure
Notes

Gross 

Expenditure

Gross 

Income

Net 

Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

6,515 (467) 6,048 Community Safety 5,938 (479) 5,459

42,886 (676) 42,210 Firefighting and Rescue Operations 40,684 (581) 40,103

629 (175) 454 Fire Service Emergency Planning 701 (138) 563

607 0 607 Corporate and Democratic Core 705 0 705

429 (4) 425 Non Distributed Costs 0 (71) (71)

51,066 (1,322) 49,744 Cost of Services 48,028 (1,269) 46,759

670 0 670 Other Operating Expenditure 10 0 (44) (44)

17,977 (100) 17,877 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
11

18,294 (86) 18,208

0 (53,766) (53,766) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 12 0 (52,678) (52,678)

69,713 (55,188) 14,525 Surplus (-) or Deficit on Provision of Services 66,322 (54,077) 12,245

(931)

(Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of non-current 

assets (1,117)

0

Impairment Losses on Non-Current Assets Charged 

to Revaluation Reserve

(11,004)
Remeasurements on the net defined benefit pension 

liability
56,688

(11,935) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 55,571

2,590 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 67,816

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

2013/14 2014/15

2
0



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

31 March 31 March

2014 Notes 2015

£000 £000

Property, Plant & Equipment

40,335  - Land and Buildings 13 42,981

7,382  - Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 13 8,434

3,143  - Assets Under Construction 13 2,051

61 Surplus Assets 13 55

239 Intangible Assets 14 187

991 Intangible Assets Under Construction 14 1,634

52,151 TOTAL LONG TERM ASSETS 55,342

10,065 Short Term Investments 15 4,536

372 Inventories 16 440

5,784 Short Term Debtors 17 4,774

1,800 Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 3,073

18,021 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,823

(2,124) Short Term Borrowings 15 (127)

(4,422) Short Term Creditors 20 (3,377)

(355) Short Term Provisions 21 (242)

(53) Other Short Term Liabilities  - Finance Leases 35 0

(28) Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue 32 (24)

(6,982) TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES (3,770)

(48) Long Term Provisions 21 (71)

(20,408) Long Term Borrowing 15 (20,337)

Other Long Term Liabilities

(390,847)  - Pensions Liability 37 (459,916)

(411,303) TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES (480,324)

(348,114) TOTAL NET ASSETS (415,929)

Usable Reserves

6,342  - General Fund Balance 22 6,535

3,804  - Earmarked Reserves 22 3,831

2,135  - Capital Receipts Reserve 22 0

1,167  - Capital Grants Unapplied 22 720

Unusable Reserves

19,422  - Capital Adjustment Account 23 22,414

9,903  - Revaluation Reserve 23 10,692

(390,847)  - Pension Reserve 23 (459,916)

0  - Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 23 0

127  - Collection Fund Adjustment Account 23 (17)

(167)  - Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 23 (188)

(348,114) TOTAL RESERVES (415,929)

21

BALANCE SHEET



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

14,527 Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 12,245

(19,822)
Adjustment to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non-Cash 

Movements
(14,172)

3,121
Adjust for Items Included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services that are Investing and Financing Activities
1,132

(2,174) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Note 24) (795)

(1,926) Investing Activities (Note 25) (2,546)

3,164 Financing Activities (Note 26) 2,068

(936) Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,273)

(864) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Reporting Period (1,800)

(1,800) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period (Note 18) (3,073)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

22



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Note No: Note: Page No:

1 Accounting Policies 24

2 Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 38

3 Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 40

4 40

5 Prior Period Adjustments 40

6 Material Items of Income and Expense 41

7 Events After the Balance Sheet Date 41

8 41

9 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 46

10 Other Operating Expenditure 48

11 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 48

12 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 48

13 Property, Plant and Equipment 49

14 Intangible Assets 52

15 Financial Instruments 53

16 Inventories 56

17 Debtors 56

18 Cash and Cash Equivalents 56

19 Assets Held for Sale 57

20 Creditors 57

21 Provisions 58

22 Usable Reserves 59

23 Unusable Reserves 61

24 Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities 65

25 Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities 66

26 Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities 66

27 Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 67

28 Pooled Budgets 67

29 Members' Allowances 68

30 Officers' Remuneration 69

31 External Audit Costs 71

32 Grant Income 71

33 Related Parties 72

34 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 74

35 Leases 75

36 Termination Benefits 76

37 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 77

38 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 86

39 87

40 Interests in Companies 90

23

INDEX OF NOTES TO THE CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

Assumptions Made about the Future and other Major 

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 

under Regulations

Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial 

Instruments



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

NOTES TO THE CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

24

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
General Principles  
  
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fire Authority’s transactions for the 2014/15 financial 
year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2015.  The Authority is required to prepare an 
annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 which those 
regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices 
primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2014/15 (the Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2014/15 supported by International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
  
The accounting convention adopted is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of non current assets and financial instruments. 
  
  
Accruals of Expenditure and Income 
  
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. This is known as the accruals basis. In particular: 
  
a) Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Some supplies are carried as 

Inventories on the balance sheet, where they are held in Stores prior to being distributed and 
used. 

 b) Where goods are supplied to or by the Fire Authority in the financial year, but payment does not 

occur until the following financial year, a Short Term Creditor or Short Term Debtor for the 
relevant amount is shown on the Balance Sheet. Exceptions are made to this policy for certain 
recurring items that cover a specific period, e.g. quarterly energy bills. These items are brought 
into the accounts in the year they are paid and are not apportioned over the years to which they 
relate.  

 c) Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 

recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made. 

 d) Fees and charges due from customers are recognised as income at the date the Fire Authority 

provides the relevant services. Debts outstanding at the year end are assessed for evidence of 
uncollectability based on past events and a charge is made to revenue where the total value of 
debts for which there is evidence of impairment exceeds a £5,000 de minimis threshold. This 
policy applies to debts from unpaid fees and charges – council tax debtors are subject to a 
different policy (see below). 

 e)  Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of 

the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than on the basis of cash 
flows determined by the contract.  

  
Allocation of Support Service Costs 
  
Support services are provided primarily by the Authority itself although some are purchased directly 
from the constituent authorities. The provision of a Clerk to the Authority is purchased from 
Nottingham City Council and some limited financial services are provided by Nottinghamshire County 
Council. The services of the Authority Treasurer are also provided by the County Council.  
  
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or 
service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice 
2014/15,  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

25

whereby the full cost of overheads and support services are shared between users in proportion to 
the benefits received, with the exception of: 
 
a) Costs relating to the Fire Authority’s status as a democratic organisation and costs relating to 

the provision of information for public accountability are charged to Corporate and Democratic 
Core. 
 

b) Non Distributed Costs, which includes past service costs relating to retirement benefits; 
impairment losses relating to surplus non current assets; revenue expenditure involved in 
holding surplus assets.  

  
These two cost categories are defined in the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
and accounted for as separate headings in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as part of Net Cost of Services. 
  
Borrowing Costs 
  
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds to finance the 
acquisition, creation or enhancement of non current assets. 
  
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than twenty four hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  
  
Examples of non current assets likely to be classified as cash equivalents are Money Market Fund 
investments and deposits in “call accounts” repayable immediately without penalty. Fixed Term 
Deposits are not likely to be classified as cash equivalents because they are not readily convertible 
to cash, instead they are likely to be classified as Short Term or Long Term Investments.   
  
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management. 
  

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities 
also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in 
a note to the accounts. 

  
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent assets are not recognised in 
the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an 
inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
  
Council Tax Income and Non Domestic Rates 
  
Council tax and non domestic rates are collected from taxpayers by billing authorities both for 
themselves and substantively as agents, collecting council tax and non domestic rates on behalf of 
precepting authorities and central government and distributing it to them. This authority is a  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

26

precepting authority, and council tax and non domestic rates income included in the Comprehensive  
Income and Expenditure Statement is the accrued income for the year. The difference between the 
income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required 
by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
on the Balance Sheet and shown within the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
Billing authorities prepare a Collection Fund balance sheet for council tax and non domestic rates 
activities, which is disaggregated and shared between the billing authority and its precepting 
authorities. This Authority’s Balance Sheet contains the following items: 
  

a) Council tax and non domestic rates arrears apportioned in relation to the following year’s 

precept proportions are included as Short Term Debtors 

b) Impairment allowance for doubtful debts apportioned as for council tax and non domestic rates 

arrears and deducted from council tax and non domestic rates arrears debtors 

c) Council tax and non domestic rates overpayments and prepayments apportioned in relation to 

the following year’s precept proportions are included as Short Term Creditors 

d) Collection Fund surplus / deficit – the reversing entry to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Account adjustment is included in the Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

e) Collection Fund cash surplus / deficit held on the authority’s behalf by the billing authority is 

included in Short Term Debtors or Short Term Creditors                                                            

Employee Benefits 

Benefits Payable During Employment 
  
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. 
They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, 
bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as 
an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the Authority. An 
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) 
earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward 
into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in 
the following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The 
accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue 
in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 
  
Termination Benefits 
  
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service or, where applicable, 
to the Non Distributed Costs line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when 
the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits. Where termination benefits involve 
the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged 
with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the 
amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the 
cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
year-end. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

27

 
Post Employment Benefits 

 
 Participation in Pension Schemes 
  
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the Authority 
offers retirement benefits. Although these benefits are not actually payable until the employees 
retire, the Authority has a commitment to make these payments in the future. This commitment 
needs to be disclosed at the time that the employees earn their future entitlement. 
  
The Authority participates in four pension schemes, all of which are defined benefit schemes:  
• The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is for administrative, support and Control 

employees and is administered by Nottinghamshire County Council. This is a funded scheme, 
which means that contributions are paid into a fund with the intention of balancing pension 
liabilities with pension assets. 

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (1992 FPS) has been closed to new entrants since 6 
April 2006. Its members are wholetime firefighters. It is an unfunded pension scheme, meaning 
that there are no investment assets to meet the cost of pension liabilities and cash has to be 
generated to meet pension payments as they fall due. The cost of the scheme is met from 
contributions paid by employees and the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being 
met by a top-up grant from the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). Any 
surplus funding is paid over to the DCLG. 

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (2006 NFPS) is also an unfunded pension scheme. This 
scheme came into being with effect from April 2006 and its members are retained firefighters and 
wholetime firefighters. Like the 1992 FPS, the cost of the scheme is met from contributions paid 
by employees and the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up 
grant from the DCLG and any surplus being paid over to them. 

• The Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme (England) Order 2006 makes provision for the payment 
of pensions, allowances and gratuities to and in respect of persons who die or are permanently 
disabled as a result of an injury sustained or disease contracted while employed by a fire and 
rescue authority. The Firefighter Compensation Scheme (FFCS) is treated as an unfunded 
defined benefit scheme. The cost of this scheme is met by the Authority. 

  
The arrangements for the two Firefighters’ pension schemes and the Firefighters’ Compensation 
Scheme are determined by the Department for Communities and Local Government. 
 
The Authority is required by the CIPFA Code of Practice to account for pensions in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19). One of the objectives of IAS 19 is 
to ensure that an employer’s financial statements reflect a liability when employees have provided 
services in exchange for benefits to be paid in the future. Further detail on accounting policies is 
given in note 37 to the core financial statements. 
  
In order to identify the amount of top-up grant receivable from / surplus payable to the Department 
for Communities and Local Government the Authority is required to produce separate Pension Fund 
Statements for the firefighters’ pension schemes. Additional accounting policies can be found in the 
notes to these statements. 

 
Discretionary Benefits 
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits 
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award 
to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for 
using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

28

Events after the Reporting Period 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts 
is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 
a) those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events 
 
b) those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect. 
 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement 
of Accounts. 

  

Exceptional Items 

When items of income or expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, 

either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the 

accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Authority’s financial 

performance. 

Financial Instruments  
  
Financial Liabilities 
  
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and carried at 
their amortised cost. The amortised cost will include any interest accrued and not paid as at the 
Balance Sheet date. Where the transaction costs of borrowing are immaterial and there is no 
premium or discount on borrowing and the interest rate is fixed for the loan term, then the actual 
interest rate has been used to calculate interest payable as this is the same as the effective interest 
rate. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 

 

Financial Assets  
Loans and receivables (investments) are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured  
 at fair value and subsequently carried at their amortised cost. The amortised cost will include any 
interest accrued and not received as at the Balance Sheet date. Where the interest rate is fixed for 
the term of the investment then the actual interest rate has been used to calculate interest receivable 
as this is the same as the effective interest rate. There are no transaction costs relating to 
investments. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented gross in the Statement of Accounts, unless the 
Authority has a legal right to set off the amounts in which case the gross amounts are disclosed in a 
note. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Checked and updated for off-setting - SM 05/06/14

29

  
  
Government Grants and Contributions (Revenue)  
 
Grants and contributions relating to revenue expenditure are accounted for on an accruals basis, 
when there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be received, and they are 
recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, 
except to the extent that the grant or contribution has a condition that the Authority has not satisfied.  
  
A condition requires the grant funder or donor to have a right to the return of their monies (or asset 
or similar equivalent compensation) if the Authority fails to meet a stipulation under the terms of the 
transfer. If there are conditions attached to grants and contributions:  
  

where there is no reasonable assurance that the conditions will be met, the grant or 
contribution received is recorded in Cash and held on the Balance Sheet as a Creditor. 
  
where there is reasonable assurance that the conditions will be met but this has not yet 
occurred, the grant or contribution is held in the Grants Receipts in Advance account as a 
liability on the Balance Sheet and recorded in Cash (if received) or Debtors (if receivable). 
When the conditions have been satisfied, the income will be credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Revenue grants are matched in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement with the 
service expenditure to which they relate. Grants to cover general expenditure (e.g. Revenue Support 
Grant) are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific grant income within the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 
 
Government Grants and Contributions (Capital)  
  
Grants and contributions relating to capital expenditure are accounted for on an accruals basis, 
when there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be received, and they are 
recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, 
except to the extent that the grant or contribution has a condition that the Authority has not satisfied.  
  
A condition requires the grant funder or donor to have a right to the return of their monies (or asset 
or similar equivalent compensation) if the Authority fails to meet a stipulation under the terms of the 
transfer. If there are conditions attached to grants and contributions:  
  

where a capital grant or contribution has been received and conditions remain outstanding at           
the Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is recorded in Cash and held in the Capital 
Grants Receipts in Advance account as a liability on the Balance Sheet. When the conditions 
have been satisfied, the income will be credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
  
where no conditions remain outstanding and expenditure has been incurred, the grant or 
contribution is transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account to reflect 
the application of capital resources to finance expenditure. This transfer is reported in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
where no conditions remain outstanding and expenditure has not yet been been incurred, the 
grant or contribution is transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account to reflect its 
status as a capital resource available to finance expenditure. This transfer is reported in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When, at a future date, the expenditure to be financed is 
incurred the grant or contribution is transferred from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account to 
the Capital Adjustment Account to reflect the application of capital resources to finance 
expenditure. This transfer is reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

30

  
 
Interests in Companies  
 
The Authority owns a subsidiary company, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) 
Limited, which commenced operations on 1 September 2010. The Authority is the sole owner of this 
company.  Single entity accounts have been prepared for both the Authority and for Nottinghamshire 
Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited.  The former are shown within this Statement of Accounts 
and the latter will be available from the Authority. 
 

Further details about the Authority's interest in this company is disclosed in the note on Interests in 

Companies. 

Inventories (Stocks) 
  
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost 
of inventories is assigned using the First In, First Out (FIFO) costing formula. 
 
 
Leases 
  
Finance Leases (the Authority as Lessee) 
  
The Fire Authority accounts for leases as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and 
rewards relating to the leased asset transfer to the Authority. Property, plant and equipment held 
under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its 
fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if 
lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct 
costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  
Lease rentals payable are apportioned between: 
  
A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset (recognised as a liability in the balance sheet 
at the start of the lease, matched with a tangible fixed asset – the liability is written down as the rent 
becomes payable) and 
  
A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the rent becomes payable). 
  
Non current assets recognised under finance leases are accounted for using the policies generally 
applied to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter 
than the asset’s estimated useful life. Finance charges are accounted for on a straight line basis over 
the term of the lease.  
 
Operating Leases (the Authority as Lessee) 
 
Leases that do not meet the definition of finance leases are accounted for as operating leases. 
Rentals payable are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a straight 
line basis over the term of the lease (unless the arrangement specifies a rental pattern which is not 
straight line, in which case this will be disclosed). 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return 
for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of specific assets, and where the costs are material. 
 
  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

31

  
Operating Leases (the Authority as Lessor) 
 
Income from operating leases is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, with the exception of the lease relating 
to the property at Clifton. In this instance, as the annual payments vary, the income is recognised 
based on the specific cash flows as notated in the lease agreement. 
 
Non Current Assets 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
  
Non current assets which have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services 
or for administrative purposes on a continuing basis are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
  
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it yields benefits for more than one financial year. 
Expenditure on repairs and maintenance is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
  
 Measurement 
  
The value of assets shown is subject to a £30,000 de minimis level. Assets with a value less than 
£30,000 will, however, be capitalised if they form part of a larger asset  e.g. a piece of IT equipment 
which forms part of the IT infrastructure. 
  
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price plus all expenditure directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition for its intended use. Donated assets 
are measured initially at fair value with the difference between fair value and any consideration paid 
being credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made conditionally. Until conditions are 
satisfied, the gain is held on the Balance Sheet in the Donated Assets Account. Where gains are 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Assets are then carried in the balance sheet using the following measurement bases: 

 
Land and Buildings 

These assets are classified as either operational or non operational and valued at fair value 
which is deemed to be the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use 
(Existing Use Value - EUV). Specialised, operational assets (e.g. Fire Stations) and 
specialised, non operational, surplus assets are valued at Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC), which is a proxy for EUV and recognises that for specialised assets there is no 
market based evidence of fair value. Non operational assets under construction are valued at 
historical cost. Operational assets which are non-specialised are valued at Existing Use 
Value (EUV). All assets are revalued every 5 years on a rolling basis by the Nottingham 
Valuation Office, or more frequently if there have been material changes in value.  All 
buildings are revalued subsequent to major refurbishment works being completed. 

  
Furniture and Fittings 

Furniture and fittings which form part of major refurbishments are classed as fixed assets and 
are shown in the balance sheet at depreciated historic cost. 

 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

should be a) b) and c) bullet pointed as above

32

 
Vehicles and Plant 

Some of the Fire Authority’s fire appliances were originally financed by operating leases. 
They have been retrospectively redefined as assets financed by finance leases, according to 
the requirements of IAS 17 Leases. Their valuation in the Balance Sheet represents the 
capital value of the assets less depreciation charged on a straight line basis over the primary 
lease period. 
 

 All other Assets 

All other assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at a valuation which represents their cost 
less depreciation charged on a straight line basis over the length of their useful lives. 

  
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised 
gains (although see section below: Revaluation and Impairment Losses). Where decreases in value  
and impairments are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 
a) Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains). 

b) where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

  
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the 
date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into 
the Capital Adjustment Account. 

  
  
 Charges to Revenue for Non Current Assets  
  
Services and support services are charged annually with the following amounts to record the real 
cost to the Authority of holding non current assets during the year: 
 

a) depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service. 
 
b) revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service, where there are  
 insufficient accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve balance for that asset 
 against which the losses can be written off. 
 
c) amortisation of intangible non current assets attributable to the service. 

 
The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover these charges. It is, however, required to 
make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing 
requirement. This is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and the Authority’s policy is to 
charge an amount of MRP equal to 4% of the Capital Financing Requirement relating to assets 
purchased on or before 31 March 2007 plus an amount of MRP calculated on the basis of asset lives 
relating to assets purchased on or after 1 April 2007. The charges listed in a) to c) above are 
replaced by a Minimum Revenue Provision charge, by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the 
two. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

33

 
 
Depreciation and Amortisation 
 
Depreciation is provided for on non current assets with a determinable finite life by allocating the 
value of the asset in the Balance Sheet over the periods expected to benefit from their use. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 
 Buildings: straight line allocation over the remaining useful life as estimated by the Valuation 

Office  
 IT and Communications Equipment: straight line allocation over estimated remaining useful life 
 Land, assets under construction and assets held for sale: not depreciated 
 Fire Appliances: straight line allocation over the estimated useful life 
 Furniture and Fittings: 20% of the balance at the beginning of the financial year 
 Intangible Fixed Assets (software): amortisation equal to straight line allocation over the useful 

life. 
 

Part year depreciation is charged from the start of the month of acquisition. 
  
Where an item of property, plant and equipment has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
The de minimis threshold for componentisation is a current net book value of £150k - 
individual assets with a value of less than £150k will be disregarded for componentisation. To 
be separately identified as a component, an element of an asset must meet the following 
criteria: 

  
 have a cost of at least 20% of the cost of the overall asset and 
 have a materially different useful life (at least 20% different) and/or 
 have a different depreciation method that materially affects the amount charged 
  

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been 
chargeable based on their historic cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

  

Revaluation and Impairment Losses 
Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is decreased as a result of a 
revaluation, the decrease is recognised in the Revaluation Reserve up to the credit balance existing 
in respect of that asset and thereafter in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. 
  
Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is increased as a result of a 
revaluation, any impairment losses for that asset, which have been charged to the Surplus or Deficit 
on Provision of Services in previous years, shall be reversed in the current year as a credit to the 
Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. The balance of the revaluation increase is credited to the 
Revaluation Reserve, but this amount represents the difference between the revalued amount and 
what the carrying amount net of depreciation would have been if no impairment loss had occurred in 
previous years. This means that the previous impairment loss reversal may not reverse the full 
amount of the loss. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

34

  
Disposals and Non Current Assets Held for Sale 
  
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset 
Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried 
at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent 
decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are 
recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit 
on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, 
and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 
  
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the balance sheet is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Amounts received from disposals are credited to 
the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve, which will then be used for new capital investment or set aside 
to reduce the borrowing requirement. Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Any accumulated balance of gains in the 
Revaluation Reserve, relating to an asset which has been disposed of, are written out to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
When an existing building is demolished and replaced with a new build, the existing building would 
be treated as a disposal, the new building being added to Assets Under Construction at cost and 
then moved to Operational Buildings and revalued at Fair Value from the date it becomes 
operational. 
  
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non current  
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts 
are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement 
  
Donated Assets 
  
Donated assets are defined as assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. 
Donated assets from other public bodies which meet the definition of “government” in IAS 20 are 
accounted for as a government grant. 
  
Donated assets are recognised immediately on receipt as Property, Plant and Equipment and are 
valued at fair value, which in this case is the amount for which the asset could be exchanged 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. The gain to the Authority on 
receipt of the asset is recognised as income in the relevant service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The exception to this is to the extent that the Authority has not 
met any conditions attached to the donated asset, the gain relating to the asset is recognised in the 
Donated Assets Account on the Balance Sheet. The income will subsequently be recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the conditions of donation have been 
satisfied. 
  
After initial recognition, donated assets are measured in accordance with the accounting policies for 
Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

35

 
Re-classification of Assets Under Construction to Operational Assets 
 
Assets under construction which are subsequently identified as being operational will be reclassified 
in the quarter following the date when the asset became operational. 
 
Intangible Assets  
  
Intangible assets are identifiable, non financial, non current assets controlled by the Authority which 
do not have physical substance. This Authority has one type of intangible non current asset, which 
is software. Expenditure on the acquisition of intangible non current assets is capitalised on an 
accruals basis, provided that it yields benefits for more than one financial year. 
 
The value of assets capitalised is subject to a £30,000 de minimis level. Assets with a value of less 
than £30,000 will, however, be capitalised if they form part of a larger asset e.g. an ICT project to 
implement a new system with both hardware and software. Where an asset incorporates both 
hardware and software, it will be classified as an intangible asset when the majority of the cost is 
attributable to software – otherwise it will be classified as Equipment within Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
  
Software is initially measured at cost and subsequently shown in the Balance Sheet at amortised 
historic cost. Amortisation is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account over 
the economic life of the asset. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are charged to the relevant service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

  

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current 
and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is 
made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and 
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

Provisions 
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place which gives the Fire Authority an obligation 
that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but where the timing of the 
transfer is uncertain. Provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement when the authority becomes aware of the obligation, based on 
the best estimate of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to 
the provision carried in the balance sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and a provision may then be reversed and credited back to the relevant service if the 
requirement has changed. 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

36

  

Reserves  

The Fire Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year in that year to score against the Cost of Services 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back 
into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge against Council Tax for the expenditure.  
 
Two usable reserves are shown on the face of the Balance Sheet. These are: 
 
Revenue Reserve 

This reserve is the surplus of income over expenditure in the 2014/15 financial year and the 
cumulative effect of such surpluses carried forward from previous years. See note 22.  

 
Earmarked Reserve  

This reserve contains funds built up to meet expected liabilities. The movement of this 
reserve is shown in note 9. 

  
Capital Reserves  
 There are four capital related reserves shown in the Balance Sheet.  Of these four reserves the 
Usable Capital Receipts Reserve and the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are cash backed; the 
remaining two are non cash backed. 
  
The Revaluation Reserve 

This represents the total of all fixed asset revaluation gains since 1 April 2007, less any 
revaluation losses since 1 April 2007 which have been offset against prior revaluation gains 
for the same asset.  

The Capital Adjustment Account 
This account is credited with amounts set aside to finance capital expenditure and absorbs 
any timing differences between the setting aside of resources and accounting for 
depreciation and impairment losses. This reserve was created on 1 April 2007, replacing the 
Capital Financing Account. Its opening balance was an amalgamation of the closing 
balances as at 31 March 2007 of the Fixed Asset Restatement Account and the Capital 
Financing Account. 

The Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 
This reserve is credited with the disposal proceeds when fixed assets are sold. It is ring 
fenced for supporting new capital expenditure or for reducing the underlying need to borrow 
against the capital financing requirement. 

The Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve 
This reserve is credited with capital grants received, which have yet to be used to finance 
capital expenditure. 
  

Movements on these reserves are shown in notes 22 and 23. 
  

  
 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

37

 
Pensions Reserve  
This reserve represents the full future pensions liabilities at the time that these liabilities are earned 
by employees. An independent actuary assesses the liabilities for pension schemes in which the 
Authority participates, namely the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 
 
Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 
This reserve absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from 
accruing for accumulated absences earned but not taken in the year. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
 This reserve manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax payers, compared 
with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts due to the General Fund from the billing 
authorities. 

 
Value Added Tax  
  
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her 
Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

..\..\Disclosure Notes various\Accounting Standards Issued Not Adopted.docx

38

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED, NOT ADOPTED 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

IFRS 13 was issued in 2011 and is adopted by the Code of Practice with effect from the 2015/16 
financial year. The standard applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or 
disclosures and provides a single IFRS framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures 
about fair value measurement. Some types of transactions are exempted from this standard e.g. 
leases and inventories. 
 
The IFRS 13 definition of fair value is based on exit values and market prices for assets and 
liabilities. For property, plant and equipment it requires a valuation to be at the asset's highest and 
best use and is a measure of financial capacity. CIPFA / LASAAC have stated that the most 
appropriate measure of operational property, plant and equipment should be based on the service 
potential that the assets provide in support of services. This means that these assets will be 
measured at either existing use value or depreciated replacement cost as appropriate to the asset in 
question, as is already the case. 
 
Those property, plant and equipment assets that do not provide service potential for the Authority 
i.e. those classified as Surplus Assets will not be measured for their service potential but for the 
economic benefits inherent in the assets i.e. at fair value in accordance with IFRS 13. This is a 
change as currently such assets are measured at existing use value based on their use before 
becoming surplus to requirements. 
 
This standard will apply from 1st April 2015 and is adopted by the Authority from this date. If it had 
been adopted for the 2014/15 financial year there would not have been a material impact on these 
financial statements. 
 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle 

This collection of amendments to IFRSs is adopted by the Code of Practice with effect from the 

2015/16 financial year. It includes: 

 - IFRS 1 (First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards) : clarification about 
which version of an IFRS should be applied in an entity’s first financial statements when IFRSs have 
been adopted. This has no impact on the Authority. 
 - IFRS 3: (Business Combinations ) clarification that the accounting for the formation of joint 
arrangements as defined in IFRS 11 is excluded from the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. 
This has no impact on the Authority. 
 - IFRS 13: (Fair Value Measurement)  clarification that the “portfolio exception” which allows the 
measurement of the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities to be on a net 
basis, applies to all contracts within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9. This has no impact on the 
Authority. 
 - IAS 40: (Investment Property)  relating to the inter-relationship of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when 
classifying property. Clarification that judgement is needed to determine whether the acquisition of 
investment property is the acquisition of an asset, a group of assets or a business combination. This 
has no impact on the Authority. 
 
These revised standards will apply from 1st April 2015 and are adopted by the Authority from this 
date, although none of the changes impact on the Authority’s transactions and balances at this time. 

 

 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

39

 
IFRIC 21 Levies 
 
This interpretation was issued in May 2013 and is adopted by the Code of Practice with effect from 
the 2015/16 financial year. It clarifies that in determining when an entity should account for a liability 
to pay a levy imposed by Government (other than income taxes), the obligating event that gives rise 
to the liability is the activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers the levy payment.  
 
This standard will apply from 1st April 2015 and is adopted by the Authority from this date, although 
it currently has no impact on the Authority. 
 
 
 
3.  CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Authority has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. 
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
• „There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government. 

However, the Authority has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an 
indication that the assets of the Authority might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
and reduce levels of service provision.  As a result of cuts to Government Grant,  the Authority 
faces a budget deficit of between £3.5m and £4.5m by 2017/18. Plans are in progress to reduce 
base budgets over the next three years and eliminate the deficit. 
 

• „The Authority has valued its Fire Stations at depreciated replacement cost, as there is no market 
based evidence of fair value due to the specialised nature of the assets. 
 
 

„ 
4.  ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
  
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
Authority about the future or that which are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into 
account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances 
cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 
assumptions and estimates.  
  
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2015 for which there is a significant risk of 
material adjustment in the forthcoming year are as follows: 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Property, Plant 

and Equipment

Pensions Liability

Item Uncertainties

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are 

dependent on assumptions about the level of 

repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in 

relation to individual assets. The

current economic climate makes it uncertain that 

the Authority will be able to sustain its current 

spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing 

into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets.

Item Uncertainties

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 

depends on a number of complex judgements 

relating to the discount rate used, the rate at 

which salaries are projected to increase, changes 

in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected 

returns on pension fund assets. A firm of 

consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the 

Authority with expert advice about the 

assumptions to be applied.

40

Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

If the useful life of assets is reduced, 

depreciation increases and the carrying 

amount of the assets falls.                                                            

It is estimated that the annual depreciation 

charge for buildings would increase by £75k 

for every year that useful lives had to be 

reduced.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

The effects on the net pensions liability of 

changes in individual assumptions can be 

measured. A sensitivity analysis showing the 

impacts of changes in the discount rates used 

is included in note 37

5.   PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 
There were no significant prior period adjustments, although where errors in comparative figures 
were identified these have been corrected, with the word "Restated" shown in the column heading. 
Explanations have been given for any significant restatement of comparatives figures. 
 

This list does not include assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value based on a recently 
observed market price. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Description of Item 2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

3,102 3,172

Capital Grant (1,088) (1,088)

Revaluation of Non Current Assets (1,911) 2,253

41

Income or Expense

Expense

Income

Depreciation and Amortisation of 

Non Current Assets

Income

6.    MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
Within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are a number of material items of 
income and expense in Net Cost of Services which are not disclosed separately. These are as 
follows: 

7.     EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
The un-audited Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Treasurer to the Authority on 
19 June 2015. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or 
notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 
31 March 2015, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material 
respects to reflect the impact of this information. 

8.  ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER 
REGULATIONS 

 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the 
resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet 
future capital and revenue expenditure. 
The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 
 
General Fund Balance 
 
The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to  be 
paid and out of which all liabilities of the authority are to be met, except to the extent that statutory 
rules might provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities 
and payments should impact on the General Fund balance, which is not necessarily in accordance 
with proper accounting practice.  The General Fund balance therefore summarises the resources 
that the Authority is statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the 
deficit of resources that the Authority is required to recover) at the end of the financial year.  
 
Capital Receipts Reserve 
 
The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which 
are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set 
aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  The balance on the reserve shows the resources 
that have yet to be applied for these purposes at the year-end. 
 
Capital Grants Unapplied 
 
The Capital Grants Unapplied Account holds the grants and contributions received towards capital 
projects for which the Authority has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment of 
the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant 
terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which 
this can take place. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

General Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

(3,011) 3,011

710 (710)

(91) 91

1,088 446 (1,534)

0 0

0 0

(2) 2

1,344 (1,344)

0 0

0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0

45 (45) 0

0 2,180 (2,180)

2014/15

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Adjustment Account:

Reversal of items debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement:

Charges for depreciation and impairment of 

non-current assets
Revaluation losses on Property Plant and 

Equipment

Gain relating to donated assets

Usable Reserves

Statutory provision for the financing of capital 

investment

Capital expenditure charged against the 

General Fund balances

42

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Receipts Reserve:

Capital Receipts during the year, not applied 

to the financing of capital expenditure during 

the year

Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as 

part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES

Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance 

new capital expenditure

Amortisation of intangible assets

Capital Grants and contributions applied

Revenue expenditure funded from capital 

under statute

Amounts of non-current assets written off on 

disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 

disposal to the CIES

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Grants Unapplied Account:

Capital Grants and contributions unapplied 

credited to the CIES

Application of grants to capital financing 

transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account

Insertion of items not debited or credited to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement:



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

General Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

(25,549) 25,549

13,168 (13,168)

(144) 144

(21) 21

Total Adjustments (12,464) 2,135 446 9,883

Amount by which council tax income credited 

to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement is different from 

council tax income calculated for the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

Adjustment primarily involving the 

Accumulated Absences Account

Usable Reserves

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Pension Reserve:

Employers pension contributions and direct 

payments to pensioners payable in the year

Amount by which officer remuneration 

charged to Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis 

is different from remuneration chargeable in 

the year in accordance with statutory 

requirement

43

Adjustment primarily involving the 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account:

2014/15

Reversal of items relating to retirement 

benefits debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

General Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

(3,086) 3,086

(30) 30

(86) 86

1,088 504 (1,592)

0 0

0 0

(2,704) 2,704

2,337 (2,337)

1,652 (1,652)

0 0

0 0 0 0

2,033 (2,033) 0

0 0 0

0 0

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Receipts Reserve:

Capital Grants and contributions applied

Gain relating to donated assets

Statutory provision for the financing of capital 

investment

Capital expenditure charged against the 

General Fund balances

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Grants Unapplied Account:

Capital Grants and contributions unapplied 

credited to the CIES

Application of grants to capital financing 

transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account

44

Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance 

new capital expenditure

Insertion of items not debited or credited to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement:

2013/14

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Capital Adjustment Account:

Reversal of items debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement:

Amortisation of intangible assets

Capital Receipts during the year, not applied 

to the financing of capital expenditure during 

the year

Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as 

part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES

Usable Reserves

Revenue expenditure funded from capital 

under statute

Amounts of non-current assets written off on 

disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 

disposal to the CIES

Charges for depreciation and impairment of 

non-current assets

Revaluation losses on Property Plant and 

Equipment



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

General Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

(26,815) 26,815

13,246 (13,246)

43 (43)

(23) 23

Total Adjustments (12,345) (2,033) 504 13,874

45

Adjustment primarily involving the 

Accumulated Absences Account

Amount by which officer remuneration 

charged to Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis 

is different from remuneration chargeable in 

the year in accordance with statutory 

requirement

2013/14

Adjustments primarily involving the 

Pension Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement 

benefits debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Employers pension contributions and direct 

payments to pensioners payable in the year

Adjustment primarily involving the 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account:

Amount by which council tax income credited 

to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement is different from 

council tax income calculated for the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

Usable Reserves



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

9 TRANSFERS TO/FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

Balance at 

31 March 

2013

Transfers out 

2013/14

Transfers    

in 2013/14

Balance at 31 

March 2014

Transfers 

out 2014/15

Transfers in 

2014/15

Balance at 31 

March 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Earmarked Reserves Funded by Grants:

LPSA Reward Grant (395) 91 0 (304) 0 0 (304)

Fire Setters (13) 0 13 0 0 0 0

Fire Investigation (154) 32 0 (121) 1 0 (120)

Safe as Houses - Smoke Alarms (22) 0 0 (22) 0 0 (22)

Community Fire Safety - Innovation Fund (204) 0 3 (201) 0 0 (201)

Resilience Crewing and Training (256) 49 (95) (302) 42 (122) (382)

Thoresby Estate Charitable Trust (5) 0 (1) (6) 1 0 (5)

Area 4 Committee (1) 0 0 (1) 1 0 0

Vodafone Donation (1) 1 0 0 0 0 0

Enhanced Command Support (140) 0 140 0 0 0 0

Safe as Houses - Safety Equipment (3) 0 3 0 0 0 0

New Burdens FiReControl (5) 0 5 0 0 0 0

Community Safety within Bassetlaw (6) 0 6 0 0 0 0

Enhanced Logistical Support DCLG (42) 18 0 (24) 17 0 (7)

Precept Support Fund (27) 0 0 (27) 27 0 0

Council Tax Transition Grant 0 0 (85) (85) 85 0 0

Transparency Grant 0 0 (3) (3) 3 0 0

SubTotal (1,274) 191 (14) (1,096) 177 (122) (1,041)

4
6

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves either to meet General Fund expenditure in the year, or because the earmarked reserve was no 
longer required. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Balance at 

31 March 

2013

Transfers out 

2013/14

Transfers    

in 2013/14

Balance at 31 

March 2014

Transfers 

out 2014/15

Transfers in 

2014/15

Balance at 31 

March 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Earmarked Reserves Created by Revenue:

Pensions - Ill Health (80) 0 (50) (130) 120 (130) (140)

Fire Safety - On Fire Fund (140) 12 0 (128) 41 0 (87)

Princes Trust (60) 60 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Control Transition (861) 487 0 (374) 206 0 (168)

Agresso Development (30) 12 0 (18) 2 0 (16)

Training BCM & Values (11) 8 0 (3) 0 0 (3)

ICT Sharepoint / Internet / Intranet (97) 0 0 (97) 0 0 (97)

Operational Equipment (42) 0 0 (42) 0 0 (42)

Capital Reserve (1,857) 777 (75) (1,154) 0 0 (1,154)

Organisational Transition - One-off Costs (107) 73 (500) (535) 214 (200) (521)

Swan Project Ashfield (5) 5 0 0 0 0 0

FEU Conference (2) 2 0 0 0 0 0

Backlog Buildings Maintenance 0 0 (219) (219) 219 (100) (100)

Fire Cadets Project 0 0 (12) (12) 7 (18) (23)

Fire Control Collaboration Project 0 0 0 0 0 (220) (220)

LAT Pull Down Machines 0 0 0 0 0 (11) (11)

Taxation Compliance 0 0 0 0 0 (10) (10)

Communications Development 0 0 0 0 0 (200) (200)

Subtotal (3,292) 1,436 (856) (2,712) 809 (889) (2,792)

Total (4,566) 1,627 (870) (3,805) 986 (1,011) (3,833)

4
7



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

10 OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

670 (Gains)/Losses on the disposal of non-current assets 45

670 Total 45

11 FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

944 Interest payable and similar charges 846

28 Interest paid in relation to Finance Leases 14

17,005 Net interest on defined pension liability 17,435

(100) Interest receivable and similar income (71)

0 Dividend from Subsidiary Company (15)

17,876 Total 18,208

12 TAXATION AND NON-SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

20,025 Council tax income and surplus on collection 20,749

3,266 Non domestic rates 3,291

0 Non domestic rates - Growth Funding 97

8,446 Pension top up grant 8,345

236 Council tax freeze grant 0

14,243 Non ringfenced government grants 12,511

1,088 Capital grants and contributions 1,088

6,234 Council tax top-up grant 6,356

85 Council tax transition grant 0

66 Small Business rate relief grant 237

75 Capitalisation Provision redistribution grant 0

3 Transparency grant 5

53,767 Total 52,679

48



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

13 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in 2014/15
Other Land 

and 

Buildings               

£000

Vehicles, 

Plant, 

Furniture & 

Equipment                             

£000

Surplus 

Assets                    

£000

Assets Under 

Construction                           

£000

Total 

Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment                      

£000

Cost or Valuation

At April 2014 48,340 15,518 1,155 3,143 68,156

Prior Year Adjustments 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 127 487 0 3,172 3,786

Revaluation Increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve
(581) 0 0 (384) (965)

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services 1,142 0 0 769 1,911

Derecognition - Disposals 0 (159) 0 0 (159)

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0

Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 

Under Construction 2,500 2,148 0 (4,648) 0

At 31 March 2015 51,528 17,994 1,155 2,052 72,729

Accumulated Depreciation & 

Impairment

At April 2014 (8,005) (8,136) (1,094) 0 (17,235)

Prior Year Adjustments 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation & Impairment Charges (1,423) (1,583) (6) 0 (3,012)

Depreciation written out to the 

Revaluation Reserve 151 0 0 0 151

Depreciation written out to the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

730 0 0 0 730

Impairment losses/(reversals) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve
0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) 

recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition- Disposals 0 157 0 0 157

At 31 March 2015 (8,547) (9,562) (1,100) 0 (19,209)

Net Book Value

at 31st March 2015 42,981 8,432 55 2,052 53,520

at 31st March 2014 40,335 7,382 61 3,143 50,921

49



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Comparative Movements in 

2013/14:
Other Land 

and 

Buildings               

£000

Vehicles, 

Plant, 

Furniture & 

Equipment                             

£000

Surplus 

Assets                    

£000

Assets Under 

Construction                           

£000

Total 

Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment                      

£000

Cost or Valuation

At April 2013 52,121 24,261 3,155 2,203 81,740

Prior Year Adjustments (547) (9,576) 0 0 (10,123)

Additions 755 376 0 1,408 2,539

Revaluation Increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve
(481) 0 0 0 (481)

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services (2,253) 0 0 0 (2,253)

Derecognition - Disposals (1,255) (11) (2,000) 0 (3,266)

Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 

Under Construction 0 0 0 0 0

Correction of classification 0 468 0 (468) 0

At 31 March 2014 48,340 15,518 1,155 3,143 68,156

Accumulated Depreciation & 

Impairment

At April 2013 (11,141) (16,239) (1,088) 0 (28,468)

Prior Year Adjustments 547 9,576 0 0 10,123

Depreciation & Impairment Charges (1,597) (1,483) (6) 0 (3,086)

Depreciation written out to the 

Revaluation Reserve 531 0 0 0 531

Depreciation written out to the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services 3,103 0 0 0 3,103

Impairment losses/(reversals) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve
0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) 

recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition- Disposals 552 10 0 0 562

At 31 March 2014 (8,005) (8,136) (1,094) 0 (17,235)

Net Book Value

at 31st March 2014 40,335 7,382 61 3,143 50,921

50



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Other 

Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant, 

Equipment

Surplus 

Assets Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carried at Historical cost 0 8,434 0 8,434

Valued at Fair Value as at:

31 March 2015 7,442 0 0 7,442

31 March 2014 6,320 0 0 6,320

31 March 2013 8,518 0 0 8,518

31 March 2012 4,204 0 55 4,259

31 March 2011 16,497 0 0 16,497

Total Cost or Valuation 42,981 8,434 55 51,470

51

 
Capital Commitments 
  
At 31 March 2015 the Authority had entered into a number of contracts for the construction or 
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2014/15 and future years budgeted to cost 
£1,708k.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2014 were £3,661k.  The major commitments for 
2015/16 are: 
  
• Retford Fire Station                       £177k 
• Central Fire Station  £308k 
• Retentions for Property projects   £66k 
• Rescue Appliances  £274k 
• HR System       £16k 
• Tri-Service Control system                         £720k 
• InTend- ICT Contracts  £147k 
  
 
 
Revaluations 
  
The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment 
required to be measured at fair value is revalued at least every five years.  All valuations are 
carried out by the Valuation Office, the last valuation took place on the 31 March 2015, covering 6 
properties and was carried out by  Richard Hemsworth MRICS.  Valuations of land and buildings 
were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the 
professional standards of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.  
 
The basis of valuation for various types of property is given in  Accounting Policies Note 1. 
 
The following table shows the progress of the Authority's rolling programme for the revaluation of  
non-current assets. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

Software 

Under 

Construction Software

Software 

Under 

Construction

2014/15 2014/15 2013/14 2013/14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at start of year:

• Gross carrying amounts 669 991 593 279

• Accumulated amortisation (429) 0 (343) 0

Net carrying amount at start of year 239 991 250 279

Purchases 38 643 76 712

Amortisation for the period (91) 0 (86) 0

Net carrying amount at end of year 186 1,634 239 991

Comprising:

• Gross Carrying Amounts 707 1,634 669 991

• Accumulated amortisation (520) 0 (429) 0
187 1,634 239 991

52

The Authority accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the 
software is not an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the 
hardware item of Property, Plant and Equipment.   
 
The basis of valuation and amortisation of intangible assets is outlined in Accounting 
Policies Note 1. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:

31 March 31 March 31 March

31 March 

Restated

2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Investments

Loans and Receivables 0 0 4,536 10,065

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 3,073 1,800

Total Investments 0 0 7,609 11,865

Debtors

Receivables 0 0 4,479 5,026

Total  Debtors 0 0 4,479 5,026

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (20,337) (20,408) (127) (2,124)

Total Borrowings (20,337) (20,408) (127) (2,124)

Other Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 0 0 0 (53)

Total other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 (53)

Creditors

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 0 0 (2,834) (4,046)

Total Creditors 0 0 (2,834) (4,046)

31 March

31 March 

Restated

2015 2014

£000 £000

Debtors

Debtors - as shown on Balance Sheet 4,774 5,784

Less: Council Tax and NDR debtors (295) (758)

Debtors Classified as Financial Instruments 4,479 5,026

Creditors

Creditors - as shown on Balance Sheet (3,377) (4,422)

Less: Council Tax NDR prepayments / overpayments 567 404

Grant Receipts in Advance - as shown on Balance Sheet (24) (28)
Creditors Classified as Financial Instruments (2,834) (4,046)

53

Long Term Current

Note:  the figures for debtors and creditors in the above table include grant receipts in advance 
but exclude Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates (NDR) debtors and creditors because  Council 
Tax is a statutory debt not arising from a contract and therefore falls outside the scope of financial 
instruments. The table below provides a reconciliation between the figures in the above table and 
those on the Balance Sheet. 
The values for financial instruments in the above table, and on the Balance Sheet, are all gross 
figures i.e. no netting of financial instruments has taken place. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured 

at 

amortised 

cost

Financial 

Assets: 

Loans and 

receivables Total

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured 

at 

amortised 

cost

Financial 

Assets: 

Loans and 

receivables Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Interest Expense 846 0 846 944 0 944

846 0 846 944 0 944

Interest Income 0 (71) (71) 0 (100) (100)

0 (71) (71) 0 (100) (100)

846 (71) 775 944 (100) 844

54

Total expense in Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

2014/15 2013/14

Total Income in Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Net gain/(loss) for the year



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost

 - PWLB Loans (16,454) (18,477) (18,521) (18,868)

 - Other Loans (4,010) (4,961) (4,011) (3,736)

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Loans and receivables 7,609 7,592 11,864 11,767

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities

55

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

The fair value of financial instruments has been determined by calculating the net present 
value (NPV) of future cashflows. The discount rates used in the NPV calculations are 
equivalent to the current rates in relation to the same or similar instruments of the same 
remaining duration from comparable lenders on the date of valuation i.e. market rates. For 
loans from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) the interest rate for comparable new loans 
has been used as the discount rate. No early repayment or impairment is recognised. 
Financial liabilities are carried on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost (in long term liabilities 
with accrued interest and principal due to be repaid within 1 year in current liabilities). The fair 
value of trade debtors and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount. 
 

For financial liabilities, where the fair value is greater than the carrying amount  it is because 
the Authority's portfolio of loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate is 
higher than the rates available for similar loans in the market at the Balance Sheet date.  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

16 INVENTORIES

372 294

457 494

(389) (415)

Written off balances 0 (1)

440 372

17 DEBTORS

Central Government bodies 1,937 2,057

Other Local Authorities 129 576

NHS Bodies 35 1

Other entities and individuals 2,673 3,150

Total Short Term Debtors 4,773 5,784

Other Entities and Individuals 0 0

Long Term Debtors 0 0

Total 4,773 5,784

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements:

Cash held by the Authority 0 0

Bank Current Accounts 19 8

3,054 1,792

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,073 1,800

Short-term deposits with banks and 

building societies

56

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

The comparative figures for 2013/14 have been restated to reflect the correction of an error.

Restated

Purchases

Consumable Stores

£000

Balance Outstanding at start of year

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

31 March 2015

£000

31 March 2014

Recognised as an expense in year

Balance outstanding at year end



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

19 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

20 CREDITORS

Central Government bodies (1,210) (1,253)

Other local authorities (1,059) (1,087)

Other entities and individuals (1,108) (2,082)

Short Term Creditors (3,377) (4,422)

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

57

£000 £000

There were no Non Current Assets held for sale either as at 31st March 2014 or at 31st 
March 2015. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

21 PROVISIONS

Long Term Total

Insurances

Retained 

Duty System

Exit 

Packages

Non 

Domestic 

Rates 

Appeals

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 (48) (23) (150) (182) (403)

(49) (3) 0 (218) (270)

Amounts used in 2014/15 25 1 150 0 177

0 0 0 182 182

Balance at 31 March 2015 (71) (24) 0 (218) (314)

58

PROVISIONS

Short Term

Additional provisions made 

in 2014/15

Unused amounts reversed 

in 2014/15

 
Insurances 
This provision allows for potential liabilities arising from existing claims against the authority. 
Uninsured losses of £25k were covered by the provision during the year. The provision required 
at 31 March 2015 was determined to be £71k. 
  
Retained Duty System 
This liability arises from an employment tribunal test case relating to “Part Time Workers 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations”.  A prudent estimate was made in 
2009/10 and 2010/11 relating to the payment of compensation to Retained Duty System 
firefighters. During the year amounts of compensation  have continued to be paid, although there 
remain some amounts of compensation to be paid as well as the possibility that further 
applications for compensation may be made. The remaining provision should cover any 
outstanding liabilities. 
 
Exit Packages 
This liability arises from decisions made in 2013/14 to allow employees to leave the Authority in 
2014/15. No further provisions were made during the year 2014/15 due to uncertainties of the 
amount. 
 
Non Domestic Rates Appeals 
From 2013/14, a proportion of Non Domestic Rates collected by Nottinghamshire collecting 
authorities is retained locally, rather than paid directly to central government. Part of  these 
retained rates are collected on behalf of NFRS, and so a portion of any related provisions must 
now be recognised by NFRS. This provision allows for possible losses arising from any 
successful appeals of business premises rateable values in 2015/16. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

22 USABLE RESERVES

General Fund 6,535 6,342
Earmarked Reserves 3,831 3,804

Capital Receipts Reserve 0 2,135

Capital Grants Unapplied 720 1,167
Total Usable Reserves 11,086 13,448

General Fund

Balance at 1 April 6,342 7,764

Transfer into General Fund Reserve 193 (1,422)

Balance at 31 March 6,535 6,342

Earmarked Reserves

Balance at 1 April 3,805 4,564

Application of Earmarked Reserves to finance expenditure (821) (1,032)
Transfer from General Fund Reserve 963 444

   Write back reserves no longer required (115) (171)

Balance at 31 March 3,832 3,805

31 March 2014

31 March 2014

31 March 2014

31 March 2015

£000 £000

31 March 2015

£000 £000

31 March 2015

£000

59

£000

Usable reserves contain resources which the Authority can apply to the provision of services, 
either by incurring expenditure or by undertaking capital investment 

The General Fund reserve contains accumulated surplus funds which have arisen either as a 
result of general underspending against the revenue budget or as a result of decisions to transfer 
revenue resources to the General Fund reserve. This reserve contains resources which could be 
used to fund any future unforeseen and unbudgeted significant expenditure. 

Earmarked Reserves contain resources set aside for specific purposes such as future projects. 
The reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance (shown in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement). When expenditure to be financed from an earmarked 
reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Capital Receipts Reserve

Balance at 1 April 2,135 102

Capital Receipts in Year 45 2,033

Capital Receipts applied in year to finance capital (2,180) 0

Balance at 31 March 0 2,135

Capital Grants Unapplied

Balance at 1 April 1,167 1,670

Capital Grants received in Year 1,088 1,088

Capital Grants applied in year to finance capital (1,534) (1,591)

Balance at 31 March 721 1,167

60

31 March 2015

£000 £000

31 March 2014

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds resources arising from capital receipts which have not yet 
been applied to finance new capital expenditure or to repay debt. 

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account holds capital grants received in the year, which have not 
yet been applied to finance new capital expenditure. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

23 UNUSABLE RESERVES

£000 £000

9,903 Revaluation Reserve 10,692

19,422 Capital Adjustment Account 22,414

(390,847) Pensions Reserve (459,916)

127 Collection Fund Adjustment Account (17)

(167) Accumulated Absences Account (188)

(361,562) Total Unusable Reserves (427,015)

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

11,096 Balance at 1 April 9,903

1,172 Upward revaluations of assets 1,117

(241) 0

931 1,117

12,027 11,020

(282) (329)  
(1,842) Accumulated gains on assets disposed of 0  

(2,124) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (329)

9,903 Balance at 31 March 10,691

31 March 2015

61

31 March 2014

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses 

not charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical 

cost depreciation

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets 

not posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Revaluation Reserve 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the 
value of its Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The balance is reduced when 
assets with accumulated gains are: 
  
• Re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 
• Disposed of and the gains are realised. 
  
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the 
balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

17,625 Balance at 1 April 19,423

(2,804) (2,683)

(30) • Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 710

and reversal of previous impairments

(86) • Amortisation of intangible assets (91)

(2,704) (2)

(5,624) (2,066)

1,842 Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 0

(3,782) (2,066)

Capital financing applied in the year:

0 2,180

1,088 1,088

0 0

1,337 1,344

1,000 0

504 446

1,652 0

5,580 5,058

19,423 Balance at 31 March 22,415

• Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES 

that have been applied to capital financing

• Gain arising from the receipt of Donated assets 

credited to the CIES

• Statutory provision for the financing of capital 

investment charged against the General Fund balance

• Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 

balance

62

• Application of grants to capital financing from Capital 

Grants Unapplied Account

• Voluntary provision for the financing of capital 

investment charged against the General Fund balance

• Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 

or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets 

consumed in the year

• Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 

expenditure

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited 

or credited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Account (CIES)

• Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current 

assets

Capital Adjustment Account 
  
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The Account 
is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment 
losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to historical 
cost basis). The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 
  
The Account contains gains recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the 
Authority, and also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment 
before April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 
  
Note 8 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from 

Pension Reserve 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

(388,282) Balance at 1 April (390,847)

11,004 (56,688)

(26,815) (25,549)

13,246 13,168

(390,847) Balance at 31 March (459,916)

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

43 (144)

127 Balance at 31 March (17)

Employers pensions contributions and direct payments 

to pensioners payable in the year

63

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited 

or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services in the CIES

Remeasurements on the net defined benefit pension 

Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rates income 

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

is different from council tax and non-domestic rates income 

calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements

Pension Reserve 
 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The Authority accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and 
investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory 
arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. 
The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits 
earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet 
them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time 
the benefits come to be paid. 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as it falls due from council tax payers and business rates payers compared with the 
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund.  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

(144) Balance at 1 April (167)

144 167

(167) Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (188)

(23) (21)

(167) Balance at 31 March (188)

64

Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of 

the preceding year

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

CIES on an accruals basis is different from remuneration 

chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 

requirements

Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 
  
The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not 
taken in the year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to 
or from the Account. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

24 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

14,527 Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 12,245
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non 

cash movements

(3,086) Depreciation (3,011)

(30) Impairment and revaluations 710

(86) Amortisation (91)

(205) (Increase)/Decrease in impairment for bad debts (26)

(1,389) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors 2,226

1,437 Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors (1,753)

78 Increase/(Decrease) in Inventories 67

(13,568) Pension Liability (12,377)

(206) Contributions (to)/from Provisions 90

(2,704)

Carrying amount of non-current assets sold [property plant and 

equipment, investment property and intangible assets] 0

(63) Accrued Interest (7)

(19,822) (14,172)

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services that are investing or financing activities

1,088 Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provision of services 1,088

2,033

Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment 

property and intangible assets 44

3,121 1,132

(2,174) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (795)

CASHFLOW STATEMENT - OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

(164) Interest received (78)

972 Interest paid 847

0 Dividends received (15)

65



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

25 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - INVESTING ACTIVITIES

2013/14 

£000 

Restated

2014/15 

£000

3,207

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 

intangible assets 4,109

21,000 Purchase of short-term and long-term investments 26,400

(2,045)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment 

property and intangible asset (47)

(23,000) Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments (31,920)

(1,088) Other receipts from investing activities (1,088)

(1,926) Net cash flows from investing activities (2,546)

26 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - FINANCING ACTIVITIES

2013/14 

£000

2014/15 

£000

100

Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating 

to Finance leases 0

3,064 Repayments of short and long-term borrowing 2,068

3,164 Net cash flows from financing activities 2,068

66

The comparative figures for 2013/14 have been restated to reflect the correction of errors relating 

to the purchase of short-term investments and the proceeds from short-term investments.



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

27 AMOUNTS REPORTED FOR RESOURCE ALLOCATION DECISIONS

28 POOLED BUDGETS

67

The Authority has a pooled budget arrangement with the Local Resilience Forum, which is a 
multi-agency project for planning and coordinating response to major incidents.  This forum 
involves various public bodies from the Nottinghamshire area including Health Bodies and 
Local Government Authorities. 
  
The Authority has a pooled budget arrangement for the Multi-Agency Coordination Centre, 
which is a premise at which a coordinated response to major incidents can be managed. 
Various Nottinghamshire public bodies, including Health Bodies, Local Government, and 
Police Authorities are parties to this arrangement. 
 
The Authority has a pooled budget arrangement for the development of the regional 
recruitment portal. The other four Fire and Rescue Services in the region are parties to this 
arrangement: Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Lincolnshire and Northamptonshire Fire and 
Rescue Services.  
 
See note 32  details of balances held relating to this arrangements. 

 
The analysis of income and expenditure by service on the face of the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement is that specified by the Service Reporting Code of Practice. 
However, decisions about resource allocation are taken by the Authority on the basis of budget 
management reports. These reports are prepared on a different basis from the accounting 
policies used in the financial statements. In particular: 
 
• no charges are made in relation to capital expenditure (whereas depreciation, revaluation 

and impairment losses in excess of the balance on the Revaluation Reserve and 
amortisations are charged to services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement) 

• the cost of retirement benefits is based on cash flows (payment of employer's pension 
contributions) rather than current service cost of benefits accrued in the year 

• expenditure on some support services is budgeted for centrally and not charged to 
directorates. 

 
As the Authority is single purpose, budget management reports provided to the Authority do 
not show expenditure and income in segments.  Note 8  "Adjustments between Accounting 
Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations" provides a reconciliation between the total 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure and the amount of resource consumed by the 
Authority in accordance with statutory provisions. The total Deficit on the Provision of Services 
shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is £12,245k, and this is 
adjusted by £12,464k in total to give an underspend of £219k. This underspend is then 
adjusted by the net transfer to and from earmarked reserves of £25k to give a final underspend 
of £194k which is in accordance with the funding basis under regulations. The adjustment of 
£12,464k is detailed in the table in note 8, under the heading "General Fund Balance". 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

29 MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES

The following amounts were paid to Members of the Authority during the year

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Allowances 109 110

Expenses 1 3

Total 110 113

68



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

30 OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Authority's senior employees is as follows:

Salary, 

Fees and 

Allowances

Expenses 

Allowances

Compensation 

for loss of 

employment

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions

Pension 

Contribution Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

2014/15 128,987 52 0 129,039 27,474 156,513

2013/14 0 0 0 0 0 0

2014/15 0 0 0 0 0 0

2013/14 139,889 52 0 139,941 29,796 169,737

2014/15 101,023 20,592 0 121,615 22,285 143,899

2013/14 0 0 0 0 0 0

2014/15 0 0 0 0 0 0

2013/14 115,408 52 0 115,460 24,582 140,041

2014/15 98,119 65 0 98,184 19,816 118,000

2013/14 20,496 4,685 0 25,181 5,255 30,436

2014/15 26,954 21 0 26,975 5,741 32,716

2013/14 104,917 78 0 104,995 22,347 127,342

2014/15 93,066 52 0 93,118 11,732 104,851

2013/14 90,928 3,450 0 94,378 16,053 110,431

Total 2014/15 448,149 20,782 0 468,931 87,048 555,979

Total 2013/14 471,637 8,317 0 479,954 98,033 577,987

Note :  "Expense Allowances" shows taxable benefits.  Employer's National Insurance contributions are excluded from the above table

Chief Fire Officer (CFO)               

(start date 01/04/2014)

Assistant Chief Fire Officer           

(start date 01/07/2014, 

supernumerary start 16/12/13)

Assistant Chief Fire Officer           

(leave date 30/06/2014)

Assistant Chief Officer

Deputy Chief Fire Officer                  

(start date 07/04/2014)

Chief Fire Officer (CFO)               

(Leave date 31/03/2014)

Deputy Chief Fire Officer                  

(leave date 31/03/2014)

69



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Remuneration Band 2014/15 2013/14

Number of employees Number of employees

£50,000-£54,999 25 27

£55,000-£59,999 5 3

£60,000-£64,999 3 5

£65,000-£69,999 3 1

£70,000-£74,999 0 2

£75,000-£79,999 0 1

£80,000-£84,999 2 3

£85,000-£89,999 1 0

£90,000-£94,999 1 1

£95,000-£99,999 1 0

£100,000-£104,999 0 1

£105,000-£109,999 0 0

£110,000-£114,999 0 0

£115,000-£119,999 0 1

£120,000-£124,999 1 0

£125,000-£129,999 1 0

£130,000-£134,999 1 0

£135,000-£139,999 0 1

£140,000-£144,999 0 0

£145,000-£149,999 0 0

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other

redundancies are set out in the table below:

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

2013/14 2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14 2014/15

£0-£20,000 5 5 1 4 6 9 25,822 19,410

£20,001 - £40,000 0 0 5 1 5 1 138,261 30,325

£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 46,423 0

£60,001 - £80,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 69,670 0

Total 5 5 8 5 13 10 280,176 49,735

70

Total cost of exit 

packages in each 

band

Total number of 

exit packages by 

cost band

Number of other 

departures agreed
Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Exit package cost 

band (including 

special payments)

The table below shows the number of employees whose remuneration was £50,000 or more, in 
bands of £5,000. It includes the senior officers shown in the previous table.  Remuneration is 
defined as pay, taxable expenses allowances and the monetary value of any benefits such as a 
provided car. Employer's pension contributions are excluded. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

31 EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

41 41

0 0

(4) (8)

Total 37 33

32 GRANT INCOME

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Credited to Services

Firelink grant (part of the Fire Revenue grant DCLG) (259) (241)

New Dimension grant (part of the Fire Revenue grant DCLG) (122) (120)

Sponsorship of events and awards (1) (18)

Miscellaneous Community Safety donations (25) (2)

Total (407) (381)

Current Liabilities

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants)

Local Resilience Forum (11) (10)

Multi Agency Coordination Centre (14) (19)

Regional Recruitment Portal 0 0

Total (25) (29)

71

Fees payable  with regard to external audit 

services carried out by the appointed auditor for 

the year

Fees payable in respect of statutory inspections

Audit Commission Rebate

The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Net Cost of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Other grants have 
been credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. These grants are detailed in note 12. 

The Authority has received a number of grants, contributions and donations that have yet to 
be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them that will require the monies 
or property to be returned to the giver if the conditions are not met.  The balances at the year-
end are as follows: 

The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of 
Accounts, and statutory inspections  provided by the Authority's external auditors.  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

33 RELATED PARTIES

2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure during year 548 627 707 810

Income during year 3 3 40 2

Creditor at 31 March 25 123 52 69

Debtor at 31 March 0 0 37 0

Nottinghamshire 

County Council

Nottingham City 

Council

72

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, which are bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced 
by the Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the 
Authority might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured 
the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Authority. 
 
Central Government 
 
Central government has significant influence over the general operations of the Authority. It is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Authority operates, provides the 
majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that 
the Authority has with other parties (e.g. council tax bills). Grants received from government 
departments are set out in the analysis in Note 32.and Note 12 
 
Members 
 
Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority's financial and operating policies. 
Details of members' allowances and expenses are shown in Note 29. 
 
Officers 
 
Some senior employees have significant influence over the Authority’s activities. Details of senior 
officers’ remuneration are shown in Note 30 and 12. 
 
Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottingham City Council 
 
The Authority is made up of 12 members from Nottinghamshire County Council and 6 members from 
Nottingham City Council, and so a related party relationship exists between the Authority and these 
Councils by way of common control.  Significant transactions are detailed below, and include 

 

 
Other Public Bodies 
 
Some members of the Authority are also members of other local Borough or District Councils in 
Nottinghamshire. Other public bodies such as Fire Authorities are subject to varying degrees of 
common control or significant influence by central government. The Authority carries out 
transactions with such bodies from time to time, including income and expenditure from the 
provision of goods or services, partnership working and pooled budgets, including transactions at 
other than commercial value. In 2014/15 the value of such transactions was insignificant. Note that 
council tax receipts from collecting authorities and transactions with tax authorities are considered 
to be agency arrangements, and do not qualify as related party relationships. 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Expenditure during year 33 47

Income during year 58 55

Creditor at 31 March 0 9

Debtor at 31 March 0 11

20 40

73

Outstanding loan to 

Trading Company

Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue 

Service (Trading) Ltd

 
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority 
 
The Authority is the sole shareholder of Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited, 
with 2 officers and 2 members forming the Board of Directors. The Authority recovers costs incurred 
in the provision of certain goods and services to the Company including finance, payroll, human 
resources, insurance and transport. The Company is the Authority’s provider of fire extinguisher 
maintenance services, and half of the Company manager’s salary is charged in exchange for 
management services provided to the Authority’s hydrant maintenance operation. 
 
The Authority provided a loan of £55k to the Company on the commencement of trading on 1 
September 2010.  The loan is a revolving credit facility allowing the Company to draw down up to a 
maximum of £100k and decrease to nil at any time.  Interest is charged at 15 basis points above the 
Bank of England bank rate, a rate negotiated at arm’s length.  The Authority’s transactions and 
balances with the Company are detailed below. Note 40 provides more details regarding the 
company’s transactions for the year 2014/15. 

Other than the items detailed above, there were no members or officers with significant influence 
over the authority who had an interest in an organisation with which the Authority carried out 
significant transactions or held significant balances. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

34 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND CAPITAL FINANCING

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 22,751 25,004

Capital Investment

Property, Plant and Equipment - (Operational) 2,187 1,131

Property, Plant and Equipment - (Non Operational) 1,599 1,408

Intangible Assets (including under construction) 681 788

Sources of Finance

Capital Receipts (2,180) 0

Government grant and other contributions (1,534) (1,591)

Sums set aside from revenue:

Direct revenue contributions 0 (1,652)

Minimum / Voluntary Revenue Provision (1,344) (2,337)

Closing Capital Financing requirements 22,160 22,751

Explanation of Movements in Year

(591) (2,253)
Decrease  in Capital Financing Requirement (591) (2,253)

0

0

Decrease in underlying need to borrow (unsupported 

by government financial assistance)

74

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, 
together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is 
to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Authority, the 
expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of 
the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be financed.   The 
change in the CFR is analysed in the second part of this note. 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

35 LEASES

Authority as Lessee

Finance Leases

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 0 53

0 53

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

• current 0 53

• non-current 0 0
Finance costs payable in future years 0 13

Minimum lease payments 0 66

The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods:

Minimum Lease Payments Finance Lease Liabilities

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Not later than one year 0 66 0 53

0 0 0 0
0 66 0 53

Later than one year and not later than five 

years

75

Finance lease liabilities (net present value 

of minimum lease payments):

The Authority uses vehicles (fire appliances) financed under the terms of finance leases.  The 
Assets acquired under these leases are carried as Property, Plant and Equipment in the 
Balance Sheet at the following net amounts: 

The Authority is committed to making minimum payments under these leases comprising 
settlement of the long-term liability for the interest in the property acquired by the Authority and 
finance costs that will be payable by the Authority in furture years while the liability remains 
outstanding. The minimum lease payments are made up of the following amounts: 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

£000's

13

52

39 *

36 TERMINATION BENEFITS

76

Authority as Lessor

Operating Leases

*The rent receivable in these years is £15,000 or 75% of the commercial rent applicable in each 

year, whichever is the greater. The figure stated above is based on the minimum amount 

receivable.

The Authority has entered into an operating lease arrangement with Nottinghamshire Police in 

respect of one of its properties, which is currently not required for operational purposes. Annual 

rentals are varied therefore the straight line method of accounting for rental income to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, is not used. (See item in the Statement of 

Accounting Policies - Note 1).  Rent received in 2014/15 was £15k.

Future contracted receipts are:

Within 1 year

Within 2 to 5 years

Over 5 years

The Authority terminated the contracts of 12 employees in 2014/15, incurring redundancy costs 
of £252k in 2014/15 (£78k in 2013/14). The decision to terminate 6 of these contracts was 
made in 2013/14, and so £202k of this cost was recognised as an expense in 2013/14. 
 
Pension strain costs arising from early retirements without actuarial reduction of pension are 
also classed as termination benefits. The Authority has paid £164k in pension strain recharge 
costs in 2014/15. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

37 DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES

77

Participation in Pension Schemes 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes 

contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not 

actually be payable until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make these 

payments in the future. 

  

As at 31 March 2015 the Authority participates in three post-employment schemes, all of which 

are defined benefit schemes: 

  

1) The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

This scheme is for administrative, support and Control employees. It is a funded scheme, 

which means that contributions are paid into a fund with the intention of balancing 

pension liabilities with pension assets. It is administered in accordance with statute 

(principally the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013), and it provides 

benefits based on career average revalued salary.  

The administering authority for the fund is Nottinghamshire County Council. The Pension 

Fund Committee oversees the management of the Fund whilst the day to day Fund 

administration is undertaken by a team within the administering authority. The 

administering authority is responsible for the preparation and maintenance of the 

Funding Strategy Statement and the Statement of Investment Principles. These should 

be amended when appropriate based on the Fund’s performance and funding. 

By participating in the Local Government Scheme, the Authority is exposed to a number 

of risks: 

a) Investment risk: The Fund holds investments in assets such as equities which have volatile 

market values and, while these asset are expected to provide real returns over the long-

term, the short-term volatility can cause additional funding to be required if a deficit 

emerges. 

b) Interest rate risk: The Fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality 

corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As the Fund holds assets such as equities, the 

value of assets and liabilities may not move in the same way. 

c) Inflation risk: All of the benefits under the Fund are linked to inflation and so deficits may 

emerge to the extent that the assets are not linked to inflation. 

d) Longevity risk: In the event that the members live longer than assumed, a deficit will 

emerge in the fund. There are also other demographic risks.   

e) “Orphan” liability risk: As many unrelated employers participate in the Nottinghamshire 

County Council Pension Fund, there is an orphan liability risk that employers may leave 

the Fund but with insufficient assets to cover their pension obligations so that the 

difference may fall on the remaining employers. 

 

These risks are mitigated to a certain extent by the requirement to charge the General 

Fund with the amounts payable to the pension fund or pensioners at the year end, in 

accordance with statute. 

 

Curtailment costs arising from the redundancies of administrative and support staff are 

recognised as Non Distributed Costs in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement. These are classed as past service costs, and they increase the Local 

Government Pension Scheme net liability. Details of redundancies can be found in note 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

78

2) The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (1992 FPS) 

The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 is an unfunded pension scheme. This scheme 

has been closed to new entrants since 6 April 2006. Its members are wholetime 

firefighters. It is a defined benefit scheme and its arrangements are governed by statute 

(the Firemen’s Pension Scheme Order 1992).  

  

3) The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (2006 NFPS) 

The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 is also an unfunded pension scheme. This 

scheme came into effect from April 2006 and its members are retained firefighters and 

wholetime firefighters. Like the 1992 FPS, it is a defined benefit scheme and its 

arrangements are governed by statute (the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) Order 

2006). The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) (Amendment) Order 2014 introduced 

a new modified version of the 2006 Scheme which is available to individuals who were 

employed as retained firefighters during the period 1 July 2000 to 5 April 2006. Fire and 

rescue authorities are now undertaking an options exercise to provide those individuals 

affected with an opportunity to join the modified scheme. As this options exercise is not 

due to be completed until 30 September 2015, the pension calculations undertaken for 

International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19) purposes in the 2014/15 statement of 

account exclude transactions relating to the modified scheme. 

  

The two Firefighters’ Schemes are very similar in nature. They are unfunded pension 

schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets to meet the cost of pension 

liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet pension payments as they fall due. The 

Authority has primary responsibility for meeting the costs and managing the risks relating 

to the firefighters’ pension arrangements. However, there is currently an arrangement in 

place whereby the cost of the schemes are met from contributions paid by employees and 

the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up grant from the 

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). Any surplus funding is paid 

over to the DCLG. 

  

The schemes provide benefits based on final salary and length of service at retirement, 

although a new scheme which provides benefits based on revalued average salary will be 

implemented on 1 April 2015. The governance arrangements are managed by the 

Authority, and this essentially involves managing the cash flows and being responsible for 

the administration of the schemes. The day to day administration is carried out by 

Leicestershire County Council on behalf of the Authority. 

  

Given that the pension schemes are unfunded, the contributions payable are simply those 

which are sufficient to meet the benefit outgo as and when it arises. As mentioned above, 

this benefit outgo is largely underwritten by the DCLG. By participating in these pension 

schemes, the Authority is exposed to some risks: 

 
a) There are no investment risks in relation to these schemes as they are unfunded. The 

greatest single risk is that the government could change the arrangements for meeting part 

of the benefit outgo, which could increase the Authority’s contributions. 

b) There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, 

discount rate) could increase the defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions used to 

value the defined benefit obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less material. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

79

A Pension Top-up Grant is received annually from the government to meet the cost of the net 

funding deficit for the 1992 FPS and the 2006 NFPS. It is paid directly to the Firefighters’ 

Pension Fund (see the Pension Fund statements on pages 91 to 96) and it is therefore not the 

Authority’s income, however in IAS 19 terms it is a current contribution towards the Authority’s 

liabilities for retirement benefits. The grant is therefore credited to other operating income in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The grant is not treated as an asset 

of the firefighters’ pension schemes, but as a source of income to the schemes it does reduce 

the year end pension liability. 

 

The Authority also participates in the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme. The Firefighters’ 

Compensation Scheme (England) Order 2006 makes provision for the payment of pensions, 

allowances and gratuities to and in respect of persons who die or are permanently disabled as 

a result of an injury sustained or disease contracted while employed by a fire and rescue 

authority. The level of benefits payable is dependent on salary, service and the degree of 

disablement of the individual at the time the injury is incurred. Therefore the level of long term 

benefits can be both material and volatile. For this reason the Compensation Scheme is 

treated as an unfunded defined benefit scheme and accounted for, under International 

Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19), in the same manner as for the Firefighters’ Pension 

Schemes.  

  

The Compensation Scheme is administered by the Authority in accordance with statutory 

arrangements determined by the Department of Communities and Local Government. The 

cost of the scheme is met solely by the Authority. The risks arising from the Authority’s 

participation in this scheme are as follows: 

a) There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, 

discount rate) could increase the defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions used to 

value the defined benefit obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less 

material.  

b) There is a risk that the government could change the arrangements of the scheme in 

such a way that the costs incurred by the Authority are significantly increased. 

c) Historically the number of firefighters who are permanently disabled or who die as a 

result of injuries sustained or diseases contracted whilst in the employment of the 

Authority is very low, so the number of injury pension recipients is relatively small. 

However, the Authority is committed to pay benefits as and when they fall due, so if the 

number of occurrences were to increase it could have a significant impact on the 

amounts payable.  

 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when 

they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are actually paid as pensions. 

However, the charge against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real 

cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the 

Movement in Reserves Statement. 

  

The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the 

year: 

 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14

1,220 1,285 6,961 8,095

(71) 429 0 0

4 1 0 0

537 491 16,898 16,514

1,690 2,206 23,859 24,609

(1,410) (271) 0 0

14 641 (4,689) 5,187

5,231 2,349 67,404 (16,755)

(51) (2,363) (9,811) 0

0 208 0 0

5,474 2,770 76,763 13,041

(1,690) (2,206) (23,859) (24,609)

1,021 877 11,491 11,726

656 643

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services for post-

employment benefits in accordance with the Code

Actual amount charged against the General Fund 

Balance for pensions in the year:

Experience (gains) and losses

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 

financial assumptions

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners

80

Employers' contributions payable to the scheme

Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure

Net interest expense

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 

Surplus or Defecit on the Provision of Services

Other Post-employment Benefit charges to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 

comprising:

Return on plan assets (excluding the amount 

included in the net interest expense)

Other actuarial gains and losses

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Local Government 

£'000 Firefighters' £'000

Administration expenses

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 

demographic assumptions

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Cost of Services

Service cost comprising:

        - current service costs

        - past service costs*

Of the £429k of past service costs in 2013/14, £314k relates to termination benefits. This 
amount has been reversed out in 2014/15, resulting in an overall credit balance of £71k in 
2014/15. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Further Analysis of Firefighters' Pension Schemes

2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement

Cost of Services

Service cost comprising:

current service cost 4,352 5,257 1,964 2,136 645 702

Financing and Investment Income 

and Expenditure

Net interest expense 15,280 15,050 719 598 899 866

Total Post-employment Benefits 

charged to the Surplus or Deficit on 

the Provision of Services

19,632 20,307 2,683 2,734 1,544 1,568

Other Post-employment Benefits 

charges to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement

Remeasurement of the net defined 

benefit liability comprising:

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising 

on changes in demographic 

assumptions

(3,046) 4,620 (1,643) 273 0 294

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising 

on changes in financial assumptions
57,804 (14,458) 6,423 (1,407) 3,177 (890)

Experience (gains) and losses (7,116) 0 (41) 0 (2,654) 0

Total Post-employment Benefits 

charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement

67,274 10,469 7,422 1,600 2,067 972

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of net charges made to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services for post-employment 

benefits in accordance with the Code

(19,632) (20,307) (2,683) (2,734) 1,544 (1,568)

Actual amount charged against the 

General Fund Balance for pensions 

in the year:

Employers’ contributions payable to 

the scheme (inclusive of government 

top-up grant)

12,658 12,409 (1,167) (683)

Retirement benefits payable to 

pensioners
656 643

81

Firefighters’ 

Pension Scheme 

1992 £’000

Firefighters’ 

Pension Scheme 

2006 £’000

Firefighters’ 

Compensation 

Scheme £’000



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

£’000 

2014/15

£’000 

2013/14

£’000 

2014/15

£’000 

2013/14

£’000 

2014/15

£’000 

2013/14

£’000 

2014/15

£’000 

2013/14

Opening balance at 1 April (33,823) (30,507) (343,703) (345,643) (14,422) (12,139) (19,977) (19,648)

Current service cost (1,220) (1,285) (4,352) (5,257) (1,964) (2,136) (645) (702)

Interest cost (1,495) (1,425) (15,280) (15,050) (719) (598) (899) (866)

Contributions from scheme participants (346) (318) (1,662) (1,596) (704) (619) 0 0

Remeasurement gains and (losses):

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions
(14) (641) 3,046 (4,620) 1,643 (273) 0 (294)

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions
(5,231) (2,349) (57,804) 14,458 (6,423) 1,407 (3,177) 890

Experience gains/losses on defined benefit 

obligation
51 2,363 7,116 0 41 0 2,654 0

Losses on curtailment 71 (429) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Benefits paid net of transfers (in)/out 918 747 14,320 14,005 (463) (64) 656 643

Unfunded pension payments (LGPS only) 22 21 0 0 0 0 0 0

Closing balance at 31 March (41,067) (33,823) (398,319) (343,703) (23,011) (14,422) (21,388) (19,977)

Funded Liabilities: 

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

Unfunded Liabilities: 

Firefighters’ Pension 

Scheme 1992

Unfunded Liabilities: 

Firefighters’ Pension 

Scheme 2006

Unfunded Liabilities: 

Firefighters’ 

Compensation Scheme

8
2

Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
  
Reconciliations of the amounts included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans: 
  
Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the Local Government Pension Scheme Assets

Opening fair value of scheme assets 21,078 19,655

Interest income 958 934

Remeasurement gain/(loss):

The return on plan assets, excluding 

the amount included in the net interest 
1,410 271

Other actuarial gains/(losses) 0 (208)

Contributions from employer 1,021 877

Contributions from employees into the 

scheme
346 318

Benefits paid (including unfunded 

benefits)
(940) (768)

Administration expenses (4) (1)

Closing fair value of scheme assets 23,869 21,078

Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

£’000 % Quoted % Unquoted £’000 %

Equities:

• UK investments 7,804 32% <1% 7,540 36%

• Overseas investments 8,591 36% 7,386 35%

• Private equity investments – 

unspecified origin
430 2% 461 2%

Equities subtotal 16,825 68% 2% 15,387 73%

Gilts:

• UK fixed interest gilts 746 3% 1,012 5%

• Overseas fixed interest gilts 0 0% 421 2%

• UK inflation-linked gilts 0 0% 253 1%

Gilts subtotal 746 3% 1,686 8%

Other Bonds:

• UK corporate bonds 1,613 7% 622 3%

• Overseas corporate bonds 72 <1% 95 <1%

• Inflation-linked bonds 0 0% 337 2%

Bonds subtotal 1,685 7% 1,054 5%

Property 2,786 12% 2,319 11%

Cash 1,161 5% 632 3%

Inflation-linked pooled fund
1 666 3%

Total 23,869 81% 19% 21,078 100%

83

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

2014/15 

£’000

2013/14 

£’000

Fair value of scheme 

assets at 31 March 

2014
2

Fair value of scheme assets at 31 

March 2015

1 In 2013/14 the Inflation-linked pooled fund allocation was included within Equities. 
2 The assets as at 31 March 2014 cannot be broken down into those that have a quoted market price in an active market and those 
that do not, as this information is not readily available. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14 2014/15 2013/14

Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current 

pensioners (LGPS) and at 60 for 

current pensioners (FF Schemes):

Men 22.1 22 28.1 28 25.5 25.4

Women 25.2 25.1 30.6 30.5 28 27.9
Longevity at 65 for future 

pensioners (LGPS) and at 60 for 

future pensioners (FF Schemes):
Men 24.2 24.1 30.6 30.4 27.9 27.8

Women 27.6 27.4 33.1 33 30.4 30.3

Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.5% 2.9% 2.0% 2.4% 2.0% 2.4%

Rate of increase in salaries 4.3% 4.7% 3.5% 3.9% 3.5% 3.9%

Rate of increase in pensions 2.5% 2.9% 2.0% 2.4% 2.0% 2.4%

Rate for discounting scheme* 3.4% 4.5% 3.2% 4.5% 3.2% 4.5%
*The discount rate is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds.

Firefighters' 

Compensation 

Scheme

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

Firefighters' 

Schemes 1992 

and 2006

84

Further information about the Fund's assets can be obtained from the Pension Fund Annual 
Report, which can be accessed online at www.nottspf.org.uk. 
 
Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an 

estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about 

mortality rates, salary levels etc. The liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme and the 

Firefighters’ schemes have been assessed by Barnett Waddingham Public Sector Consulting and 

Mercer Limited respectively, both of whom are independent firms of actuaries. 

The most recent full actuarial valuations for the Local Government Pensions Scheme and the 

Firefighters’ schemes were carried out at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2015 respectively. The 

Actuary dealing with the Firefighters’ Schemes has based the calculation of the schemes’ 

liabilities on full member calculations. The Actuary dealing with the Local Government Pension 

Scheme has adopted a roll-forward approach in updating the net liability as at 31 March 2015. 

This approach takes into account the cash flows paid into and out of the scheme before taking 

into consideration any changes in the financial assumptions since March 2013. 

The rate of interest used to discount post-employment benefit obligations is based on the market 

yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds of equivalent currency and term to the 

scheme liabilities. In assessing the liabilities for retirement benefits at 31 March 2015 the 

actuaries have used discount rates of 3.4% and 3.2% respectively for the Local Government 

Pension Scheme and the Firefighters’ Schemes, compared with a rate of 4.5% at 31 March 2014. 

Although the effect of this rate change has been partially offset by a fall in the rate of inflation, the 

application of the lower rates has resulted in an increase in liabilities of £72.6m, adjusted for by an 

increase in actuarial losses recognised for the year in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement in the other comprehensive income and expenditure part of the statement. 

Other remeasurements on the net defined pension liability are also included in the amount shown 

in other comprehensive income and expenditure, the details of which are can be found in the 

breakdown of Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits on page 68. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Sensitivity analysis for the Firefighters’ Schemes

Impact on 

the 

defined 

benefit 

liability 

£’000

Impact on 

the 

projected 

service 

cost  

£’000

Impact on 

the 

defined 

benefit 

liability 

£’000

Impact on 

the 

projected 

service 

cost  

£’000

Impact on 

the 

defined 

benefit 

liability 

£’000

Impact on 

the 

projected 

service 

cost  

£’000

Increase inflation by 0.1% p.a. 7,000 145 741 88 395 24

Increase pay growth by 0.1% p.a. 1,295 58 172 22 135 13

Increase life expectancy by 1 year 8,658 112 461 55 495 19

Sensitivity analysis for the LGPS

£’000 £’000 £’000

Adjustment to discount rate: 0.10% 0.00% -0.10%

Impact on the defined benefit liability 40,256 41,067 41,895

Impact on the projected service cost 1,441 1,474 1,507

Adjustment to long term salary increase: 0.10% 0.00% -0.10%

Impact on the defined benefit liability 41,217 41,067 40,918

Impact on the projected service cost 1,475 1,474 1,473

Adjustment to pension increases 

and deferred revaluation:
0.10% 0.00% -0.10%

Impact on the defined benefit liability 41,751 41,067 40,397

Impact on the projected service cost 1,507 1,474 1,442

Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption: + 1 year None -1 Year

Impact on the defined benefit liability 39,616 41,067 42,532

Impact on the projected service cost 1,423 1,474 1,526

-85 -387 -24-6,874Increase discount rate by 0.1% p.a. -143 -717

85

Firefighters’ 

Pension Scheme 

1992

Firefighters’ 

Pension Scheme 

2006

Firefighters’ 

Compensation 

Scheme

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out 
in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonable 
possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes 
for each change that the assumption analysed changes while all other assumptions remain 
constant. This approach is not necessarily realistic, since some assumptions are related: for 
example, if inflation were to increase it might be reasonable to expect that nominal yields on 
corporate bonds will increase also. However, it enables the reader to isolate one effect from 
another. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below 

Asset and Liability Matching Strategy 
The Local Government Pension Scheme does not use any asset and liability matching strategies 
to manage risk. The Pension Fund Annual Report details the nature and extent of risks arising 
from financial instruments, and the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk Register details 
the measures taken to mitigate those risks. These documents are available at 
www.nottspf.org.uk. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

38 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

86

Impact on the Authority’s Cash Flows 
 
The defined benefit liability shows the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long 
run to pay retirement benefits. The total liability of £460m has a substantial impact on the net 
worth of the Authority as recorded in the Balance Sheet, however statutory arrangements for 
funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the Authority remains healthy: 
 
• The net liability on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by increased 

contributions over the remaining working life of employees (i.e. before payments fall due), as 
assessed by the scheme actuary. The aims of the Fund are to keep employer contribution 
rates as constant as possible. Contributions are set every three years as a result of the 
actuarial valuation of the Fund required by the Regulations. The next actuarial valuation of the 
Fund will be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and will set contributions for the period from 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2020. There are no minimum funding requirements in the LGPS but the 
long term funding objective is for the Fund to achieve and then maintain sufficient assets to 
cover 100% of projected accrued liabilities. 
 

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover firefighter pensions when the pensions are 
actually paid, and any shortfalls are currently met by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government. 
 

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover the costs of the firefighters’ compensation 
scheme when the pensions are actually paid, and these costs are included in the Authority’s 
annual budget. The amount spent in 2014/15 was £687k. 

 
The total contributions expected to be made by the Authority to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme in year to 31 March 2016 is £842k. The total expected contributions for the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes and Compensation Scheme are £12.2m inclusive of government top-up grant. 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Members is 21 years. The weighted average durations of the defined benefit obligations 
of the 1992 FPS, 2006 NFPS and the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme are 15 years, 30 years 
and 16 years respectively. 

At 31 March 2015, the Authority had the following contingent assets: 
 
The Authority is involved in the prosecutions of a number of businesses which are deemed to 
have breached fire safety regulations. Where these prosecutions are successful the court may 
direct that costs are repaid to the Authority. The amounts involved are unlikely to be material 
sums. 
 
At 31 March 2015, the Authority had no contingent liabilities.  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

39 NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

87

The Authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 

Authority 
 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its 

commitments to make payments 
 Re-financing risk – the possibility that the Authority may be required to renew a financial 

instrument on maturity at less advantageous interest rates or terms 
 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in, for 

example, interest rates. 

The annual treasury management strategy for 2014/15 was approved by the Authority on 28 
February 2014. The key issues within the strategy were: 
 The Authorised Limit for 2014/15 was set at £29.0m. This is the maximum limit of 

external borrowings or other long term liabilities. 
 The Operational Boundary was set at £26.3m. This is the expected maximum level of 

debt and other long term liabilities during the year. 
  The maximum proportions of fixed and variable interest rate exposure were set at 100% 

and 30% respectively. 
 Maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structure of debt were set, which 

restricted the amount of short term debt as a way of reducing exposure to re-financing 
risk. 

 An upper limit of £2.0m was set for principal sums invested for longer than 364 days. 
 
The Authority has adopted the  CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (updated) and sets prudential and treasury 
indicators each year to control the key risks arising from financial instruments. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk arises from deposits with financial institutions and from providing chargeable 
services to customers. The Authority has a list of approved banks and financial institutions to 
which it will lend surplus cash. The list is based on minimum independent credit ratings from 
Fitch, Moodys and Standards and Poor, which are overlaid by credit outlooks, credit default 
swap spreads and sovereign ratings to give an overall rating for each counterparty which 
indicates a maximum term for investments. The annual investment strategy also considers 
maximum amounts to be deposited with any one institution. The Authority is advised of ratings 
changes by Capita Asset Services and the list is updated accordingly on an ongoing basis.  
  
The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments with banks and 
other local authorities cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to 
make interest payments or to repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual 
institution. Experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their 
commitments and there was no evidence at 31 March 2015 that any of the Authority’s deposits 
might not be repaid. 
  
Invoices to customers for chargeable services are usually of relatively low value. The Authority 
actively pursues outstanding debts and the Debt Recovery Policy provides for non emergency 
services to be ceased to non paying customers. 
  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

Amount at 31 

March 2015

Estimated 

Maximum 

Exposure to 

Credit Risk 

2015

Historical 

experience 

of default

Amount at 31 

March 2014

Estimated 

Maximum 

Exposure to 

Credit Risk 

2014

£000 £000 % £000 £000

7,553 0 0% 11,765 0

Customers 148 4 2.50% 49 7

7,701 4 11,814 7

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Less than one month overdue 27 1

1 to 2 months overdue 5 0

2 to 5 months overdue 1 4

More than 5 months overdue 11 10

43 15

Deposits with Banks and 

Financial Institutions

88

Of the £148k shown in the above table as due from customers, £105k was not yet due for 
payment as at 31 March 2015 and £43k was past its due date for payment. The past due 
amount is analysed by age as follows: 
 

Liquidity Risk 
The Authority manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures outlined 
above (the setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury 
management strategy), as well as through cash flow management processes. This ensures 
that sufficient cash balances are maintained to meet daily revenue requirements without 
recourse to borrowing other than short term borrowing to deal with temporary cash flow 
deficits.   
  
The Authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets to cover any day to 
day cash flow needs and is able to access borrowings from the Public Works Loan Board for 
longer term funds so there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise funds in order to 
meet its commitments relating to financial liabilities.  
  
All trade and other payables are due to be repaid within one year. 
  
Re-financing Risk 
The risk to which the Authority is exposed is that it will need to replenish its borrowings when 
interest rates are unfavourable. The Authority’s strategy is to place limits on the percentage of 
borrowings due to mature within 10 years, as follows: maturing within 12 months – less than 
20%; maturing 12 months to 5 years – less than 30%; maturing 5 years to 10 years – less than 
75%. Between 0% and 100% of borrowings may fall due for repayment after 10 years, and 
between 30% and 100% of borrowings may fall due for repayment after 20 years. This 

The following analysis summarises the Authority’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk, 
based on actual experience in terms of deposits and the percentage of debt which has been 
written off as unrecoverable over the last 5 years in terms of debtors. There were six deposits 
as at 31 March 2015 showing on the Balance Sheet and  three of these were due to be repaid 
to the Authority by July 2015. The remaining three deposits are in call accounts. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Less than 1 year 71 2,068

Between 1 and 2 years 2,075 71

Between 2 and 5 years 4,750 6,737

Between 5 and 10 years 4,612 4,699

Between 10 and 15 years 0 0

Over 15 years 8,900 8,900

20,408 22,476

Market Risk

If all interest rates had been 1% higher (with all other variables held constant) the financial

effect would be:

£000

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate investment assets 7

2,638

89

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be an equivalent increase in fair value.

The Authority has no investments in equity shares and therefore has no exposure to loss 
arising from movements in share prices. 
  
The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and 
therefore has no exposure to loss arising from exchange rate movements. 
  
The Authority is exposed to risk in terms of interest rate movements on borrowings and 
investments. A rise in fixed interest rates would have the following effects: 
 For borrowings at fixed interest rates, the fair value of the borrowing would fall (but this 

would not impact upon revenue balances) 
 For investments at fixed interest rates, the fair value of the assets will fall (but this 

would not impact upon revenue balances) 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value on the Balance Sheet, so nominal gains and losses 
on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
  
The strategy is to set a maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to 
variable rates. This maximum is determined annually, kept under review and reported to the 
Fire Authority through the Treasury Management Strategy. In 2014/15, this maximum was 
set at 30%. In addition, the annual Treasury Management Strategy includes an expectation 
of interest rate movements, which can be taken into account when planning borrowing and 
investment activities and when determining whether fixed or variable rate instruments are 
appropriate. The portfolio of long term borrowings is kept under review and may be 

The Authority borrowed £4m under a “Lender Option Borrower Option” instrument on 7 March 
2008 and the assumption has been made that the loan will be repaid on the maturity date.  
  
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities (principal sums only) is as follows: 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

40 INTERESTS IN COMPANIES

Key Financial Information for Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading)

Limited:

2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Profit and Loss

Turnover 387 388

Operating Profit 76 89

Profit on Ordinary Activities before Taxation 76 89

Profit on Ordinary Activities after Taxation 61 71

Balance Sheet

Net Current Assets 187 161

90

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited. 
 
Principal activities 
 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited is a limited company and 
wholly owned by Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. The company was formed on 
1st September 2010. The company is engaged in fire extinguisher sales and maintenance 
together with some safety training activity.  
 
It has been determined that the Authority does control this subsidiary on the basis that the 
Authority has the power to govern its financial and operating policies so as to benefit from 
its activities because the board of directors of the subsidiary comprises three elected 
members and two officers of the Authority. The accounts of this subsidiary are not 
consolidated with the accounts of the Authority because the turnover of the company and 
the value of the Authority’s investment in it are not material when considered in the context 
of the Authority’s accounts, and corporate governance objectives can be effectively 
achieved without consolidation. Instead, separate financial statements are prepared for the 
Authority and for the subsidiary and the Authority’s investment in the subsidiary (in the 
form of a loan) is accounted for at cost and shown as a short term investment on the 
Authority’s Balance Sheet and a liability on the subsidiary’s Balance Sheet. 
 
The company is considered to be a related party to the Authority, and details of 
transactions between the two entities have been disclosed in Note 33. The Authority’s 
maximum exposure to loss from its interest in the subsidiary is limited to the share capital 
sum of £1. 

 
The accounts  of the company can be obtained from: 
 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited 
Bestwood Lodge 
Bestwood Lodge Drive 
Arnold 
Nottingham 
Nottinghamshire 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

Contributions Receivable

Fire Authority:

(3,282) Contributions in relation to pensionable pay (3,172)

(48) Other (Ill Health Retirements) (180)

(2,216) Firefighters’ contributions (2,572)

(5,546) Total Contributions Receivable (5,924)

Transfers in from other authorities

(83) Transfers in from other schemes (421)

Benefits Payable

10,745 Pensions 11,274

3,190 Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 2,575

13,935 Total Benefits Payable 13,849

Payments to and on account of Leavers

136 Transfers out to other schemes 161

8,442 7,665

(6,474) Top-up grant received from Communities & Local Government (CLG) (6,980)

(1,968) (685)

0 0

 PENSION STATEMENTS

91

Net Amount payable for the year before top-up grant from 

Communities & Local Government

Balance of top-up grant for the year (receivable 

from)/payable to Communities & Local Government

PENSION FUND ACCOUNT



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000

Current Assets

15 Contributions from employer 24

13 Contributions from members 19

39 Transfer into Scheme Receivable 85

927 Prepaid Pensions 965

1,968 Pension top-up grant receivable from CLG 685

2,962 Total 1,778

Current Liabilities

(586) Unpaid pension benefits (145)

(125) Tax payable on behalf of members (18)

(2,251) Amount owing (to)/from General Fund (1,615)

(2,962) Total (1,778)

0 Net Current Assets 0

PENSION NET ASSETS STATEMENT

92

The net current assets and liabilities arising from the operation of the pension fund are shown in 
this statement. This statement does not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits after the period end. Such liabilities are shown in the core accounting statements and are 
explained in more detail in note 37. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

NOTES TO THE PENSION STATEMENTS

93

1. The Firefighters’ Pension Fund 
The Firefighters’ Pension Fund was established for Fire Authorities in England under the 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (Amendment) (England) Order 2006. Until April 2015 there were two 
separate pension schemes for firefighters:  the 1992 Scheme and the 2006 Scheme. The 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) (Amendment) Order 2014 introduced a new modified 
version of the 2006 Scheme which is available to individuals who were employed as retained 
firefighters during the period 1 July 2000 to April 2006. Although this modified version does not 
constitute a scheme on its own, it has different benefits to the main 2006 Scheme and is therefore 
often referred to separately as the “Modified Scheme”. The Modified Scheme came into being on 1 
April 2014. More details about this scheme and its impact on the Pension Fund can be found below. 
A new pension scheme came into being on 1 April 2015. This is referred to as the 2015 Scheme, 
and it will eventually replace the 1992 and 2006 Schemes after a transitional phase which will last 
for 10 years.  
All Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are unfunded and consequently the fund holds no investement 
assets. Benefits are payable to pensioners in accordance with the regulations. Benefits payable are 
funded by contributions from employees and from the Authority, and any deficit in the funding 
required is met by a top-up grant from the Department for Communities and Local Government. If 
the amounts receivable exceed the amounts payable then the surplus is paid over to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government. Employees’ and employer’s contribution rates 
are set nationally by  central government and are subject to a triennial revaluation by the 
Government Actuary’s Department. 
The fund is administered by the Authority in accordance with the regulations set out in the 2006 
Amendment Order. The primary objective of the Pension Fund Statements is to demonstrate the 
balance of transactions taking place over the year in order to identify the amount of top-up grant 
payable from, or surplus payable to, the Department for Communities and Local Government. 

  
 
2. The Modified Scheme 
Following the court’s decision in the employment tribunal case involving retained firefighters who 
made a claim for equal treatment with wholetime firefighters under the Part Time Workers 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, the Government introduced a 
modified version of the 2006 Firefighters’ Pension Scheme. This scheme is available for those who 
had retained service for all or part of the period from 1 July 2000 to 5 April 2006 inclusive. Fire and 
rescue authorities are now undertaking an options exercise to provide those individuals affected 
with an opportunity to join the modified scheme, as compensation for having previously had no 
access to a pension scheme during this period. 
This options exercise is not due to be completed until 30 September 2015, however over 120 
individuals have already elected to join the modified scheme. These individuals can choose to pay 
their historic contributions either by a lump sum or in instalments over a 10 year period. These 
contributions are being accounted for in the year that the cash is received as the individuals 
concerned do not accrue any additional pensionable service until the contributions are paid. Of the 
individuals who have already elected to join, 33 are now receiving pension payments. These 
payments have been accounted for on an accruals basis. This has resulted in £331k of pension 
payments being recognised as expenditure in the Pension Fund Account, and £81k of unpaid 
pension benefits being shown in the Pension Net Assets Statement. 
Overall there is a net deficit of £97k relating to the Modified Scheme. This has increased the overall 
pension fund deficit to £7,859k.  
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

94

 
 
3. Correction of Previous Pension Errors 
During the 2013/14 financial year a number of errors were discovered in relation to the amounts 
paid to some of the Authority’s pensioners in receipt of fire pensions. The Authority’s former 
pension administrator has now calculated the value of these errors, and they have been accounted 
for in the 2014/15 pension fund statements. 
Underpayments totalling £64k and overpayments totalling £258k have been accounted for, resulting 
in a net credit of £194k. This credit has reduced the amount shown as pensions payable in the 
pension fund account from £11,468k to £11,274k. The pensioners affected by the underpayment 
have not yet received the additional amounts they are due, and so £64k is included in the unpaid 
pension benefits figure shown in the pension net assets statement. 
 
 
 4. Accounting Policies for the Pension Fund  
 
General Principles 
The Pension Fund Account and Net Assets Statement summarise the Pension Fund transactions 
for the 2014/15 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2015.  It has been 
prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2014/15. 
  
Accruals 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. This is known as the accruals basis. Accruals are shown as debtors and creditors in the 
Net Assets Statement. Further details relating to the debtors and creditors are shown in note 5 
below. In all cases, reasonably accurate calculations of accruals have been possible with the 
information available at the time of preparing the financial statements. The one exception to this 
policy is the treatment of historic employee contributions paid into the Modified Scheme (see note 2 
above for details). 
  
Administration Costs 
The cost of managing pension activities, which includes part of the costs of Human Resources, 
Payroll and Finance staff as well as part of the cost of Pension Services provided by Leicestershire 
County Council and the cost of actuarial services, are not accounted for within the Pension Fund 
but are included in the Authority’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
  
5. Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
There is a non-material adjusting post balance sheet event. In May 2015 the Pension Ombudsman 
published his Final Determination in the case of  Mr William Milne, a retired firefighter who made a 
complaint against the Government Actuary's Department (GAD) about the factor used to convert his 
pension into a lump sum, and whether the factors should have been reviewed earlier than they 
were. The Pension Ombudsman's Final Determination finds GAD guilty of maladministration and 
finds that an opportunity to review the commutation factors was lost in 2001/02 and then again 
between 2002 and 2004. The Department for Communities and Local Government has published a 
methodology for calculating amounts to be paid to members of the 1992 Pension Scheme who 
retired between 1 December 2001 and 21 August 2006 and has asked Fire Authorities to pay all 
amounts due by 31st March 2016. There are Authority 126 pensioners affected by this issue but the 
value of the total amounts to be paid will not be known until later in the year.  The Government has 
confirmed that Fire Authorities will be reimbursed for the total cost. The 2014/15 accounts have not 
been adjusted to take account of the impacts of this event, on the basis that any impact is not likely 
to be material, but appropriate adjustments will be made in the 2015/16 accounts. 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

95

 
6. The Liability to Pay Pensions 
 
 The Authority has a liability to pay future retirement benefits to current members of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. The value of this liability has been assessed by an independent 
firm of actuaries and is shown in the Authority’s Balance Sheet and explained further in note 37 
to the core financial statements. The Pension Fund Account and Net Assets Statement do not 
take account of this liability. 
  
 
7. Accruals Within the Pension Fund and Net Assets Statement  
 
Prepaid Pensions 
Retirement benefits payable under the 1992 Scheme are paid to members monthly in advance. 
The payments made in March 2015 relate to April 2015 and have been treated as prepayments. 
 
Transfers Between Pension Schemes 
The Pension Regulations state that where members transfer between Fire Authority Schemes 
within England, no transfer of accrued pension benefits will take place. However, where 
members transfer to/from the Fire Authority Scheme to/from another Fire Authority in Scotland, 
Wales or Northern Ireland or to/from a non Fire Authority organisation, they can opt to transfer 
their accrued benefits. As at 31 March 2015, 2 transfers into the Fire Authority Scheme had 
been requested but the money had not been received. This income has been accrued for.  
 
Values can take some time to determine and amounts can vary depending upon the date of 
settlement, therefore the accrual values are based on estimates provide by the Authority’s 
firefighter pensions administrators.   
 
Pension Top-Up Grant Payable/Receivable 
The amount required to be paid to the Department for Communities and Local Government in 
order to balance the Pension Fund to nil has been calculated and accrued for.  
 
Contributions Payable 
Retained firefighters are paid one month in arrears, therefore employee and employer 
contributions relating to March 2015 were still outstanding at 31 March 2015. These outstanding 
contributions have been calculated and accrued for. 
 
Unpaid Pension Benefits 
Unpaid pension benefits relating to the Modified Scheme have been accrued for. See note 2 
above for more details. 
 
Tax Payable on Behalf of Members 
When a member elects to take a tax free lump sum that exceeds 25% of their pension pot, the 
excess amount is treated by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) as an unauthorised 
payment and the member has to pay tax on that amount. When the lump sum is paid to the 
member, the Authority deducts the tax that is due and pays it over to HMRC on the member's 
behalf. Tax that has been deducted but not yet paid over to HMRC has been accrued for. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

96

 
8. Financing of the Pension Fund  
 
The Authority does not operate a separate bank account for Pension Fund transactions. 
Instead, all Pension Fund cash transactions go through the Authority’s main bank account. 
These amounts are shown as “Amounts owing from the General Fund”. Top-up grant 
received in advance from the Department for Communities and Local Government is based 
on an estimate - an overpayment of grant is recovered after the year end and an 
underpayment of grant is paid to the Authority after the year end. The amount of grant 
payable by the Authority to the Department for Communities and Local Government is 
£685k. The difference between the grant payable and the cash deficit of £1,615k as at 31 
March 2015 is the total of the accruals included in the Pension Fund 
 
 
9. Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
At 31 March 2015 the Pension Fund had the following contingent asset: 
 
Members of the Fire Brigades Union have undertaken a series of industrial actions during 
the period from September 2013, with the last strike taking place on 25 February 2015. It is 
not known if there will be further industrial action in the coming months. Unpaid absence 
from work due to strike action does not count towards the calculation of benefits payable 
under the Firefighters Pension Schemes. Individuals can elect to pay the pension 
contributions that they would have paid had they been at work, so that their pensionable 
service is unaffected by strike action. Those who choose to do so must pay the employer's 
contribution in addition to the employee's contribution. Fire Authority Members have taken 
the decision to defer the strike contribution buy-back process until the industrial action has 
formally ended.  
 
As a result of this decision the value of the contributions is unknown, as the final figure will 
depend on the number of people who decide to buy back their pensionable service. If all 
individuals choose to buy back their service, the amount payable to the Pension Fund could 
be around £110k. 
 
At 31 March 2015 the Pension Fund had no contingent liabilities: 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY ANNUAL

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

97

 
1.0 SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY  
 
1.1 Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority (the Authority) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The 
Authority also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvements in the way in which its functions are exercised having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Authority is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, use 
of its resources and including arrangements for the management of risk and the maintenance of an 
effective internal control environment.  
 
1.3 The Authority has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is consistent 
with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government. A copy of the authority's code can be obtained from the Finance Department, 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority Headquarters, Bestwood Lodge, Arnold, 
Nottinghamshire, NG5 8PD. 
 
1.4 This statement sets out how the Authority has complied with the code and also meets the 
requirements of regulations 4(3) and 4(4) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 in 
relation to the publication of an annual governance statement.  
 
2.0 THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values, for the 
direction and control of the Authority and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with 
and leads the community. It enables the Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic 
objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate and 
cost-effective services.  
 
2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is part of an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority's policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
2.3 A key element of the Internal Control Environment is the development and maintenance of 
Strategic, Corporate and Departmental risk registers which are understood and managed by senior 
managers.  
 
2.4 The governance framework has been in place at the Authority for a number of years however it 
is kept under regular review and modified periodically.  
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

98

3.0 THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
 
3.1 In addition to the Annual Governance Statement the Authority has a Code of Corporate 
Governance that the Authority will commit to in carrying out its duties and responsibilities. In this 
document, officers have identified against each of the Code’s principles what source 
documentation or existing practice demonstrates how the Authority complies with the principles 
that make up the Code.  
 
3.2 In developing a code of corporate governance the Authority has sought compliance with the 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidelines but has also sought to develop internal governance structures that 
also follow the broader Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development principles 
which provide a stronger framework for internal decision making. 
 
3.3 Some elements of governance have recently changed and were agreed by the Fire Authority 
at its annual general meeting in May 2014. There were essentially three changes to the 
governance framework which are reflected in the revised framework below:  
 
 Changes in the Committee Structure to remove the Performance Monitoring 
 Committee and re-allocate its responsibilities   
  
 Changes in the composition of the Corporate Management Board to include a 
 wider group of senior managers and moving meetings to monthly rather than 
 weekly.  
 
 Changes to the corporate objectives of Response, Protection, Prevention, 
 Resilience, Diversity and Workforce and Governance Improvement to new 
 Service priorities of Service Delivery, Employees and Workforce, Improvement 
 and Governance, Engagement and Partnerships, Environment and Inclusion 
 and Equality.  
 
3.4 Summarised below are some of the key elements of the systems and processes that 
underlie the Authority’s governance arrangements:  
 
3.5 Identifying and Communicating the Authority’s vision and outcomes for citizens and 
service users:  
 
3.5.1 After consulting with the citizens of Nottinghamshire and service users, assessing current 
risks and service priorities, the Authority prepares an Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
that sets out the vision and service objectives for the organisation. The latest IRMP covers the 
period 2014–2019 and the Authority consults with the citizens and other stakeholders to 
formulate its business plans for each financial year within this plan.  
 
3.5.2 The Authority’s vision is “Creating Safer Communities” and it strives to deliver this by 
developing a set of cohesive business plans and working in partnership with others to provide 
an excellent, affordable service to all the diverse communities of Nottinghamshire. To deliver 
this the Authority has established six Service Priorities:  
 
Service Delivery  
We will deliver a professional, effective and value-for-money emergency response service to all 
those who live, work and travel in the county of Nottinghamshire.  
 
What this means  
We will continue to use a risk-based approach to improve our service to individuals, 
communities and local businesses with an emphasis on creating safer communities, and 
reducing death and injuries. We will do this through our key themes: preparedness, response, 

Employees and Workforce  



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

99

Employees and Workforce  
We will maintain, support and develop our workforce to ensure an environment in which we can 
deliver a professional and effective service to the people of Nottinghamshire.  
 
What this means  
We will ensure that our employees have the capacity and skills to meet our delivery objectives 
and provide a work place where our employees feel supported, valued and competent to 
undertake their roles.  
 
Improvement and Governance  
We will look to continuously improve upon previous achievements and assure our stakeholders 
that the organisation has an appropriate infrastructure for governance to support future success.  
 
What this means  
With increasing demand for services likely across the public sector, NFRS will be required to 
base its decisions upon robust intelligence and work alongside its partner/agency service 
providers in a more collaborative manner.  
 
Engagements and Partnerships  
We will look to develop and maintain effective strategic and community partnerships.  
 
What this means  
We will continue to work closely with our partners and community organisations in order to 
identify and keep safe those members of our communities who are most at risk.  
 
Environment  
We aim to reduce the Service’s impact on the environment through a combination of measures 
including considering the environment when making decisions, investing in technology and 
delivering training and education initiatives.  
 
What this means  
We will continue to be committed to minimising our impact on the environment by integrating 
environmental considerations in all aspects of our work, by meeting legal standards, seeking 
competent advice and adopting best practice.  
 
Inclusion & Equality  
Provide services tailored to meet the needs of our communities.  
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service prides itself on its approach to inclusion and equality. 
We work on the principle that to treat people equally, we may need to treat them differently. 
  
3.6 Monitoring the achievement of the Authority’s objectives through a comprehensive 
performance management framework:  
 
3.6.1 The Service operates a system of cascading business plans. The IRMP is the highest level 
and from this a series of departmental and functional business plans are produced. Progress 
against these plans is reported on regularly using a piece of specialist software and the 
performance management team report on progress and outcomes to the relevant committees. 
These reports had previously been presented to the Performance Monitoring Committee.  
 
3.6.2 Each of the Strategic Directors are required to report monthly to the  Corporate 
Management Board on performance within their Directorates and give assurances in relation to 
the achievement of business plans.  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

100

3.7 The Internal Control Environment:  
 
3.7.1 The Authority’s internal control environment comprises many systems, policies, 
procedures and operations. In reality these split into risk management, internal check/financial 
control and internal audit. Internal Check and financial control are clearly targeted towards 
financial matters whereas risk management has a much broader brief and is more associated 
with the risk of non-achievement of objectives and targets. The system cannot however 
eliminate all risks of failure to achieve the Authority’s aims and objectives. Once a risk has been 
identified the Authority, where possible will eliminate that risk. If this is not possible then 
procedures are established to manage the risk effectively, efficiently and economically. Some of 
the significant control processes are outlined below:  
 
3.7.2 Policy and Decision Making Process  
The Authority has democratic control over its activities via an approved committee structure with 
agreed powers and duties that are periodically reviewed. The Authority has a written constitution 
that sets out how the Authority operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are 
followed to ensure these are efficient, transparent and accountable. There is a formal briefing 
process prior to reports being finalised for Committee or Fire Authority meetings thus allowing 
key Members an opportunity to scrutinise proposed reports in detail. The Authority also runs 
Member away-days, seminars and training sessions to help Members discuss issues in more 
detail and in a less formal environment.  
 
3.7.3 Management Structure  
The Authority has a clear management structure with defined roles and responsibilities. The 
Corporate Management Board has been extended to include all department heads as well as 
the Directors. This is because weaknesses were identified in the previous structure of steering 
groups which could make the decision making process opaque and blur lines of accountability. 
The current structure empowers managers to make appropriate decisions but also places 
accountability at the centre of this process. 
 
The Authority has created a new group called the Service Managers Forum which is comprised 
of all the Departmental Heads and augmented by specialists as required. As part of a more 
empowering style of management this group has far reaching decision making powers with only 
the most significant or challenging decisions reserved for the Corporate Management Board. 
This has both speeded up the process of decision making and improved quality. 
  
The Authority has an approved scheme of delegation to officers that is reviewed periodically by 
the Chief Fire Officer and the Clerk, with any changes being approved by the Fire Authority.  
 
3.7.4 Established Policies, Procedures & Regulations  
The Authority ensures compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations. 
The information regarding policies and procedures is held on the intranet, and these are 
continually enhanced and developed through the introduction of new policies and procedures as 
and when required. The Authority has established policies on anti-fraud, fraud response and 
confidential reporting. The Authority carries out a regular review of financial regulations which 
clearly define how decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to manage risk. 
The list below outlines some of the key policies and process in place to enhance the internal 
control system, which are reviewed as and when required:  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

101

 Treasury Management Strategy  
 Procurement Strategy  
 Financial Regulations & Standing Orders  
 Scheme of Delegation  
 Anti Fraud & Corruption Policy  
 Whistleblowing Policy  
 Complaints procedure  
 Code of Corporate Governance  
 Constitution  
 Code of Conduct  
 Equality and Diversity schemes  
 Robust Workforce plan and establishment model  
 Full range of robust policies and procedures to underpin the conduct of staff from operational 

procedures, discipline processes, through to performance development reviews  
 
3.7.5 Internal Audit Function  
The Authority has a strong Internal Audit function arrangement with Nottinghamshire County 
Council, and has well-established protocols for working with External Audit.  
 
3.7.6 Risk Management Strategy  
The Authority has a well established and embedded risk management strategy. This is managed 
on two levels, firstly at the corporate/strategic level by The Finance and Resources Committee 
which receives regular reports on risk exposures both in terms of existing and emergent risk. 
Members closely scrutinise risk registers and require explanations for changes. This Committee 
is advised by the ACO Finance and Resources and the Authority's risk manager on behalf of the 
Chief Fire Officer. In addition, the Service also maintains an approach to Risk via its business 
plan monitoring which is administered through its Corporate Services Department. This ensures 
the service’s Risk Manager can support departmental heads in robustly assessing the risks to 
the achievement of the services objectives.  
 
3.7.7 Best Value Duty  
The Authority ensures the economical, effective and efficient use of resources, and secures 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, by having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness as required by the Best Value duty. The 
focus on best value has increased in recent years by the requirement to reduce budgets but 
initiatives such as the recent functional analysis work have helped to ensure that service quality 
is maintained. 
 
3.7.8 Financial Management  
Financial management in the Authority and the reporting of financial standing is undertaken 
through a financial system which integrates the general ledger, sales ledger and purchase 
ledger functions and facilitates good budgetary control.  
 
4.0 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS  
 
4.1 The Authority has responsibility for conducting a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control, at least annually. The review of 
effectiveness is informed by the work of the Corporate Management Board and other senior 
managers within the Authority who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of 
the governance environment, the Internal Audit annual report, and also by comments made by 
the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  
 
4.2 Maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework throughout the 
financial year has been carried out by the following:  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

102

 The Authority and its Committees  
 Management Review  
 Internal audit  
 External bodies  
 
4.3 The Authority and Its Committees 
 
4.3.1 The Authority  
The Authority has reviewed the vision and strategic service objectives as part of the budgeting 
process which was undertaken between October 2014 and February 2015. This process also 
had a measure of Member scrutiny with the Chair of Finance and Resources Committee taking 
an active role. 
 
At the annual general meeting in May the format and structure of its democratic decision 
process was reaffirmed and approval was given to the powers and make-up of the following 
committees:  
 
 The Policy and Strategy Committee  
 The Finance & Resources Committee  
 The Community Safety Committee  
 The Human Resources Committee  
 
In addition to the above there are also panels for appointments, Equalities and Personnel 
matters  
Terms of reference and responsibilities for all of these Committees form part of the Authority’s 
Governance arrangements.  
 
4.4 Management Review  
 
4.4.1 Included in the day to day management of the organisation are a number of key officers, 
systems and procedures designed to provide core elements of the internal control mechanism, 
with a nominated lead officer responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems.  
 
4.4.2 There is a comprehensive system of performance management and review embedded 
within the Authority’s management structure and processes. The 2014/19 Integrated Risk 
Management Plan sets out the Authority’s key objectives and these are reflected in annual 
departmental business plans. These plans are then monitored by the Corporate Services 
department and managed by the individual departmental management teams.  
 
4.4.3 Risk management at the strategic/corporate level forms part of the overall responsibilities 
of the Finance and Resources Committee and Members of this committee take a keen interest 
in Risk Management. This Committee has considered the desirable risk appetite of the 
organisation in a proactive way, and set risk targets for the Service to report against. Risk 
Management is an integral part of project management and business planning within the 
Corporate Services department and both this and operational risk management, which is 
managed within the Service Delivery function, are considered strong. The Service also 
maintains a comprehensive approach to health and safety which is undertaken by the Service’s 
Health and Safety advisor and monitored by the Health Safety and Wellbeing Committee. This 
group of Officers and Representative Bodies reports quarterly to the Corporate Management 
Board.  
 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

103

4.4.4 The Authority employed appropriate professional staff:  
 
A Statutory Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring the legality of Authority actions and 
supporting the Committee decision making process. No actions of the Authority were deemed 
ultra vires in the year and all relevant laws and regulations have been complied with. The 
monitoring officer is a qualified solicitor provided on a contractual basis to the Authority by the 
Legal Services Department of Nottingham City Council. This arrangement also includes support 
for the Authority’s wider governance structure.  
 
A Responsible Finance Officer has been appointed as the independent Treasurer to the 
Authority to ensure the proper and effective administration of the financial affairs of the 
Authority. The Strategic Management Team ensure that the Authority approve a realistic and 
affordable financial plan for both revenue and capital expenditure which links to the IRMP. The 
Authority continued to ensure it had strong arrangements for managing its finances including 
strong leadership throughout the year. The financial planning process is well embedded and 
understood across the Authority by staff and Members. An in house financial team managed by 
the ACO Finance and Resources maintain the correct competencies and ensure that the 
Strategic Team receive all appropriate information to support the key decisions and objectives of 
the service.  
 
4.4.5 In addition to the Treasurer the Authority also employs a Director of Finance and 
Resources who fulfils the role of Chief Financial Officer. This Director is a member of the 
Strategic Management Team and the Corporate Management Board and is responsible for 
advising both senior managers and elected members on all financial matters. In effect this is a 
role shared with the Treasurer who is seen to act independently of the Strategic Management 
Team advice to the Fire Authority. In reality these two officers work very closely together. Both 
of these officers are professionally qualified and have many years’ experience within Local 
Government finance.  
 
4.4.6 A review has been carried out of the role of Chief Financial Officer and, always accepting 
that the key statutory responsibilities under Section 114 and Section 151 are held by the 
Treasurer, all of the principles set out in the CIPFA document The Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer are met.  
 
4.4.7 Budget monitoring remains robust at both strategic and service level via the production of 
monthly financial monitoring reports for both Capital and Revenue budgets. These reports as 
well as being scrutinised by budget managers are also reported monthly to the Corporate 
Management Board and quarterly to the Finance and Resources Committee.  
 
4.4.8 Functional Heads also exercise a detailed degree of budget monitoring against the capital 
programme.  
 
4.4.9 The External Auditor approved an unqualified Statement of Accounts for 2013/14 and it is 
anticipated this will be repeated in 2014/15. A presentation by the Director of Resources on the 
final accounts together with a detailed year-end report to the Authority helped communicate the 
year-end position to Members in a clear and understandable format.  
 
4.4.10 Specific training is to be organised for elected Members to fully understand the format 
and nature of the accounts such that they can apply meaningful scrutiny and ask relevant and 
searching questions of officers . 
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

104

4.5 Internal Audit  
 
4.5.1 The Authority procured its internal audit service under a contract with Nottinghamshire 
County Council and the arrangement and service was in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government 2006. The internal audit plan for 2014/15, 
prioritised by a combination of the key internal controls, assessment and review on the basis of 
risk, was approved by the Authority during the year. All internal audit reports included an 
assessment of the internal controls and prioritised action plans, if relevant, to address any areas 
needing improvement. These reports were submitted to the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of 
Finance and Resources and the relevant managers as appropriate. All finalised reports were 
submitted to the Finance and Resources Committee acting in its role as Audit Committee. Audit 
reports are also fed into the performance management function within the Corporate Services 
Department to ensure that recommendations are implemented to agreed timescales.  
 
The Annual Internal Audit Report to the Finance and Resources Committee in July 2015 
concluded that:  
 “From the work carried out during the 2014/15 financial year, we have been 
 able to satisfy ourselves that the overall level of internal control is satisfactory 
 and provides a good basis for effective financial and resource management”.  
 
4.6 External Review  
 
4.6.1 The External Auditors are required by the International Standard on Auditing 260 (ISA 260) 
to communicate about the audit of the Authority’s financial statements with those charged with 
governance. This communication is in the form of a written report which was presented to 
Members in September 2014.  
 
4.6.2 The principal purposes of the Auditors’ report are:  
 
 To present key issues identified during the audit of the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2014 and any material misstatements in the accounts  
 To report on any key issues for governance  
 To report on the Auditors’ Value for Money conclusion  
 To give an “audit opinion” on the financial statements  
 To report on the implementation of any recommendations in the previous year’s ISA 260 

report  
 To seek approval to the management representation letter, which confirms the Authority’s 

responsibilities and actions in relation to the financial statements  
 

4.6.3 The ISA 260 report confirmed that the accounts production and audit processes were 
good, with no specific risks identified. In addition, the organisational control environment was 
found to be effective overall, with no significant weaknesses in controls over key financial 
systems.  
 
5.0 SIGNIFICANT ISSUES FOR GOVERNANCE  
 
5.1 Expected reductions in central government grant will mean the Authority will have to 
continue to make significant savings over the next two to three years at least, whilst continuing 
to maintain a service which meets public expectations.  
 
5.2 The Authority’s prudent financial management, as shown in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, will allow it to phase in the impact of budget reductions and consider further 
implementation of the Fire Cover Review. This will help to provide continuous stability during a 
period of immense transition.  
 
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

105

5.3 During the coming year, the Service will seek to address the above matters through its current 
structures and processes to further enhance governance arrangements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed……………………………………            Signed……………………………………  
Cllr Darrell Pulk                       John Buckley  
CHAIRMAN              CHIEF FIRE OFFICER  
 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

106

  
Accruals 
  
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they as earned or incurred, not as 
money is received or paid. 
  
Budget 
  
A statement of the policy of the Authority expressed in financial terms. The budget is the financial 
element of a range of plans adopted by the Authority which include the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy and the Community Safety Plan.  
  
Capital Expenditure 
  
Expenditure on the acquisition of assets or expenditure which adds to, and not merely maintains, the 
value of existing assets. 
  
Capital Receipts 
  
Income derived from the sale of capital assets. 
  
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
  
The principal accountancy body dealing with Local Authority and Public Sector finance. 
 
Contingent Liability 
  
A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
of an uncertain future event not wholly within the Authority’s control. It can also be a present 
obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will 
be required or where the amount of the obligation is uncertain. 
  
Creditors 
  
Amounts owed by the Authority for which no payment has been made at the end of the financial 
year. 
  
Debtors 
  
Amounts due to the Authority for which no payment has been received at the end of the financial 
year. 
  
Depreciation 
  
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of an 
asset during an accounting period.  
  
Finance Leasing 
  
A method of financing the acquisition of assets. Legally the assets are owned by the lessor, although 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset pass to the lessee. The assets are shown on the 
Balance Sheet of the Authority. 



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2014/15

107

  
 Financial Instrument 
  
Any contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another. 
Typical financial instruments are: trade payables, borrowings, bank deposits, trade receivables and 
investments. 
 
Non-Current Assets 
  
Tangible or intangible assets which yield benefits to the Authority for a period of more than one 
year. Tangible assets include land and buildings and certain specialist  vehicles and equipment. 
Intangible assets include software. 
  
Impairment 
  
A reduction in the value of an asset, which is additional to the expected depreciation of that asset. 
Impairment may be a result of, for example, physical damage or reducing prices. 
  
Non-Distributed Costs 
  
These are defined in the Service Reporting Code of Practice as the costs of sharing unused assets 
or facilities and the non current service pension costs of defined benefit pension schemes. 
  
Operating Leasing 
  
A method of financing the acquisition of assets, notably vehicles, plant and equipment which 
involves the payment of an annual rental for a period which is usually less than the useful life of the 
asset. 
  
Provision 
  
A liability or loss which is likely or certain to be incurred but where the date and precise amount are 
uncertain. 
  
Reserve 
  
An amount set aside for purposes outside the definition of provisions. Reserves include earmarked 
reserves set aside for specific policy purposes and balances which represent resources set aside 
for general contingencies. 
  
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 
  
A fixed asset purchased directly from revenue contributions. 
 
Revenue Expenditure and Income 
  
That expenditure and income which relates to the day to day activities of the Authority.  
  
  
 
 



         Appendix B 
 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Ltd 
 

Company Limited by Share Capital 
Financial Statements 

 
For The Year Ended 31st March 2015 

Company Registration Number 7210383 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

2 
 

 

Officers and Professional Advisors 
Year Ended 31 March 2015 

 
 
 
The Board of Directors 

Name Date of Appointment 
Richard Heffer 01/09/2010 
Ian Pritchard 01/09/2010 
Chris Barnfather  
Malcolm Wood 

24/02/2012 
05/06/2014 

  
  

 
Company Secretary    Richard Heffer 
 
Business Address    Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Ltd 
      Bestwood Lodge 
      Arnold 
      Nottingham 
      Nottinghamshire 
      NG5 8PD 
 
Registered Office    Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Ltd 
      Bestwood Lodge 
      Arnold 
      Nottingham 
      NG5 8PD 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

3 
 

Directors Report 

The Directors present their Report and the Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 

31
st
 March 2015, which represents 12 months trading; the comparatives are for the 12 months ended 

31
st
 March 2014. 

Introduction and Principal Activities 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited (the company) is limited by share capital 

and wholly owned by Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. The company was formed on 1st 

September 2010. The company is engaged in fire extinguisher sales and maintenance and has 

steadily expanded on the fire-related training activity side of the business. The company also has a 

partnership agreement with a commercial electrical and fire alarm installer and is able to sell its 

services through this company as necessary. 

 

Business Review and Developments 

Over the reporting period, our trading position has seen a moderate upturn in our business activity; 
both in the existing core customer segment and in new market areas.  We have successfully 
diversified away from being overly reliant upon a “one customer sector” and have strongly expanded 
our market share. This has been through cross marketing services and products along with a 
significant general growth in our customer base. 
 
Some of the major revenue increases relate to the following areas :- Various new school building 
projects which have resulted in major fire extinguisher installations. A new product service for 
electrical appliance testing and further expansion to the provision of training courses; this being a year 
on year increase from an initially small start.   
 
Overall, however, the increase in revenue has been primarily due to the company successfully 
winning and retaining customers across the board. Thus, we have gained 89 new customers against 
a loss of 12 customers.  The overall significant increase in the company’s work has generated a 
trading profit of over £75,000 pre-tax.  With this in mind the company will continue to build upon the 
solid foundations set in 2014/15 to maintain its performance. Although profits are lower than the 
previous year the company has had to pay additional pension contributions and increased its 
recharges due to the provision of new vehicles. 
 
Results 
 
The profit for the year after taxation amounted to £60,790.  
 
 
Financial risk management objectives and policies  
 
All financial internal controls in place for Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service have been 
incorporated into the financial procedures of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Services (Trading) Ltd. 
 
 
Political donations 
 
The company has made no political donations. 
 
 
Charitable Donations 
 
The company has made no charitable donations. 
 
 
 
 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

4 
 

 
Summary of Director’s Responsibilities 
 
The company operates under a board of four directors. 
 
Director (Company) Richard Heffer – responsible for the duties usually associated with a Company 
Secretary. 
 
Director (Finance) Ian Pritchard – responsible for the financial management and well-being of the 
company. 
 
Director Chris Barnfather – responsible for seeking assurance that the company is operating legally 
and in the best interests of the parent company and the community, a role similar to that of Non-
Executive Director. 
 
Director Malcolm Wood - responsible for seeking assurance that the company is operating legally 
and in the best interests of the parent company and the community, a role similar to that of Non-
Executive Director. 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.  
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). 
 
The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the directors are required to:  
 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; make judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and  

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the company will continue in business. 

 the members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its accounts for the year in 
question in accordance with section 476 of the Companies Act 2006. 

 the directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act 
with respect to accounting records and the preparation of accounts  

 these accounts have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to 
companies subject to the small companies’ regime 

 
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.  

Audit Exemption Statement 

For the year ending (31/03/2014) the company was entitled to exemption from audit under 

section 477 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies 

 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on ………………………… 

 

Signed on behalf of the Board by 

 

I PRITCHARD …………………………………………………………………… 

 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

5 
 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income & Retained Earnings for the Year Ended 

31st March 2015 

 
  12 Months 12 Months 

  31 March 2014 31 March 2015 

 Notes £ £ 

Revenue 10 387,770 387,487 

Operating Costs    

Staff Costs 9 (125,499) (126,833) 

Operating Costs  (93,858) (96,319) 

    

Administration Costs    

Staff Costs 9 (64,359) (76,613) 

Other Costs  (38,044) (33,939) 

Other Operating Income  22,876 22,424 

Operating Profit  88,886 76,207 

Interest Receivable & Similar Income  0 0 

Interest Payable & Similar Charges 12 (260) (220) 

 

Profit Before Tax 

  

88,626 

 

75,987 

    

Tax on Profit or (Loss) on Ordinary Activities  (17,725) (15,197) 

Profit or (Loss) for the Year  70,901 60,790 

    

Retained Earnings at Start of Year  49,857 120,758 

Dividends            15 0 (15,000) 

Retained Earnings at End of Year  120,758 166,548 

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

6 
 

 

 

 

Statement of Financial Position 

31st March 2015 
 

  12 Months 12 Months 

  31 March 2014 31 March 2015 

 Notes £ £ 

Current Assets    

Cash and Cash Equivalents  151,742 165,655 

Trade Receivables 8 62,733 59,592 

Inventories 5 11,272 17,536 

    

Total Assets  225,747 242,783 

    

Current Liabilities – falling due within 1 year 11 64,989 56,236 

    

Non-Current Liabilities     

Loan         13 39,999 19,999 

    

Total Liabilities  104,988 76,235 

    

Total Assets less Current Liabilities  120,759 166,548 

    

Equity    

Share Capital  1 1 

Retained Earnings  120,758 166,547 

    

Total Equity  120,759 166,548 

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

Audit Exemption Statement 

For the year ending (31/03/2015) the company was entitled to exemption from audit under 
section 477 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies.  

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on …………………..  

 

Signed on behalf of the Board by 

 

I PRITCHARD …………………………………………………………….. 

 

 

 



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

7 
 

 

Cash flow Statement 

31st March 2015 

 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Company during the 
reporting period.  The statement shows how the Company generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 

 

  12 Months 12 Months 

  31 March 2014 31 March 2015 

      

  2013/14 2013/14 2014/15 2014/15 

  £ £ £ £ 

      

Revenue Activities      

Cash flows from operating activities      

Profit before Taxation   88,626  75,987 

Depreciation  0  0  

Interest Payable  (260)  (220)  

Dividends Received  0  0  

Interest Receivable  0  0  

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories  (3,681)  (6,263)  

(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable  18,693  3,141  

Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable  18,684  (8,753)  

Taxation Paid  (17,725)  (15,197)  

Cash generated from Operations   15,711  (27,293) 

      

Cash flows from Investing Operations      

Acquisition of PPE  0  0  

Dividends Received  0  0  

Interest Receivable  0  0  

Net Cash flow from Investing Activities   0  0 

      

Cash flows from Financing Operations      

Issue of Shares  0  0  

Dividends Paid  0  (15,000)  

Cash Received for Short Term Borrowing  0  0  

Interest on Loan  260  220  

Repayment of Long Term Borrowing  0  (20,000)  

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities   260  (34,780) 

      

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents   104,597  (13,914) 

      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 April 2013   47,145   

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 March 2014   151,742   

      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 April 2014     151,742 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 March 2015     165,656 

      

      

      

      

      



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

8 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1.0 Accounting Policies 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards and the Companies Act 2006. 

2.0 Revenue 

 
Revenue represents the value of goods and services supplied.  Revenue is net of Value Added Tax 
and is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer. 

3.0 Non-Current Assets 

 
The company currently does not own any non-current assets. 
 
4.0 Pension Costs & Other Post Retirement Benefits 
 
Pension benefits for employees are met by payments to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS).  Contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in the year they fall due. 

5.0 Inventory  

 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, using the first in, first out (FIFO) 
method of stock valuation.  
 
6.0 Audit 
 
For the year ending 31

st
 March 2015, the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 

477 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies.   

7.0 Directors Emoluments 

 
The company directors did not receive any emoluments from the company during the accounting 
year.   
 
8.0 Trade Receivables 
 
All outstanding debts have been reviewed and there is no reason to believe that they cannot be 
recovered. 

  12 Months 12 Months 

  31 March 2014 31 March 2015 

    

9.0   Employee Information    

                   2014                   2015 

Average monthly number of employees 

 

               6.8 FTE               6.9 FTE 

    

  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Wages & Salaries ( restated for 2014 )  131,781 143,364 

National Insurance Contributions  10,022 8,794 

Pension Costs  25,179 28,984 

 

Note : The figure for Wages and Salaries relating to  

2014 financial year has been restated to include  

Hydrant Maintenance salary recharge of £22,876 

   



Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service (Trading) Limited – Accounting Statements 2014/15 

9 
 

 

 

 

   

  12 Months 12 Months 

  31 March 2014 31 March 2015 

    

10.0   Revenue  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Fire Extinguisher Income  178,153 178,135 

Fire Extinguisher Maintenance/Service Income  154,373 155,058 

Training Income  55,244 

387,770 

 

54,294 

387,487 

 

    

11.0   Current Liabilities due within 1 year  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Trade Payables  22,231 6,507 

Sundry Creditors  24,995 38,649 

Corporation Tax Payable  17,725 15,197 

VAT  17,764 11,080 

    

12.0   Interest Payable and Similar Charges  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Interest payable on loan from Parent Company  260 220 

    

13.0   Long Term Liabilities  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Amounts due to Parent Undertaking  39,999 19,999 

    

    The loan from Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service is a revolving credit Facility.  This allows the company 

to draw down up to a maximum of £100,000 and decrease to nil at any time. 

    

14.0   Related Party Transactions    

    

The company has entered into the following transactions with Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service during 

the course of the 2014/2015 financial year. 

 

  2014 2015 

  £ £ 

Sales  34,719 34,177 

Purchases  48,487 48,625 

    

Of these amounts £114 was owed by Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue as at 31
st
 March 2015. The 

transactions were on an arm’s length basis and include services sold to Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 

relating to fire extinguisher maintenance and hydrant maintenance.  The company purchased human resources, 

financial, insurance, health and safety and information technology from Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue, as 

well as the use of premises and vehicles. 

 

15.0  Dividend Payment 

The Directors resolved on the 11
th
 November 2014 to confirm a Dividend Payment to the share holder of 

£15,000. 

 

    

 



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE 2014/15 
 

Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and the Treasurer 
to the Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To present the External Auditors’ ISA 260 Report to Members, and to seek Members’ 
approval of the management representation letter to the External Auditors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880 bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

mailto:neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The External Auditors are required by the International Standard on Auditing 

260 (ISA 260) to communicate about the audit of the Authority’s financial 
statements to those charged with governance. This communication is in the 
form of a written report, which is attached as Appendix A. 

 
1.2 This covering report sets out the key points within the ISA 260 report. The 

principal purposes of the Auditors’ report are: 
 

 To present key issues identified during the audit of the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and any material 
misstatements in the accounts; 

 

 To report on any key issues for governance; 
 

 To report on the Auditors’ Value for Money conclusion; 
 

 To give an “audit opinion” on the financial statements; 
 

 To report on the implementation of any recommendations in the previous 
year’s ISA 260 report; 

 

 To seek approval to the management representation letter, which 
confirms the Authority’s responsibilities and actions in relation to the 
financial statements. 

 
1.3 The KPMG Director who is responsible for the ISA 260 report will be 

attending the meeting to present the report and answer any questions arising. 
 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 The annual audit is substantially complete and the ISA 260 report sets out 

the key issues to be considered by Members before the audit opinion can be 
issued. 

 
2.2 The ISA 260 report confirms that the Auditors expect to issue an unqualified 

audit opinion by the statutory deadline of 30 September 2015, and an 
unqualified Value for Money conclusion. 

 
2.3 The audit did not identify any material errors in the financial statements. 

There were a number of trivial adjustments, almost all of which affected only 
presentational aspects of the accounts. In addition, there was one “non-
trivial” error with a value of £83k relating to a 2013/14 comparative figure in 
the accounts. None of these adjustments / errors impacted on the Authority’s 
reported General Fund balance, and all suggested amendments have been 
made.  

 



2.4 During the interim audit earlier in the year, the Auditors tested key controls 
within financial processes and found that due to staff turnover there had been 
some delays in completing reconciliations and a small number of accounting 
journals had not been signed off. All of the issues identified had been rectified 
by the end of the financial year. 

 
2.5 There were no recommendations made in the ISA 260 report for 2013/14 and 

therefore no follow up was required this year. 
 
2.6 The ISA 260 report confirms that the accounts production and audit 

processes were good, and that there are no matters to be reported relating to 
key areas of risk. 
    

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out in full in the body of this report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no specific human resources and learning and development implications 
arising from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

An equality impact assessment has not been carried out because this is a report 
about the External Audit of the financial statements and not a new policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 

The work of the External Auditors in their audit of the Authority’s financial 
statements provides an independent view of the adequacy of internal controls, the 
accuracy of the final accounts and an assessment of the Authority’s arrangements 
for achieving value for money. This provides Members with some assurance about 
the quality of financial management and financial reporting within the Authority. 



 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

9.1 That Members note the contents of the External Auditors’ ISA 260 report, 
attached as Appendix A. 

 
9.2 That Members approve the management representation letter to the External 

Auditors as set out in Appendix B. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley     Peter Hurford 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER   TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 



Report to those charged 
with governance 
(ISA 260) 2014/15

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and 
Rescue Authority

September 2015



1© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contents

The contacts at KPMG 
in connection with this 
report are:

Andy Cardoza
Director
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0121 232 3869 
andrew.cardoza@kpmg.co.uk

Helen Brookes

Audit Manager 

KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 07919 228632

helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk

Kanika Bassi
Audit Assistant
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 07468 367202
kanika.bassi@kpmg.co.uk

Report sections Page

■ Introduction 2

■ Headlines 3

■ Financial statements 4

■ VFM conclusion 8

Appendices

1. Declaration of independence and objectivity

2. Materiality and reporting of audit differences

3. KPMG Audit Quality Framework

9

11

12

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their individual capacities, or 
to third parties. The Audit Commission issued a document entitled Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies summarising where the responsibilities of auditors 

begin and end and what is expected from audited bodies. We draw your attention to this document which is available on Public Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact Andy 
Cardoza. the engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact the national lead partner for all of 

KPMG’s work under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Trevor Rees (on 0161 246 4000, or by email to trevor.rees@kpmg.co.uk). After this, if you are still 
dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by 

writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.

mailto:andrew.cardoza@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:kanika.bassi@kpmg.co.uk


2© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section one
Introduction

Scope of this report

This report summarises the key findings arising from:

■ Our audit work at Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and 
Rescue Authority (‘the Authority’) in relation to the Authority’s 
2014/15 financial statements; and

■ The work to support our 2014/15 conclusion on the Authority’s 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources (‘VFM conclusion’).

Financial statements

Our External Audit Plan 2014/15, presented to you in April 2015, set 
out the four stages of our financial statements audit process.

This report focuses on the third stage of the process: substantive 
procedures. Our on site work for this took place during June/July 2015. 

We are now in the final phase of the audit, the completion stage. Some 
aspects of this stage are also discharged through this report.

VFM conclusion 

Our External Audit Plan 2014/15 explained our risk-based approach to 
VFM work. We have now completed the work to support our 2014/15 
VFM conclusion. This included:

■ Assessing the potential VFM risks and identifying the residual audit 
risks for our VFM conclusion; and

■ Considering the results of any relevant work by the Authority and 
other inspectorates and review agencies in relation to these risk 
areas.

Structure of this report

This report is structured as follows:

■ Section 2 summarises the headline messages.

■ Section 3 sets out our key findings from our audit work in relation to 
the 2014/15 financial statements of the Authority. 

■ Section 4 outlines our key findings from our work on the VFM 
conclusion. 

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to thank officers and Members 
for their continuing help and co-operation throughout our audit work.

This document summarises:

■ The key issues identified 
during our audit of the 
financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 
2015 for the Authority; 
and

■ Our assessment of the 
Authority’s arrangements 
to secure value for 
money.

Control 
Evaluation

Substantive 
Procedures CompletionPlanning



3© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section two
Headlines

This table summarises the headline messages. Sections three and four of this report provide further details on each area.Proposed audit 
opinion

We anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the Authority’s financial statements by 30 September 2015. We also 
expect to report that your Annual Governance Statement complies with guidance issued by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007.

Audit adjustments We are pleased to report that our audit of your financial statements did not identify any material adjustments. The Authority
made a small number of non-trivial adjustments, most of which were of a presentational nature. There was no impact on 
the General Fund.

Key financial 
statements audit risks

We identified the following key financial statements audit risks in our 2014/15 External Audit Plan issued in April 2015.

 Management override of controls; and

 Fraudulent revenue recognition.

We have worked with officers throughout the year to discuss these key risks and our detailed findings are reported in 
section 3 of this report. There are no matters of any significance arising as a result of our audit work in these key risk areas. 

Accounts production 
and audit process

The Authority has good processes in place for the production of the accounts and good quality supporting working papers.
Officers dealt efficiently with audit queries and the audit process has been completed within the planned timescales.

Completion At the date of this report our audit of the financial statements is substantially complete subject to completion of the following
areas:

 Whole of Government Accounts; and 

 Finalisation of pensions testing.

Before we can issue our opinion we require a signed management representation letter.

We confirm that we have complied with requirements on objectivity and independence in relation to this year’s audit of the
Authority’s financial statements.

VFM conclusion and 
risk areas

We have concluded that the Authority has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources. 

We therefore anticipate issuing an unqualified VFM conclusion by 30 September 2015.  

This table summarises the 
headline messages for the 
Authority.  The remainder of 
this report provides further 
details on each area.



4© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section three
Financial Statements 
Proposed opinion and audit differences

There are no uncorrected 
audit differences and no 
adjustments above our 
reporting threshold were 
identified during the course 
of the audit.

We anticipate issuing an 
unqualified audit opinion in 
relation to the Authority’s 
financial statements by 30 
September 2015.

The wording of your Annual 
Governance Statement 
accords with our 
understanding.

Proposed audit opinion

We anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the Authority’s financial statements following approval of the Statement of Accounts by 
the Authority. 

Audit differences

In accordance with ISA 260 we are required to report uncorrected audit differences to you. We also report any material misstatements which 
have been corrected and which we believe should be communicated to you to help you meet your governance responsibilities. The final 
materiality (see Appendix 2 for more information on materiality) level for this year’s audit was set at £961k. Audit differences below £48k are 
not considered significant. 

There are no uncorrected audit differences to report and no adjustments above our reporting threshold. 

We identified a number of presentational adjustments required to ensure that the accounts are compliant with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting the United Kingdom 2014/15 (‘the Code’). 

Annual Governance Statement

We have reviewed the Annual Governance Statement and confirmed that:

 It complies with Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: A Framework published by CIPFA/SOLACE; and

 It is not misleading or inconsistent with other information we are aware of from our audit of the financial statements. 



5© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

In our External Audit Plan 2014/15 we reported that we would consider two risk areas that are specifically required by professional standards and report our findings to you. These risk 
areas were management override of controls and the fraud risk of revenue recognition. 

The table below sets out the outcome of our audit procedures and assessment on these risk areas.

Audit areas affected

■ All areas
Management 
override of 

controls

Audit areas affected

■ None
Fraud risk of 

revenue 
recognition

Areas of significant risk Summary of findings

Our audit methodology incorporates the risk of management override as a default significant risk. Management is 
typically in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to manipulate accounting records and 
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 
We have not identified any specific additional risks of management override relating to this audit.

In line with our methodology, we carried out appropriate controls testing and substantive procedures, including 
over journal entries, accounting estimates and significant transactions that are outside the normal course of 
business, or are otherwise unusual.

There are no matters arising from this work that we need to bring to your attention.

Professional standards require us to make a rebuttable presumption that the fraud risk from revenue recognition 
is a significant risk.

In our External Audit Plan 2014/15 we reported that we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Local 
Authorities  as there is unlikely to be an incentive to fraudulently recognise revenue. 

This is still the case. Since we have rebutted this presumed risk, there has been no impact on our audit work.

Section three 
Financial Statements (continued)
Significant risks



6© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section three
Financial Statements (continued)
Accounts production and audit process

The Authority has good 
processes in place for the 
production of the accounts 
and good supporting 
working papers.

Officers dealt efficiently with 
audit queries and the audit 
process could be completed 
within the planned 
timescales.

Accounts production and audit process

ISA 260 requires us to communicate to you our views about the 
significant qualitative aspects of the Authority’s accounting practices 
and financial reporting. We also assessed the Authority’s process for 
preparing the accounts and its support for an efficient audit. 

We considered the following criteria: 

Findings in respect of the control environment for key financial 
systems

The following issues were identified at the interim stage. We have 
discussed action with officers to deal with these appropriately:

 Staffing changes in the year caused delays in the completion and 
review of payover control account reconciliation and bank 
reconciliations; 

 There were issues with evidencing the authorisation of a small 
number of manual journals in our sample but no such issues 
recurred at year end; and 

 Although a check on payroll payments is carried out, this was not 
formally signed to evidence that it had taken place.

Prior year recommendations

As part of our audit we specifically follow up the Authority's progress in 
addressing the recommendations in last year’s ISA 260 report. There 
were no recommendations to follow up from our ISA 260 Report 
2013/14.

Element Commentary 

Accounting 
practices and 
financial 
reporting

The Authority continues to maintain a good 
financial reporting process and produce 
statements of accounts to a good standard. 

We consider that accounting practices are 
appropriate.

Completeness 
of draft 
accounts 

We received a complete set of draft accounts by 
30 June 2015.

The Authority has made some presentational 
changes to the accounts presented for audit, 
however there have been no changes which affect 
the financial position. 

Quality of 
supporting 
working 
papers 

Our Accounts Audit Protocol, which we issued in 
March 2015, set out our working paper 
requirements for the audit. 

The quality of working papers provided met the 
standards specified in our Accounts Audit 
Protocol. 

Response to 
audit queries 

Officers dealt efficiently with audit queries within a 
reasonable time so that the audit could be 
completed within planned timescales 



7© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section three
Financial Statements (continued)
Completion

We confirm that we have 
complied with requirements 
on objectivity and 
independence in relation to 
this year’s audit of the 
Authority’s financial 
statements. 

Before we can issue our 
opinion we require a signed 
management representation 
letter. 

Once we have finalised our 
opinions and conclusions 
we will prepare our Annual 
Audit Letter and close our 
audit.

Declaration of independence and objectivity

As part of the finalisation process we are required to provide you with 
representations concerning our independence. 

In relation to the audit of the financial statements of Nottinghamshire 
and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority for the year ending 
31 March 2015, we confirm that there were no relationships between 
KPMG LLP and Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and 
Rescue Authority, its directors and senior management and its 
affiliates that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the 
objectivity and independence of the audit engagement lead and audit 
staff. We also confirm that we have complied with Ethical Standards 
and the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd requirements in relation 
to independence and objectivity.

We have provided a detailed declaration in Appendix 3 in accordance 
with ISA 260. 

Management representations

You are required to provide us with representations on specific matters 
such as your financial standing and whether the transactions within the 
accounts are legal and unaffected by fraud. We have provided a 
template to the S151 Officer for presentation to the Authority. We 
require a signed copy of your management representations before we 
issue our audit opinion. 

Other matters

ISA 260 requires us to communicate to you by exception ‘audit matters 
of governance interest that arise from the audit of the financial 
statements’ which include:

■ Significant difficulties encountered during the audit;

■ Significant matters arising from the audit that were discussed, or 
subject to correspondence with management;

■ Other matters, if arising from the audit that, in the auditor's 

professional judgment, are significant to the oversight of the 
financial reporting process; and

■ Matters specifically required by other auditing standards to be 
communicated to those charged with governance (e.g. significant 
deficiencies in internal control; issues relating to fraud, compliance 
with laws and regulations, subsequent events, non disclosure, 
related party, public interest reporting, questions/objections, 
opening balances etc).

There are no others matters which we wish to draw to your attention in 
addition to those highlighted in this report.



8© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section four 
VFM conclusion

Background

Auditors are required to give their statutory VFM conclusion based on 
two criteria specified by the Audit Commission. These consider 
whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place for:

■ Securing financial resilience: looking at the Authority’s financial 
governance, financial planning and financial control processes; and

■ Challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness: 
looking at how the Authority is prioritising resources and improving 
efficiency and productivity.

We follow a risk based approach to target audit effort on the areas of 
greatest audit risk. We consider the arrangements put in place by the 
Authority to mitigate these risks and plan our work accordingly. 

The key elements of the VFM audit approach are summarised in the 
diagram below. 

Work completed

We performed a risk assessment earlier in the year and have reviewed 
this throughout the year.  

We have not identified any significant risks to our VFM conclusion and 
therefore have not  completed any additional work. 

Conclusion

We have concluded that the Authority has made proper arrangements 
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

Our VFM conclusion 
considers how the Authority 
secures financial resilience 
and challenges how it 
secures economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness.

We have concluded that the 
Authority has made proper 
arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

VFM audit risk 
assessment

Financial 
statements and 
other audit work

Assessment of 
residual audit 

risk

Identification of 
specific VFM 
audit work (if 

any)

Conclude on 
arrangements 

to secure 
VFM

No further work required

Assessment of work by  
external agencies

Specific local risk based 
work

V
FM

 conclusion

VFM criterion Met

Securing financial resilience 

Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 



9© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendices
Appendix 1: Declaration of independence and objectivity

Requirements

Auditors appointed by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd must 
comply with the Code of Audit Practice (the ‘Code’) which states that: 

“Auditors and their staff should exercise their professional judgement 
and act independently of both the Commission and the audited body. 
Auditors, or any firm with which an auditor is associated, should not 
carry out work for an audited body that does not relate directly to the 
discharge of auditors’ functions, if it would impair the auditors’ 
independence or might give rise to a reasonable perception that their 
independence could be impaired.”

In considering issues of independence and objectivity we consider 
relevant professional, regulatory and legal requirements and guidance, 
including the provisions of the Code, the detailed provisions of the 
Statement of Independence included within the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd Terms of Appointment (‘Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd Guidance’) and the requirements of APB Ethical 
Standard 1 Integrity, Objectivity and Independence (‘Ethical 
Standards’). 

The Code states that, in carrying out their audit of the financial 
statements, auditors should comply with auditing standards currently in 
force, and as may be amended from time to time. Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd guidance requires appointed auditors to follow the 
provisions of ISA (UK &I) 260 Communication of Audit Matters with 
Those Charged with Governance’ that are applicable to the audit of 
listed companies. This means that the appointed auditor must disclose 
in writing:

■ Details of all relationships between the auditor and the client, its 
directors and senior management and its affiliates, including all 
services provided by the audit firm and its network to the client, its 
directors and senior management and its affiliates, that the auditor 
considers may reasonably be thought to bear on the auditor’s 
objectivity and independence.

■ The related safeguards that are in place.

■ The total amount of fees that the auditor and the auditor’s network 
firms have charged to the client and its affiliates for the provision of 
services during the reporting period, analysed into appropriate 
categories, for example, statutory audit services, further audit 
services, tax advisory services and other non-audit services. For 
each category, the amounts of any future services which have 
been contracted or where a written proposal has been submitted 
are separately disclosed. We do this in our Annual Audit Letter.

Appointed auditors are also required to confirm in writing that they 
have complied with Ethical Standards and that, in the auditor’s 
professional judgement, the auditor is independent and the auditor’s 
objectivity is not compromised, or otherwise declare that the auditor 
has concerns that the auditor’s objectivity and independence may be 
compromised and explaining the actions which necessarily follow from 
this. These matters should be discussed with the Authority.

Ethical Standards require us to communicate to those charged with 
governance in writing at least annually all significant facts and matters, 
including those related to the provision of non-audit services and the 
safeguards put in place that, in our professional judgement, may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and the objectivity 
of the Engagement Lead and the audit team.

General procedures to safeguard independence and objectivity

KPMG's reputation is built, in great part, upon the conduct of our 
professionals and their ability to deliver objective and independent 
advice and opinions. That integrity and objectivity underpins the work 
that KPMG performs and is important to the regulatory environments in 
which we operate. All partners and staff have an obligation to maintain 
the relevant level of required independence and to identify and 
evaluate circumstances and relationships that may impair that 
independence.

The Code of Audit Practice 
requires us to exercise our 
professional judgement and 
act independently of both 
Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd  and the 
Authority.



10© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendices
Appendix 1: Declaration of independence and objectivity (continued)

Acting as an auditor places specific obligations on the firm, partners 
and staff in order to demonstrate the firm's required independence. 
KPMG's policies and procedures regarding independence matters are 
detailed in the Ethics and Independence Manual (‘the Manual’). The 
Manual sets out the overriding principles and summarises the policies 
and regulations which all partners and staff must adhere to in the area 
of professional conduct and in dealings with clients and others. 

KPMG is committed to ensuring that all partners and staff are aware of 
these principles. To facilitate this, a hard copy of the Manual is 
provided to everyone annually. The Manual is divided into two parts. 
Part 1 sets out KPMG's ethics and independence policies which 
partners and staff must observe both in relation to their personal 
dealings and in relation to the professional services they provide. Part 
2 of the Manual summarises the key risk management policies which 
partners and staff are required to follow when providing such services.

All partners and staff must understand the personal responsibilities 
they have towards complying with the policies outlined in the Manual 
and follow them at all times. To acknowledge understanding of and 
adherence to the policies set out in the Manual, all partners and staff 
are required to submit an annual ethics and independence 
confirmation. Failure to follow these policies can result in disciplinary 
action.

Auditor declaration 

In relation to the audit of the financial statements of Nottinghamshire 
and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority for the financial year 
ending 31 March 2015, we confirm that there were no relationships 
between KPMG LLP and Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire 
and Rescue Authority, its directors and senior management and its 
affiliates that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the 
objectivity and independence of the audit engagement lead and audit 
staff. We also confirm that we have complied with Ethical Standards 
and the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd requirements in relation 
to independence and objectivity.

We confirm that we have 
complied with requirements 
on objectivity and 
independence in relation to 
this year’s audit of the 
Authority’s financial 
statements. 



11© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Materiality

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional 
judgment and includes consideration of three aspects: materiality by 
value, nature and context.

■ Material errors by value are those which are simply of significant 
numerical size to distort the reader’s perception of the financial 
statements. Our assessment of the threshold for this depends upon 
the size of key figures in the financial statements, as well as other 
factors such as the level of public interest in the financial 
statements.

■ Errors which are material by nature may not be large in value, but 
may concern accounting disclosures of key importance and 
sensitivity, for example the salaries of senior staff.

■ Errors that are material by context are those that would alter key 
figures in the financial statements from one result to another – for 
example, errors that change successful performance against a 
target to failure.

We used a slightly lower materiality level than the planning materiality 
reported in our External Audit Plan 2014/15, presented to you in April 
2015, due to a reduction in gross expenditure between years.

Materiality for  the Authority’s accounts was set at £961k which equates 
to around 2 percent of gross expenditure. We design our procedures to 
detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision.

Reporting to the Authority

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements 
which are material to our opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, we nevertheless report to the Authority any misstatements of 
lesser amounts to the extent that these are identified by our audit work.

Under ISA 260, we are obliged to report omissions or misstatements 
other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with 
governance. ISA 260 defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly 
inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and 
whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.

ISA 450 requires us to request that uncorrected misstatements are 
corrected.

In the context of the Authority, we propose that an individual difference 
could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £48k 
for the Authority.

Where management have corrected material misstatements identified 
during the course of the audit, we will consider whether those 
corrections should be communicated to the Authority to assist it in 
fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Appendices 
Appendix 2: Materiality and reporting of audit differences

For 2014/15  our materiality 
is £961k for the Authority’s 
accounts. 

We have reported all audit 
differences over £48k for the 
Authority’s accounts to the 
Authority. 



12© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

At KPMG we consider audit quality is not just about reaching the right 
opinion, but how we reach that opinion. KPMG views the outcome of a 
quality audit as the delivery of an appropriate and independent opinion 
in compliance with the auditing standards. It is about the processes, 
thought and integrity behind the audit report. This means, above all, 
being independent, compliant with our legal and professional 
requirements, and offering insight and impartial advice                          
to you, our client.

KPMG’s Audit Quality Framework consists of                                  
seven key drivers combined with the                                              
commitment of each individual in KPMG. We                                     
use our seven drivers of audit quality to                                       
articulate what audit quality means to KPMG. 

We believe it is important to be transparent                                                   
about the processes that sit behind a KPMG                                      
audit report, so you can have absolute                                      
confidence in us and in the quality of our audit.
Tone at the top: We make it clear that audit                                  
quality is part of our culture and values and                                
therefore non-negotiable. Tone at the top is the                              
umbrella that covers all the drivers of quality through                              
a focused and consistent voice. Andy Cardoza as the
Engagement Lead sets the tone on the audit and leads by
example with a clearly articulated audit strategy and commits a 
significant proportion of his time throughout the audit directing and 
supporting the team.
Association with right clients: We undertake rigorous client and 
engagement acceptance and continuance procedures which are vital to 
the ability of KPMG to provide high-quality professional services to our 
clients.
Clear standards and robust audit tools: We expect our audit 
professionals to adhere to the clear standards we set and we provide a 
range of tools to support them in meeting these expectations. The 
global rollout of KPMG’s eAudIT application has significantly enhanced 
existing audit functionality. eAudIT enables KPMG to deliver a highly 

technically enabled audit. All of our staff have a searchable data base, 
Accounting Research Online, that includes all published accounting  
standards, the KPMG Audit Manual Guidance as well as other relevant 
sector specific  publications,  such as the Audit Commission’s Code of 
Audit Practice.

Recruitment, development and assignment of                         
appropriately qualified personnel: One of the key 

drivers of audit  quality is assigning professionals 
appropriate to the Authority’s risks. We take great 

care to assign the right people to the right 
clients based on a number of factors      

including their skill set, capacity and relevant 
experience. 

We have a well developed technical 
infrastructure across the firm that puts us in 
a strong position to deal with any emerging

issues. This includes:      

- A national public sector technical director 
who has responsibility for co-ordinating our 

response to emerging accounting issues, 
influencing accounting bodies (such as 

CIPFA) as well as acting as a sounding board 
for our auditors. 

- A national technical network of public sector audit professionals is 
established that meets on a monthly basis and is chaired by our 
national technical director.

-A dedicated Department of Professional Practice comprised of over 
100 staff that provide support to our audit teams and deliver our web-
based quarterly technical training. 

Appendices 
Appendix 5: KPMG Audit Quality Framework

We continually focus on 
delivering a high quality 
audit. 

This means building robust 
quality control procedures 
into the core audit process 
rather than bolting them on 
at the end, and embedding 
the right attitude and 
approaches into 
management and staff. 

KPMG’s Audit Quality 
Framework consists of 
seven key drivers combined 
with the commitment of each 
individual in KPMG.

The diagram summarises 
our approach and each level 
is expanded upon.



13© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendices 
Appendix 5: KPMG Audit Quality Framework (continued)

Commitment to technical excellence and quality service delivery: 
Our professionals bring you up- the-minute and accurate technical 
solutions and together with our specialists are capable of solving 
complex audit issues and delivering valued insights. 
Our audit team draws upon specialist resources including Forensic, 
Corporate Finance, Transaction Services, Advisory, Taxation, Actuarial 
and IT. We promote technical excellence and quality service delivery 
through training and accreditation, developing business understanding 
and sector knowledge, investment in technical support, development of 
specialist networks and effective consultation processes. 
Performance of effective and efficient audits: We understand that 
how an audit is conducted is as important as the final result. Our 
drivers of audit quality maximise the performance of the engagement 
team during the conduct of every audit. We expect our people to 
demonstrate certain key behaviors in the performance of effective and 
efficient audits. The key behaviors that our auditors apply throughout 
the audit process to deliver effective and efficient audits are outlined 
below: 
■ Timely Engagement Lead and manager involvement;
■ Critical assessment of audit evidence;
■ Exercise of professional judgment and professional scepticism;
■ Ongoing mentoring and on the job coaching, supervision and 

review;
■ Appropriately supported and documented conclusions;
■ If relevant, appropriate involvement of the Engagement Quality 

Control reviewer (EQC review);
■ Clear reporting of significant findings;
■ Insightful, open and honest two-way communication with those 

charged with governance; and
■ Client confidentiality, information security and data privacy.

Commitment to continuous improvement: We employ a broad 
range of mechanisms to monitor our performance, respond to feedback 
and understand our opportunities for improvement. 

Our quality review results

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd publishes information on the 
quality of work provided by us (and all other firms) for audits 
undertaken on behalf of them (http://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-
quality/principal-audits/kpmg-audit-quality/).

The latest Annual Regulatory Compliance and Quality Report (issued 
June 2014/2015) showed that we are meeting the overall audit quality 
and regulatory compliance requirements.

We continually focus on 
delivering a high quality 
audit. 

This means building robust 
quality control procedures 
into the core audit process 
rather than bolting them on 
at the end, and embedding 
the right attitude and 
approaches into 
management and staff. 

Quality must build on the 
foundations of well trained 
staff and a robust 
methodology. 

http://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/principal-audits/kpmg-audit-quality/


© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.

















 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 
 

Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report: To provide Members with an update on treasury 
management activity during the 2014/15 financial year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : (0115) 967 0880 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne  
(0115) 967 0880   bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 



 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Treasury management is defined as: 
 
 “The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
 banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
 the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
 performance consistent with those risks. ” 
 
1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management (revised in 2011) was adopted by  the Fire 
Authority on 9 April 2010.  

 
1.3 The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  

1. The creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement which sets out the policies and objectives of the Authority’s 
treasury management activities. 

2. The creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which 
set out the manner in which the Authority will seek to achieve those 
policies and objectives. 

3. Receipt by the Fire Authority of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for the year ahead, a mid-year review report and an annual 
report covering activities during the previous year. 

4. Delegation by the Authority of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions. 

5. Delegation by the Authority of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Authority the 
delegated body is the Finance and Resources Committee. 

1.4  This annual report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
  Practice, and covers the following: 

 An economic review of 2014/15 

 A review of Capital Activity during 2014/15 and the impact of this on 
the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement 

 A review of the Investment and Cash Management Strategy during 
2014/15. 

 Investment and Cash Activity during 2014/15. 

 A review of the Year End Investments and Cash Position and Usable 
Reserves 

 A review of the Borrowing Strategy and Borrowing Activity during 
2014/15. 

 



 A summary of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 
2014/15 

 
1.5 The Authority has appointed Capita Asset Services as its external treasury 

management adviser. 
 

2. REPORT 

 
Economic Review 
 
2.1 The original expectation of the market for the 2014/15 financial year was that 

the Bank Rate would rise in the final quarter. This expectation was revised 
during the year due to the pressure on consumer disposable income arising 
from lower than expected pay inflation, and the Bank Rate remained at 0.5% 
throughout the year and beyond. Meanwhile general inflation fell during the 
year. 

 
2.2 Economic growth for the UK continued to be positive this year, however 

markets were affected by uncertainties around political risk arising from the 
general election in May 2015. Investment rates fell during the year and 
continue to be very low. 

 
2.3 Towards the end of the financial year, there were rising concerns about the 

Greek economy and the potential requirement for Greece to leave the 
Eurozone. This concern led to a certain amount of turmoil in the UK markets 
even though the UK is not a member of the Eurozone, simply because it was 
difficult to predict what the impacts might be of a Greek exit.  

 
Review of Capital Activity in 2014/15 
 
2.4 The Authority undertakes capital expenditure on long term assets. These 

activities may either be: 
 

 Financed immediately by way of capital or revenue resources (capital 
receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions), which does not give rise to 
a requirement to borrow; or 

 

 If insufficient financing is available, or if a decision is taken not to apply 
resources, the capital expenditure will need to be financed by borrowing. 



 
2.5 Actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators. 

The table below shows actual capital expenditure in the year and how this 
was financed. 

 
 

 2013/14 
Actual 

2014/15 
Estimate 

2014/15 
Actual 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Capital Expenditure 3,327 10,997 4,467 

    

Resourced By:    

 - Capital Grants 1,591  1,534 

 - Capital Receipts   2,180 

 - Revenue Contributions 1,736  0 

 - Internally Financed up to level 
of MRP 

0  753 

 - Borrowing 0  0 

Total Financed Capital 
Expenditure 

3,327  4,467 

 
2.6 Actual capital expenditure was within the prudential indicator set of £6,281k 

(this indicator excluded any capital slippage from 2013/14). At 31 March 
2015, the Authority’s capital financing requirement was £22,160k, which was 
within the prudential indicator set of £26,996k. The Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) figure represents the Authority’s underlying need to 
borrow to fund capital expenditure and equates to un-financed capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue funding or other 
resources such as capital grants or receipts. The CFR is reduced over time 
by way of a statutory Minimum Revenue Provision charge to revenue which 
effectively charges the revenue budget for the use of capital assets over their 
asset lives. 

 
Review of the Investment and Cash Management Strategy 
 
 2.7 The Treasury Management Strategy approved by the Authority set out the 
 policies for managing investments and for giving priority to the security and 
 liquidity of those investments. The risk appetite of this Authority is low in 
 order to give priority to security of its investments. Accordingly the following 
 types of low risk specified investments may be made: 
 

 Deposits with the Debt Management Agency (Government) 

 Term deposits with Banks and Building Societies 

 Term Deposits with uncapped English and Welsh local authority 
bodies 

 Call deposits with Banks and Building Societies  

 Triple-A rated Money Market Funds 

 UK Treasury Bills 

 



During the year, all investments were made with banks, building societies 
(either term deposits or call deposits) and other local authority bodies. 
 

2.8 The Authority will aim to limit its investment with any single counterparty to 
£2m although the strategy noted that this was sometimes difficult to achieve. 
No term deposits will be made for more than 1 year without the prior approval 
of the Treasurer and the Chair of Finance and Resources Committee. The 
selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness will be 
achieved by reference to Capita’s weekly credit list of potential 
counterparties. The Capita weekly credit list shows potential investment 
counterparties, which are colour-coded to indicate the maximum period it is 
recommended that investments are made for. The Authority will therefore use 
counterparties with the following durational colour codes: 

 

 Blue - investments up to 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi 
nationalised UK Banks) 

 Orange – investments up to 1 year 

 Red – investments up to 6 months 

 Green  - investments up to 3 months  

 
The Authority has made all investments with counterparties during the year in 
accordance with the maximum periods advised by Capita. 

 
2.9 The Authority will avoid locking into longer term deals while investment rates 
 are down at historically low levels unless exceptionally attractive rates are 
 available which make longer term deals seem worthwhile. 
 
2.10 In terms of cash resources, the strategy is to maintain a bank overdraft facility 

of £200,000, to continue to use cash flow forecasting to predict cash 
surpluses and shortfalls so that these can be managed and to invest current 
account balances in the Business Premium Account on a daily basis. 

 
2.11 All aspects of the treasury management strategy outlined for  2014/15 

remained in place throughout the year. The Strategy included a forecast for 
the bank rate, which showed that this was expected to be at 0.5% by 31 
March 2015. The bank rate has remained at 0.5% throughout the year and 
beyond. 

 
Investment and Cash Activity in 2014/15 
 
2.12 As at 31 March 2015, the Authority held £7.573m of principal as short term 

investments. This comprised 7 separate investments with 5 different 
counterparties, all of which were less than £2m, with the exception of the 
investment in the business premium account with Barclays Bank, which was 
£2.453m. One of the investments was a fixed term deposit with a Local 
Authority, one was a fixed term deposit with a bank, three were investments 
in three call accounts held with one bank and one building society, one was 
the loan to the NFRS trading company, and one was an overnight investment 
in the Business Premium Account. At the time of writing this report, three of 
these investments had matured and been repaid. 



 
2.13 During the course of the year, 19 investments were made, excluding the 

overnight sweep to the Business Premium Account. None of these exceeded 
£2m in value. The longest term investment placed was for 365 days and all 
investments were made in accordance with the Authority’s credit rating 
criteria policy. There were occasions when the amount invested with the 
Authority’s own bank (Barclays Bank) exceeded £2m due to difficulties at 
those times in placing funds with counterparties meeting our credit rating 
criteria. 

 
2.14 The 3 Month LIBID benchmark rate for the year was 0.43%. The Authority’s 

investments earned an average rate of 0.44% during the year resulting in 
total investment (including overnight savings interest on the current account) 
income earned of £71k, against a budgeted sum for investment income of 
£86k.  

 
2.15 Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited was set up as a 

subsidiary company during 2010/11. A bank account for the company was 
opened with Barclays Bank, who required funding to be paid into the account 
to cover possible working capital shortfalls. To accommodate this, a loan of 
£54,999 was made to NFRS (T) Ltd in the form of a revolving credit facility 
which can be repaid at any time with one week’s notice by either party. An 
arms-length variable interest rate was agreed at 15 basis points above the 
Bank of England bank rate. The loan is shown as a short term investment in 
the Authority’s accounts and as a loan in the trading company’s accounts.  
During 2014/15 a further repayment of £20,000 was made, leaving an 
outstanding balance of £19,999. 

 
2.16 During the year, there was no requirement to use the Authority’s overdraft 

facility.  
 
Review of Investments / Cash Position and Usable Reserves 
 
2.17 Members will be aware that the Authority’s “usable” reserves i.e. the General 

Fund and Earmarked Reserves have not been fully cash backed in the past 
due to the internal financing of capital expenditure in previous years. This 
was a particular issue during the “credit crunch” period in 2008 when 
Members approved an interim treasury strategy to delay borrowing, thereby 
avoiding an increase in cash balances whilst the money markets were 
suffering a degree of turmoil and credit ratings were volatile.   

 
2.18 Since then the position had improved to some extent, although not in the 

2014/15 financial year: at 31 March 2015, the value of the Authority’s usable 
reserves totalled £11.086m. The balance sheet as at the same date shows 
that short term investments were valued at £4.536m and cash held totalled 
£3.073m. This means that reserves are not fully cash-backed to the tune of 
£3.477m which has increased from £1.583m at the end of 2013/14. This 
situation has arisen because a loan of £2m was repaid during 2014/15 and 
has not been replaced with any new borrowing as yet. This decision was 
taken because the Authority’s treasury management advisers have indicated 
that borrowing should be delayed if cash flow allows for this, due to the 



differential between borrowing and investment interest rates which will result 
in increased costs in the short term. Nevertheless Members can be assured 
that if the Authority needs to spend some of its usable reserves, there is 
sufficient liquidity in its financial position to be able to do so, and borrowing 
can be arranged at short notice if required. 

 
Review of the Borrowing Strategy and Borrowing Activity in 2014/15 
 
2.19 The strategy recommended that a combination of capital receipts, capital 

grant, internal funds and borrowing would be used to finance capital 
expenditure during 2014/15.  Capital grants totalling £1.534m and capital 
receipts of £2.180m were applied to finance expenditure. 
   

2.20 No borrowing was undertaken during 2014/15 as explained in paragraph 
2.18. A PWLB loan for £2m was repaid in the year. 

 
2.21  The treasury management limits to loan maturity were set in 2014/15 and are 

shown below: 
 

Loan Maturity 

 

Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 20% 0% 

12 months to 5 years 30% 0% 

5 years to 10 years 75% 0% 

10 years to 20 years 100% 0% 

Over 20 years 100% 30% 

 
2.22 No rescheduling of debt took place, as the average 1% differential between 

PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made scheduling 
unviable. 

 
2.23 The Authorised Limit is the affordable borrowing limit above which the 

Authority does not have the power to borrow. This was set at £28.981m for 
2014/15. Total borrowing as at 31 March 2015 was £20.408m, which was 
well within the Authorised limit.  

 
2.24 The Operational Boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Authority 

within the year. This was set at £26.346m for 2014/15, and was not exceeded 
at any point during the year. 

 
Summary of Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 
 
2.25 The following indicators were approved by Members for the 2014/15 financial 

year. Actual performance is shown in the final column of the table below.  
 
2.26 The indicator for the Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream shows 

an actual result of 5.5% compared to an estimated ratio of 5.4%.  
 
2.27 The indicator for the Incremental Impact of New Capital Investment Decisions 

on Council Tax shows an actual result of -£3.28 (i.e. a reduction in impact) 



compared to an estimate of -£1.41. The result for this indicator was affected 
by the late decision to make a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) charge in 
the previous year of £1,000k i.e. the capital financing cost for 2014/15 was 
substantially lower than that for 2013/14 because this VRP charge was made 
in the earlier year. 

 
2.28 The table below shows that the limit for 12 months to 5 years loan maturity 

has once again been breached, with the proportion of debt within this 
maturity band being 40.1%. This is because no new borrowing has taken 
place since 2010, which has meant that the opportunity to re-balance the 
debt maturity profile could not be taken, although this will be redressed when 
borrowing next occurs. Members can be assured that this does not pose a 
risk for the Authority. 

 

Treasury or Prudential Indicator 
or Limit 

Approved for 2014/15 Actual for 2014/15 

Estimate of Ratio of Financing 
Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

5.4% 5.5%  

Estimate of the Incremental Impact 
of New Capital Investment 
Decisions on the Council Tax (Band 
D) 

-£0.41 £-3.28 
 

Estimate of Total Capital 
Expenditure to be Incurred 

£6,281,000 £4,467,000 

Estimate of Capital Financing 
Requirement 

£26,996,000 £22,160,000  

Operational Boundary £26,346,000 Not exceeded 

Authorised Limit £28,981,000 Not exceeded 

Upper limit for fixed rate interest 
exposures 

100% 100% 

Upper limit for variable rate interest 
exposures 

30% 0% 

Loan Maturity: Limits: Limits: 

Under 12 months Upper 20%   Lower 0%       0% 

12 months to 5 years Upper 30%   Lower 0%       40.1% 

5 years to 10 years Upper 75%   Lower 0%      16.3% 

10 years to 20 years Upper 100% Lower 0%      0% 

Over 20 years Upper 100% Lower 30%       43.6 % 

Upper Limit for Principal Sums 
Invested for Periods Longer than 
364 Days 

£2,000,000  £1,000,000 

 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications of this report are set out in full within the body of the 
report. 



 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been done because this report gives a 
review of activities rather than introducing a new policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report, other than the 
requirement to act within the Authority’s powers when undertaking treasury 
management borrowings and investments. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
Risk management is a key aspect of treasury management, and the Treasury 
Management Strategy sets out the parameters within which activities will be carried 
out with a view to managing credit risk, liquidity risk, re-financing risk and market 
risk. The Authority has approved a prudent approach to treasury management and 
this report allows Members to review how well risks have been managed during the 
year.  

 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
Peter Hurford 
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 
 





 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 2015/16 TO 2017/18 
 

Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and Treasurer 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To present a Medium Term Financial Strategy to the Fire Authority for approval.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Fire Authority has a number of strategies in place for the good financial 

management and governance of the Authority.  
 
1.2 It is good practice however, to bring these strategies together into a single 

overarching financial strategy which clearly demonstrates that the finances of 
the organisation are stable and ‘joined up’ with other corporate strategies such 
as the Integrated Risk Management Plan, the Workforce Plan and the ICT 
Strategy, and that the financial platform is sufficient to enable the delivery of 
the Authority’s corporate objectives. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The medium term financial strategy is attached in full to this covering report 

and therefore no detail is presented here. However the financial strategy 
includes sections as follows: 

 

 Objectives of the strategy; 

 Context of the strategy; 

 Financial management; 

 Funding priorities and service improvement; 

 Impact of UK economic downturn; 

 Medium term risks; 

 Components of the medium term strategy; 

 Partnership working; 

 The regional dimension; 

 Outlook for 2015/16, 2017/18 and beyond. 
 
2.2 The Strategy also contains appendices on: 

 

 Treasury management strategy; 

 Prudential code indicators and targets; 

 Capital programme 2015/16 – 2017/18; 

 Revenue budget 2015/16 cash limited subjective analysis. 
 

2.3 It is proposed that the Authority should adopt this medium term financial 
strategy and continue to review this annually.  

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out within the main body of the report. 
  



 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising from 
this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is 
reporting on matters relating to finance. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 to set a balanced budget.  The medium term financial strategy is part of the 
process designed to assist in delivering the budget requirements and implications for 
each year. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The establishment of a robust framework for financial management and the allocation 
of resources to corporate priorities will do much to minimise the risks to the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives. 

 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members adopt the medium term financial strategy and continue to review this 
annually.  
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley     Peter Hurford 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER   TREASURER 
  



 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 
2015/16 to 2017/18 



CONTENTS 
 

 

Section 1 Objectives of the Strategy 

Section 2 Context of the Strategy 

Section 3 Financial Management 

Section 4 Funding Priorities and Service Improvement 

Section 5 Impact of UK Economic Downturn 

Section 6 Medium Term Risks 

Section 7 Components of the Medium Term Strategy 

Section 8 Partnership Working 

Section 9 The Regional Dimension 

Section 10 Outlook for 2015/16, 2017/18 and beyond 

Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 

Appendix B Prudential Code Indicators and Targets 

Appendix C Capital Programme 2015/16 – 2017/18 

Appendix D Revenue Budget 2015/16 Cash Limited Subjective Analysis 

Other 
References 

 Property Strategy 

 Fleet Strategy 

 ICT Strategy 

 IRMP 

 Community Safety Plan 

 Workforce Plan 

 



SECTION 1:  OBJECTIVES OF THE STRATEGY 
 
1.1 The objectives of the Authority’s financial strategy are as follows: 
 

1. To provide a stable financial foundation to assist the decision making 
process. 

2. To be fully cognisant of other supporting plans and strategies such as 
the workforce plan, equalities objectives and ICT strategies in order to 
provide a cohesive framework.   

3. To enable the Authority to be proactive rather than reactive in terms of 
financing 

4. To show how resources support the Authority’s Service Plan over its full 
term. 

5. To support sustainable service delivery by the use of revenue budgets, 
reserves and balances. 

6. To seek to minimise the impacts on the Council Tax payer of 
fluctuations in demand for resources. 

7. To hold a working balance sufficient to respond to unexpected events 
and/or opportunities. 

8. To be flexible and responsive to changes in needs and legislation 

9. To support the continuance of the Authority’s core services and 
strategies. 

10. To ensure that the capital base of the Authority can be maintained 
within affordable and sustainable limits. 

11. To provide forward looking indications of Council Tax levels. 
 
Within this overall set of objectives the strategy must seek to find creative 
ways of using resources to minimise the impact of reducing funding from 
Central Government. 

 
1.2 A number of principles have been developed to underpin these objectives: 
 

1. Resources will be prioritised to meet the core aims of the Service as set 
out in the Integrated Risk Management Plan and its updates. 

2. Priorities will be reviewed in the light of available resources and 
financial performance  

3. Capital Receipts will only be applied to the redemption of debt or the 
financing of additional capital assets 

4. Capital will be financed using the most advantageous method prevailing 
at the time finance is required within the requirements of the Prudential 
Code. Full options appraisal will be carried out before financing 
decisions are taken. 



5. Capital development will only be carried out where there is a synergy 
with existing plans and where the investment fits into the sustainable 
capital plan.  

6. The rate of return on investments will take account of the advice 
received from the Authority’s external advisors 

7. Investment decisions will be based on a balance of risk and return, 
remain biased towards low risk activity and follow the CIPFA principles 
of Security, Liquidity, and Yield in that order. 

8. Council Tax rates will be transparent and sustainable. This means that 
budgets will not be lowered and supported by balances unless this is 
part of a long term sustainable strategy and approved by Members. 

9. Charging for services will remain sensitive to the needs of communities 
and their expectations of the service. 

10. Sponsorship funding will not be sought to underpin front line or core 
service delivery unless a long term plan for sustainability has been 
developed. 

11. The Authority will continue to direct resources to the areas of greatest 
need in our communities and seek to address the wider safety agenda. 

12. The Authority will actively seek to work with partner organisations in 
both setting and delivering priorities. 

13. The Authority will apply any year end surpluses to balances and/or 
reserves. 

14. Longer term financial planning will take account of the possible use of 
reserves and balances to minimise the effect of reductions in funding as 
a means of transition but not of permanent support. 

 
1.3 There are a number of key outputs which will help to both assure and monitor 

the effectiveness of this strategy and the underlying principles. The following 
list is not exhaustive but provides a flavour of the outputs that may be 
expected: 

 

 Production of the three year revenue and capital budgets, including 
associated briefing papers, consultations and seminars. 

 

 The production of longer term strategies for ICT, Transport, Property and 
Equipment such that financial planning can be carried out both within and 
beyond the window of the medium terms financial strategy.  

 

 Production of quarterly monitoring statements for both Capital and 
Revenue including project based performance as appropriate. 

 

 Supporting information provided to all Council Taxpayers via the internet 
 

 Prudential Code Monitoring Reports produced quarterly 
 



 External Audit reports 
 

 Risk based approach to the maintenance of Balances and Reserves 
 

 Internal Audit reports reviewed by the Finance and Resources Committee 
 

 Grant Claims etc. submitted on time. 
 
 

SECTION 2: CONTEXT OF THE STRATEGY 
 
2.1 The primary focus of the organisation is set out in a fundamental strategy 

document, the Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP). This plan sets out 
the business of the organisation over the next 3 years. This essentially 
represents the Service delivery commitments to the general public and it is 
therefore essential that resources are effectively managed to achieve the 
outcomes set out in this plan. 

 
2.2 A Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out how finances are to be managed 

in such a way as to manage levels of Council Tax, Reserves and Balances. In 
simplistic terms it will set out how a stable and robust financial platform can be 
created such that developments and improvements in services set out in the 
IRMP can both be achieved and sustained over time. 
 

2.3 This strategy is set against a backdrop of consistently reducing central 
government funding; a situation which is unlikely to improve going forward. It 
has therefore been necessary to adopt a more assertive position in relation to 
budgets.  

 
 
SECTION 3: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
3.1 The External Auditors of the Authority have consistently issued unqualified 

audit reports and positive management letters to the Fire Authority in respect 
of their audit of accounts. There have been a number of changes in the 
presentation of the accounts in recent years which primarily relate to the 
implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) but 
these changes are now well embedded.  

 

3.2 Following the abolition of the Audit Commission the Authority’s external 
auditors have been changed to KPMG. The staff providing the key roles of 
Audit Manager and Lead Auditor were originally transferred from the Audit 
Commission however both of these roles have changed during 2014. 

 

3.3 Although the process of external assessment by the Audit Commission has 
been discontinued the Service recognises that the high standards achieved as 
part of this process can be continued and developed.  

 
3.4 The prevailing economic climate has caused increased financial pressures to 

be placed upon all public sector bodies and the Fire Service is no exception. 
There have been a number of significant changes to the funding mechanism 



and it is clear that the overall funding position is expected to continue to 
worsen over the next three years. 

 
3.5 The challenge of the organisation however is not how to survive in this period 

of austerity but how to continue to both provide and develop high quality 
services for the communities it serves. Finance is a clear enabler in this 
context and sound financial management is essential to ensure that maximum 
value can be achieved with the resources available. 

 
3.6 The organisation will continue to manage its financial resources to the highest 

professional standards and back this up with a strong governance framework 
which will include scrutiny by the Finance and Resources Committee (both 
generally and as an Audit Committee), regular reporting to elected members 
and the Corporate Management Board. In addition an independent Internal 
Audit function is maintained to give additional assurances to both Members 
and Senior Officers.   
 

3.7 The post of Finance Director is to be deleted from 1st October 2015 and so 
some consideration has needed to be given to the availability of strategic 
financial advice and the professional “strength in depth” provided under 
current arrangements. This will be addressed by the Treasurer adopting a 
slightly wider role and the Head of Finance reporting directly to the Chief 
Officer.  

 
3.8 The Authority will continue to have the help and advice of an independent 

Treasurer who will continue to work closely with the Head of Finance to advise 
the Fire Authority on financial matters and provide an independent source of 
advice when required. It is envisaged that the new Treasurer will take a 
broader role in financial strategy and this again strengthens the financial 
management role. 

 
 
SECTION 4: FUNDING PRIORITIES AND SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
4.1 The challenge for the organisation in times of financial constraint is to find a 

way to continue to develop and improve the service against this backdrop of 
uncertainty. This will require both strong leadership and financial stability. 

 
4.2 The funding priorities of the Authority relate entirely to those set out in the 

IRMP and underpin the three guiding principles of the organisation.  These 
are: 

 

 To deliver a high quality service 

 To maintain high standards of governance and financial stability 

 To have an engaged and motivated workforce 
 
4.3 This approach is mirrored through into the budget and resource planning 

processes. The detailed working underlying the Authority’s budget proposals 
for 2015/2016 to 2017/18 shows a clear commitment by both officers and 
Members to the delivery of these broad priorities and also resourcing the 
individual projects and activities which will ensure their delivery. 

 
 



 
 
 
4.4 It is also important to appreciate that the aspirations of the Authority in respect 

of equality and inclusion remain of paramount importance both within the 
workforce principle and the service delivery principle. It is recognised that 
these aspirations are not wholly internal and all members of the various 
communities served by NFRS must be able to access the full range of 
services in ways appropriate to them.   

 
4.5 Notwithstanding the primacy of the IRMP there is a framework of interrelated 

plans and strategies which together provide the basis for the continued 
provision of and development of the service. This is best illustrated by the 
following diagram: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 The development of departmental plans and strategies and the alignment of 

these with other plans, both departmental and corporate, has been much 
improved since changes in the internal governance structures have been 
introduced. 

 

VISION 
OBJECTIVES 

National 
Framework 

Legislative 
change 

 

IRMP 

ICT    
Strategy 

Fleet 
Strategy 

Workforce 
Plan 

Property 
Strategy 

Budget 
Development 

Financial 
Strategy 

Single 
Equalities 
Scheme 

People 
Strategy 

L&D 
Strategy 

R
IS

K
 R

E
G

IS
T

E
R

S
 

Annual 
Settlement 

O
R

G
A

N
IS

A
T

IO
N

A
L

  

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 S

T
R

A
T

E
G

Y
 

Three Year Revenue and Capital Budgets 

Departmental Business Plans 



4.7 The creation of the Service Managers Forum has made a significant 
contribution to governance as it has a more empowering approach by 
Strategic Managers. Undoubtedly decisions are made at more appropriate 
levels and as a result decisions are faster and of better quality.   

 
4.8 These changes have allowed budget holders, service managers, Finance, HR 

and other support functions to work together to develop plans which consider 
interdependencies, pressure on both financial and non-financial resources, 
and relative priority of proposed developments and their relevance to the plan. 
This process has also “sharpened up” medium term revenue and capital 
planning. 

 
4.9 Developments in the service will be resourced from a number of sources 

including: 
 

 Recycling resources released by efficiency savings 

 Reassessment of service priorities 

 Additional revenue budget allocation where appropriate 

 Government Grant Funding 

 Sponsorship (where resources are temporary or not core activity) 
 
4.10 That is not to say that there will be no changes in service delivery or 

requirements for staffing reductions to enable the budgets to be brought into 
balance. In fact future predictions of grant reductions would suggest that this 
may need to be the case.  

 
4.11 The performance management framework will need to be strengthened in 

appropriate areas in order to bring together financial and non-financial 
performance to enable the achievement of service priorities to be monitored 
and strive to achieve continuous improvement. 

 
4.12 Time limited and specifically targeted government funding will be used to fund 

specific and non-recurring cost items and fund capacity building around 
service improvement. 

 
4.13 The operation of the Prudential Code for Local Authorities creates 

opportunities for capital investment and asset planning which were not 
possible under the old capital financing regime. This will enable the Authority 
to make maximum use of capital investment to support the achievement of 
objectives. 

 
4.14 A pro-active approach to the achievement of Value for Money by seeking to 

embed VFM principles continues to release resources to improve service 
delivery. 

 
4.15 The Authority’s Trading Company will continue to operate and seek to 

broaden its trading base to maximise profits. It is hoped that the dividends 
arising from these profits may be recycled into community based initiatives in 
future years.   

 
4.16 It may be possible going forward to consider alternative investment strategies 

to maximise earnings potential but this would always be discussed by the 
Finance and Resources Committee.   



 
 
SECTION 5: IMPACT OF UK ECONOMY  
 
5.1 It would be inappropriate to consider a Medium Term Financial Strategy 

without making some mention of the current economic position in the UK and 
considering how its effects might be managed and/or mitigated.  
 

5.2 The financial year 2014/15 has seen some improvement in the prospects for 
the UK economy but despite early signs of growth the overall position remains 
fairly static. Unemployment is reducing and yet robust economic growth is still 
awaited. Rises in the housing market generally continue to cause something 
of a “feel good factor” as has the impact of reducing fuel prices. How much of 
this economic growth is real and will transfer into the real economy is yet to be 
seen. Interest rates have fallen in the Eurozone to try to counter the risks of 
deflation and this will almost certainly have an impact on the ability of UK 
investors to secure reasonable interest rate returns 
 

5.3 The main focus of investing surplus cash will be to protect the Authority’s 
capital, and higher interest rates will not be taken at the expense of security. 
Regular risk assessments will continue to take place which will result in 
regular amendments to the approved counterparty list.  

 
5.4 The possible recovery of the property market may also have an impact on the 

Authority’s finances as the balance sheet value of properties begin to rise 
again.  

 
5.5 By far the most significant consideration for the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy is the general state of Central Government Finances. The UK as a 
whole remains in deficit and central government are continuing with their 
austerity programme to turn this situation around. The intention to protect 
Health, Foreign Aid and now Defence leaves the remaining parts of the public 
sector even more vulnerable to grant reductions and the prospect of the 
Service suffering additional reductions in external funding of 25-40% is by far 
the greatest issue that this strategy has to face. 

    
 
SECTION 6: MEDIUM TERM RISKS 
 
6.1 The Authority’s Strategic Risk register has identified that there are a number of 

risks over and above budget reductions which can affect this strategy in the 
medium term, some of which are beyond the direct control of the Authority. 
The rapidly changing economic climate at the present time, for example, 
brings with it a number of risks any one of which could significantly impact 
upon this strategy. 

 
6.2 Investment Interest Rates. The Authority has accumulated reserves of cash 

both in respect of working balances and other reserves. These cash balances 
are invested to generate income from interest. The outlook for rates is still very 
low which means that vetting and the choice of borrower is becoming more 
important. The process for managing these funds is set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy document which is approved by the Fire Authority in 
February of each year. 



 
6.3 Loan Interest Rates. As the Authority matures and outstanding debt becomes 

a more significant burden on the revenue budget there is naturally an 
increased exposure to movements of interest rates. Although the Authority has 
adopted a general policy of using fixed interest rate vehicles to minimise this 
risk in the longer term there is still an exposure from the loan charges on new 
capital being greater than anticipated.   

 
6.4 It is common in the Public Sector to use maturity loans as the most 

appropriate vehicle for capital financing. These loans do not repay any capital 
until maturity but interest charges only, and they therefore present a 
refinancing risk at the end of their term. They are currently the most cost 
effective way of borrowing but it is considered essential that the Authority has 
sufficient accumulated cash to repay principal at term. This ensures that the 
authority retains control of overall debt levels.  

 
6.5 In order to assist this, the authority will take opportunities to make voluntary 

MRP contributions as they arise.   
 
6.6 The Authority has adopted a medium term strategy to hold long term debt at 

low rates but reschedule this at a later date if rates are more advantageous. 
The overall strategy for borrowing is set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy document and in the Prudential Code Report. This strategy needs to 
“follow through” in terms of eventually seeking to mirror the debt outstanding 
profile with the profile of asset lives. This will be possible by rescheduling debt 
again if shorter term interest rates fall in relation to long rates however there is 
no sign of this at present. 

 
6.7 The Authority will remain at risk of breaching its own prudential code targets 

for loan maturity due to the current policy of holding back on borrowing and 
using internal cash resources. As the year progresses it is likely that borrowing 
will be required and it is possible that this discrepancy can be resolved but this 
will depend on the availability of attractive rates.   

 
6.8 Pensions There are a number of risks associated with pensions: 
 

 That employers contributions for non-uniformed personnel will rise 
significantly. 

 

 That employers contributions for uniformed personnel will rise significantly. 
 

 That the pattern of early retirements and Ill Health retirements in the 
service will have a serious impact on budgets if unchecked. The Authority 
has little control over Ill Health retirements but early retirements for non-
uniformed staff can be managed. 

 
6.9 In the first scenario, it is likely that employers’ contributions to the local 

government pension scheme will continue to rise. However, recent 
consideration of this issue shows that this is unlikely to be significant unless 
the Authority’s record of low rates of early and ill health retirements worsens. 
The performance of pension funds had been poor in recent years but the 
recent performance by the Stock Market has delivered significantly increased 
returns. The Nottinghamshire fund shows a bias of fund investments towards 



equities rather than fixed interest bonds and so has benefitted from this 
change. The overweight exposures to property which had been having a 
negative effect have now begun to return to normal levels with both property 
values and rental streams beginning to rise. The most recent actuarial 
valuation shows that the Fire Service element of the fund is close to being in 
balance and therefore the requirement to make additional payments to reduce 
a deficit may reduce shortly.  

 
6.10 Since the passing of annual pension liabilities for fire fighters to the CLG, 

employers have been required to make a 21.7% of salary contribution to the 
scheme for those staff in the old 1992 scheme. For those in the 2006 scheme 
the contribution is 11.9%. There are no indications that this will rise in the 
short term. 

 
6.11 Recent revisions to the Local Government Pension scheme may also help to 

keep employer contributions steady or may even reduce them over time.   
 

6.12 The introduction of a new firefighters’ pension scheme from April 2015 may 
eliminate some of these pressures going forward but indications are that an 
employer contribution rate of 14.3% will be required.  

 
6.13 A big risk in the short and medium term however remains in the area of Ill 

Health retirement mentioned above. All the costs from such retirements now 
fall directly on to Authority budgets and costs per early retiree could be as high 
as £120,000. The Authority continues to maintain a budget for ill health 
retirements based on historical data and also has set aside a specific reserve 
to ensure that the volatility of these payments is “smoothed” through to the 
revenue account in a manageable fashion. 

 
6.14 The main concern is that with firefighters now expected to work longer before 

retirement there may be an increase in ill health retirements as staff are 
unable to meet fitness standards. 

 
6.15 Grant Funding. The last Revenue Support Grant settlement in the traditional 

form was received during 2012/13. From 2013/2014 onwards there has been 
a radical change both to the amount of grant payable and the way that it is 
calculated. Locally collected business rates are now retained within local 
budgets and there is also a requirement for Fire Authorities to pay their share 
of council tax benefits. The risks are highlighted below. 

 
6.16 Council Tax Support. Prior to 2013/2014 Council Tax Support, or Benefit, was 

paid out by the billing authorities and funded entirely by government grant. It 
therefore had no impact on Fire Authorities. This position has changed 
however and now, whilst Council Tax Benefit continues to be paid by the 
billing authorities, the funding is drawn from both the billing authorities and the 
precepting authorities of which Fire is one. In return for this Government have 
made a grant which is the equivalent of 90% of 2012/2013 spending on 
council tax benefit to help authorities fund this change. This presents a 
number of risks: 

 

 Authorities may not be able to collect Council Tax from households that 
have never paid the tax before 

 



 Any increase in claimants will need to be funded locally 
 

 The amount given by way of grant is absorbed into Revenue Support Grant 
for 2015/16 and has been reduced in line with other grant reductions even 
though demand may rise. 

 
6.17 Early indications are that this is not having quite the effect that might have 

been anticipated but the process is still developing.   
 

6.18 Business Rates. The principle behind the retention of business rates is one 
that is generally supported, in that it allows Local Authorities to benefit from 
economic regeneration in their areas. Fire authorities have little or no influence 
over economic regeneration and therefore via a series of complex calculations 
are what is known as “top up” authorities. This means that a Fire Authorities 
business rates will be “topped up” to the amount that they would have 
received under the old regime. What it doesn’t mean however is that it will 
always be like this and this situation could change. More fundamentally the old 
concept of needs driven Revenue Support Grant is essentially over. In future 
most if not all central government grant will be in the form of business rates 
and “top up” payments. The fundamental problem with this approach is that 
whilst deprivation and other cost drivers of service provision had been taken 
into account within the Revenue Support Grant formula, there are no such 
drivers within the NNDR funding being based, as it is, entirely on the collection 
of business rates. 

 
6.19 Long Term Capital Sustainability. As referred to above the Authority is 

becoming more mature in terms of the build up of loan debt and leasing to 
support the capital base of the organisation. It is considered that debt 
financing costs should not usually consume more than 8% of revenue budgets 
and this “credit ceiling” for affordable borrowing, which is covered within the 
principles of the Prudential Code, will be more closely matched to the profile of 
the asset base going forward. This strategy is to ensure that the credit ceiling 
is not reached before the requirement to undertake major capital schemes is 
exhausted. The Authority has considered the sustainability of its capital plans 
in terms of the ICT Strategy, the Fleet Strategy and the Property Strategy and 
these have been mapped out over a 20 year period to ensure that the revenue 
budget can continue to support them.  

 
6.20 Revenue Budget pressure and the availability of surplus balances has caused 

the Authority to use surplus revenue budget to fund capital items. This has 
been expedient in the short term but cannot be continued indefinitely because 
capital assets which have been purchased from revenue will create an 
underlying need to borrow for replacement in future years which may cause 
the 8% ceiling to be breached. 

 
6.21 The 8% ceiling is further threatened by the reducing size of the revenue 

budget.   
 

6.22 The Prudential Code requires that capital investment plans, including 
financing, are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The further use of revenue 
underspends or balances to fund capital investment will not meet the 
sustainability requirement so the approach in future will be to ensure that the 
capital programme contains only “invest to save” or essential projects and to 



use the cash released from the Minimum Revenue Provision charge to repay 
loans such that new loans are only required to finance new capital expenditure 
and not to replace expiring maturity loans. 

 
6.23 In the meantime revenue contributions will be allocated against a range of 

asset lives thus spreading this risk over a number of years. 
 
 
SECTION 7: COMPONENTS OF THE MEDIUM TERM STRATEGY 
 
7.1 This section briefly explains some of the processes and key components that 

underpin the medium term financial strategy. 
 
7.2 Revenue and Capital Budgets. The process for the preparation of revenue and 

capital budgets is now mature but continues to develop each year. There is 
now positive involvement of business plan owners in the development of the 
budgets which have been drawn up side by side with business plans. This has 
continued to be developed still further in the preparation of the Revenue 
Budget from 2015/16 to 2017/2018 and there is now increased ownership 
around budget decisions. This has meant that, as planned, budgets were 
being developed at the operational level from July onwards whilst discussions 
were taking place over the overall budget strategy. The Finance and 
Resources Committee had full involvement in the process and the Chair of the 
Finance and Resources Committee played an active part in interviewing 
budget managers to fully understand the underlying detail within the budgets. 
The Finance and Resources Committee made proper and detailed 
recommendations to the Authority.    

 
7.3 The maturity of other plans and strategies has also proven useful in this 

process as retirement and recruitment profiles from the workforce plan have 
informed the revenue budget process and the strategies for ICT, Fleet and 
Property have enabled a cohesive Capital Programme to be developed. It is 
important to understand that the process of constructing a revenue and capital 
budget is an iterative one which is driven entirely by organisational priorities. 
The service’s plans and strategies directly drive the budget and not the other 
way around. Of course, affordability is a key consideration hence the iterative 
nature of the process but it is important that when financial constraints are 
imposed the impacts on service development and/or delivery are fully 
transparent. Therefore there is a direct relationship between the Fleet Strategy 
and the Capital Programme because the Capital Programme was developed 
from that strategy and the two are in complete alignment. The same is true for 
other strategies also. 

 
7.4 Underperformance of the Capital Programme continues to give some cause 

for concern. Although there are good reasons why the Capital Programme 
continues to underspend it is not acceptable that revenue funds are required 
to be earmarked to finance the capital programme and then not used. The 
opportunity costs of this over provision may begin to impact on the service. In 
order to alleviate this issue it has been accepted that there will be an element 
of “over programming” but that revenue to support the capital programme will 
take this into account.    

 



7.5 Council Tax. As part of the budget setting for 2015/2016 to 2017/2018 the 
Authority agreed indicative budgets for 2015/2016, 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 
of £41,212,721, £42,636,983 and £43,630,100 respectively. This required a 
rise in Council Tax for 2015/2016 of 1.95% to £72.44 at Band D and similar 
rises in future years.    

 
7.6 Fees and Charges. The Authority is allowed to make charges for the provision 

of a range of services to the public and to commerce. It has however been the 
practice of the Authority to avoid making charges for services which the public 
have a reasonable expectation of receiving free of charge. For example the 
Authority could make a charge for pumping out a domestic cellar after a flood 
but it was decided some years ago that this would not be reasonable. Instead 
the Authority has concentrated on charging for the more unusual requests 
often where there is no risk of death or injury, such as filling swimming pools 
and gaining entry. In addition the Authority makes charges for pollution 
incidents whenever possible on the principle that the polluter should pay for 
the damage that they cause. Special Service Charges are currently under 
review and it is possible that a wider range of activities may be charged for 
going forward.  

 
7.7 Treasury Strategy. The Treasury Strategy for the Authority was set out in full 

in a report to the Fire Authority on 27 February 2015. This strategy complies 
fully with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy code of 
practice on Treasury Management which the Authority has adopted. The 
strategy relies for its success on the appointment of financial advisors who 
enable the Authority to lend and borrow as prudently as possible. Efforts will 
continue to be made to ensure a sufficient spread of borrowers to minimise 
risk exposures. 

 
7.8 External Funding. Efforts will continue to be made to secure as much external 

funding as possible either from Government Grant or from sponsorship and 
partnerships. These are managed carefully to ensure that the sudden 
withdrawal of funding does not have a negative impact on revenue budget nor 
cause the Authority embarrassment from having to close down successful 
projects due to lack of external funding.  

 
7.9 There are no plans at the present time to enter into any Private Finance 

Initiative (PFI) funding for capital projects unless there is a strong indication 
that such a vehicle might prove cost effective.   

 
7.10 Reserves and Provisions. The Local Government Act 2003 requires that 

Authorities maintain adequate reserves and provisions to help ensure that the 
medium term policy programme is sustainable and that it can be delivered. In 
accordance with good accounting and financial practice, reserves and 
provisions will always be made in the accounts where appropriate. In simple 
terms the difference between a reserve and a provision is that a provision is 
made for a known liability arising from a legal obligation whereas a reserve is 
created for a discretionary purpose.  

 
7.11 Working Balances. In addition to reserves and provisions the Authority is also 

required to maintain an adequate level of working balances and the Treasurer 
is required to certify that these are adequate under S25. Local Government 
Act 2003.  



 
 
 
7.12 Balances are maintained at an appropriate level by carrying out a risk 

assessment of financial risk exposures and calculating a value for balances. 
Accepting that the value of balances may fluctuate to deal with both emergent 
and changing risk the Authority has decided to target a minimum level of 
balances of £4.0m.  At the end of 2015/16 the level of balances is expected to 
be of the order of £6.7m although there are planned reductions in balances 
going forward as they are used to cushion the transition to a tighter financial 
regime in future years.     

 
7.13 The Prudential Code. The freedoms provided by the Prudential Code for 

Capital Accounting are to be fully used to make the best possible investment 
decisions in relation to capital spending in order that meaningful choices can 
be made between borrowing, leasing and the use of capital receipts. 
Nevertheless it is still considered important that the Authority should not 
expose itself to unduly high levels of debt. This can be difficult to gauge as the 
Authority is maturing and therefore levels of debt will be expected to rise each 
year. However, it is necessary for a view to be taken as to how much debt is 
sustainable in the longer term. This position has been reviewed and it is clear 
that given the strategies in place for Fleet and Property over the next 20 years 
levels of debt can be maintained to a level where the revenue effects of 
borrowing do not exceed 8% of overall revenue resources available. The risk 
to this is that as revenue budgets fall this underlying percentage will begin to 
rise. 

 
7.14 Value for Money. The Authority continues to show its commitment to achieving 

Value for Money although the focus during 2014/2015 has been very much on 
achieving the significant budget reductions required to deal with grant 
reductions.   

 
SECTION 8: PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
 
8.1 The Authority remains committed to working in partnership to achieve overall 

outcome objectives and partnerships and collaborations are to be actively 
encouraged providing that they remain focussed on the delivery of the 
Authority’s objectives. This relies therefore on the identification of shared 
outcomes with potential partners and the identification of commissioning 
opportunities with the third sector. Again the common thread of equality will 
run through some of this partnership work where the Service seeks to build 
trust and respect amongst disadvantaged groups both for the benefit of 
service delivery and recruitment. 

 
8.2 The initiative launched in 2007/8 to enable stronger links to be forged with the 

voluntary sector by sponsoring some voluntary sector led projects in support 
of our Service Plan objectives continues to gain momentum.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



SECTION 9: THE REGIONAL DIMENSION 
 
9.1 The Authority remains committed to supporting joint and collaborative working 

with colleagues across the region and it is considered that the tri-service 
control centre initiative may encourage further co-operation. 

 
9.2 The commitment to the Tri-Service Control Project remains high on the 

Authority’s priorities as this will provide an efficient method of call handling and 
mobilisation.   

 
 
SECTION 10: OUTLOOK FOR 2015/16, 2016/17 AND BEYOND 
 
10.1 The Authority set a budget in February 2015 which for 2015/2016, whilst 

requiring some budget reductions, is largely balanced, in fact £570,000 will be 
transferred to balances. The estimate for 2016/2017 however is indicating a 
shortfall of the order of £1.8m. As this rolls forward, and if unaddressed, it 
becomes £3.5m by 2017/2018. The prospects are for this deficit to rise still 
further in 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 which means that the outlook is 
considerably worse than in previous years.  

 
10.2 Current predictions of budget requirements as set out on the February budget 

papers are: 
 
  Year  £’s  %  

Increase 
  2015/2016 41,212,721  
  2016/2017 42,636,983 3.5 
  2017/2018 43,630,100 2.3 
 
10.3 Funding Streams however are expected to reduce as follows: 
 

 2015/2016 
£ 

2016/2017 
£ 

2017/2018 
£ 

Revenue Support Grant 9,772,122   

Business Rates Actual 3,441,383   

Top Up Grant 6,477,078   

Council Tax Freeze Grant 
Previous years  

334,364   

Freeze Grant 2013/2014 235,811   

Total Grant Yield 20,260,758 18,639,897 17,335,105 

 
10.4 There are no indications yet as to whether further reductions in grant are 

expected beyond 2017/2018 although the Local Government Association have 
provided some estimates which have been used in the above table. There 
may be further financial challenges but these remain unclear at present.  

 
10.5 By ignoring any possibility of further freeze grants and assuming that Council 

Tax yield will increases by 1% or 2% in each of the years 2015/2016 and 
2016/2017 the shortfall is calculated as follows: 

  
  



 

 2015/2016 
£ 

2016/2017 
£ 

2017/2018 
£ 

Total Grant Yield 20,260,758 18,639,897 17,335,105 

Budget Requirement 41,212,721 42,636,983 43,630,100 

Balance to be met 
locally  

20,951,963 23,997,086 26,294,995 

    

Council Tax Yield* 21,109,003 21,320,093 21,533,294 

    

Budget Deficit  2,676,993 4,761,702 

Budget Surplus 157,040   

    

Council Tax Freeze 
Grant 

244,066 488,132 732,198 

    

Budget Shortfall   2,188,861 3,939,504 

Budget Surplus 401,106   

 
*Assumes a 1% rise in tax base but no rise in Council Tax  
 
The above figures suggest that further savings of approximately £3.9m will be 
required by the start of the 2017/2018 financial year.   It should be pointed out 
that if the deficit of £2.2m in 2016/2017 is resolved then the deficit in 
2017/2018 would reduce to £1.75m. 

 
10.6 The above figures can be offset to some degree by increases in the levels of 

Council Tax; a 1% increase yielding approximately £200,000 p.a. 
 
10.7 More recent estimates show that grant reductions going forward may be far 

more severe than these predictions and therefore budget planning for 
2016/2017 is expected to be working to much lower figures when the results of 
the 2015 spending review are released. 

  
10.8 When looking for budget reductions the overall spend profile of the Authority 

must be considered. It has previously been reported to Members that the 
percentage split of the budget by major heading is:  

 
  Uniformed Pay  64% 
  Non-Uniformed Pay  11% 
  Transport/Premises    9%  
  Capital Financing    9% 
  Communications/IT    7% 
 
 Indeed more recent estimates show that nearly 80% of all spending is on 

public facing services and only 4.5% is spent on corporate support.  
 

10.9 The Fire Cover Review currently taking place may offer some alternative 
options for savings by way of further adjusting how the front line service is 
delivered but even these measures may be insufficient to meet the required 
reductions.  Nevertheless, this strategy is designed to support the authority 
through this very difficult period and ensure that the future remains financially 
sound.      



  
APPENDIX A 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR 2015/16 
 
  
The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires the 
Authority to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the Authority’s capital investment plans are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable.  
 
The Act therefore requires the Authority to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing 
and to prepare an annual investment strategy: this sets out the Authority’s policies for 
managing its investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those 
investments.  
 
The suggested strategy for 2015/16 in respect of the following aspects of the treasury 
management function is based upon Officers’ views on interest rates, supplemented 
with leading market forecasts provided by the Authority’s treasury adviser, Capita 
Asset Services.   
 
The strategy covers: 
 

 Prudential and treasury indicators; 

 The borrowing requirement; 

 Prospects for interest rates; 

 The borrowing strategy; 

 Policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 Debt rescheduling; 

 The investment strategy; 

 Creditworthiness policy; 

 Policy on use of external service providers; 

 The Minimum Revenue Provision policy; 

 Training of Officers and Members. 
 
The Authority recognises that whilst there is value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources, responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times. The Authority will therefore ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon external service providers.  
 
BALANCED BUDGET REQUIREMENT 
 
It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, for the Authority to produce a balanced budget. In particular, Section 32 
requires a local authority to calculate its budget requirement for each financial year to 
include the revenue costs that flow from capital financing decisions. This, therefore, 
means that increases in capital expenditure must be limited to a level whereby 
increases in charges to revenue from: - 
 



 Increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance additional 
capital expenditure, and  

 

 Any increases in running costs from new capital projects are limited to a level 
which is affordable within the projected income of the Authority for the 
foreseeable future.   

 
ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 
 
Growth in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for the UK was strong in both 2013 
(2.7%) and 2014 (2.6%) and there is some optimism that this will continue as the 
positive effects of the fall in the price of oil feeds through to the economy. Despite 
this, there needs to be a move away from reliance on consumer spending and the 
housing market to stimulate economic growth and towards manufacturing and 
exporting 
 
Unemployment is steadily falling and this is expected to continue, although this may 
lead to significant increases in wage growth over the next few years. Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) inflation has fallen sharply, reaching a low of 0.5% in December 2014, 
and it is thought that inflation could become negative in 2015 although would return 
to positive over the medium term. 

 

The public sector deficit has not reduced as planned, and this means that the 
Government is committing to a speedier elimination of this deficit over the next few 
years. Gilt yields have fallen to very low levels and this has reduced the interest 
payments on Government debt. 
 
The Eurozone continues to face the threat of weak or negative growth and of 
deflation. In January 2015 the European Central Bank launched a Euro 1.1 trillion 
programme of quantitative easing to promote growth. There is still a concern about 
levels of sovereign debt, particularly for Greece, Italy, Portugal, Ireland and Cyprus. 

 

Economic forecasting remains difficult, with a number of external factors influencing 
the UK position. The longer term expectation is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise. 
 
Capita Asset Services has provided a forecast on the bank interest rate, which draws 
on current City forecasts: 
 

Capita Asset Services Bank Rate Forecasts  

As at 31 March 2015 0.50% 

As at 31 March 2016 0.75% 

As at 31 March 2017 1.25% 

As at 31 March 2018 2.00% 

 

MANAGEMENT OF CASH RESOURCES 
 
The Authority uses a main current account, an investment account and a number of 
local petty cash accounts. All of these accounts are held with Barclays Bank PLC and 
are managed online. This system allows the Authority to make transfers to and from 
accounts in real time and thus allows the current account balance to be maintained at 



a minimum level. All surplus funds are held either in the investment account for short 
periods or are lent to institutional borrowers over longer periods. 
 
The bank overdraft level is £200,000 and this is usually sufficient. There are 
occasions when the overdraft exceeds £200,000 and temporary arrangements are 
made with the bank to increase the limit to £500,000. The Prudential Code report 
included an overdraft limit of £500,000 within the authorised limit to allow for such 
instances. It is proposed that the overdraft facility remains at a level of £200,000. 

 
Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that cash flows are 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. A 3 year cash flow 
projection is prepared together with a 3 month rolling cash flow forecast. The 3 month 
forecast is updated regularly and this process reveals when cash surpluses are likely 
to arise.  
  
The current bank account is checked on a daily basis and the balance is transferred 
to the investment account (Business Premium Account) if the interest rate is 
favourable.  
 
Cash management processes have been examined by internal auditors and have 
been shown to be robust. 
 
BORROWING STRATEGY 
 
The prudential indicators for borrowing are set out in Appendix B. Background 
information relating to these indicators is contained within the Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance 2015/16 report which is elsewhere on this agenda. 
 
The capital financing requirement is the sum of money required from external 
sources to fund capital expenditure i.e. the Authority’s underlying need to borrow or 
lease. For 2015/16 this figure is estimated at £27,981,000, which is lower than would 
have been the case if the Authority had not approved the use of revenue reserves to 
finance future capital expenditure as part of the budget 2011/12 to 2013/14. 
 
The Authority’s strategy in the past has been to borrow funds from the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB). The PWLB is an agent of HM Treasury and its function is to 
lend money from the National Loans Fund to local authorities and other prescribed 
bodies. Its interest rates are generally favourable compared to those applicable to 
borrowings from other sources within the marketplace. However, in 2007/08, a £4m 
loan was borrowed from a bank, with a fixed interest rate which was lower than the 
equivalent PWLB rate. It is therefore proposed that the Authority continues to borrow 
primarily from the PWLB, but considers fixed rate market borrowing when market 
rates are lower than PWLB rates. 
 
The loan of £4m referred to in paragraph 2.20 is structured as a “Lender Option 
Borrower Option (LOBO)” loan. This means that on 7 March 2013 and on that 
anniversary every five years, the lender may revise the interest rate, which is 
currently 4.13%. The Authority may choose to repay the loan without penalty if the 
amended interest rate is not advantageous. If the lender does exercise the option to 
revise the interest rate, the strategy will be to either agree to continue the loan with 
the revised interest rate or to repay the loan and replace it with new, long term debt 
at a lower rate depending on which is the most advantageous option for the 



Authority. As the interest rate was not changed on 7 March 2013, the next 
opportunity for a revision is 7 March 2018. 
 
Over the next three years, it is anticipated that the Authority will need to borrow up to 
£13m to finance the capital programme and to replace up to £4m of maturing loans. 
 
Capita Asset Services’ view on future PWLB interest rates is: 
 

 Mar 15 Jun 15 Sep 15 Dec 15 Mar 16 Mar 17 Mar 18 

5 yr PWLB 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.50% 2.60% 3.20% 3.60% 

10 yr PWLB 2.80% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.80% 4.20% 

25 yr PWLB 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.50% 4.80% 

50 yr PWLB 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.50% 4.80% 

 
 The table above has been adjusted for the PWLB certainty rate, which is a 20 
basis points reduction in the interest rate for Authorities such as this one which 
have applied for it.  

 
In view of the above forecast the Authority’s borrowing strategy will be based upon 
the following information. 
 

 A combination of capital receipts, internal funds and borrowing will be used to 
finance capital expenditure in 2015/16 and beyond. 

 

 Two PWLB loans will mature in the medium term (£2m in 2016/17 and £2m in 
2017/18). These will need to be replaced with new borrowing and it is estimated 
that new borrowing in the period 2015/16 to 2017/18 will be in the region of £13m. 

 

 Capita Asset Services’ view is that PWLB rates are likely to rise over the next 
three years. It may therefore be advantageous to take out new loans earlier in the 
period, as this will have a lesser impact on the revenue budget for the periods of 
the loans. However if this is in advance of the need to spend, there will be a cost 
of capital impact as referred to in paragraph 2.27 below. 

 

 PWLB rates on loans of less than ten years duration are expected to be lower 
than longer term PWLB rates. However, the existing debt maturity profile of the 
Authority will mean that longer term borrowing at a higher cost is required to give 
a balanced loans portfolio. New borrowing is likely to be for durations which are 
between 15 and 35 years and above 45 years to re-balance the loans portfolio. 

 

 Consideration will also be given to borrowing fixed rate market loans at 0.25% – 
0.50% below the PWLB target rate and to maintaining an appropriate balance 
between PWLB and market debt in the debt portfolio. 

 

 PWLB Maturity loans will continue to be taken if the overall cost of such loans is 
less than the equivalent Annuity loans. If this strategy results in a short term 
breach of the Gross Borrowing and Capital Financing Requirement indicator, then 
the reasons for this will be explained to members of the Authority. The Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance 2015/16 report, which is also on the agenda, explains 
this issue in more detail. 

 
 
 



In normal circumstances the main sensitivities of the forecast are likely to be the two 
scenarios noted below. Officers, in conjunction with the treasury advisers, will 
continually monitor both the prevailing interest rates and the market forecasts, 
adopting the following responses to a change in position: 

 

 If it were felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and short term 
rates, e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of 
risks of deflation, then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential 
rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing will be considered; 

 

 If it were felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in long and 
short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from a greater than 
expected increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation 
risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action that fixed 
rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates were still relatively cheap. 

 
The Authority’s gross debt position is projected to be £20.4m by the end of 2014/15, 
but investments of approximately £7m are expected to be in place at 31 March 2015, 
giving a net debt position of around £13m. Currently, investment interest rates are 
substantially lower than debt interest rates so the use of reserves rather than 
borrowing to finance capital expenditure over the past three years has resulted in 
better value for money in the short term. This strategy came to an end by the close of 
2013/14 and, with interest rates likely to rise over the medium term, additional longer 
term costs will be incurred when surplus reserves have been exhausted and there is 
once more a requirement to borrow at higher rates. 
 
The Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed, although this scenario is 
unlikely anyway given that current borrowing rates are higher than current investment 
interest rates, creating a cost of capital impact. Any decision to borrow in advance 
will be considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that 
the Authority can ensure the security of funds invested.  In determining whether 
borrowing will be undertaken in advance of need the Authority will: 
 

 Ensure that borrowing is only undertaken to finance the capital programme 
approved within the current Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 

 Ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the future 
plans and budgets have been considered; 

 

 Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 
timing of any decision to borrow; 

 

 Consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate 
periods to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

 
The rescheduling of debt involves the early repayment of existing borrowings and 
their replacement with new loans. As short term borrowing rates will be considerably 
cheaper than longer term fixed interest rates, this would indicate a potential to 
generate savings by switching from long to short term debt. However, a premium 
would be payable which may negate the savings, and the loan maturity profile of the 
Authority indicates that this would increase exposure to interest rate risk. It is 
therefore unlikely that rescheduling of debt will take place in 2015/16 although this 



will be kept under review should circumstances change. Rescheduling will be 
considered for the following reasons: 
 

 The generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
 

 Enhancing the balance of the portfolio by amending the maturity profile.  
 
Any rescheduling of debt will be reported to Members at the earliest meeting 
following its action. 
 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
The Authority will have regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (“the Guidance”) issued in March 2004, the Audit Commission’s report 
on Icelandic investments and the 2011 revised CIPFA Treasury Management in 
Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance. The Authority’s 
investment priorities are:  
 
(a)   the security of capital and  
(b)   the liquidity of its investments.  

 
The Authority will also aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. The risk appetite of this 
Authority is low in order to give priority to security of its investments. The borrowing 
of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful and this Authority 
will not engage in such activity. 
  
Investment opportunities will arise when there are temporary cash surpluses. In 
accordance with guidance from CIPFA, and in order to minimise the risk to 
investments, the Authority sets a minimum acceptable credit quality of counterparties 
for investment. To determine the institutions with which investments may be placed, 
the Authority uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset Services.  
This service uses a sophisticated modelling approach with credit ratings from all 
three rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and Standard and Poors forming the core 
element.  It is recognised that ratings should not be the sole determinant of the 
quality of an institution, and Capita’s creditworthiness service does not rely solely on 
the current credit ratings of counterparties but also uses the following as overlays:   

 

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 
 

 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in 
credit ratings; 

 

 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries; 

 

 Information from the financial press and share price information.  
 

The methodology used by Capita to create creditworthiness ratings is being 
amended. This is due to the withdrawal by the credit ratings agencies of an uplift in 
ratings due to implied sovereign support for institutions. The actual removal of 
implied sovereign support is only likely to happen when it is deemed that financial 
institutions are stronger and less vulnerable to financial crisis. 



 
The modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches, credit outlooks and 
CDS spreads in a weighted scoring system for which the end product is a series of 
colour code bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties and 
enable diversification in investments. These colour codes are used by the Authority 
to determine both the credit-worthiness of institutions and the duration for 
investments. It is regarded as an essential tool, which the Authority would not be able 
to replicate using in house resources.  
 
The selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness will be achieved 
by selection of institutions down to a minimum durational band within Capita’s weekly 
credit list of potential counterparties. The Authority will therefore use counterparties 
within the following durational bands: 
 

 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 

 Orange 1 year 

 Red  6 months 

 Green  100 days  
 
Institutions within the “purple band” (24 months), the “yellow band” (5 years) or with 
no colour band will not be used. 

 
The Authority has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA from Fitch Ratings (or 
equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide). The list of countries that 
qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix C. 
This list will be added to or deducted from by Officers should ratings change in 
accordance with this policy. 
 
The latest credit list provided by Capita will be made available to Members at the 
meeting. 
 
In accordance with its low risk appetite, the Authority may undertake the following 
types of “specified” investments:  
  

 Deposits with the Debt Management Office (Government); 
 

 Term deposits with Banks and Building Societies; 
 

 Call deposits with Banks and Building Societies; 
 

 Term Deposits with uncapped English and Welsh local authority bodies; 
 

 Triple-A rated Money Market Funds; 
 

 UK Treasury Bills. 
 
The risks associated with investing will be reduced if investments are spread e.g. 
over counterparties or over countries. The Authority will therefore aim to limit its 
investment with any single counterparty to £2m. It is, however, difficult to impose any 
further spreading requirement due to the relatively small size of the Authority’s 
investments and the fact that investment institutions will often only accept a minimum 
investment sum, which may render any such policy unworkable. Despite this Officers 



will, wherever possible, avoid the concentration of investments with one counterparty 
or group. 
 
The majority of past investments have been for periods of 3 months or less. In the 
current financial climate no term deposit investments with other counterparties, such 
as UK semi-nationalised banks and local authorities, will be made for more than 1 
year without the prior approval of the Treasurer and the Chair of Finance and 
Resources Committee. The Authority will avoid locking into longer term deals while 
investment rates are down at historically low levels unless exceptionally attractive 
rates are available which make longer term deals worthwhile.  
 
All credit ratings will be monitored via a weekly update from Capita Asset Services. 
The Authority is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies as and when they 
occur through its use of the Capita creditworthiness service. If a downgrade results in 
the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting the Authority’s minimum 
criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately. In addition 
to the use of Credit Ratings the Authority will be advised of information in movements 
in Credit Default Swap against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a 
weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution 
or removal from the Authority’s lending list. 
 
Investments will normally be made for durations which accord with Capita’s credit 
quality list so, for example, an investment would be made for no more than 100 days 
(3 months) with a “Green” rated counterparty. This policy works well with fixed term 
deposits but where the Authority invests in a “call” account in a bank there is no fixed 
duration for the deposit. In such instances, officers will monitor intelligence about the 
bank and give notice to withdraw funds immediately if there is any indication of a 
substantially increased risk to the security of the deposit. Where call accounts are 
used, deposits will only be made where the minimum notice period is no longer than 
the Capita suggested duration for that institution, and it is therefore recognised that 
the total period of the investment may be longer than the Capita suggested duration 
in some cases. 
 
Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition this 
Authority will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that government support. 
 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY 2015/16 
 
The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 came into force on 31 March 2008. These regulations were an 
amendment to the 2003 regulations and introduced several changes to the capital 
finance regime for local authorities (including fire authorities) in England. The most 
significant of these were provisions dealing with the calculation of Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP), which is the amount an authority charges to its revenue account in 
respect of the financing of capital expenditure. 
 
Under the regulations, Authorities must make a “prudent provision” for MRP and 
guidance is given on the interpretation of this: “provision for the borrowing which 
financed the acquisition of an asset should be made over a period bearing some 
relation to that over which the asset continues to provide a service”. This guidance 
translates into the asset life method. Authorities are permitted to continue charging 
MRP calculated using the old method for borrowing and credit arrangements which 



funded capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2007. This method calculates a 
charge of 4% of the capital financing requirement each year to revenue. 
 
The following policy on MRP is therefore recommended to members and budgetary 
provision for MRP has been made on this basis: 
 

 For all borrowing and credit arrangements to fund capital expenditure incurred 
before or during 2006/07, the minimum revenue provision applied in 2015/16 will 
continue to be calculated on the basis of the 4% CFR (capital financing 
requirement) method. This method will continue to be used in future years for 
capital expenditure incurred during or before 2006/07. 

 

 For all borrowing and credit arrangements to fund capital expenditure incurred 
from 2007/08 onwards, the minimum revenue provision applied in 2015/16 will be 
calculated on the basis of the Asset Life method. 

 
The regulations also allow for Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) charges to be 
made. A VRP charge would be in addition to the MRP charge and the two 
advantages of making such a charge would be that firstly in future years a “holiday” 
could be taken in respect of MRP charges up to the value of the total VRP charges in 
prior years, and secondly future MRP charges would be reduced, resulting in 
revenue budget savings. If the situation arises in the year whereby Officers feel that a 
VRP charge would be advantageous (e.g. if there are revenue budget underspends), 
then a recommendation will be made to Finance and Resources Committee to 
approve a VRP charge during the year. 
 
TRAINING OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS 
 
Under the Code, good practice is defined as ensuring that all staff involved in 
treasury management are appropriately trained and experienced to undertake their 
duties. Employees within the Finance Department who carry out treasury 
management activities are suitably trained and experienced and routinely attend at 
least one treasury management update event each year to ensure that their 
knowledge keeps pace with changes. It is also suggested that those tasked with 
treasury management scrutiny responsibilities also have access to suitable training 
and a treasury management training seminar was last held for Members of the 
Finance and Resources Committee in July 2014. The requirement for further Member 
training will be kept under review over the next year. 



APPENDIX B 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS AND TARGETS 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR AFFORDABILITY 

 
 

Estimates of the Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream for 2014/15, 
2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18, and Actual Ratio of Financing Costs for 2013/14 
 

2013/14 

Actual £000s 

2014/15 
Estimate 

£000s 

2015/16 
Estimate 

£000s 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£000s 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£000s 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

  7.3% 5.0% 5.3% 5.9% 6.9% 

 
On 24 October 2008 the Finance and Resources Committee considered a report on 
Sustainable Capital Plans. This report concluded that in order to meet the Prudential 
Code requirements of affordability and sustainability, the ratio of financing costs to 
net revenue stream should not exceed 8%. The table above shows that the use of 
revenue contributions to finance capital over the past two years has had the effect of 
reducing this ratio and keeping it within the 8% target despite significant reductions in 
the net revenue stream (revenue budget). 

Estimates of the Incremental Impact of the New Capital Investment Decisions 
on the Council Tax (Band D) for 2013/14, 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 

 

2014/15 Estimate 
£000s 

2015/16 Estimate 
£000s 

2016/17 Estimate 
£000s 

2017/18 Estimate 
£000s 

Incremental Impact on Council Tax 

-£3.97 £0.18 £0.96 £1.58 

  
The table above shows that the effect of financing capital expenditure from reserves 
in 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14, and the use of capital receipts in 2013/14, is a 

significant reduction in the incremental impact on council tax in 2014/15. Beyond this, 
there are small incremental increases which reflect the impact on the revenue budget 
of financing the capital programme. 
 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR PRUDENCE 

 
Gross Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 
This indicator has been amended in the 2011 revision to the Prudential Code and the 
revision took effect in the 2013/14 financial year. It used to be “Net Borrowing” i.e. 
borrowing minus investments but is now “Gross Borrowing”. This indicator requires 



that external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
capital financing requirement estimated up to the end of 2017/18. Performance 
against this indicator will be monitored throughout the year. For information, at 31 
March 2014 (2013/14 financial year), the Capital Financing Requirement was 
£22,751k, Net Borrowing (total borrowing less investments) was £12,411k and Gross 
Borrowing was £22,476k. The estimate of the Capital Financing Requirement at the 
end of 2017/18 is £34,935k, thereby demonstrating that the indicator has not been 
breached. At the end of 2017/18, Gross Borrowings are expected to be in the region 
of £30m, with the Capital Financing Requirement estimated at £34.9m showing that 
this indicator should be achievable.  
 
Treasury Management 
 
As required by this indicator, the Authority has adopted the CIPFA Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance 
Notes. 
 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND EXTERNAL 
DEBT  

 
Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure to be Incurred in 2013/14, 2014/15, 
2015/16 and 2016/17, and Actual Capital Expenditure for 2012/13 
 

2013/14 

Actual £000s 

2014/15 

Estimate 
£000s 

2015/16 
Estimate 

£000s 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£000s 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£000s 

Capital Expenditure Total 

3,327 6,438 4,869 6,015 4,290 

Capital Expenditure – Financed by Borrowing / Finance Lease 

0 3,884 1,346 4,580 2,574 

Capital Expenditure – Financed by Revenue Contributions 

1,652 0 0 0 0 

Capital Expenditure – Financed by Internal Funds 

84 1,216 1,273 1,420 1,701 

Capital Expenditure – Financed by Capital Grant 

1,591 1,088 0 0 0 

Capital Expenditure – Financed by Capital Receipt 

0 250 2,250 15 15 

 
The estimates for 2015/16 to 2017/18 are submitted to the Fire Authority for approval 
elsewhere on this agenda. The capital expenditure estimate for 2015/16 shown in the 
above table includes assumed slippage from 2014/15. The final capital expenditure 
for each year may be different from the figures shown above but overall should be 
similar. Various financing methods have been assumed for the future years but in 
reality, decisions relating to financing methods will be taken as part of options 



analyses which will consider the best long term options for the Authority. These 
options need to be assessed at the time of financing. “Internal funds” in the above 
table refers to the use of cash available within budgeted resources generated by the 
minimum revenue provision charge, which is a non-cash transaction. Unused cash 
from this source is assumed to be carried forward for use in future years.  
 
Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement as at the end of 2013/14, 2014/15, 
2015/16 and 2016/17, and Actual Capital Financing Requirement as at 31/03/13 
  

2013/14 

Actual £000s 

2014/15 
Estimate 

£000s 

2015/16 
Estimate 

£000s 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£000s 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£000s 

Capital Financing Requirement 

22,751 26,635 27,981 32,561 34,935 

 
The Capital Financing Requirement is the sum of money required from external 
sources to fund Capital Expenditure, and represents the Authority’s underlying need 
to borrow for capital purposes. It will therefore be the aggregate of all capital 
expenditure, less any revenue contributions, capital grants or capital receipts. The 
above table shows that the Capital Financing Requirement increases between 
2013/14 and 2017/18, which is largely due to the lack of capital grant or revenue 
contributions available to fund the capital programme, resulting in a requirement for 
borrowing. 

 
The Sustainable Capital Plans report referred to in paragraph 2.1 also concluded that 
in order to meet the Prudential Code requirements of affordability and sustainability, 
the capital financing requirement in future years should not exceed £40m. 
 
Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit for External Debt 
 
The Operational Boundary is the Authority’s estimate of its total external debt, net of 
investments but including other long-term liabilities which are separately identified. 
This is to reflect the most likely scenario and not the worst case. It is possible for the 
operational boundary to be temporarily breached to take account of unusual 
movements in cash flow but this should not be a regular occurrence. A variation from 
the operational boundary is permissible, but will be reported to the Fire Authority. 
 
The Authorised Limit is essentially the same as the Operational Boundary but allows 
headroom over and above it to take account of unusual movements in cash flow and 
therefore should be the maximum amount of external debt that the Authority is 
exposed to at any given time. Any proposed variation from the Authorised Limit must 
be authorised by the Fire Authority 
 
Cash flow forecasts have been prepared for 2015/16 to 2017/18 and indicate that 
there will be no difficulty in maintaining a positive current account balance on a 
month by month basis and therefore there is no proposal to seek an increase in the 
Authority’s approved overdraft limit of £200,000. However, previous experience 
shows that these estimates can sometimes be wrong temporarily due to delays in 
income receipts and it has proved necessary in the past to negotiate temporary 
increases in this figure of up to £500,000. It is therefore proposed that this buffer of 



£500,000 should be included within both the operational boundary and the authorised 
limit. 
  

 2015/16 
£000s 

2016/17 
£000s 

2017/18 
£000s 

Operational Boundary 

O.B. for borrowing 28,076 27,776 30,076 

O.B. for other long term liabilities 0 0 0 

Total - Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 

28,076 27,776 30,076 

Authorised Limit 

A.L. for borrowing 30,883 30,553 33,083 

A.L. for other long term liabilities 0 0 0 

Total - Authorised Limit for External 
Debt 

30,883 30,553 33,083 

 
Actual External Debt as at 31/03/14 
 

 2013/14 

£000s 

Actual borrowing 22,476 

Actual other long term liabilities 53 

Total – Actual External Debt 22,529 

 
INDICATORS FOR TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
The Service carries out its own treasury management in accordance with the CIPFA 
Code of Practice for Treasury Management, which was revised in 2011. The 
Authority has adopted a low risk approach to treasury management, which seeks to 
ensure that investments are secure and that there is sufficient liquidity of funds to 
enable the Authority carry out its business. 
 
Gross and Net Debt 
 
The actual amount of external long term borrowing as at 31/03/14 was £22,476k, with 
short term borrowing totalling £2,068k. Other long term liabilities at the same date 
amounted to £53k. At the same date, the amount of investments was £10,065k, 
giving a net debt position of £12,411k as at 31/03/14. 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy 2015/16 report, which is elsewhere on this 
agenda, outlines the proposal to borrow over the next three years to finance the 
capital programme and to replace maturing loans, and the decision about when to 
borrow will depend upon interest rate forecasts. For the purposes of setting 
indicators, assumptions have been made about when borrowing may take place – 
the reality of this will be determined by Officers in conjunction with the Authority’s 
treasury advisers.  



 

Interest Rate Risk Exposure 

 

In terms of borrowing, it has been considered prudent to use Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB) fixed interest loans on most occasions. This is because the PWLB 
generally offers rates which cannot be obtained elsewhere in the marketplace. 
However the Authority did take out a market loan in 2007/08, benefiting from an 
advantageous rate. Unlike lending, borrowing is a low risk activity so future borrowing 
arrangements will be entered into on the basis of what is most advantageous for the 
Authority at the time. Any proposals to borrow from alternative sources to the PWLB 
will be discussed and agreed with the Treasurer. 

 

Borrowing in the past has been at fixed interest rates although variable rates are not 
ruled out. It is therefore considered that up to 30% of borrowing might come from 
variable rate sources if these are considered financially advantageous at the time of 
financing. For policy changes beyond this, however, it is suggested that Fire 
Authority approval should be sought.  

 

The total value of lending is not expected to exceed £26m, which is likely to peak 
around July 2015 however it is difficult to assess what the likely investment profile 
might be as this depends upon capital expenditure timings as well as the level of 
pension top up grant received from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government, and the timing of borrowing. The aim will be to reduce risk by investing 
funds in more than one institution at any given time. Members should note, however, 
that it is not feasible to set a maximum limit for investing with any one institution as 
the numbers of banks which meet our minimum credit rating criteria is now very few 
and even those on the list will not always accept our investments as the Authority is a 
“small player”. The Authority can also invest in Money Market Funds in line with the 
Treasury Management Strategy.  

 

It is proposed that the Authority sets the following limits for interest rate exposures: 
 

 Benchmark 
% 

2014/15 
% 

2015/16 
% 

2016/17 
% 

2017/18 
% 

Interest Rate Exposures 

Upper Limit for fixed 
rate exposures 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Upper Limit for 
variable rate 

exposures 

30% 30% 30% 30% 30% 

 
Loan Maturity 
 
The code of practice and CIPFA guidelines state that there should be no direct 
linkage between the assets financed and the term of loans taken out. Upper limits in 
terms of loan maturity are set to ensure that the Authority is not exposed to the risk of 
having to repay loans and then re-borrow in the short term when interest rates might 
be high.  
 



It is recommended that the maturity structure limits remain unchanged for 2015/16. 
Projections of principal repayments for currently held loans show that it is likely that 
maturity structure limits will be breached next year until a new loan is taken. When 
borrowing does take place, it should therefore be for a longer term than 15 years to 
protect the Authority from future interest rate risk. New borrowing with maturity of 
around 35-45 years should be avoided due to the current structure of borrowing in 
the ‘over 20 years’ category. 
 

Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

 Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 20% 0% 

12 months to 5 years 30% 0% 

5 years to 10 years 75% 0% 

10 years to 20 years 100% 0% 

Over 20 years 100% 30% 

 
Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 Days 
 
Investments arising from borrowing to support the capital programme are unlikely to 
exceed one year in duration, however for surplus cash which supports reserves it 
may be desirable to invest monies for a slightly longer period to achieve a level of 
certainty around interest receipts and perhaps beneficial interest rates. Such 
decisions will be influenced by market conditions at the time and the liquidity of funds 
will be of paramount importance. It is proposed that Officers should be able to invest 
monies for longer than a year if this appears to be an advantageous strategy, but that 
a maximum limit of £2m be applied to any such investments. This will contain the 
Authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss arising from having to seek early 
repayment of investments. 
 

2015/16  

£000s 

2016/17  

£000s 

2017/18  

£000s 

Prudential Limits for Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 Days 

2,000 2,000 2,000 

 
 
  



                   APPENDIX C 
 

 The proposed Capital Programme for 2015/2016 to 2017/18  

 
  

Estimated 
Slippage 

 
2015/2016 
£000’s 

Total 
2015/2016 
£000’s 

 
2016/2017 
£000’s 

 
2017/2018 
£000’s 

Transport      

Rescue Pump 
Replacement 

253,020 623,860 876,880 937,695 939,615 

Special Appliances 272,000 0 272,000 75,000 0 

Command Support Unit 120,000 0 120,000 0 0 

Appliance Eqpt 36,405 16,960 53,365 25,440 25,440 

Light Vehicles 394,500 381,020 775,520 479,240 205,405 

Total Transport 1,075,925 1,021,840 2,097,765 1,517,375 1,170,460 

      

Equipment      

Equipment for Specials 0 15,000 15,000 0 0 

Replacement Breathing 
Apparatus 

0 0 0 0 600,000 

Radio Replacements 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Equipment  15,000 15,000 0 600,000 

      

Property      

Retention - Retford FS 0 60,000 60,000 0 0 

Retention - London 
Road 

0 0 0 0 60,000 

Construction of London 
Road 

0 4,000,000 4,000,000 439,400 0 

Fire Station Project 
Initial Design- Worksop 

0 75,000 75,000 0 0 

Fire Station Project 
Initial Design – Newark 

0 75,000 75,000 0 0 

Fire Station Project 
Initial Design - Hucknall 

0 75,000 75,000 0 0 

Purchase of Land  0   400,000 400,000 

Construction Stage of 
New Station (Assumed 
commence in Sept 
2016) 

0   1,400,000 1,100,000 

Construction Stage of 
New Station (Assumed 
commence in Nov 2017) 

0    800,000 

Property Total 0 4,285,000 4,285,000 2,239,400 2,360,000 

      

I.C.T      

Renewals Programme 0 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 

Mobile Computing 0 60,000 60,000 20,000 20,000 

PABX Replacement 25,000 0 25,000 0 0 

Business Process 
Automation 

150,000 0 150,000 0 0 

CFRMIS Online 47,000 0 47,000 0 0 

ICT Total 222,000 200,000 422,000 160,000 160,000 

      



  
Estimated 
Slippage 

 
2015/2016 
£000’s 

Total 
2015/2016 
£000’s 

 
2016/2017 
£000’s 

 
2017/2018 
£000’s 

IT Systems      

Agresso Upgrade 0 70,000 70,000 0 0 

Tranman  0 25,000 25,000 11,000 0 

Payroll System 0 40,000 40,000 0 0 

IT Systems Total 0 135,000 135,000 11,000 0 

      

Total Programme 1,297,925 5,656,840 6,954,765 3,927,775 4,290,460 

      

 



APPENDIX D 
 

CASH LIMIT 2015/16 to 2017/18                                                                                    
 

    

Original 
Budget 

2014/2015 
£000's 

Revised 
Budget 

2014/2015  
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2015/2016 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2016/2017 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2017/2018 
£000's 

Employees  Direct Employee Expenses  32,661 32,657 31,342 32,195 32,618 

 
Indirect Employee Expenses  530 554 521 521 521 

 
Pension  778 778 821 859 874 

  
33,968 33,989 32,684 33,574 34,012 

Premises-Related Expenditure  
Repairs Alterations and Maintenance of 
Buildings  537 537 544 560 576 

 
Energy Costs  389 389 371 401 401 

 
Rents  95 95 95 13 3 

 
Rates  712 712 712 724 724 

 
Water  65 65 72 81 85 

 
Fixture and Fittings  1 1 1 1 1 

 
Cleaning and Domestic Supplies  272 271 300 314 314 

 
Grounds Maintenance Costs  25 25 26 27 28 

 
Premises Insurance  26 26 35 36 37 

 
Refuse Collection  35 35 37 38 39 

  
2,158 2,157 2,192 2,194 2,207 

Transport-Related Expenditure  Direct Transport Cost  1,123 1,120 1,127 1,129 1,169 

 
Recharges  146 146 128 128 128 

 
Public Transport  22 30 17 17 17 

 
Transport Insurance  267 267 266 271 277 

 
Car Allowances  375 373 369 369 369 

  
1,932 1,935 1,907 1,915 1,960 

Supplies & Services  Equipment Furniture and Materials  724 725 683 680 681 

 
Catering  46 47 44 44 44 

 
Clothes Uniforms and Laundry  294 294 264 264 264 

 
Printing Stationery and General Office 79 82 85 95 95 



APPENDIX D 
 

CASH LIMIT 2015/16 to 2017/18                                                                                    
 

    

Original 
Budget 

2014/2015 
£000's 

Revised 
Budget 

2014/2015  
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2015/2016 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2016/2017 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2017/2018 
£000's 

Expenses  

 
Services  489 492 474 480 482 

 
Communications and Computing  1,608 1,607 1,542 1,498 1,498 

 
Expenses  39 39 36 36 36 

 
Grants and Subscriptions  35 34 36 37 37 

 
Miscellaneous Expenses  318 318 272 275 278 

  
3,632 3,637 3,436 3,408 3,415 

Third Party Payments  Other Local Authorities  102 102 103 103 103 

 
Private Contractors  23 23 23 24 24 

  
125 125 126 127 127 

Support Services  Finance  153 158 162 165 168 

 
Corporate Services  41 41 43 44 44 

  
194 199 204 208 212 

Sales Fees & Charges  Customer and Client Receipts  -552 -122 -144 -146 -147 

  
-552 -122 -144 -146 -147 

Other Income  Government Grants  -515 -515 -470 -470 -470 

 

Other Grants/Reimbursements and 
Contributions  -267 -731 -873 -621 -621 

 
Interest  -86 -86 -76 -66 -56 

  
-868 -1,333 -1,419 -1,157 -1,147 

Capital Financing Costs  Interest Payments  961 961 952 1,092 1,289 

 
Debt Management Expenses  1,343 1,343 1,273 1,420 1,701 

  
2,304 2,304 2,225 2,512 2,990 

       Budget  
 

42,892 42,892 41,213 42,637 43,630 

 





 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

ROLE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER AND THE TREASURER 
 
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To set out for Members the respective roles of the Head of Finance and the 
independent Treasurer and how these two officers work together to achieve 
compliance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA)  
best practice paper on the role of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
The report also sets out the financial principles and the delegation profiles in relation 
to finance.   
 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Neil Timms 
Strategic Director of Finance and Resources 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : neil.timms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The recent restructure of the Strategic Management Team and the 

appointment of a new independent Treasurer creates an opportunity for the 
Fire Authority to review its compliance with CIPFA’s guidelines for the Chief 
Financial Officer and to refresh the existing financial principles and delegation 
profiles document to fit the new structure.  
 

1.2 CIPFA set out their view of the role and responsibilities of the Chief Financial 
Officer. Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
has both a Head of Finance and an independent Treasurer who between them 
hold all of the responsibilities set out in CIPFA’s standard. It is therefore 
important for the good financial governance of the Authority that the roles of 
these two officers are understood and that they comply with the most recent 
CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer. This is to ensure 
not only compliance with the CIPFA standard but also to ensure legal 
compliance under various statutes. 

 
1.2 This paper sets out the responsibilities and obligations of the Authority in 

respect of financial governance and goes on to describe how these are met 
under the current governance structure. 

 
1.3 Appendix A sets out the financial principles and delegation profiles of the 

Authority 
 

2. REPORT 

 
Regulatory Framework 
 

2.1 The role and responsibility of the Treasurer has been developed by case law 
in England and Wales and most notably in the case of the Attorney General v 
De Winton 1906 where it was established that the Treasurer is not merely a 
servant of the Authority, but holds a fiduciary responsibility to local taxpayers. 
This creates a duty under the law for the Treasurer to always act within the 
law even if this means acting against the instructions of the Authority itself. 
This in turn creates a situation where the advice of the Treasurer in relation to 
financial matters, in so far as they relate to compliance, cannot be ignored or 
over ruled.       

 
2.2 The Treasurer then is placed in a position where s/he must ensure compliance 

with the regulatory framework which includes: 
 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 – England and Wales 
requires that every local authority in England and Wales should “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs”.  

 



“proper administration” requires a wide consideration of all aspects of 
local authority financial management and should include: 
 
compliance with the statutory requirements for accounting and internal 
audit 
 
ensuring the Authority’s (and ultimately its members’) responsibility for 
securing proper administration of its financial affairs (Lloyd v McMahon 
(1982) AC 625) 
 
proper exercise of a wide range of delegated powers both formal and 
informal (Provident Mutual Life Assurance Association v Derby City 
Council (1981) 1 WCR 173) 
 
responsibility for managing the financial affairs of the local authority in 
all its dealings 
 
recognition of the fiduciary responsibility owed to local taxpayers 
(Attorney General v De Winton (1906) 2 CH 106). 

 
2.2 This view is strengthened by Section 113 of the Local Government Finance 

Act 1988 which requires the responsible officer under Section 151 of the 1972 
Act to be a member of a specified accountancy body. 

 
2.3 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 – England and Wales 

requires a report to all the Authority’s members to be made by the S151 
Officer, in consultation with the Council’s Monitoring Officer, if there is, or is 
likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced budget. 

   
2.4 The introduction Section 114 (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 

places a duty on the Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer for Fire Authority) as 
defined in that subsection to report certain matters to the Authority.   

 
2.5 Serious consequences could follow making such a report and this note 

recommends sound procedures and consultation particularly with the 
authority’s Clerk, if that person is not the Monitoring Officer (in addition to 
consultation with the Chief Fire Officer and the Monitoring Officer as required 
by law) prior to making the report.  

 
2.6 The duty of the Treasurer to report is triggered if s/he believes that a decision 

involves (or would involve) unlawful expenditure or: 
 
a course of action is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency  
 
or; 
 
an entry of account is unlawful.  
 
In those circumstances the Treasurer is required to make a report to the 
Authority and send a copy to every member and the external auditor.  The 



course of conduct which led to the report must not be pursued until the full 
Authority has considered the report.  The Authority must consider the report 
within 21 days and decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the views in the 
report and what action it proposes to take. 
 

2.7 Likewise the Treasurer must report to the Authority where s/he believes that 
the Authority’s expenditure is likely to exceed available resources.  The 
Authority is prevented from entering into any agreements incurring 
expenditure until the Authority has considered the report. This provision is 
intended to assist in the provision of sound legal (and financial) advice to 
members of the Authority but in the last analysis the duty to make a part VIII 
report is placed on the Treasurer. The legislation clearly raises issues that 
could place the Treasurer in conflict with his or her employers.  

  
2.8 The consequences of submitting a part VIII report are unlikely to be in the long 

term interests of the Authority, its officers (or even local government generally) 
if many have to be made.  The need to issue a number of S114 reports would 
also indicate that there are underlying problems with the overall performance 
of the Authority.   Every action should be taken to avoid conflict by providing 
timely advice to elected members and where possible offering alternative 
lawful solutions on financial matters.  However, at the end of the day Section 
114 imposes a statutory duty on the Treasurer.  

 
2.9 The Local Government Act 1972, requires every Authority to “secure that one 

of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those (financial) 
affairs”.  There is no definition of “officer”.  It is thought that the term “staff” and 
“officer” in the Local Government Act 1972 and elsewhere, are intended to 
embrace all employees of local authorities.   

 
2.10 The Treasurer and the Chief Financial Officer will also need to be aware of: 
 

 Codes of practice; 

 Codes of professional ethics for individual accounting institutions; 

 International reporting standards; 

 International ethics standards board for accountants 
 
CIPFA’s Five Principles   
 
2.11 CIPFA have set out five principles that define core activities and behaviours 

that belong to the role of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

1. The Chief Financial Officer should be a key member of the Leadership 
Team, helping the organisation to develop and implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the organisation’s strategic objectives sustainably and 
in the public interest. 

2. The Chief Financial Officer must be actively involved in, and able to bring 
influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate 
and longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, 
and aligned with the organisation’s financial strategy 



 
3. The Chief Financial Officer must lead the promotion and delivery by the 

whole organisation of good financial management so that public money is 
safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently 
and effectively. 

 
4. To deliver these responsibilities the Chief Financial Officer must lead and 

direct a finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose; and  
 
5. The Chief Financial Officer must be professionally qualified and suitably 

experienced. 
 
Principle 1 - as a member of the leadership team 
 
2.12 The Chief Financial Officer must have a direct reporting line to the Chief 

Executive and not through or via other officers. The Chief Financial Officer 
should be seen to have equality of status with other members of the team. 

 
2.13 Strategic planning needs to be based on an understanding of the external 

political landscape, the Authority’s demand and cost drivers, and the need to 
manage and fund longer term commitments on a sustainable basis. Finance 
translates ambitions and goals across the Authority into a common language, 
so the Chief Financial Officer must share in the strategy development and 
implementation responsibilities of the Leadership Team. These include 
supporting elected representatives under the proper governance 
arrangements, and the Chief Financial Officer must be in a position to provide 
unfettered advice to elected representatives to inform their decision making.  

 
2.14 As well as having the fundamental concern for probity and control, the Chief 

Financial Officer must be proactive in managing change and risk, be focussed 
on outcomes, and help to resource the Authority’s plans for change and 
development in the public services it provides. 

 
2.15 Local authorities have a corporate responsibility to operate within available 

resources and to remain financially sound over the short, medium and longer 
term. Maximising public value involves an appreciation of user needs, 
expectations and preferences, and the planning process must allow for their 
involvement and influence.  The overarching long term need to match financial 
resources to the Authority’s purposes and policies, within constraints of 
affordability, mean that the Chief Financial Officer must contribute actively to 
corporate decision making. 

 
2.16 Public finance is complex and highly regulated, and the Chief Financial Officer 

must contribute expert technical advice and interpretation. The Chief Financial 
Officer must act in the public interest, even if necessary against a perceived 
organisational interest. In local authorities, this professional obligation is given 
statutory backing, and a fiduciary duty is established in case law. Section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that every local authority in 
England and Wales should “... make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their 



officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”. The Chief 
Financial Officer’s duties in England and Wales were significantly extended by 
Section 114 of the 1988 Act which requires a report to all the local authority’s 
members to be made by that officer, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer 
and head of paid service, if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget. 

 
2.17 As holders of the ‘red card’, the Chief Financial Officer must exercise a 

professional responsibility to intervene in spending plans in order to maintain 
the balance of resources so that the Authority remains in sound financial 
health. To ensure that the necessary corrective action is implemented, the 
Chief Financial Officer must have direct access to the Chief Executive, other 
Leadership Team members, the Audit Committee and also to external audit. 

 
How the Fire Authority complies with the first principle 
 
2.18 CIPFA go on to set out specific requirements for each of principle. These 

requirements are quite detailed and have been considered in detail. 
 
2.19 The job descriptions of both the Head of Finance and the Treasurer have been 

written to ensure that all of CIPFA’s requirements are met and the financial 
principles and delegation profiles set out where the relative responsibilities 
and accountabilities lie.  

 
Principle 2 - responsibility for financial strategy 
 
2.20 No organisation can achieve its goals effectively without proper structures for 

allocating and optimising the use of resources. The centrality of finance means 
the Chief Financial Officer must play the lead role in advising and supporting 
the leadership team in turning policy aspirations into reality by aligning 
financial planning with the vision and strategic objectives for the Authority. 
Within the overall corporate governance and management structure, the Chief 
Financial Officer has direct responsibility for leading development and 
implementation of the financial strategy necessary to deliver the Authority’s 
strategic objectives sustainably.  

 
2.21 The Chief Financial Officer must therefore work closely with decision makers 

to establish a medium to long term strategy that ensures the financial 
sustainability of the Authority. 

 
2.22 The Chief Financial Officer must also develop and manage resource allocation 

models to optimise service outputs and community benefits within funding 
constraints and any tax raising limits. In implementing these models, the Chief 
Financial Officer must ensure that the financial and risk implications of policy 
initiatives are analysed and appropriately addressed.  

 
2.23 The statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State under the 2000 Local 

Government Act (England and Wales) advises that local authorities will need 
to ensure that the Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer have 
access as necessary to meetings and papers and that members must consult 



with him/her regularly. The advice continues that the Chief Financial Officer 
will have an important role in the management of the local authority in 
particular by: 

 

 Contributing to corporate management in particular to the provision of 
professional financial advice; 

 

 Maintaining financial administration and stewardship; 
 

 Supporting and advising all members and officers in their respective roles; 
 

 Providing financial information to the media, members of the public and the 
community. 

 
2.24 Authorities must be rigorous in their decision making, be explicit about the 

reasons for their decisions and record the supporting information and 
expected impact. This requires the Chief Financial Officer to be actively 
involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on all material business 
decisions whenever and wherever they are taken. 

 
2.25 The Chief Financial Officer must be able to advise the Leadership Team 

directly, including elected representatives, in order to discharge 
responsibilities in relation to the Authority’s financial health and long term 
viability.  

 
2.26 The Chief Financial Officer must also work to develop strong and constructive 

working relationships with elected members, creating mutual respect and 
effective communication. Providing information and advice to elected officials 
as a public servant will call on an understanding of ethics, the wider public 
interest, and diplomacy. 

 
2.27 The Local Government Act 2003 and Local Government Scotland Act 2003 

emphasise the importance of sound and effective financial management. In 
relation to capital financing there is a statutory requirement for each local 
authority to set and arrange their affairs to remain within prudential limits for 
borrowing and capital investment.  There is also a statutory duty on the Chief 
Financial Officer to report to the Authority, at the time the budget is considered 
and the council tax set, on the robustness of the budget estimates and the 
adequacy of financial reserves. This is a public report. In addition, the 
Secretary of State in England or the National Assembly for Wales have 
reserve powers to specify in regulations a statutory minimum level of reserves 
that will be used if authorities fail to remedy deficiencies or run down reserves 
against the advice of the Chief Financial Officer.  

 
2.28 Chief Financial Officer also has a key role to play in fulfilling the requirements 

of the statutory duty to keep the Authority’s finances under review during the 
year and take action if there is evidence that financial pressures will result in a 
budget overspend or if there is a shortfall in income. 

 



2.29 At all levels in the Authority those taking decisions must be presented with 
relevant, objective and reliable financial analysis and advice, clearly setting 
out the financial implications and risks. 

 
2.30 The Chief Financial Officer has an important role in ensuring necessary 

financial information and advice is provided to the Leadership Team and 
decision makers at all levels across the Authority. Meaningful financial 
analysis and robust and impartial interpretation is a key component in 
performance management, asset management, investment appraisal, risk 
management and control. 

 
2.31 Although not a specific responsibility of Chief Financial Officers alone, they – 

along with the Monitoring Officer and Clerk – should be alert to the 
‘Wednesbury’ rules which emphasise the importance of ensuring that when 
developing policy all relevant matters are properly considered. The judgement 
in the case stated that an Authority’s action in exercise of a statutory discretion 
would only be regarded unreasonable, in excess of the powers given by 
Parliament and therefore invalid if: 

 
in making its decision it took into account matters which it ought not to 
take into account, 

or 
it did not take into account matters which it should have taken into 
account,  

or 
even if the two previous conditions were satisfied the conclusion was so 
unreasonable that no reasonable authority could ever come to it. 

 
2.32 These principles apply regardless of whether decisions on policy are taken by 

individual members or collectively. In order to demonstrate that these 
principles have been observed it is important that policy decisions and the 
associated advice are – as a matter of routine – well and clearly documented. 

 
How the Fire Authority complies with the second principle 
 
2.33 In addition to the roles set out in the financial principles and delegation profiles 

documents the Head of Finance is a permanent member of the Strategic 
Leadership Team and reports directly to the Chief Fire Officer.  

 
2.34 The Treasurer works very closely with the Head of Finance and will see every 

report to elected members. S/he is also available to the leadership team and 
elected members for consultations on specific matters. 

 
  



Principle 3 - financial management  
 
2.35 The Chief Financial Officer must lead the promotion and delivery of good 

financial management so that public money is safeguarded at all times and 
used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and effectively. 

 
2.36 Good financial management is fundamental to establishing confidence in the 

public services and good relationships with the taxpayer and other funders. 
The Leadership Team collectively needs to set the tone that financial 
management is core to achieving strategic aims, and to demonstrate that 
public money is used well. Nevertheless it is the Chief Financial Officer who 
must take the lead in establishing a strong framework for implementing and 
maintaining good financial management across the Authority. The Chief 
Financial Officer will be instrumental in assessing the existing organisational 
style of financial management and the improvements needed to ensure it 
aligns with the Authority’s strategic direction. 

 
2.37 Financial management is the business of the whole Authority. When the 

Leadership Team, managers and the finance function all fulfil their financial 
management responsibilities successfully, they collectively create the 
financially literate and adept Authority. The Chief Financial Officer must 
actively promote financial literacy throughout the Authority, so that the 
Leadership Team and managers can discharge their financial management 
responsibilities, alongside their wider responsibilities in relation to risk and 
performance management.  

 
2.38 The Chief Financial Officer has a key role to play in balancing control and 

compliance with value creation and performance. Better value for money 
releases resources that can be recycled into higher priorities, without 
increasing taxation. Helping to secure positive social outcomes within 
affordable funding therefore lies at the heart of the Chief Financial Officer’s 
role in the local authority. 

 
2.39 With the foundations in place, good financial management will focus on 

stretching limited resources to maximise value for the public service. Value for 
money (economy, efficiency and effectiveness) should be the concern of all 
managers, but the Chief Financial Officer will need to take the lead in co-
ordinating and facilitating a culture of efficiency and value for money. This will 
involve approaches and techniques such as: 

 

 Enabling the Authority to measure value for money, and making sure that it 
has the information to review value for money and performance effectively; 

 

 Advising on appropriate strategies for managing assets and stretching 
utilisation, and the productive use of other resources; 

 

 Providing leadership in using and developing efficiency tools and 
techniques, including benchmarking, IT, shared services, process analysis 
and cost management, collaborating with others where this is more 
efficient, effective or economical; and 



 

 Ensuring the rigorous financial appraisal and oversight of change 
programmes, income generation proposals and investment projects, 
safeguarding public money 

 
2.40 The Chief Financial Officer must lead the implementation and maintenance of 

a framework of financial controls and procedures for managing financial risks, 
and must determine accounting processes and oversee financial management 
procedures that enable the Authority to budget and manage within its overall 
resources. At the most fundamental level this means ensuring robust systems 
of risk management and internal control, that financial control is exercised 
consistently, and that the Authority implements appropriate measures to 
protect its assets from fraud and loss.  

 
2.41 The Chief Financial Officer also has a specific role with regard to stewardship. 

This includes ensuring that the governance structures codify financial control, 
internal control, risk management and assurance, as well as defining a 
framework of financial accountabilities and reporting. In addition to the Chief 
Financial Officer’s responsibilities to the Authority, a wider role also exists in 
relation to the general public.  

 
2.42 The Authority is regarded as the trustee of local citizens’ money, and the Chief 

Financial Officer has the prime obligation and duty to them to manage the 
Authority’s resources prudently on their behalf as established in the 1906 de 
Winton case. In effect this means that the Chief Financial Officer has a 
personal responsibility for the stewardship and safeguarding of public money 
and for demonstrating that high standards of probity exist. Strong financial 
management, accurate financial reporting and effective financial controls are 
therefore central to the Chief Financial Officer’s role in local government. This 
role was strengthened by the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (in England 
and Wales), which requires the Chief Financial Officer to report inappropriate 
financial management as well as wrongdoing. 

 
2.43 Section 114 of the 1988 Act requires a report to all the local authority’s 

members to be made by that officer, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer 
and head of paid service if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget.  CIPFA’s view is that the statutory role of the Chief 
Financial Officer does not stop at the boundaries of the local authority but 
extends into its partnerships, devolved arrangements, joint ventures and 
companies in which the Authority has an interest.  

 
2.44 Accountability for public expenditure is a core requirement for local authorities. 

They are held accountable by intermediary stakeholders, such as scrutiny 
groups, service inspectorates and external auditors, and by primary 
stakeholders: the citizens, service users, funders and taxpayers. 

  
2.45 Managing information flows is a key component of the Chief Financial Officer’s 

role as an ambassador for the Authority on financial matters and in building 
relationships with stakeholders. The Chief Financial Officer must also provide 
information and advice to those who officially scrutinise and review the 



Authority; funders, regulators, and external audit, and any group which 
exercises scrutiny internally. The community, taxpayers and the press also 
expect information.  

 
2.46 Internal audit is an important independent internal scrutiny activity. The Chief 

Financial Officer must support the Authority’s internal audit arrangements and 
ensure that the Finance and Resources Committee (acting as Audit 
Committee) receives the necessary advice and information, so that both 
functions can operate effectively. 

 
2.47 The role of the Chief Financial Officer in external reporting is to meet the 

reporting requirements relevant to the Authority and to apply professional 
good practice, conscious of the needs of users. External financial reporting 
must be of good quality, supported by analysis and documentation and should 
receive an unqualified audit opinion. This will be facilitated if the Chief 
Financial Officer maintains a constructive professional relationship with 
external auditors and inspectors. 

 
2.48 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (England and Wales), impose 

responsibilities on the Chief Financial Officer relating to accounting records 
and supporting information, control systems and the statement of accounts. A 
key feature of the Regulations in England and Wales is the requirement for 
internal audit. Regulation 6 requires that a ‘relevant body shall maintain an 
adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting records and 
its system of internal control’.  

 
How the Fire Authority complies with the third principle 
 
2.49 The Authority complies fully with this principle in so far as the financial 

principles and delegation profiles cover all the areas set out by CIPFA.  
 
2.50 The only exception is that CIPFA is keen to ensure that elected members are 

trained in specific financial competencies. Many of the members of the Fire 
Authority are long serving and well experienced and therefore no formal 
assessment of training or development requirements has been undertaken. 
Nevertheless the Chair of Finance and Resources Committee continues to 
promote training sessions for members which take place throughout the year.  

 
Principle 4 - leading and directing a finance function that is resourced to be fit 
for purpose 
 
2.51 The Chief Financial Officer in a local authority must lead and direct a finance 

function that is resourced to be fit for purpose. 
 

2.52 The organisation of finance functions is changing rapidly. Arrangements may 
also now include outsourced functions, or services shared between 
organisations. 

  
2.53 Whatever the structure, a strong customer focus both externally and internally 

must be a key feature of the way the finance function does business. It must 



support the Authority’s broader development agenda, by appraising 
investment options and change programmes and contributing creative 
financial solutions within an effective risk management framework. 

 
2.54 The finance function must also have a firm grasp of the Authority’s financial 

position and performance. The Chief Financial Officer must ensure that there 
is sufficient depth of financial expertise, supported by effective systems, to 
discharge this responsibility and challenge those responsible for the 
Authority’s activities to account for their financial performance. The resources 
available must be proportionate to the complexity of the financial environment.  

 
2.55 Section 114(7) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires authorities 

in England and Wales to provide their Chief Financial Officer with ‘such staff, 
accommodation and other resources as are in his opinion sufficient to allow 
his duties under this section (ie: S114) to be performed’.  

 
2.56 The Chief Financial Officer must promote financial literacy throughout the 

Authority, including championing training and development of relevant skills at 
all levels. However, the Chief Financial Officer has a particular responsibility 
for learning and development amongst finance staff in order to ensure that 
both current and likely future finance skill needs are addressed. This will 
include identifying the competencies needed by the finance function, including 
specialist skills, and ensuring it can access the skills and experience to 
exercise stewardship of public finances, develop financial performance and 
contribute effectively to new organisational directions and innovation. 

  
2.57 The Chief Financial Officer must ensure that the Head of Profession role for 

accountants and finance specialists is properly discharged in order to ensure 
compliance with regulatory and professional standards.  

 
How the Fire Authority complies with the fourth principle 
 
2.58 The job descriptions of both the Head of Finance and the Treasurer have been 

written to ensure that all of CIPFA’s requirements in respect of this principle 
are met and the financial principles and delegation profiles set out where the 
relative responsibilities and accountabilities lie.  

 
Principle 5 - qualifications and experience 
 
2.59 The Chief Financial Officer in a local authority must be professionally qualified 

and suitably experienced. 
 
2.60 The Chief Financial Officer must be able to demonstrate their own 

professional standing to exercise financial leadership throughout the Authority. 
As a member of a professional body, the Chief Financial Officer’s skills, 
knowledge and expertise will have been tested by examination and must be 
continuously developed in a structured and monitored context.  

 



2.61 The Chief Financial Officer must adhere to the professional values of 
accuracy, honesty, integrity, objectivity, impartiality, transparency and 
reliability and promote these throughout the finance function.  

 
2.62 The Chief Financial Officer must communicate complex financial information in 

a clear and credible way. They should be able to operate effectively in 
different modes including directing, influencing, evaluating and informing. The 
Chief Financial Officer must also have the confidence to give impartial and 
objective advice even if it may be unwelcome, and be sufficiently forceful to 
intervene with authority if financial or ethical principles need to be asserted or 
defended. 

 
2.63 The officer appointed as the Chief Financial Officer must, by virtue of Section 

113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in England and Wales, be a 
member of a specified accountancy body.  

  
2.64 The statutory role must be performed by an ‘officer’ of the Authority. Although 

‘officer’ is not defined the legal view is that the terms ‘staff’ and ‘officer’ in the 
Local Government Act 1972 and elsewhere are intended to embrace all 
employees of local authorities. It is however, permissible for an authority to 
procure non-statutory financial management services from an individual on the 
basis of a service contract.  

 
2.65 The Chief Financial Officer must have an understanding and commitment to 

the wider business, looking beyond narrow financial objectives, to inspire 
respect, confidence and trust amongst colleagues, inspectors and 
stakeholders. In practice this means being creative and constructive in 
strategic roles and effective in management responsibilities, with a sound 
grasp of approaches such as performance management and project 
leadership. 

 
2.66 The Chief Financial Officer must understand how and when to apply the tools 

and techniques of financial analysis in support of business decisions in order 
to evaluate proposals and to offer well founded and expert advice. Such 
techniques include strategic analysis, review of sector best practice, 
benchmarking, option appraisal, performance measurement, and risk 
assessment.  

 
2.67 The Chief Financial Officer must have a good understanding of public sector 

finance and its regulatory environment and comply with standards formulated 
through rigorous due process in support of the public interest to support the 
Leadership Team effectively. The Chief Financial Officer must also have a 
good understanding of the principles of financial management, and personally 
set a tone for the Authority that finance matters are a key part of everyone’s 
job throughout the Authority. 
 

How the Fire Authority complies with the fifth principle 
 
2.68 The Authority will recruit only appropriately qualified and experienced officers 

to the roles of Treasurer and Head of Finance. 



  
Financial Principles and Delegation Profiles 
 
2.69 In reading this report it will have become clear that the key to compliance with 

CIPFA’s standard is the way that the independent Treasurer and the Head of 
Finance work together to cover all of the activities that CIPFA recommend. 
This is achieved by a set of financial principles and delegation profiles which 
set out clearly which officer is responsible for which function and how those 
responsibilities are discharged. This document is given in full at Appendix A to 
this report. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no specific financial implications within this report save for those which 
relate to good financial governance. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising from 
this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is 
reporting on matters relating to governance. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The legal implications have been set out within the report and relate primarily to the 
Local Government Acts in so far as they require “proper officers” to be appointed with 
specific responsibilities. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The establishment of a robust framework for financial governance is essential to the 
Authority’s compliance with various statutes as well as to the financial stability of the 
organisation. Good governance will not only minimise risks associated with finances 
but provide and assurance framework for elected members. 

 



9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 

 
9.1 Note the arrangements in place for the compliance with CIPFA’s 

recommendations for the role of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
9.2 Approve and adopt the key financial principles and delegation profiles set out 

in Appendix A to this report. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

 



APPENDIX A 
 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 
 FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
KEY FINANCIAL PRINCIPLES 

 
 
 

Statutory Requirements 
 
1. Good financial management is paramount, to which some statutory 

requirements are relevant. Within these, the Treasurer of the Combined Fire 
and Rescue Authority (FRA) is responsible for ensuring arrangements for the 
proper administration of the Authority’s Financial affairs (Sec. 151 Local 
Government Act 1972) and has a personal duty to report on unlawful 
expenditure or action on unbalanced budgets (Sec. 114, Local Government 
Finance Act 1988). 

 
Scheme of Financial Management 
 
2. The formal framework for discharging statutory requirements is through the 

overall Scheme of Financial Management. This comprises: 
 
(i) Statement of Key Financial Principles 
(ii) Statement of Delegated Responsibilities (Delegation Profiles) 
(iii) Financial Regulations 
(iv) Codes of Practice 
(v) Standing Orders as to Award of Contracts 
(vi) Approved Local Schemes 

 
3. The Scheme will apply to all activities unless specifically exempted. 

Exemptions shall only come under alternative schemes, approved by the 
Treasurer. 

 
Financial Management Ethos 
 
4. The overall financial framework will provide managers with freedom and 

incentives to manage their activities efficiently and effectively, but taking into 
account the best interests of the FRA as a whole. 
 

5. Financial and management responsibilities will be aligned wherever possible, 
so that managers are responsible for the financial consequences of their 
decisions. 

 
6. Systems and procedures will exist to monitor the discharge of financial and 

management responsibilities. This will include appraisal of performance 
against financial management/administration accountabilities. 

 
 
  



Information Advice and Support 
 
7. The financial advice function will be located within the Finance Section at 

Service Headquarters. 
 

8. All staff with financial responsibilities should have adequate and appropriate 
training to enable them to discharge these responsibilities. 

 
Systems 
 
9. The Chief Fire Officer will be responsible for the installation, maintenance and 

development of the necessary prime systems to provide sound, timely, well 
presented financial information and advice to budget holders. The prime 
systems will be the official accepted record of the FRA’s transactions and 
financial position. 

 
Local systems can only be installed with the approval of the Chief Fire Officer. 

 
10. The Chief Fire Officer will determine the requirements for all key financial 

services and systems and must approve the provider of all such services. This 
will include the specification of standards for service management information 
systems which interface with financial systems. 
 

11. The Treasurer is to be satisfied that the arrangements for financial systems 
are adequate to support both section 114 and section 151 responsibilities. 

 
12. Principal Officers and budget holders will be expected to develop wider 

management systems which will contribute to the effective financial 
management of their activities. Information from other systems and sources 
which is used in financial decision making must be made available to the 
Treasurer as required. 

 
Accounts 
 
13. The out-turn records on which all localised financial activities of the FRA will 

be called to account (e.g. by the external auditor) will be those maintained by 
the Chief Fire Officer. 

 
14. It is the responsibility of managers to ensure that there is reconciliation of any 

approved local accounting records on a regular basis to those maintained by 
the Chief Fire Officer. 

 
Security of Data 
 
15. Accounting records and supporting documentation must be properly secured. 

 
Internal Audit 
 
16. The Treasurer is responsible for maintaining an effective internal audit of all 

activities of the Authority. 
  



NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 
FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
DELEGATION PROFILES 

 
 
This document does not consider delegations below the level of the three key officers 
within the service. The relationships between the Chief Fire Officer, the Head of 
Finance and the Treasurer are key to providing a proper and controlled financial 
framework for the organisation. 
 
It will be well understood that the Treasurer is a statutory officer of the Fire Authority 
and the Chief Fire Officer is the head of the paid service and Chief executive officer.    
 
The Chief Fire Officer as will be set out below is effectively responsible for everything 
that happens within the organisation saving those items which are statutorily 
reserved for the Treasurer or the Monitoring Officer. In reality of course the Chief will 
delegate many of these responsibilities to officers within the service and the Head of 
Finance is the officer to whom he/she will delegate responsibilities in respect of 
finance. It should be noted however that the Chief Fire Officer will still remain 
accountable. 
 
The Head of Finance and Treasurer together carry out the role of Chief Financial 
Officer as set out by CIPFA and this document will serve to add some clarity to that 
relationship. 
 
At its simplest the division of responsibility between these two officers can be seen 
as the Treasurer dealing with all matters upon which elected members require 
assurance whereas the Head of Finance deals with all matters relating to the running 
of the finances of the organisation on a daily basis. This is of course simplistic but a 
useful starting point. 
 
Members will seek assurances on matters such as: 
 

 The adequacy of financial systems; 

 The robustness of budget estimates; 

 The level of reserves and balances; 

 Financial implications of various courses of action; 

 The robustness of the internal control environment; 

 The sustainability of financial plans; 

 Compliance with Prudential and other codes; 

 The accuracy and adequacy of the financial statements; 

 The financial stability of the organisation; 

 Legal compliance from a financial perspective.  
 
Members may also seek the assistance of the Treasurer on any other financial 
matter upon which they require an independent view. 
 
In order for the Treasurer to be able to give a view on any of the above items he/she 
will require the support and assistance of the Head of Finance but in the final 



analysis it is the Treasurer’s view that is being sought and he/she remains 
responsible for that. 
 
The Head of Finance will manage all of the day to day business of running the 
finance department and the provision of advice to officers and Members as 
appropriate. The Chief Fire Officer is likely to require advice of a strategic nature and 
will initially look to the Head of Finance to provide this. However it is implicit within 
the structure that this is an area where there will be some overlap between the Head 
of Finance and the Treasurer where the Treasurer may also be called upon to advise 
on certain matters such as policy development.  
 
Whilst the Head of Finance and the Treasurer will naturally work side by side in a 
number of areas and will usually reach consensus it is nevertheless important to 
consider primacy where there is disagreement and the strategic managers within the 
organisation cannot go unadvised. Disagreements as to law or its application can be 
quickly resolved by these officers but differences of opinion will not. It is important 
then to revert back to the position of the Treasurer having largely an external role 
concerned with the authority in the wider sense, and its members but only a small 
role in internal policy or strategy. It is important therefore that in “internal matters” the 
Chief Fire Officer retains primacy through his/her officers and cannot be met with a 
“red card” from the Treasurer. 
 
The following notes set out how these delegations and relationships will work in a 
practical way:      
     
1. Chief Fire Officer 
 

The Chief Fire Officer will be responsible for: 
 

 Understanding the nature of reporting needed under section 151 and 114 
and the delegation arrangements in place to ensure proper performance; 

 

 Establishing an effective monitoring and reporting framework to enable him 
to properly hold Principal Officers accountable for the discharge of their 
responsibilities; 

 

 Positively promoting a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and 
control as requirements of the organisation; 

 

 Installing, maintaining and development of the necessary prime financial 
systems; 

 

 Determining the requirements for all key financial services and systems 
and approving the provider of all such services. 
 

2. FRA Treasurer 
 

The FRA Treasurer shall discharge the responsibilities identified under 
Section 151 and 114 of the Local Government Act 1972 specifically related to:  
 

 Proper financial officer functions; 



 Unlawful or unbudgeted expenditure. 
 

Discharge will be effected through the Head of Finance but responsibility will 
be retained for: 

 

 Dealing with exceptional items; 

 Reporting as appropriate to the Chief Fire Officer; 

 Raising significant issues of underperformance; 

 Reporting to the FRA as appropriate on any items upon which he/she has 
a statutory duty to report. 

 
The Treasurer will: 
 

 Ensure that a robust monitoring and reporting framework is in place to 
ensure the proper discharge of his/her S. 151 functions; 

 Receive reports from the Head of Finance; 

 Positively promote a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and 
control as requirements of the organisation. 

 
3. Head of Finance  
 

The Head of Finance will act as “client agent” for the Chief Fire Officer over his 
responsibilities in respect of the following areas : 

 

 Installing, maintaining and developing financial systems; 

 Establishing an effective monitoring and reporting framework. 
 

The Head of Finance will also act as Client Agent for the Treasurer over 
his/her Section 151 and 114 responsibilities. 

 
The Client Agent will be responsible for: 

 

 Setting adequate standards, protocols for budgeting, accounting, systems, 
and reporting and to establish a framework of monitoring to ensure these 
requirements are met; 

 

 Positively promoting a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and 
control as requirements of the organisation; 

 

 Maintaining high standards of financial stewardship of public money; 
 

 Positively promoting Value for Money; 
 

 The review and approval of departmental schemes of delegation; 
 

 Advising officers on the issues and circumstances in which reporting is 
needed (on both ‘’direct finance and head of profession’’ matters); 

 

 Accepting routine reports from Finance Staff and other Managers; 
 



 The introduction and maintenance of a structured scheme of financial 
training; 

 

 Entering into such transactions and arrangements that are necessary for 
compliance with the Fire Authority’s Treasury Management policy such that 
this remains in compliance with the Prudential Code; 

 

 Reporting on an exception basis to the Treasurer. 
 

In addition the Head of Finance shall be responsible for the following statutory 
and non-statutory functions: 

 
Statutory 

 

 Maintain accurate accounting records throughout the year; 
 

 Prepare final accounts on a ‘’true and fair’’ basis, in compliance with 
Accounting Code of Practice and instructions from the Treasurer; 

 

 Complete government returns on out-turn information; 
 

 Ensure safe and efficient arrangements exist for the payment of staff and 
suppliers and the collection and banking of income; 
 

 Provide precept information to Council Tax collecting authorities in 
accordance with agreed timescales; 

 

 provide information to external auditors. 
 

Corporate (FRA Level) 
 

 Attend agenda meetings, meetings of Committees, meetings of the FRA, 
as appropriate, representing the Chief Fire Officer; 

 

 Provide budget monitoring reports on a regular basis, both to the Treasurer 
and to the Chief Fire Officer for presentation to the FRA and/or appropriate 
committees; 

 

 Prepare budget reports for the Chief Fire Officer to present to the FRA or 
committees. 

 

 Prepare final accounts reports for the Treasurer to present to the FRA; 
 

 Provide financial advice and information requested by Members, the Chief 
Fire Officer and the Treasurer; 

 

 Ensure the inclusion of relevant Financial Implications on all reports to the 
Authority; 

 



 Support the operation of all financial systems and provide advice on their 
improvement; 

 

 Ensure the framework for collecting accounting and budgeting information 
is properly maintained; 

 

 Ensure that the financial consequences of all proposed variations in 
policies and priorities are considered and evaluated, and reported to the 
Chief Fire Officer and, where appropriate, the Treasurer; 

 

 Complete all grant claims in a timely and accurate manner; 
 

 Complete statistical returns and provide financial information for 
performance indicators; 

 

 Take an active role in the training and development of staff with financial 
responsibilities. 

 

 Informing the Treasurer at the earliest opportunity if any significant 
problems seem likely to arise in a department’s finances. 

 
Departmental (Service Level) 

 

 Provide financial advice to the Chief Fire Officer and other staff in the 
organisation, including the financial aspects of the business planning 
process; 
 

 Provide monitoring information on a regular basis to assist budget holders 
to control their budgets; 

 

 To be consulted on all financial matters before decisions are taken. This 
will exclude the day to day management of devolved budgets over which 
budget holders have discretion; 

 

 To ensure that any authorised departmental financial systems are 
compatible with and reconciled to corporate financial systems; 

 

 To ensure that regular and timely reconciliations take place within all 
financial records, either by departmental arrangements or by use of 
external providers; 

 

 To issue guidance to ensure that accounting records and supporting 
documentation kept outside the finance section are properly secured, and 
periodically monitor the situation on the retention of records. 



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

REVIEW OF SPECIALIST RESCUE 
PROVISION 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Date:  25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To advise Members of the current arrangements for specialist rescue provision to 
enable them to consider future opportunities.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name :  
 

John Buckley 
Chief Fire Officer                                         

Tel :  0115 967 0880 

Email  john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Media Enquiries  
Contact :  
 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880 bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk                                                                                                          



 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Members will appreciate that a great deal of analysis has taken place over the 

past few months and it is clear that opportunities exist to deliver a specialist 
rescue provision in a more efficient way. 

  
1.2 In 2007 the Specialist Rescue Team (SRT) was formed following a review of 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service’s (NFRS) response to non-fire 
related incidents. 

 
1.3 As part of the steps taken to improve the specialist rescue provision, all front 

line appliances were provided with an upgraded capability through the 
provision of both enhanced equipment and training. Over the preceding years 
since the formation of the SRT, response crews have therefore developed an 
increased level of competence in this area. 

 
1.4 Current levels of demand and risk can be found in the latest operational 

activity report for 2014. 
 

2.      REPORT 

 
2.1 The SRT is responsible for broadly four main areas of specialist rescue which 

are road traffic collisions, animal rescue, water rescue, and rope rescue. The 
SRT currently provides a county-wide response from two locations, Highfields 
and Tuxford fire stations. 

 
2.2 The current road traffic collision data shows a county-wide spread of road 

traffic collisions which occur not only on major roads, but also on minor roads. 
The rescue capability that exists currently on all front line appliances provides 
a first response and resolves most of the incidents attended by the service. 
The Specialist Rescue Unit and the Rapid Response Unit are currently utilised 
for heavy rescue and for more complex incidents. 

 
2.3 Animal rescue incidents account for a relatively low number of calls, but can 

be complex in nature relying on a high degree of skill and technical equipment. 
Generally the incidents are resolved using simple methods and basic 
equipment, however in a proportion of incidents the complexity requires the full 
range of skills and technical equipment. 

 
2.4 Flooding incidents have been relatively low over the period since 2009, 

however data for 2007 shows a totally different overview during major flooding. 
Flooding can occur from heavy rainfall alone, does not necessarily follow a 
river course and can be totally random in geographical location. When flooding 
is discounted, the water incidents tend to follow the River Trent corridor 
through the City and in to Newark, with exceptions being known hotspots such 
as fords and other water hazards.  

 



2.5 With the potential for flooding to have a high demand on the Service and the 
high risk level identified for water/flood rescue, contained within the national 
and local Community Risk Register, a county-wide water rescue provision 
utilising front line appliances and crews as a first response, with support from 
the technical water rescue capability for more complex operations such as 
rescues, is deployed.   

 
2.6 Rope incidents are an infrequent event but when they do occur they require a 

high skill level and a substantial amount of specialist equipment where a rapid 
response may be required to save life. Rope rescue capabilities are utilised to 
support other specialist rescue capabilities. 

 
2.7 Other capabilities include heavy rescue equipment, hydraulic shoring for 

trench or building collapse, initial urban search and rescue and national 
resilience assets.  

 
2.8 In 2015 a review and feasibility study has been carried out and the opportunity 

to update the delivery model has been identified.  The work carried out so far 
has challenged the need for a separate SRT and has looked at the feasibility 
of other delivery models. 

 
2.9 A number of areas for consideration have been identified, ranging from a 

reduction in the current specialist rescue provision to an integration of the 
specialist rescue capabilities into response locations across the Service.  

 
2.10 The next steps are to enter into formal discussions with employees and their  

representatives, and to further investigate and analyse identified areas so that 
firmer proposals and options can be presented to Members at a future Fire 
Authority meeting. 

 

3.   FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The current staffing costs of the SRT are £1.78 million, therefore significant 

scope exists to generate efficiencies. 
 
3.2 There is also the potential to reduce costs in non-pay budgets, for example 

equipment, personal protection equipment and training. 
 
3.3 All financial implications will be identified and reported in full to Members as 

part of future reports. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
Any changes to the current specialist rescue provision will have implications of a 
contractual nature and have significant learning and development impacts for the 
Service. The scale and impact will vary dependent upon the changes made, further 
details will be presented as part of future reports.  
 



5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment (EIA) has not been undertaken at this stage 
because a final decision has yet to be made on the options available and therefore 
the impact cannot be assessed. An EIA will be undertaken when required. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Fire Authority has to satisfy its legal obligations under various legislation, but 
primarily the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004.  Any proposals contained within this report will be assessed to ensure the 
Fire Authority will not be in breach of these legal duties. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There is a risk that any changes to the current specialist rescue provision will impact 
upon the Service’s ability to meet its statutory duties to provide a rescue capability. 
This risk will be mitigated by ensuring that any changes to the current delivery 
model will be fully risk assessed to ensure the current level of service provided by 
NFRS will reflect the risk and demand that currently exists or can be reasonably 
expected to exist in the future. 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members support the Chief Fire Officer to carry out further analysis of the 
specialist rescue capability, to consult with workforce representatives and to report 
back specific options to a future Fire Authority meeting. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 

PAY POLICY 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report:   
 
To agree a pay policy statement for approval by the Fire Authority, in line with the 
requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
John Buckley 
Chief Fire Officer 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011, Section 38(1), places a requirement on ‘relevant 

authorities’ to prepare pay policy statements for each financial year.  This duty 
commenced in the financial year 2012/13. 
 

1.2 The Fire Authority is a “’relevant authority’ as defined by Section 43(1) of the 
Act. 

 
1.3 Pay policy statements must articulate an authority’s own policies towards a 

range of issues relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly that of its Chief 
Officers and its lowest paid employees. 

 
1.4 The pay statement must be agreed by the Fire Authority annually and be 

published and accessible. 
  

2. REPORT 

 
Requirements of the Localism Act 

 
2.1  The basis for Section 38(1) of the Act reflects the recommendations of the 

Hutton Report on Fair Pay in the Public Sector, published in March 2011.  The 
Act drew on these recommendations to emphasise the need for accountability, 
transparency and fairness in the setting of local pay and place a requirement 
on elected members to take a greater role in determining pay, and that such 
decisions should be set clearly within the context of the pay of the wider 
workforce. 

 
2.2 To this end, pay policy statements must be considered by the full Authority 

and may not be delegated to sub-committee.   Any meetings at which pay 
policy is established must be open to the public. 

 
2.3 Additionally, the full Authority should be offered the opportunity to vote before 

large salary packages are offered in respect of new appointments.  The 
threshold to be set at packages valued at £100k and to include bonuses, fees 
and allowances and any benefits in kind. 

 
2.4 The published policy statement must specifically include the approach to the 

publication of and access to information relating to the remuneration of Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers.     

 

2.5 The statement must also set out the policy on remuneration for highest and 
lowest paid employees and establish the relationship between the 
remuneration of its Chief Officers and other employees.  The Authority does 
not currently use a pay multiple to establish a differential between the highest 
and lowest paid employees – ie: the ratio between the highest paid employee 
and the mean average earnings across the organisation – as a means of 



illustrating that relationship, and it is not intended that such a pay multiple be 
established within the current pay policy.    

 
2.6 The policy must also set out the approach to other elements of remuneration, 

including bonuses, performance related pay and severance payments.     
 
2.7 The policy also needs to set out the position taken on re-engagement of Chief 

Officers in receipt of a pension (including under a Contract for Services), and 
any abatement measures in place across the workforce. 

 
2.8 Details of severance payments, including redundancy, must also be explicit 

within the policy. 
 
2.9 The Statement of Pay Policy is attached as Appendix A to the report. 
 
Pay Policy 2015-16 
 
2.10 The Authority last considered and agreed a Pay Policy in 2014.  The attached 

document updates this policy to reflect policy for the year 2015-16. 
 
2.11 The policy provides a summary of pay policy and practices across the Service 

and, in particular, details the pay policy for the Chief Fire Officer and other 
Principal Officers. 
 

2.12 The Statement of Pay Policy is attached as Appendix A.  The main changes to 
the policy are as follows: 
 

 Updates to pay information relating to mean average pay and pay multiples 
(Paragraphs 1.8 and 1.9); 
 

 Confirmation of national annual pay awards payable in 2014 (Paragraphs 
2.4, 3.2, 4.2); 

 

 An update on the number of flexible working arrangements agreed in 2014-
15 (Paragraph 5.4); 

 

 Confirmation that compensation payments were agreed in six cases in 
2014-15 (Paragraph 6.3).  These were all agreed as part of redundancy 
payments; 

 

 Confirmation that early payment of pension were agreed in six cases in 
2014-15 (Paragraph 6.7).  These were paid to eligible pension scheme 
members over 55 as part of voluntary redundancy arrangements; 

 

 Update on employer pension scheme contributions (Paragraphs 2.10.2; 
3.7; 4.6). 
  



 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Service already has in place a number of policies and agreements in relation to 
pay and remuneration, appointments and severance payments.  However, the 
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 place a requirement on all public bodies to 
publish such information as a single pay policy and make it accessible to external 
scrutiny. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
As this is a statement of policy, and will not lead to any amendments to existing 
policy, no equality impact assessment has been undertaken. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Localism Act places a statutory duty on Authorities to publish an annual 
Statement of Pay Policy commencing in the financial year 2012-13. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
As the Localism Act places a statutory duty on the Fire Authority, the Authority must 
be in a position to publish its agreed position on pay and remuneration each year.  A 
failure to do so may lead to legal challenge. 

 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members approve the Statement of Pay Policy. 



 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley  
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 
 



Appendix 1. 
 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nottinghamshire and 
City of Nottingham Fire Authority 

Statement of  
Pay Policy  
2015/16 



Contents 
 
Introduction           3 
 
Section One   General Pay Policy       4 
Section Two  Pay Policy for Principal Officers    6 
Section Three   Pay Policy for Fire-fighters     10 
Section Four   Pay Policy for Support Roles     13 
Section Five   Policy on re-engagement and pension abatement   15 
Section Six    Severance Payments      16 



 
Introduction 
 
This Statement of Pay Policy is provided in line with Section 38(i) of the Localism Act 
2011 and is authorised by the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority.   
 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this statement is to provide transparency to the pay policy adopted by 
the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
Accountability 
 
The Combined Fire Authority is responsible for establishing the pay policy for the 
employees of the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
The Combined Fire Authority is directly responsible for reviewing the pay structure for 
Principal Officers including the Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant 
Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Officer roles. 
 
The Chief Fire Officer has delegated responsibility to establish appropriate gradings 
and salaries for all other employees of the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
Pay Negotiating Bodies 
 
The Authority applies the annual pay settlements negotiated by: 
 

 The National Joint Council for Local Government Services 

 The National Joint Council for Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services 

 The National Joint Council for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and 
Rescue Services 

 
The Authority undertakes negotiations with its recognised representative bodies on 
local agreements which affects the terms and conditions of its employees and which 
may include agreement of local allowances. 
 
The Representative Bodies recognised for negotiating purposes are: 
 

 The Fire Brigade’s Union 

 The Fire Officers Association 

 The Association of Principal Fire Officers 

 The Retained Firefighters Union 

 UNISON 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Section One - General Pay Policy 
 
1.1 The Authority applies the pay scales adopted by the respective national Joint
  Councils for all its employees up to the level of Principal Officer. 
 
1.2 The Authority has adopted the principle of applying the Living Wage rate as 

the minimum starting point for all substantive appointments.  This is subject to 
annual review by the Centre for Research in Social Policy.   

 
1.3 Local pay arrangements for Principal Officers are established through the  

provisions of the NJC for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and 
Rescue Services and are reviewed biennially by the Fire Authority.  Further 
details are set out in Section 2 

 
1.3 The number and level of roles within the Service are determined by the Fire 

Authority on advisement from the Chief Fire Officer. 
 
1.4 Pay policy reflects the different roles, duties and responsibilities undertaken by 

Service employees.  This is reflected in pay differentials between different 
groups of workers and between workers in the same pay group.  The pay 
bands established are based on nationally applied role maps (operational 
employees) or grading bands established through a job evaluation process 
(support employees). 

 
1.5 Pay policy reflects adherence to the principle of “equal pay for work of equal 

value”.  The Service has committed to undertake an independent equal pay 
audit on a 3-yearly basis as a means of identifying any gender pay issues. 

 
1.7 In applying its policy, the Authority will work to eliminate any elements which 

may, directly or indirectly, discriminate unfairly on the grounds of sex, race, 
colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, age, marital status, having 
dependants, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, religion or belief, trade 
union activity, disability or any other factors.  Part-time workers receive the 
same pay and remuneration as full-time workers undertaking the same job role 
on a pro-rata basis. 

 
Generic pay information 
 
1.8 Mean Average Pay 
 

The mean average pay is calculated based on salary for Fire-fighters, Control 
and support employees.  It does not include Retained Duty System Fire-
fighters who are paid according to turn-outs (please refer to section 3.6). 
 
The mean average pay for 2014-15 is £30,216 (as at 01/04/15).  This 
compares to a mean average of £29,333 in 2013-14. 
 

 
 



 
1.9 Pay multiples 
 

The idea of publishing the ratio of the pay of an organisation’s top earner to 
that of its median earner has been recommended in order to support the 
principles of Fair Pay (Will Hutton 2011) and transparency. 
 
 
The current ratio is 4.5:1, which compares to 4.9:1 in 2013-14.   This will be 
monitored each year within the Statement of Pay Policy.   

 
Section Two - Pay Policy for Principal Officers 
 
2.1 General Principles 
 
2.1.1 National pay awards negotiated by the National Joint Council for Brigade 

Managers of Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services are applied by the 
Authority on an annual basis.  This represents a cost-of-living increase.   

 
2.1.2 In addition, a review of Principal Officer pay is undertaken on a two-yearly 

basis by the Combined Fire Authority.  This is managed through the Policy 
and Strategy Committee and is approved by the full Combined Fire Authority.   

 
2.1.3 This review is undertaken by the Clerk to the Fire Authority and Treasurer to 

the Fire Authority, who are appointed by the CFA to report to the Authority on 
the methodology applied and to make recommendations on Principal Officer 
pay.  The last pay review was undertaken in 2014 and supported an increase 
in pay for Principal Officers equating to 1% in 2014 and 2.8% in 2015. 

 
2.1.4 Principal Officer roles covered by the review include the Chief Fire Officer, 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, and Assistant Chief 
Officer (Director of Finance and Resources). 

 
2.2 Establishing the Pay of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
2.2.1 The National Joint Council for Brigade Managers of Fire Authorities 

establishes a minimum salary for Chief Fire Officers based upon population 
size as follows: 

 
Population band 1 :  up to 500,00 
Population band 2  :  500,001 – 1,000,000 
Population band 3  :  1,000,001 – 1,500,000 
Population band 4  :  1,500,000 and above (except London) 
Population band 5  :   London 

 
2.2.2 The population size for the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service is 1.1m.  

The minimum payment for the Chief Fire Officer is therefore based upon 
Population Band 3 which establishes a minimum rate of pay for 2014-15 at 
£107,803. 

 



2.2.3 The base salary for the Chief Fire Officer role at Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service is currently £140,053 within the range £132,736 to £147,368 
per annum.   Please refer to paragraph  2.3.1 for further details of pay policy 
on appointment. 

 
2.2.4 Additionally, a car is provided for business use up to a value of £11,088 per 

annum.    All private mileage is reimbursed to the Authority at HMRC approved 
rates.   

 
2.2.5 Pension: The Service makes an employer contribution of 21.7%.  This is in 

accordance with the contribution made to all members of the Firefighter’s 
Pension Scheme (1992).  The employee contribution for 2015 is either 17% 
(1992 scheme), 12.5% (2006 scheme) or 13.5% (2015 scheme) of 
pensionable pay.  For employees in the 1992 scheme this is 2% higher than in 
2014.   

 
2.3 Local Pay Review 
 
2.3.1 In 2013 the CFA revised the payment for Principal Officers from a single pay 

point to a 3-point model  based upon length of service, as follows: 
 

o Year One of appointment:   90% of full pay 
o Year Two of appointment;   95% of full pay 
o Year Three of appointment: 100% of full pay 

 
 Progression through the pay band is subject to a review of performance. 
 
2.3.2 The CFA has also revised the methodology for the review of Principal Officer 

pay based upon a comparator for the role of Chief Fire Officer. The review 
compares the pay levels of comparable Fire and Rescue Authorities in the 
same Family Group of 18 Fire and Rescue Services, and establishes an 
average median pay point as a benchmark salary which is taken into account  
by the Combined Fire Authority when reviewing Principal Officer pay on a 2-
yearly basis. 

 
2.3.3  The pay review undertaken in 2013 supported a pay increase of 1% from 1st 

January 2014 and a 2.8% pay increase from 1st January 2015 to align with 
comparator roles. The next pay review is scheduled for 2015. 

 
2.4 National Pay Review 
 

The national pay review undertaken by the NJC for Brigade Managers of Fire 
and Rescue Services applied either an increase of 1% for those earning less 
than £100k per annum or a flat rate increase of £1,000 for those earning 
above £100k per annum, with effect from 1st January 2014.   
 
An increase of 1% has been agreed by the NJC, effective from 1st January 
2015. 

 
 



2.5 Other Principal Officer Pay 
 
2.5.1 The Authority has established a policy that Principal Officer roles below that of 

Chief Fire Officer would be paid as a proportion of the locally agreed Chief Fire 
Officer base pay rate as follows: 

 

 Deputy Chief Fire Officer     -  82.5% 

 Assistant Chief Fire Officer  -  75% 

 Assistant Chief Officer     -  65% 
(Director of Finance & Resources) 

 
2.6 Publication of Principal Officer Pay 
 
2.6.1 Details of Principal Officer Pay are published on the Nottinghamshire Fire & 

Rescue Service internet site.  This can be found by clicking on the section 
About Us>Access to Information>Local Transparency Data>Local 
Transparency Reports. 

 
2.7 Principal Officer – internal pay comparators 
 
 2.7.1 In 2014-15, the lowest paid role within the Service was £15,207 (fte), which 

reflects the Authority’s commitment to the living wage, the highest paid role 
within the Service is £140,053.  The Service does not have a policy of direct 
correlation between the highest and lowest paid roles i.e. it does not apply a 
pay multiple in establishing Principal Officer pay.   

 
2.7.2 The ratio of pay between the highest paid employee of the fire service and a 

median salary is set out in paragraph 1.9.   
 
2.7.3 The pay (including rota allowances) of the most senior officer below Principal 

Officer (Area Manager) is 71.4% of Assistant Chief Fire Officer pay and 53.7% 
of Chief Fire Officer pay. 

 
2.7.4 The pay of the most senior support role below Principal Officer (Grade 9) is 

47.94% of Assistant Chief Fire Officer pay and 36.04% of Chief Fire Officer 
pay.   

 
It should be taken into account that the salaries of Principal Officers and other 
flexi-duty officers reflects a requirement to provide duty cover on a 24/7 rota 
basis.   
 

2.8 Re-engagement  
 
2.8.1 Principal Officers are subject to the same Re-engagement provisions as other 

Service employees.  These are set out in more detail in Section 5. 



 
2.9 Severance Payments 
 
2.9.1 Principal Officers are subject to the same severance arrangements as other 

Service employees.  These are set out in more detail in Section 6. 
 
2.10 Other allowances 
 
2.10.1 A car is provided for business use to Principal Officers (other than the Chief 

Fire Officer) up to the value of £8,022 per annum.   All private mileage usage 
is reimbursed at the HMRC approved rate.  

 
2.10.2 Pension: The Service makes an employer contribution of either 21.7% (92 

scheme), 11.9% (2006 scheme) or 14.3% (2015 scheme).  This is in 
accordance with the contribution made to all members of the Firefighter’s 
Pension Schemes.   The employee contribution for 2015 will be between 
16.5% and 17% (92 scheme), 12.1% (2006 scheme) and 13.5% (2015 
scheme) of pensionable pay.  For 1992 and 2006 scheme members this 
contribution level is the same as in 2014. 

 
2.10.3 Business mileage is reimbursed using fuel cards. 
 
2.10.4 Subsistence allowances: reimbursement of expenses when working away 

from the home work base. 
 
2.10.5 All employees are members of a corporate health scheme which provides 

cash-back for dental, optical and consultancy fees, and access to MRI, PET 
scans and counselling support.  This is at a cost of £52 per employee per 
annum.   Principal Officers are also members of this scheme. 

  
Section Three - Pay Policy for Fire-fighters 
 
3.1 This policy applies to Whole-time, Retained Firefighters and Control staff. 
 
3.2  National pay awards negotiated by the National Joint Council for Firefighters 

of Local Authorities Fire and Rescue Services are applied by the Authority on 
an annual basis.  This represents a cost-of-living increase.  A 1% pay award 
was applied by the NJC for Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services from 1st 
July 2014 and 1% from 1st July 2015. 

3.3 Pay is based upon the role undertaken and the stage of competence of each 
individual i.e. trainee, in development and competent. 

 
3.4 A formal assessment of individuals is undertaken at each stage of 

development before moving to the next salary level.  Maintenance of 
competence is a requirement at all levels of the Service and is reviewed 
annually.      

 
3.5 Progression between roles is subject to a competitive selection process. 
 

 



Retained Duty System 
 
3.6 Employees employed on the Retained Duty System are paid an annual 

Retaining Fee and receive subsequent payments based on attendance at 
incidents and other activity – these include attendance at drill nights, 
disturbance fees, turnout fees, attendance fees, training fees, other authorised 
NFRS duties and compensation for loss of earnings.  All payments are made 
in line with nationally agreed pay scales and rates. 

 
3.7 Other allowances and payments 
 

Pension contributions: the Service makes an employer contribution of 21.7 % 
of salary (1992 scheme), 11.9% of salary (2006 scheme) or 14.3% (2015 
scheme) of salary (2015 scheme) for members of the Fire-fighter’s Pension 
Scheme.  The employee will make a contribution in 2015 of between 11% and 
16% (1992 scheme), or between 8.5% and 11.7% (2006 scheme) or 10% and 
13.5% (2015 scheme) of pensionable pay.   
 

 Flexible duty payment: under national conditions of service, a flexible duty 
payment  is made to Station Managers, Group Managers and Area Managers 
who provide flexible duty cover on a 24/7 rota basis and who are available to 
attend emergency incidents when required, and provide Duty Officer cover.  
This is paid at an allowance of 20% of base salary.   

 
 Area Manager rota payment:  under local arrangements, Area Managers are 

paid a rota payment equating to 11.67% of base salary. 
 
 Acting up: An allowance is paid on a daily basis where employees temporarily 

undertake the duties of a higher graded role.  This is paid at the rate 
applicable to the role being undertaken.  Employees must be qualified to 
undertake the higher level role. 

 
 Overtime rates:  paid for roles below Station Manager.  This is paid a time and 

a half or double time on public holiday or time may be granted in lieu at the 
appropriate enhanced rate.   

 
 Detachments: paid when operational employees are required to provide cover 

at other stations.  Paid at 2 hours overtime rate. 
 
 Recall to duty: paid at a minimum of three hours at double time rates. 
 
 Continuous Professional Development Payment (CPD): Under national 

conditions of service, a CPD payment is approved annually on an individual 
basis for employees with more than 5 years of service (since attaining 
competence in role).   

 
This is paid as an annual payment of £885 (whole-time FF-WM), £1062 
(whole-time SM-AM) and £221.25 (retained).  The payment made to retained 
duty system employees is paid on pro-rata basis (25% of full value). 

 



The payment is made by application and authorised at a senior management 
level.  To be eligible, an individual must demonstrate evidence of CPD over 
and beyond that required for competence and have a good attendance, 
performance and disciplinary record.   

 
 Additional Responsibility Allowance (ARA’s):  may be paid where employees 

perform duties outside of the national role map.  At NFRS, two levels of 
payment are applied.  The lower level is paid at £250 per annum and the 
higher level at £500 per annum.  There are 68 higher level ARA’s and 6 lower 
level in payment at the current time.  Payments are conditional upon 
individual’s performing additional duties / responsibilities and maintaining 
competence in these areas, this may include taking professional or vocational 
qualifications. 

 
 National Resilience Payment: a local payment is made for employees 

volunteering for crewing of the High Volume Pump, Enhanced Command 
Support Vehicle and Incident Response Unit which form part of the national 
resilience network.  Volunteers are available on an on-call basis and could be 
required to operate outside of the county to respond to national emergencies.  
Current payments are £500 per annum and there are 27 employees receiving 
this payment, and 3 receiving a higher level co-ordinators allowance of £1000. 
The payment is funded by national grant.   

 
 Special Response Team:  a local payment is made for employees 

volunteering for this tactical response team.  Volunteers are available on an 
on-call basis.  Current payments are £500 per annum and there are 59 
employees receiving payments. 

 
 Incident Liaison Officers: a local payment is made for employees volunteering 

to be Incident Liaison Officers at Special Response incidents.  Volunteers are 
available on an on-call basis.  Current payments are £500 per annum and 
there are 6 employees receiving payments. 

 
Messing allowance: Paid to station personnel who are responsible for catering 
arrangements on fire stations.   

 
 Spoilt meals: Paid when prepared meals are uneaten as a result of attending 

an emergency call-out.   
 

Kit Carrying allowance: business mileage rate as per national conditions paid 
to compensate operational employees who are required to transfer fire kit in 
their own vehicles.   

 
 Travel allowance: a local allowance to cover additional travel costs when an 

operational employee is compulsorily transferred to another work base.  A 
payment is made of the difference in mileage undertaken and is paid for 3 
years (compulsory transfer) or 18 months (promotion). 

  



 Essential Car User: A lump sum is paid to employees who are required to use 
their own vehicles to undertake their job role.  This is based on nationally 
determined allowances.   

 
 Business mileage is reimbursed in line with nationally agreed rates. 
 

Subsistence allowances: reimbursement of expenses when working away 
from the home work base. 

 
 Clothing allowance: Paid to Control employees for provision of uniform (where 

this is not provided by the Service), and to female operational employees for 
the provision of maternity wear. 

 
 Reimbursement of medical fees: this only applies to employees whose service 

commenced before November 1994.  The reimbursement of fees cover dental, 
optical and prescription fees and are paid at NHS rates. 

 
 Health scheme membership: all employees are members of a corporate health 

scheme which provides cash-back for dental, optical and consultancy fees and 
access to MRI, PET scans and counselling support.  This is at a cost of £52 
per employee per annum.  

 
Section Four - Pay Policy for Support Roles 
 
4.1 This policy applies to employees covered by the NJC for Local Government 

Services and includes all non-operational staff. 
 
4.2  National pay awards negotiated by the National Joint Council for Local 

Government Services are applied by the Authority on an annual basis if 
applicable.  This represents a cost-of-living increase.  A lump sum pay award 
of between £100- £325 was applied by the NJC for Local Government 
Services in December 2014, and an average 2.2% increase from 1st January 
until 31st March 2016. 

4.3 The Authority has a locally agreed grading structure, which uses nationally 
recognised salary points (spinal column points) across 9 grading levels.  Each 
level is comprised of 5 salary points.   Movement between grades is through a 
competitive selection process. 

 
4.4 A job evaluation process, based on the national model, assesses all roles and 

allocates an appropriate grade according to the duties and responsibilities  
undertaken.  Employees may apply for a review of their grade where 
permanent, substantial and material changes have increased the level of 
duties and responsibilities attached to their role.  Any substantive changes to 
grade must be authorised by the Chief Fire Officer and reported to the 
Authority. 

 
4.5 On an annual basis, employees progress incrementally through their 

respective grade until they reached the maximum point of their grade.  
Progression is subject to satisfactory performance.  

 



  
4.6 Other allowances and payments 
 

Pension contributions: the Service makes an employer contribution which 
equates to 12.6% for all members of the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
The employee makes a contribution of between 5.5% and 10.5% of 
pensionable pay depending on their salary band.  
 
Overtime:  Paid up to Grade 5, at the rate of time and a half and double time 
for weekend and public holidays.  Time in lieu may be taken as an alternative 
to payment. 

 
Acting up: An allowance is paid if an employee is required to undertake a 
higher level role for a period of more than one month. 

   
Honorarium:  A discretionary payment may be made, with the approval the 
Strategic Director – Corporate Support, for duties undertaken outside of the 
normal job requirements for an extended period of time.  The maximum 
payable is £1000.  Any payments above £1000 must be approved by the Fire 
Authority. 

 
Stand by:  Employees required to attend work outside of normal office hours 
or to be on-call are paid an allowance depending on the nature of the 
arrangements. 

 
Essential Car User A lump sum is paid to employees who are required to use 
their own vehicles to undertake their job role.  This is based on nationally 
determined allowances. 
 
Business mileage is reimbursed in line with nationally agreed rates. 
 
Disturbance:  Paid when an employee is required to move work location.  
Actual additional mileage is paid for a period of 4 years. 
 
Subsistence allowances: reimbursement of expenses when working away 
from the home work base. 

 
Health scheme:  All employees are members of a corporate health scheme 
which provides cash-back for dental, optical and consultancy fees, and access 
to MRI, PET scans and counselling support.  This is at a cost of £52 per 
employee per annum.  

 
Section Five - Policy on Re-engagement and Pension Abatement 
 
5.1 This applies where individuals retire from the Service, and draw pension 

benefits, and are subsequently re-engaged into the same or other role with the 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service.  The policies set out below apply to 
all employees, including senior officers of the Service. 

 
5.2  The Service no longer operates a Re-engagement Policy. 



 
5.3 Abatement of pension is applied when employees who retire from Service with 

pension benefits from the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme, are successful in 
attaining another job with the Service through a competitive process.  This 
means that they may not earn more in the new role than in their previous role 
when pension and salary are combined.  This complies with the provisions of 
the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme.   

 
5.4 The Service operates a Flexible Retirement Policy for employees in the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) which allows employees to take their 
pension benefits and be re-employed on reduced hours or at a lower grade 
without abatement of pension.   This complies with the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme.  There were no flexible retirement 
arrangements made during 2014-15.  

 
5.5 In circumstances in which employees who have taken retirement benefits from 

the LGPS (either as former NFRS employees or employees of another public 
sector organisation)  apply for a support role with the Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service as part of a competitive selection process and are successful,  
no abatement of pension is applied. 

 
Section Six - Severance Payments 
 
6.1 In the event of redundancy, the Service applies statutory redundancy 

payments under the provisions of its Redundancy Procedure.  This applies to 
both compulsory and voluntary redundancy situations.   

 
6.2      In addition, members who are members, or who are eligible to be members, of 

the Local Government Pension Scheme may be awarded an additional 
compensation payment under the provisions of the Discretionary 
Compensation Payments Scheme.  This payment is based upon age and 
length of service.  A Discretionary Compensation Payments Board assesses 
each application to determine whether there are any exceptional personal 
circumstances to enhance the compensation element of the award.  This 
applies to both compulsory and voluntary redundancy situations.  A cap of 66 
weeks pay is applied in normal circumstances.  This can be increased to up to 
104 weeks in exceptional circumstances.   
 

6.3       All recommendations for enhanced payments are subject to agreement by the 
Human Resources Committee.  There were six such compensation awards 
agreed as part of redundancy payments in 2014-15.   

 
6.4      In exceptional cases, the Chief Fire Officer is authorised to agree a 

compensation payment as part of a compromise agreement when the 
employment of an employee is terminated by the Service, or in settlement of a 
claim.  There were no such settlements in 2014-15.  Such agreements are 
subject to confidentiality clauses.   

 
 
 



Early payment of pension benefits 
 
6.5 Under the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme, employees 

aged over 55 who are made redundant or who are retired from Service on the 
grounds of efficiency are awarded early payment of pension benefits. 

 
6.6     In this case, a charge is made against the Fire Authority by the pensions fund, 

this is referred to as actuarial strain. 
 
6.7 In 2014-15 the Service agreed to the early payment of pension in six cases.   

All cases were linked to redundancy. 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 





   
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

FIRE CONTROL 
COLLABORATION 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
  
Date: 25 September 2015  
 
Purpose of Report: 
 
To update Members on the latest developments regarding fire control collaboration 
with Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
John Buckley 
Chief Fire Officer 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

mailto:john.buckley@notts-fire.gov
mailto:bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 As part of the balancing the budget report to the Fire Authority on 28 February 

2014, it was agreed to consider the opportunity for greater collaboration 
between Leicestershire and Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Services. Following 
that meeting the Chief Fire Officer received confirmation that Leicestershire 
wished to engage in considering a shared Control function. 

 
1.2 After the establishment of a Member led joint working group and subsequent 

meetings with Leicestershire, the Authority, at its meeting of 14 December 
2014, agreed to the principle of combining control functions and the formation 
of an appropriate governance structure. 

   

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 The Tri-Service (Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire, Derbyshire) Fire Control 

system that is now in use links all three Control Rooms seamlessly and 
enables each one to mobilise the assets of the other two.  

 
2.2 The Authority recognised that this technology would enable greater 

collaboration and the ability to generate additional savings through 
combination of control functions. This was also recognised by Leicestershire 
and work commenced to progress the concept with joint savings anticipated in 
the region of £400k per annum for each authority.  

 
2.3 At a meeting held in May, attended by the respective Chairs and Chief Fire 

Officers, concerns were raised from Leicestershire that there may be issues 
that could potentially have an impact on the collaboration project progressing. 
At that time it was agreed to halt the implementation work and revisit the issue 
in September.  

 
2.4 In early September the Chief Fire Officer engaged in discussion with the 

Leicestershire Chief Fire Officer, and unfortunately this has lead to a position 
that Leicestershire is unable to move forward with a combined control function 
at this time. 

 
2.5 The inability to move forward with the collaboration does not compromise the 

operational effectiveness of the organisation, however it does remove the 
opportunity to generate the £400k savings this project had the potential to 
deliver. This impact will need to be considered in future budget deficit work-
streams.  

 
2.6 A similar report is being presented to Leicestershire Fire Authority and co-

ordinated briefings will be undertaken with employees and their 
representatives.  

 
  



3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however the inability 
to create savings from this project will need to be factored into ongoing work-streams 
regarding the future financial deficit. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct implications arising from this report, however officers are 
conscious of the impact of uncertainty on staff and this will be factored in to 
employee briefings.  
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken as this report does not 
propose any changes to Service policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The inability to generate savings from the collaboration project means that other work 
will need to move forward to address the budget deficit in a timely manner. The Chief 
Fire Officer is aware of this, and other reports elsewhere on the agenda have the 
potential to address the issue in the short term.   
  

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 

 
9.1 Note the inability to progress the Control Collaboration project with 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service; and 
 
9.2 Dissolve the Member led working group and governance structure to oversee 

the implementation and long term delivery of the Control function. 
 



10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 



 
 
 

 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

COMMITTEE OUTCOMES 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

  
Date: 25 September 2015 
  
Purpose of Report: 

 
To report to Members the business and actions of the Fire Authority committee 
meetings which took place in July 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 
Name : John Buckley  

Chief Fire Officer 
 

Tel : (0115) 967 0880 
 

Email : john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Bridget Aherne 
(0115) 967 0880  bridget.aherne@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 
 

mailto:john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk


 
 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
As part of the revised governance arrangements the Authority has delegated key 
responsibilities to specific committees of the Authority.  As part of those delegated 
responsibilities, the chairs of committees and the management leads report to the 
Authority on the business and actions as agreed at Fire and Rescue Authority 
meeting on 1 June 2007.  
 

2. REPORT 

 
The minutes of the following meetings are attached at Appendix A for the 
information of all Fire Authority members: 
 
Community Safety Committee  03 July 2015 
Finance and Resources Committee 10 July 2015 
Human Resources Committee  17 July 2015 
Policy and Strategy Committee  24 July 2015 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
All financial implications were considered as part of the original reports submitted to 
the committees. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
IMPLICATIONS 

 
All human resources and learning and development implications were considered as 
part of the original reports submitted to the committees. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not 
associated with a policy, function or service.  Its purpose is to update the Fire 
Authority on the outcomes of committee business. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.       LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 



 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Service’s performance in relation to matters addressed through the committee 
structure is scrutinised through a range of audit processes. The Service needs to 
continue to perform well in these areas as external scrutiny through Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment and auditors’ judgement is key to future Service delivery.  

 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 



1 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE & CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE & RESCUE  AUTHORITY -  
COMMUNITY SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, Bestwood 
Lodge, Arnold, Nottingham, NG5 8PD on 3 July 2015 from 10.02am to 11.01am. 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Eunice Campbell (Chair) 
Councillor Brian Grocock 
Councillor Ken Rigby 
Councillor Roger Jackson 
Councillor Eunice Campbell (Chair) 
Councillor Dave Liversidge 
Councillor Malcolm Wood 

Councillor Mike Pringle, 
Substituted by Councillor Malcolm 
Wood 

Councillor Malcolm Wood (substitute for Councillor Mike Pringle)  
  
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Wayne Bowcock 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor 

- Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
- Governance Officer 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mike Pringle, for whom Councillor 
Malcolm Wood substituted. 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
3  MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2015 as a true 
record and they were signed by the Chair. 



2 

 
4  PRIMARY AUTHORITY SCHEME 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates members 
on the Primary Authority Scheme. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) having taken part in the trial since January 2013, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 

Service (NFRS) is to continue working as a Primary Authority with Boots UK now 
that the scheme has been adopted within legislation and came into effect on 1 April 
2014; 
 

(b) although legislation is clear, interpretation of that legislation by different Fire and 
Rescue Authorities has meant that some larger companies with multiple business 
sites have received inconsistent guidance and enforcement advice from the 
different Fire and Rescue Authorities responsible for the areas in which each 
premises is sited; 

 
(c) having linked  with Boots UK, NFRS will continue to provide advice on fire 

protection standards which will be applied to all Boots UK premises including those 
sited in other counties; 

 
(d) other fire and rescue services are aware that NFRS has taken responsibility for 

providing the core guidance and setting the standards for the company and will 
refer to these when inspecting premises based within their own boundaries; 

 
(e) if on undertaking a fire safety for enforcement check at a Boots UK premises 

outside of Nottinghamshire,  the attending fire and rescue service have a query or 
concern, this is raised directly with NFRS as the Primary Authority, which will then 
check that it complies to the standards agreed, or ensures the concern is 
addressed; 

 
(f) each Primary Authority is responsible for providing fire safety training to their 

partner business; 
 
(g) Boots UK have given very positive feedback on the service provided by NFRS 

although a broader reaching improvement has been suggested regarding 
communication between primary authorities. It is predicted that communications will 
improve once a central database is operational;  

 
(h) it is proposed that further business partners are engaged with NFRS, through the 

Primary Authority Scheme; 
 
(i) all costs for the Primary Authority service provided to the partner business are 

covered from the business. 
 

Councillors suggested that the Finance and Resources Committee consider undertaking a 
review to ensure that the Primary Authority Program is cost neutral to NFRS. 



3 

 
RESOLVED 
 
(1) to note the requirement to comply with the Primary Authority Scheme under 

the obligations within the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005; 
 

(2) to endorse Nottinghamshire Fire And Rescue Service expanding the delivery 
of the Primary Authority Scheme to other businesses from April 2015. 

 
 
5  EMERGENCY FIRST RESPONDING 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which informs members 
of a trial of the Emergency First Responder Scheme (EFRS) with East Midlands 
Ambulance Service (EMAS) at Harworth and Newark Fire Stations. 
 
(a) the Service has been involved in community emergency first responding with EMAS 

for the past 14 years but only in a limited capacity involving four fire stations; 
 

(b) Under the existing scheme, a responder car is kept at the fire station and collected 
by retained fire staff when called to a non-fire medical emergency incident. At the 
same time EMAS dispatch an ambulance to provide support at the incident; 

 
(c) a refreshed trial scheme, which started on 1 April 2015 and will run for six months, 

involves two firefighters attending emergency calls in a blue light equipped 
response vehicle which is kept with the on-call retained firefighters, either at their 
home or place of business. Crews are mobilised directly by EMAS Control if the 
incident is within six minutes travel of the crew, who can then provide emergency 
medical assistance; 

 
(d) it is emphasised that emergency fire cover is not compromised and EMAS continue 

to dispatch a support crew to the incident;  
 
(e) EMAS provides training and overarching clinical governance, in addition to 

contributing to the use of the vehicle and the whole cost of one firefighter as this 
aligns with the EMAS lone responder policy; 

 
(f) not all participating Fire and Rescue Authorities choose to deploy two firefighters to 

an incident, but Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service have found this to be the 
most appropriate position; 

 
(g) some other Fire And Rescue Services have decided not to provide a responder car 

but attend incidents with a fire appliance and a full fire crew; 
 
(h) the University of Hull and Vanguard Consultants Ltd will evaluate the effectiveness 

of the trial and this will be reported back to this Committee. 
 

Members welcomed the positive effect of the scheme during the first month of the trial, 
during which 23 incidents were attended, but are concerned at the financial impact on the 
Service of providing two firefighters when the cost of only one is covered. 
 



4 

RESOLVED to note the report and receive a further report on conclusion of the trial 
period. 
 
6  SERVICE DELIVERY ACTIVITY 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates members 
on the service delivery activity relating to ‘prevention, protection and response’ which are 
identified as priorities within the Integrated Risk Management Plan 2014 to 2019 and the 
Service Delivery Business Plan.  
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) Community Safety Priorities are:  

 
i. ‘Persons at Risk; 
ii. Road Safety; 
iii. Older Persons, and; 
iv. Education; 

 
(b) the Person’s at Risk Team (PART) has been established to work with partner 

agencies, ensuring that information is shared, and on specific Service priority 
activities which are outlined within the report; 

 
(c) other partnership working includes engagement with the Multi-Agency Safeguarding 

Hub (MASH) and the City and County Safeguarding Boards; 
 
(d) work continues to engage and educate new and emergency communities, both with 

regard to domestic and business safety and enforcement. This includes a BME 
Support Officer and a Business Education Advocate, supported by Nottingham 
University foreign language Students, engaging with target groups; 

 
(e) inter-partner staff development on community safety awareness has resulted in 

members of Nottinghamshire Police taking part in a work-placement period with the 
PART; 
 

(f) the Safety Advisory Groups (SAG) consider and work in partnership (Councils, 
Police, and Fire and Rescue Services) to identify potential risks and agreeing 
measures to avoid them, at specific venues and events such as football stadia, 
sports grounds and large public events;  
 

(g) As discussed in a previous agenda item, the First Responder Scheme continues 
with an additional pilot testing refreshed arrangement; 
 

(h) crews continue to deliver a range of safety packages to school children; 
 
(i) the Player Street fire on 30 March 2015, which lasted 12 days, at its height required 

approximately 20 fire crews, including crews and appliances from neighbouring Fire 
and Rescue Authorities under the Mutual Strategic Cover Agreement. This enabled 
283 other incidents to be responded to during the Player Street fire; 
 

(j) there were 3 fire deaths in the past year, all of whom were vulnerable people; 



5 

 
(k) 506 road traffic collisions were attended and 12 people died on the roads; 

 
(l) road safety will continue to be a priority in the Community Safety Strategy  2016-

2019. 
 

It is noted that the Service will be attending the ‘999 Emergency Services Day’ to be held 
on 30 August 2015 at Clumber Park. 

 
RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
 



1 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
FINANCE AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, 
Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 10 July 2015 from 10.00am to 10.46am 
 
Membership  
Present  
Councillor Malcolm Wood (Chair) 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Gordon Wheeler 

 

Councillor Liz Yates (Substitute for Councillor Chris Barnfather)  
Councillor Darrell Pulk (Substitute for Councillor John Allin)  
 
Absent 
Councillor John Allin, Substituted by Councillor Darrell Pulk 
Councillor Chris Barnfather, Substituted by Councillor Liz Yates 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Neil Timms 
Sue Maycock 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor 

- Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources 
- Head of Finance  
- Governance Officer 

 
 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Chris Barnfather for whom Councillor Liz Yates is substitute; 

Councillor John Allin, for whom Councillor Darrell Pulk is substitute. 

 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
3  MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2015 as a true 
record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
10.07.15 
 

2 

4  REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT TO MAY 2015 
 

Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources, presented the report 
which informs members of the financial performance of the Service in the year 2015/16 to 
the end of May 2015. 
 
The report identifies areas of overspend and underspend against the approved budget 
and provides explanations as to why these variances have occurred.  
 
In summary the following underspend and overspend were outlined: 
 

 
Revenue Budget 
 

 
Underspend 

 
overspend 

Whole Time Pay  £47,000 

Retained Pay  £68,000 

Administrative and Support Pay £54,000  

Indirect Employee Expenses   £17,000 

Premises £50,000  

Fuel  £78,000 

Supplies and Services  £68,000 

Support Services  £20,000 

Capital Financing Costs  £131,000  

Income TBC  TBC 

Industrial Action  £11,000 to date 

 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) there is an overall variance of 1% underspend on the revenue budgets; 

 

(b) although fuel can be seen to be an overspend, this is not necessarily the case and 

is a reflection of the way in which fuel purchase is recorded. This is to be 

addressed and the new recording system agreed to be able to account for fuel as 

it is used and not whilst it is held in reserve tanks; 

 
(c) the Capital Programme to 2015/16 has been approved by members at £3,407,000; 

 
(d) it is very early in the financial year to be reporting on the capital programme and to 

date £202,000 has been spent; 

 
(e) it is not possible to release the new appliances until the new radios can be fitted; 

 
(f) the Tri-Service Control is scheduled to go live in September 2015 as part of a 

phased implementation. 

 

Councillor’s questions were responded to as follows: 

 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
10.07.15 
 

3 

(g) a property tour would be exceptionally useful for members to see and understand 

the condition of some stations and the proposals to rebuild; 

 

(h) the budget is phased accordingly to take account of seasonal peaks and troughs. 

 

The question was raised by a Councillor, as to how long ago the Terms and Conditions of 

employment for the Service had been reviewed and suggested that, in the current difficult 

financial climate for the Service, a review be considered. 

 

RESOLVED  

 

(1) to note the report; 

 

(2) for an extract of this minute, specifically regarding a suggested review of 

Terms and Conditions, be forwarded to the Chair of the Human Resources 

Committee and the Chief Fire Officer. 

 
5  PRUDENTIAL CODE MONITORING REPORT TO 31 MAY 2015 

 
Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources, presented the report 

which informs members of the performance for the two-month period to 31 May 2015 with 

regard to the Prudential Indicators for Capital Accounting Treasury Management, 

illustrating that the Authority is complying with Prudential limits. 

 

It is noted that that the Authority is not currently entering into any new borrowing, has not 

done so since 2010, and will not do so until it is necessary, which may be towards the 

end of this financial year. 

 

RESOLVED to note the report. 

6  INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 
 

Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources, presented the report 

which provides the only report prepared by the Authority’s Internal Auditors, 

Nottinghamshire County Council. 

 

The following assurances were awarded, with four further audits still in progress: 

 

 Assurance 
 

Migration of Fixed Asset Data (FRS 1501) Substantial 

ICT Strategy (FRS 1502) Reasonable 

Business Risk Management (follow-up) (FRS 1503) Reasonable 

Corporate Governance (FRS 1504) Substantial 

Payroll (FRS 1505) Substantial 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
10.07.15 
 

4 

Capital Grant Claim (FRS 1506) Satisfactory 

Loss of Protected Pension Age (FRS 1507) Substantial 

Asset Management (FRS 1508) Reasonable 

Purchasing and Creditor Payments (FRS 1509) Reasonable 

SharePoint (FRS 1513) Limited 

 

The following points were highlighted and members’ questions responded to: 

 

(a) four further audits are yet to be completed including ‘Treasury Management’, 

‘Financial Management’, ‘Cardiff Checks’, and ‘Pensions’;  

 

(b) in auditing terms, a satisfactory rating is the best that can be achieved from an 

internal audit; 

 
(c) there are no issues or concerns regarding the quality of the audit; 

 
(d) the limited level of assurance issued with regard to SharePoint, is due to its 

introduction being in the very early stages for the Service. SharePoint will bring IT 

systems such as the intranet and email together and enable improved sharing of 

and access to information for the Service.  The auditors were invited to examine 

the proposed process for installing this system, purely to ensure that at an early 

stage the arrangements are appropriate for the needs of the Service. This has 

been achieved and the advice provided by the auditors regarding SharePoint, will 

be adhered to and actioned in time for the next audit. 

 

It is suggested that the Service’s IT specialist, Gavin Harris, be invited to a future meeting 

to better explain the capability and benefits of SharePoint. 

 

RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
7  CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Neil Timms, Assistant Chief Officer for Finance and Resources, presented the report, 

updating members on the key risks identified for the Service which will be considered as 

part of the strategic decision-making process. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register is attached to the report as Appendix A and identifies 

medium and high level risks. 

The 3 highest risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register are as follows: 

 

o mobilising, specifically in respect of the Emergency Services Mobile 

Communications Project (ESMCP); 

 

o workforce issues, with regard to industrial action; 

 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Finance and Resources - 
10.07.15 
 

5 

o use of vehicles on authority business; 

 

In response to members’ questions, it is noted that the Service holds public liability but 

that an additional premium is required as attending any incident which may in some way 

be connected to terrorism, can void insurance. To prevent this, additional cover is 

required but this is not predicted to hugely increase the insurance premium. 

 

Members welcomed the public sharing of the risk register. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

(1) to note the contents of the Corporate Risk Register; 

 

(2) to note the assurance by Principal Officers that existing control measures 

and the progress in the implementation of any further control measures 

identified as necessary, are effective; 

 

(3) to note the contents of the Strategic Risk Register and consider its contents 

with regard to medium and long-term strategic decision-making. 

 
 



1 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, 
Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 17 July 2015 from 10.01am to 11.39am. 

Membership 
Present 
Councillor Eunice Campbell 
Councillor Neghat Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Mike Pringle 
Councillor Gail Turner 
Councillor Liz Yates 

Absent 
Councillor Michael Payne  

Councillor Darrell Pulk  (Substitute for Councillor Michael Payne) 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance: 

Wayne Bowcock  
Sue Maycock 
Catherine  Ziane-Pryor 

- Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
- Head of Finance 
- Governance Officer 

13 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR THE MEETING 

In the absence of the Chair, Councillor Darrell Pulk was appointed Chair for the meeting. 

14 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Michael Payne, for whom Councillor 
Darrell Pulk substituted. 

15 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

None. 

16 MINUTES 

The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 12 at June 2015 as a true 
record and they were signed by the presiding Chair. 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Human Resources - 17.07.15 
 

2 

 
17  HUMAN RESOURCES UPDATE 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates members 
on the key human resources metrics for the period 1 April 2015 to 30 June 2015. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
(a) compared to the last quarter, sickness absence was reduced by 13%; 

 

(b) work continues with regard to preventing , and where this is not possible, resolving, 

musculoskeletal and mental health issues which account for a substantial 

proportion of long term sickness; 

 
(c) 2 disciplinary actions have been raised; 

 
(d) there are currently six additional whole time posts within the service, this is due to 

staff moving from a closed station but officers are confident that the pay budgets will 

be achieved by the end of the year. 

 
Whilst members welcomed the report, especially the reduction in sickness absence, it was 
suggested that a percentage comparison between Quarter 1 this year and Quarter 1 last 
year would better reflect seasonal sickness absences. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
18  REVIEW OF WORKFORCE PLAN 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which outlines the 
Corporate Workforce Plan 2014-16 and outlines proposals for the updated plan for 2015-
17. 
 
The following points were highlighted and members’ questions responded to: 
 
(a) overall staffing numbers have decreased from 1007 to 966 employees during the 

past year; 

 

(b) there has been an a reduction in whole-time operational posts from 531 to 510 with 

a temporary over establishment of six firefighters; 

 

(c) the transfer of staff from Mansfield and Highfields stations following a reduction in 

whole-time crewing, has meant that compulsory redundancies have not been 

necessary;  

 

(d) it was predicted that  26 whole-time personnel would leave the Service during 

2014/15 however only 17 did so; 

 

 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Human Resources - 17.07.15 
 

3 

(e) it was predicted that 26 Retained Duty System staff (RDS) would leave during 

2014/15, however 36 personnel left; 

 

(f) is not been necessary to recruit whole-time firefighters but a RDS recruitment 

campaign during 2014 recruited 23 RDS trainee firefighters; 

 

(g) during 2014/15 there has been a reduction of 8 full-time non-operational support 

posts; 

 

(h) it was predicted that 15 support personnel would leave the Service during 2014-15 

but 24 left;  

 

(i) there was a 7.14% turnover in Control staff during 2014/15 but due to the 

forthcoming implementation of the Tri-Service Mobilising System in September 

2015, fixed term contracts are in place to provide cover and ensure resilience whilst 

training takes place; 

 

(j) overall absence of whole time and support employees has increased from 5.8 days 

to 8.25 days per employee, however, 67% of these absences are due to long-term 

medical conditions with a duration exceeding 28 days; 

 

(k) as there have not been any whole-time recruitment drives, it has not been possible 

to meet the equalities target of 19% of female new entrants and 10% of BME for 

new entrants to operational roles; 

 

(l) the Service is now within the top 100 employers of the Stonewall index, recognising 

the work undertaken to promote lesbian gay and transgender issues within the 

workforce; 

 

(m) in 2013 the Service gained accreditation as an ‘excellent organisation’ under the 

Fire Service Equality Framework; 

 

(n) with regard to the 2015-17 Workforce Plan, reductions of approximately £3.47 

million are necessary with most of this figure predicted to be found as a result of 

workforce reductions; 

 

(o) the key areas of workforce issues identified in the revised 2015-17 Workforce Plan 

are outlined within the report. 

 
Responses to members’ questions and comments included: 
 
(p) with regard to Stonewall, the Service was striving to achieve improvements in 

equalities not just to achieve a top 100 ranking, but because this was the right thing 

to do; 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Human Resources - 17.07.15 
 

4 

(q) during a period of staff reductions and very little recruitment, it has not been 

possible to focus on achieving equalities targets with regard to staffing. However, 

the most viable route for pursuing equality recruitment targets is through succession 

planning; 

 

(r) further consideration should be given to the current equalities targets and whether 

they are set too high for what can realistically be achieved in today’s society when a 

range of impressively proactive engagement has not enabled the Service to meet 

the equalities targets set;  

 

(s) this organisation is not alone in struggling to meet equality targets so it is important 

to share information with partners on the recruitment methods which were 

successful; 

 

(t) recruitment of retained staff has been slightly relaxed only in that the requirement of 

living or working ‘within five minutes travel of the station’ is unrealistic in some rural 

areas where fewer people are within the immediate vicinity of stations. However, 

distance from stations has to be restrictive and there has to be a cut-off point as 

appliances are responding to an emergency; 

 

(u) progress has currently halted with regards to control collaboration with 

Leicestershire.  This position is scheduled for review in September and an update 

will be provided to Members soon after; 

 

(v) having considered the end of employment terms and conditions of both the County 

and City Councils and Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service, some Councillors 

are concerned that there is a significant difference in the ‘pay-off period’ with 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service providing up to 66 weeks compared to 

local authorities providing 50 weeks and less. In times of budgetary constraint this 

significant difference needs to be reviewed; 

 

(w) a national review of terms and conditions was undertaken by Adrian Thomas prior 

to the election but his report has not yet been released. In addition, the LGA are 

also considering terms and conditions. The point has been previously discussed 

within the Finance Team with regard to the budget and employee expenses for 

which the Authority has control (this does not include pay); 

 

(x) to date to the workforce has been supportive of the financial restraints placed on the 

Service and the requirements to make savings, however, it is important to ensure 

that in such difficult times and with further difficult decisions to be made, the 

workforce continues to support the decisions of the Authority. It is proposed that the 

best course of action regarding any consideration to changes in Terms and 

Conditions should primarily be discussed with the Chair of the Human Resources 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Human Resources - 17.07.15 
 

5 

Committee, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer and Chief Fire Officer, prior to 

progressing the issue to Committee.  

 
RESOLVED  
 
(1) to note the report; 

 
(2) for a report regarding equality targets to be submitted to a future meeting. 
 
19  HER MAJESTY'S ARMED FORCES CORPORATE COVENANT 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which sought approval to 
sign the Armed Forces Corporate Covenant. 
 
Historically the Service has supported the Armed Forces community through a voluntary 
pledge but now have the opportunity to sign the covenant, which includes a core statement 
of commitment in that: 
 
i. no member of the Armed Forces community should face disadvantage in the 

provision of public and commercial services compared to any other citizen; 
 

ii. in some circumstances special treatment may be appropriate, especially for the 
injured or bereaved. 

 
The discipline and qualities of Armed Force’s personnel sit well with the requirements of 
the Emergency Services and provides all round benefits for the Armed Forces, Emergency 
Services, communities, and the individual. 
 
The Service currently employs six Armed Force Reservists, some of whom have been 
deployed to active duty.  

 

During November 2014 the support of the Service was recognised with a silver award from 

Supporting Britain’s Reservists and Employers (SaBRE). To be considered as qualifying 

for the Gold award, commitments to the corporate covenant must be shown. Already 

measures are in place to enhance the Service’s inclusion of ex-forces personnel. 

 

Members are assured that where combat related mental health issues occur, such as 

post-traumatic stress, support was provided jointly from the Armed Forces and the Fire 

Service. It is also noted that if a reservist employee is deployed, the military will reimburse 

the salary costs to the Service. 

 

RESOLVED to approve the signing of the Armed Forces Corporate Covenant, which 

will be valid for a period of five years. 

 

 

 

20  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Human Resources - 17.07.15 
 

6 

RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining agenda item, in accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemptions outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, as defined in paragraphs 1 ad 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Act. 
 
21  VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCY APPLICATIONS 

 
Wayne Bowcock, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report regarding applications for 
voluntary redundancy. 
 
RESOLVED for the recommendations within the report to be approved. 
 
 
 



 

1 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM 

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
POLICY & STRATEGY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood 
Lodge, Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 24 July 2015 from 10.00am to 11.28am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Darrell Pulk (Chair) 
Councillor Gordon Wheeler 
Councillor Yvonne Woodhead 
 
Councillor Roger Jackson (substitute) 
Councillor Neghat Nawaz Khan (substitute) 
Councillor Malcolm Wood (substitute) 

Councillor Jon Collins,  
Councillor Brian Grocock,  
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
John Buckley - Chief Fire Officer  
Malcolm Townroe  - Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Authority  
Peter Hurford  
Richard Harbord 

- Treasurer to the Authority 
- Independent Consultant 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
 
Councillor Jon Collins, for whom Councillor Malcolm Wood was substitute; 
Councillor Chris Barnfather, for whom Councillor Roger Jackson was substitute; 
Councillor Brian Grocock, for whom Councillor Neghat Nawaz Khan was substitute. 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
3  MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2015 as a true 
record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Policy & Strategy - 24.07.15 
 

2 

4  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

The Committee decided to exclude the public from the meeting during 
consideration of the remaining agenda item in accordance with Section 100A(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing the information, as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 
5  EXEMPT MINUTES 

 
The Committee confirmed the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2015 
as a true record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
6  ADJOURNMENT OF THE MEETING 

 
At the suggestion of the Chair and with the approval of the Committee, the meeting 
was adjourned from 10.03am until 10.33am. 
 
7  PROPERTY UPDATE 

 
Malcolm Townroe, Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Authority, introduced the 
report. 
 
RESOLVED to approve the recommendations within the report and added to 
during the meeting. 
 








	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	5 ANNUAL REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE
	6 FINAL ACCOUNTS 2014/15
	3aFINAL1_Final Accounts
	3bStatement of Accounts 2014-15 FINAL
	3cNFRS(T) Ltd Final Accounts 2014-15

	7 EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 2014/15
	4aFINAL1_External Auditors Report to Those Charged with Governance
	4bFINAL1_External Auditors ISA 260 Appendix A
	Report to those charged with governance �(ISA 260) 2014/15
	Contents
	Section one�Introduction
	Section two�Headlines
	Section three�Financial Statements �Proposed opinion and audit differences
	Section three �Financial Statements (continued)�Significant risks
	Section three�Financial Statements (continued)�Accounts production and audit process
	Section three� Financial Statements (continued)�Completion
	Section four �VFM conclusion
	Appendices�Appendix 1: Declaration of independence and objectivity
	Appendices�Appendix 1: Declaration of independence and objectivity (continued)
	Appendices �Appendix 2: Materiality and reporting of audit differences
	Appendices �Appendix 5: KPMG Audit Quality Framework
	Appendices �Appendix 5: KPMG Audit Quality Framework (continued)
	Slide Number 15

	4cAppxB

	8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15
	9 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2015/16 TO 2017/18
	10 ROLE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND THE TREASURER
	13 REVIEW OF SPECIALIST RESCUE PROVISION
	14 PAY POLICY
	15 FIRE CONTROL COLLABORATION
	17 COMMITTEE OUTCOMES
	DRAFT_Committee Outcomes
	CS Mins
	FRC Mins
	HR Mins
	P&S Minutes 240715

	19 VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCY APPLICATIONS

